

IDENTIFYING CONSUMERS' INFORMATION ADOPTION CRITERIA ON VARIOUS ONLINE CONSUMER REVIEW PLATFORMS: A CASE OF THAI HOSPITALITY SECTOR

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

By

Jutarat Sirithanaphonchai

Brunel Business School Brunel University 2017

Abstract

The dynamics of use and adoption of information on various online review platforms remain elusive and complex, indicating the importance of more research on electronic word of mouth (eWOM) and online consumer reviews (OCRs). Existing theoretical models do not fully explicate the role of the influential factors and their interrelations in information adoption. This research offers a more holistic model of information adoption. The Information Adoption Model (IAM) and the Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM) are utilised as the theoretical foundations for the conceptual model while examining the factors that influence consumers' perceptions of and information usefulness is employed as a mediator. This research examines various COPs (consumer opinion platforms) by categorising consumers into four groups on the basis of their engagement behaviour and investigating their information adoption decisions.

The research undertook quantitative methodology and conducted a survey on 635 respondents from Thailand. All hypotheses were developed and tested using data collected via an online questionnaire and were analysed with Structural Equation Modelling (SEM), with multigroup analysis techniques. Additionally, the research used two step cluster analysis and identified four groups of consumers on the basis of their engagement behaviour *Quicker, Explorer, Confidant and Passionate*.

The findings are 1) A positively significant relationship between information usefulness and information adoption has been approved 2) Consumer adopt different information adoption criteria for different types of COPs 3) Consumers' assessment of different factors of OCRs varies due to the difference in the level of online engagement. The results offer useful implications for marketers by identifying and analysing the criteria that consumers adopt from specific platforms and underlining the effect of the level of consumer engagement on information adoption of OCRs.

Keywords: Online consumer reviews (OCRs); electronic word of mouth (eWOM); consumer opinion platforms (COPs); online review websites; consumer engagement; information adoption.

Dedication

To my parents, THANABOON and SUTTHINAN SIRITHANAPHONCHAI

Acknowledgement

PhD research is a long-term endeavor. My journey at Brunel University was a magnificent but challenging experience.

First of all, I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Maged Ali for his constant guidance, valuable comments and continuous support throughout my PhD journey. I am honored and proud to be one of his students and work under his supervision. I am also thankful to my second supervisor Dr. Bidit Dey, who inspired me through his constructive feedback and thoughtful supervision. He provided a different perspective in which to polish my study.

Most importantly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my parents, my father Thanaboon Sirithanaphonchai, my mother Sutthinun Sirithanaphonchai and my sister Nipharat Sirithanaphonchai for their love, understanding, patience and support during my study.

Last but not least, I would like also to extend my sincere gratitude to all my friends and PhD colleagues with whom were always with me in this journey.

Declarations

I hereby declare that this is my original work; no portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted for a degree in this or any other university, or institute of learning.

I also declare that all information in this thesis has been acquired and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct.

Some of the material displayed herein has already been published in the form of the following publication:

Sirithanaphonchai, J. and Ali, M. (2015) 'Investigation of the moderating role of consumer opinion platforms in online reviews adoption', *International Conference on Contemporary Marketing Issues (ICCMI)*, London, United Kingdom.

Jutarat Sirithanaphonchai

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgement	iv
Declarations	v
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	xi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Research Background	2
1.2 Research Problem	3
1.3 Research Aim and Objectives	8
1.4 Research Methodology	9
1.5 Rationale of the Research Study	9
1.6 Structure of the Study	10
1.7 Chapter Summary	12
	12
CHAPTER IWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	IJ
2.1 Introduction	14
2.2 From word of mouth (WOM) to Electronic word of Mouth (EWOM)	14
2.2.1 Word of Mouth (WOM)	14
2.2.2 Electronic word of Mouth (ewOM)	10
2.2.3 Similarities and Differences between wOW and ewOW	1/
2.2.4 Impact of ewold	19
2.2.5 From Electronic word of Mouth (ewOM) to Online Consumer Reviews	20
(UCK)	20
2.2.6 eWOM, OCRs and the Different Product Types	22
2.3 OCRs and Information Adoption	23
2.4 OCRs and Type of Consumer Opinion Platforms (COPs)	24
2.4.1 OCRs and COPs in Travel Industry	26
2.4.2 OCRs and Comparison of COPs	
2.5 The Main Types of Consumer Review Website in the Travel Industry	
2.5.1 Independent Websites	33
2.5.2 E-Merchants' Websites	34
2.5.3 Similarities and Differences between Independent and E-merchants'	•
Websites	36
2.6 Theoretical Foundation	37
2.6.1 Information Adoption Model (IAM)	
2.6.2 Dual process Theory (DPT)	40
2.6.3 Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM)	43
2.6.4 IAM and ELM	46
2.6.5 Dimensions of the OCRs	48
2.6.6 Segmentation of Consumers	64
2.7 Literature Gaps	69
2.8 Chapter Summary	74
CHAPTER THREE: CONCEPTUAL FRAMWORK	75
3.1 Introduction	76

Table of Contents

3.2 Theoretical Background	
3.3 Conceptual Framework	
3.4 Development of Hypotheses	
3.4.1 Central Route and Information Usefulness	
3.4.2 Peripheral Route and Information Usefulness	
3.4.3 Information Usefulness and Information Adoption	
3.4.4 Consumer Engagement	
3.5 Chapter Summary	
CHAPTER FOUR: METHODOLOGY	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Choosing a Research Paradigm	
4.3 Research Philosophy	
4.4 Research Approach (Inductive/Deductive)	
4.5 Research Design	
4.6 Research Strategy	
4.6.1 Justification for Adopting Quantitative Research	
4.7 Research Methods	
4.7.1 Quantitative Research: Survey Instrument	
4.7.2 Data Collection Method: Questionnaire Survey	
4.7.3 Selection of the Sample.	
4.7.4 Sample Size	
4.7.5 Questionnaire Design and Development Process	
4.7.6 Ethical Considerations	
4.8 Pre-testing: Pilot Study	
4.9 Reliability and Validity	
4.9.1 Content Assessment	
4.10 Main Study	
4.11 Data Analysis	
4.11.1 Analysis Assessment	
4.11.2 Model Fit Indices Assessment	
4.11.3 Multigroup Analysis	
4.12 Chapter Summary	
CHAPTER FIVE: DATA ANALYSIS AND	
RESEARCH FINDINGS	138
5.1 Introduction	139
5.2 Preliminary Examination of the Data	139
5.2.1 Outliers	140
5 2 2 Normality	141
5 2 3 Demographic Profile	143
5 2 4 Descriptive Statistics	145
5.2.5 Reliability Test	148
5.2.6 KMO and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	
5.3 Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)	
5.3.1 Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA)	
5.3.2 Validity Test	152
5.4 Multigroup Analysis	154
5.4.1 Multisample Confirmatory Factors Analysis	
5.4.2 Testing Measurement Invariance	
5.5 Structural Model and Hypotheses Testing	
• • • • •	

5.5.1 Hypothesis Testing	160
5.5.2 Cluster Analysis	163
5.5.3 Demographic Profile (groups of consumers)	166
5.5.4 Groups of Consumers	166
5.6 Chapter Summary	172
CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION	173
6.1 Introduction	174
6.2 Measurement Scale Validity	174
6.3 Discussion of the Hypotheses Testing	175
6.3.1 Central Route and Information Usefulness	178
6.3.2 Peripheral Route and Information Usefulness	181
6.3.3 Information Usefulness and Information Adoption	185
6.3.4 Quicker	195
6.3.5 Explorer	196
6.3.6 Confidant	197
6.3.7 Passionate	198
6.3.8 Information Adoption for Groups of Consumers	200
6.4 Chapter Summary	201
CHAPTER SEVEN: CONCLUSION	203
7.1 Introduction	204
7.2 Summary of Research Results	204
7.3 Evaluation of Findings According to the Research Aim and Objectives	207
7.4 Research Contributions	210
7.4.1 Theoretical Contributions	210
7.4.2 Practical Contributions	213
7.5 Limitations and Future Research Directions	215
REFERENCES	218
APPENDICES	291

List of Tables

Table 2.1: The different typologies in classifying online review platforms
Table 2.2: The studies of the ELM and the IAM in prior studies
Table 2.3: The most widely used dimensions of OCRs in prior studies
Table 2.4: Consumer engagement definitions in prior studies
Table 2.5: Summary of research issue/problem
Table 4.1: Comparison of feature between two paradigms
Table 4.2: The differences between quantitative and qualitative research
Table 4.3: A comparison of purpose and properties of quantitative and
qualitative research
Table 4.4: The difference types of questionnaire
Table 4.5: The advantage and disadvantage in difference types of sampling
technique
Table 4.6: The measurement items of the theoretical constructs and their sources.
Table 4.7: Model fit indices criteria.
Table 5.1: Outliers
Table 5.2: Normality
Table 5.3: Demographic profiles of respondents (N=635)
Table 5.4: Demographic profiles of respondents (Independent and E-Merchants'
websites)
Table 5.5: Descriptive statistics
Table 5.6: The means and standard deviations of all measurements
Table 5.7: The results of the reliability test
Table 5.8: KMO and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity
Table 5.9: Fit Indices for measurement model
Table 5.10: Convergent validity.
Table 5.11: The results confirmed that the criteria for discriminant validity
Table 5.12: MCFA factor loadings
Table 5.13: Fit Indices for CFA (each group)
Table 5.14: Fit Indices for measurement invariance.
Table 5.15: Fit Indices for structural model
Table 5.16: Fit Indices for structural model (each group)

Table 5.17: Fit Indices for structural invariance.	160
Table 5.18: Summary of the hypotheses assessment	161
Table 5.19: Cluster groups of consumers	164
Table 5.20: Demographic profiles of respondents (groups of consumers)	166
Table 5.21: Fit Indices for measurement invariance (Group of consumers)	167
Table 5.22: Fit Indices for structural invariance (Groups of engagement)	168
Table 5.23: Summary of hypotheses assessment for groups of consumers	168
Table 6.1: Hypotheses testing for platforms	175
Table 6.2: Hypotheses testing for groups of consumers	187
Table 7.1: Objectives of the study and their achievement	207

v

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Five main sectors in travel Industry (Middleton et al., 2009)	28
Figure 2.2: Theory of Reasoned Action (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975)	38
Figure 2.3: Technology Acceptance Model (Davis, 1989)	38
Figure 2.4: Information Adoption Model (Sussman and Siega, 2003)	40
Figure 2.5: The Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM) (Petty and Wegener,	
1999)	44
Figure 3.1: Information Adoption by Cheung <i>et al.</i> (2008)	79
Figure 3.2: Information Adoption by Filieri and McLeay (2014)	80
Figure 3.3: Research frameworks	82
Figure 4.1: Deductive approach	105
Figure 4.2: Research design	106
Figure 4.3: Five-stage processes for conducting a survey	112
Figure 4.4: Classified four groups of consumers	125
Figure 5.1: Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) model	151
Figure 5.2: Structural Model	159
Figure 5.3: The results of the cluster analysis	165
Figure 6.1: The result of information adoption from Independent websites	185
Figure 6.2: The result of information adoption from E-merchants websites	186
Figure 6.3: The final result of information adoption for Independent and E-	186
merchants websites	
Figure 6.4: The NEP matrix	194
Figure 6.5: Quicker	195
Figure 6.6: Explorer	196
Figure 6.7: Confidant	197
Figure 6.8: Passionate	198
Figure 6.9: The final result of information adoption for four groups of consumers	199
(Quicker, Explorer, Confidant and Passionate)	

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Research Background

Historically, research on word of mouth (WOM) analyses social and familial dynamics, as WOM sources are deemed to be decision-makers' close associates, such as friends and family members (Bone, 1995; Brown and Reingen, 1987; Buttner and Goritz, 2008). With the advent of technologies such as the Internet and Web 2.0, consumers' opinions on products/ services may reach far beyond their acquaintances, as they can now take to various e-platforms to express and communicate their consumption experiences. The widespread use of the Internet has created a new era of Word of Mouth, termed as Electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM) (Chen and Xie, 2008; Hu, *et al.*, 2011; Yeh and Choi, 2011), which is defined as "any positive or negative statement made by potential, actual or former customers about a product or company which is made available to a multitude of people and institutes via the Internet" (Hennig-Thurau *et al.*, 2004, p. 39). Hence, eWOM facilitates consumers' informed decision-making processes by empowering them with wider access to information and networks (Litvit *et al.*, 2008).

It is noticed that eWOM involves consumer online reviews and remains as a key aspect of consumers' social media and web 2.0 engagement behavior (Robinson et al., 2012). Existing scholarly works have looked at the effectiveness of eWOM communication (Cheung and Lee, 2012; Duan et al., 2008; Riegner, 2007; Chevalier and Mayzlin, 2006), the motives behind posting (Lee et al., 2006; Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004) and conceptualization of eWOM communication (Litvin et al., 2008, Brown et al., 2007). The rapidly growing online communities add new dimension to eWOM and constitute online consumer reviews (OCRs). Mudambi and Schuff (2010, p. 186) defined OCRs as "peer-generated product evaluations posed on company or third party websites". The existing studies have noted OCRs is one of the most popular types in eWOM (Purnawirawan et al., 2012). These studies conform to the growing body of literature that recognizes the importance of OCRs. It is because OCR not only provides benefits for consumers but also offers valuable information to businesses for improving their operational efficiency (Litvin et al., 2008). In fact, OCR is a communication tool which guides marketers on customers' actual and potential needs and enables them to satisfy those needs by developing appropriate products/ services.

eWOM and OCRs are basic information transfer which known as one of the most important information sources when consumers need to make a decision and they mostly make offline decision based on online information (Godes and Mayzlin, 2004; Dellarocas, 2003; Lee *et al.*, 2008). The influence of information may change from individual to individual. In other words, the same content can evoke different notions among receivers because it depends on individual's perception and his/her experience (Chaiken, 1980; Cheung *et al.*, 2008; Erkan and Evans, 2016a; Erkan and Evans, 2016b). In order to understand how people process the information that they receive, existing studies have focused on information adoption process (Cheung *et al.*, 2008; Filieri and McLeay, 2014).

1.2 Research Problem

In the field of consumer behaviour, consumers' information adoption is one of the most popular topics (Wang, 2017). Prior studies have attempted to investigate the factors that contribute to information adoption because the likelihood of adopting information may cause changes in consumers' attitudes, perceptions and decision-making (Eagly and Chaiken, 1993) and different consumers have different concerns/needs (Hassain *et al.*, 2016; Filieri, 2015b). Consumers' decision-making and information processing are not simple linear phenomena; therefore, understanding the dynamics of consumer decision-making remains as a major challenge for academics and marketers. It is interesting to explore and analyse the ways in which consumers adopt certain information and make their decisions (Litvin, 2008).

Many studies have found different perspectives which affect information adoption and consumer's decision-making process. For example, Zhang and Watts (2003) mentioned that information adoption is operational as its effectiveness influences individuals' decisions or problem solving. Indeed, Information adoption considers the information process from external sources to facilitate the decision by assessing the potential outcomes (Sussman and Siegal, 2003). This is important for the marketers to know as they face the challenge of learning what factors affect consumers' decision processing. In terms of eWOM and OCR, the adoption of information from eWOM and OCRs also relates to consumers' acceptance of a review after purposefully assessing its validity and using it to make a purchase decision (Zhang and Watts, 2003). In addition, it is

difficult to verify the authenticity and source of OCRs (McKnight and Kacmar, 2006). Therefore, eWOM and OCRs have drawn research attention for studying the information adoption process and understanding its influence on consumers' decision making (Filieri and McLeay, 2014).

Existing literature shows evidence of research on the process of OCRs communication behavior and antecedents of consumers' adoption of information from online reviews (Cheung *et al.*, 2008; Zhang and Watts, 2008; Cheung *et al.*, 2009; Lee *et al.*, 2011a; Liu, 2006; Floh *et al.*, 2013; Filieri and McLeay, 2014; Tseng and Kuo, 2014; Erkan and Evans, 2016a; Erkan and Evans, 2016b; Tseng and Wang, 2016). However, the literature on information adoption has provided inconsistent findings. This is because there are different perspectives that can be explained by different factors (Wang, 2017). This research finds a need to fill a gap stemming from the absence of a comprehensive framework that collectively investigates the critical factors that influence consumers' information adoption. Therefore, the first research question of this research is as follow:

RQ1. What factors of OCRs influence consumers' adoption of information?

Internet era, due to the increase in the number of consumer opinion platforms (COPs) is considered as a development from consumers' point of view (Boush and Kahle, 2001; Khammash, and Griffiths, 2011; Chatterjee, 2001). As there is a sharp rise in the number of platforms and the volume of review comments, it has been increasingly difficult for consumers to select and adopt various platforms and assess their credentials. Several studies have investigated the power of eWOM and OCRs (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004; Mudambi and Schuff, 2010; Racherla and Friske, 2012; Zhu and Zhang, 2010) but they focus mostly on single platforms. There is scant research on the comprehensive factors from online reviews that influence consumers' information adoption from different COPs with the outcome of information adoption. A few studies (such as Senecal and Nantel, 2004; Lee and Youn, 2009; Luo et al., 2014b) have discussed the factors affecting information adoption from different COPs. However, there is more to do in this area, because it is not clear which factors influence such information adoption (Filieri and McLeay, 2014). Different COPs have different characteristics and that might affect the information adoption processing decision. This study attempts to investigate consumers' information adoption criteria from OCRs that consumers consider as important while choosing and using different COPs. Therefore, this research attempts to address this gap and answer the following question:

RQ2. Do consumers' adoption criteria vary between COPs in terms of OCR factors?

Consumers' perspectives may vary because of the differences in their backgrounds and different websites on which OCRs is posted (Filieri, 2016). Researchers and practitioners need to be aware of the type of information that motivates consumers in information adoption process. They need to identify the various patterns in consumer characteristics (Tseng and Wang, 2016). Referring to consumer behaviour in the online context, one of the most important and necessary research requirements is to identify groups of consumers (Chang, 1998; Brengman *et al.*, 2005). Consumers show different behaviours and responses to information; therefore, segmenting groups of consumers has been highlighted as a key requirement (Mathwick, 2002). In fact, it is necessary to understand the needs of the potential consumers in each segment in order to create competitive advantage or opportunity to provide products/services appropriately to the potential consumers (Pickton and Broderick, 2005; Rodriguez Diaz *et al.*, 2015).

In the marketing field, Armstrong and Kotler (2005, p. 54) defined market segmentation as "dividing a market into distinct groups of buyers who have distinct needs, characteristics or behaviour and who might require separate products or marketing mix". The information obtained from each segment of consumers is of benefit to the marketers (Engal *et al.*, 1972). Indeed, segmenting groups of consumers helps marketers to provide products/services to meet consumers' needs (Pickton and Broderick, 2005). Moreover, Hunt and Arnett (2004) stated that segmenting of consumers allows the creation of effective marketing strategies to reach each segment.

According to Kolter *et al.* (2005) stated that consumers have traditionally been segmented based on four major variables, which consist of geographic, demographic, psychographic and behavioural aspects. However, previous research has suggested different ways to select segmenting variables and has produced inconsistent findings, suggesting weaknesses in the above variables: for example, geographic segmentation is not appropriate to predict consumer behaviour (Haley, 1968), demographic segmentation does not clearly capture the drivers of consumer behaviour (Schultz,

2002), psychographic segmentation is unable to clearly forecast consumer decisions (Yankelovich and Meer, 2006) and it is difficult to use behavioural segmentation to predict consumer behaviour (Schoenwald, 2001).

Among these variables, behavioural segmentation is the most widely used to segment groups of consumers. (Bose and Chen, 2010; Wu and Chou, 2011; Brengman *et al.*, 2005; Ye, Li and Gu, 2011; Giboa, 2009). However, this study considers the use of behavioural divisions to segment groups of consumers to confirm the findings of previous research, as behavioural segmentation can be appropriate to use in consumer behaviour areas. This study will advance the scholarship by identifying factors that vary in terms of consumer behaviour. Thus, groups of consumers will be segmented in terms of their behaviour with various platforms to identify the key factors of OCRs in each group that constrain their influence on information adoption criteria. Therefore, this research addresses the following question:

RQ3. Do consumers' adoption criteria vary between groups of consumers in terms of OCR factors?

Furthermore, OCRs have emerged as a very special form of eWOM that can offer useful insights and experiences on travel products/ services (Zhang et al., 2010c; Filieri and McLeay, 2014; Schuckert et al, 2015; Fili and Krizaj, 2017). The nature of travel products/services makes it difficult for consumers to estimate/evaluate the quality of products/services (Weathers et al., 2007; Israeli et al., 2017). Qu and Lee (2011) claimed that the increasing number of active participants in the online travel community has a positive impact on the sense of belonging. Travel websites are examples of platforms that allow consumers who are making plans to find multiple travel products/ services at the same time (Susskind et al., 2003; Filieri, 2015b). Indeed, the websites can help consumers to substitute many traditional information sources and reduce their problems in terms of making the right decisions for their trip (D'Ambra and Wilson, 2004; Xiang et al., 2015a; Xiang et al., 2015b). Consumers' decision-making processes are influenced by other OCRs (Goldenberg et al., 2001). For example, when consumers have hotel reservation intentions, they are highly influenced by online reviews (Sparks and Browning, 2011). When booking hotel rooms, consumers search OCRs more than any other information source (Kim et al., 2011). In other words, consumers are likely to

consult peers and rely on personal experiences in evaluating products/services in which interaction processes are dominant (Zhang *et al.*, 2010a). It can be seen that OCRs have an important role in the travel industry (Mauri and Minazzi, 2013). Zhang *et al.* (2010c) and Schuckert *et al.* (2015) have suggested that OCRs are very powerful, particularly in relation to experience products (that have fewer tangible criteria for pre-purchase assessment) in the travel industry. Additionally, Murray (1991) stated that communication has influences on consumers' purchase behaviour, particularly in experience products such as hospitality services. OCRs provide ideas and help readers to make decisions more easily (Filieri, 2015b). This might be because reviews increase confidence by reducing risks when consumers imagine what the places will be like (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008). This research therefore focuses on the effect of OCRs on information adoption in the travel industry.

Despite growing research interest and managerial implications, there is dearth in the current scholarship on the following areas.

- Thorough conceptual understanding: More comprehensive understanding of how individuals process information gathered from OCRs need to be developed, as current literature does not fully capture and explain the factors that influence consumer' likelihood of information adoption.
- Role of different platforms: Current scholarship mostly focuses on analysing single platform. Due to the competing nature of various platforms, there is theoretical and managerial impetus for understanding how consumers' information adoption varies in relation to the use of different platforms.
- Identification of consumer segments: There is a lack of research on segmenting behaviour regarding eWOM and OCRs. Consumers may have differences in behaviour and responses, and thereby may vary in terms of their information adoption criteria.
- Contextual and sectorial understanding: There is a lack of study that examines consumers' information adoption criteria from OCRs and analyse the different characteristics of COPs in the travel industry.

This study is motivated by the above gaps in the literature. It attempts to address a knowledge gap: its aim and objectives are introduced in the next section.

1.3 Research Aim and Objectives

The aim of this study is to identify and analyze the OCR factors that influence consumers' likelihood to adopt information from various platforms in the travel industry. Thereafter, this study extends the knowledge in terms of consumer behaviour beyond the generation of OCRs by segmenting groups of consumers and investigating the effect of such segmentation on information adoption criteria.

This study attempts to identify consumers' information adoption criteria from OCRs, undertaking an analysis of the different characteristics of COP in the travel industry. To achieve the research aim, the following list of research objective is addressed:

1 To identify the critical factors that influence consumers' information adoption by reviewing the existing literature.

2. To develop a theoretical model for information adoption focusing on online consumer reviews for various types of online consumer review platforms, investigating their effects on information adoption criteria.

3. Segmenting groups of consumers with regard to their behaviour to identify the key factors of OCRs and their effect on information adoption criteria.

4 To empirically validate the theoretical model by assessing the hypotheses' relationships.

5 To provide theoretical and practical contributions of the key results and offering suggestions for future research directions.

1.4 Research Methodology

To achieve the abovementioned aim and objectives, this study has been developed on the basis of an existing literature review and theoretical model. The theoretical model was developed based on the integration of the Information Adoption Model (IAM) and the inclusion of the Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM). A theoretical model is introduced in this study, along with twenty-six hypotheses based on existing literature. Thus, a positivist approach is selected (Collis and Hussey, 2014) as an attempt to increase the predictive understanding of factors under the central route and the peripheral route from OCRs on information adoption. To accomplish the aim of this research, a quantitative method that follows a deductive approach has been chosen (Bryman, 2012). A survey method was chosen because it enables the researcher to capture the complexity of the field-based phenomenon of information adoption. In others words, it is the most appropriate methodology, as it minimizes the data collection period, is lower in cost than other methods and makes it easy to collect data while offering flexibility to the respondents (Evans and Mathur, 2005). This study has used an online questionnaire to collect data. The questionnaire items were constructed based on the related literature. A total of 635 responses to a survey were collected. Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) in AMOS 20 software, using multigroup analysis, was the statistical technique used to analyse the relationships between variables, validate the hypotheses and propose the theoretical model (Hair et al., 2010).

1.5 Rationale of the Research Study

In an attempt to achieve the research aim of this study, the researcher will investigate the factors in different platforms that influence when consumers adopt information from online consumer reviews. This knowledge will be beneficial to both academics and practitioners in the field of marketing and information system. This study provides a contribution to the theoretical that it advances the scholarship on information adoption, particularly in OCRs to enrich the industry's knowledge and understanding of consumers. One major contribution of this study is the identification of the factors of OCRs implemented by COPs that influence information adoption. In terms of implications for practice, this study provides a guide as new understanding that enables marketers help to understand which influence make consumer adopt the information. The result of this study is beneficial to marketers to know how to handle OCRs from different types of COP. In other words, marketers should take the lead in understanding and utilizing OCRs in order to create advantage rather than merely adopting their competitors' strategies (Livin et al., 2008; Rodriguez Diaz et al., 2015). In the travel industry, marketers need to understand the dynamics of the technology to manage their business (Erdem and Cobanoglu, 2010). They should know which factors influence and make consumers adopt information because it can be easier to create marketing strategies for implementation. In fact, it guides marketers to understand the influential factors that affect potential consumers, so that they can exploit these factors to create advantage. If marketers fail to take advantage of consumers' online reviews, they may miss the chance to reach potential consumers, as well as to improve their service (Fili and Krizaj, 2017). Moreover, segmenting groups of consumers can improve marketers' understanding of the potential consumers in each group and make their marketing strategies more effective (Armstrong and Kotler, 2005). Therefore, this study highlights the important factors of OCRs and consumers' concerns in order to create a relationship between marketers as well as guiding the priority criteria on information adoption from different COPs.

1.6 Structure of the Study

Philips and Pugh (2010) suggest that a thesis should include four elements: background theory, focal theory, data theory and contribution. Chapter 2 presents the background theory, focusing on the research area based on the review of the literature. Then, in Chapter 3, the focal theory is used to develop a theoretical model. Next, in Chapters 4 and 5, data theory is discussed. Finally, the results and their contribution to knowledge are presented in Chapters 6 and 7. The chapters are explained in more detail as follows:

• Chapter 1 – Introduction: This chapter starts by providing the background and research problem. Research questions are set and the aim and objectives of the research are identified. After that, a summary of the research methodology is defined. Finally, the rationale of the research study is provided with a brief description.

• Chapter 2 – Literature review: This aim of this chapter is to provide an overview of the research area of the literature in the area of the evolution of OCRs. It begins with WOM and eWOM, providing definitions and background by initially discussing the updating and role of eWOM, OCRs, types of product and types of COP, particular in the travel industry. Following on from the review of the literature on the theory upon which this work is built, the connection between theory and practice is discussed. The mechanism of OCRs is explored by reviewing the dimensions of the OCRs in relation to information adoption. Finally, the research gaps in the literature are identified and discussed.

• Chapter 3 – Theoretical model and hypothesis development: This chapter aims to address the gaps in the literature, starting by explaining the theoretical foundation. It then develops a theoretical model for OCRs' factors and their effect on information adoption, which arose from the literature review in Chapter 2.

• Chapter 4 – Research methodology: This chapter provides the selection and justification of the research philosophy, research approach, strategy and methodology used in this study. A detailed roadmap of the research process is provided. The sampling method, data collection technique and the development of the survey questionnaire are discussed, along with ethical considerations. Moreover, this chapter explains how validity and reliability were ensured. Finally, the data analysis techniques, used in this study, are proposed.

• Chapter 5 – Data analysis and research findings: Having assessed the proposed theoretical model, this chapter present the results of the demographic profile, descriptive statistic, reliability and validity tests. Thereafter, it describes the findings through analysing the collected data using SPSS version 21 and AMOS version 20 to conduct Structural Equation Modelling (SEM), and in particular, multigroup analysis. It also presents the results from the multisample confirmatory factor analysis, invariance testing and structural model fit. Finally, findings of the overall hypothesis testing are presented.

• Chapter 6 – Results and discussion: This chapter evaluates the research findings and discusses the hypotheses by positioning the results within the relevant literature. The outcomes derived from the data analysis help to validate and develop a comprehensive set of factors for the research model.

• Chapter 7 – Conclusion: This chapter presents a summary of the research conducted and the key findings. It also offers conclusions, brought together with the background and discussed in relation to the research aim and objectives, and then sets out the theoretical and practical contribution of the research. It also highlights the study's limitations and provides guidance for future research.

1.7 Chapter Summary

In brief, this chapter has provided the background and research problem to this research and set out the research questions, aim and objectives. It has given a brief account of the methodology, rationale of the research study and structure of the study. The literature review will be presented next in Chapter 2. **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

2.1 Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to review elements of the long traditional study on electronic word of mouth (eWOM), with particular attention to the influence of eWOM on information adoption from COPs. In particular, this chapter highlights a number of gaps in the current body of literature and the knowledge surrounding information adoption.

This chapter begins by reviewing the literature on word of mouth (WOM), electronic word of mouth (eWOM) and online consumer reviews (OCRs) to discuss how they differ from each other. Then, product types and types of COP are discussed. After that, the relationship between OCRs and information adoption will be presented. Next, the literature investigating OCRs and typologies of COPs and the differences in characteristics between COPs. The second part of the literature review demonstrates the theoretical foundation, and particularly on the dimensions of OCR factors that influence information adoption. Finally, this chapter will highlight the need for this research and the importance of the conceptual model before presenting a conclusion.

2.2 From Word of mouth (WOM) to Electronic Word of Mouth (EWOM)

2.2.1 Word of Mouth (WOM)

Word of mouth (WOM) refers to information communication behaviour produced and received face to face (Arndt, 1967). It is personal conversations and the informal exchange of information among consumers and it might help to shape consumer expectations (Anderson and Salisbury, 2003). WOM is an informal mode of communication to exchange information between individuals regarding the evaluation of products and services (Godes *et al.*, 2005; Chung and Darke, 2006; Berger, 2014). WOM is a communication behaviour that is interactive and occurs through face to face discussion, without commercial motives. WOM is perceived as credible, reliable and trustworthy because the communications happen face to face and it is consumers who provide the information, opinions and comments, which are independent from the marketer, without a hidden agenda (Arndt, 1967). Similarly, Allsop *et al.* (2007) noted

that WOM generated by other consumers rather than by marketers could be more credible. When consumers make their decisions, they prefer to perceive WOM, which plays a much more critical role than marketing tools (Herr *et al.*, 1991; Gilly *et al.*, 1998). Traditional WOM communication happens within the close bond between friends and family members that can be trusted (Keller, 2007). Thus, WOM effectively decreases the perceived risks and uncertainty (Derbaix and Vanhamme, 2003). This is because people are reporting on their own experiences and have no reason to lie (Yoo and Gretzel, 2009).

Throughout discussion surrounding information within social science and preliminary WOM research, Katz and Lazarsfeld (1995) studied interpersonal influence and described how information and influence moved between individuals within social systems. A field of research subsequently appeared describing the many aspects of this important social phenomenon (Weimann, 1994) and extending the knowledge of WOM in the research area of marketing and consumer behaviour. Several researchers have shown that WOM is one of the most influential resources of information transmission in human society (Godes and Mayzlin 2004; Maxham and Netemeyer, 2002; Swanson, 2004; Cakir and Cetin, 2013).

In this research area, WOM has been studied from the consumer perspective, in which sources of WOM are close to the decision-maker, such as family and friends (Brown and Reingen, 1987; Bone, 1995; Buttner and Goritz, 2008). Some scholars, such as Bansel and Voyer (2000) investigate the significance of the link between the sender and the receiver by focusing on WOM influences on the receiver's buying decisions. WOM has more impact to the receiver when they are interested to search for the information (Sweeney *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the previous research has confirmed that personal sources of information such as WOM are the least biased sources of marketing information (Cheung *et al.*, 2009) and WOM is more persuasive and credible than information from company sources (Bickart and Schindler, 2001).

With the advent of new technologies and the extensive use of the Internet, WOM has evolved into electronic word of mouth (eWOM), spread over the Internet (Sun *et al.*, 2006). Consumer opinion from eWOM tends to be more influential than traditional WOM because of its scope (Duan *et al.*, 2008; Sung *et al.*, 2010 and Sparks *et al.*,

2013). It extends customer choices when gathering information about products or services (Litvin *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, eWOM is more influential because it is more link and close to making the purchase decision (Chevalier and Mayzlin, 2006; Chen *et al.*, 2008; Lee and Lee, 2009; Rui, 2011; Bartikowski and Walsh, 2014; Erkan and Evan, 2016a; Erkan and Evan, 2016b).

2.2.2 Electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM)

The definition of electronic word of mouth (eWOM) defined by Hennig-Thurau *et al.* (2004, p. 39) as "any positive or negative statement made by potential, actual or former customers about product and/or services or company which is made available to multitude of the people and institutes via the internet". However, Litvin *et al.* (2008, p. 461) identified the eWOM concept as "all informal communications directed at consumers through Internet-based technology related to the usage or characteristics of particular goods and/or services". In a sense, these definitions provide an understanding of eWOM. People can use the Internet to browse webpages and look for the information that they need, which is provided by others (Hennig-Thurau *et al.*, 2004).

In the early stage, Coffman and Odlyzko (1998) stated that, the rapid development of Internet technology since the 1990s, a new type of WOM has been introduced, known as eWOM. Blythe (2000) suggested that communication is a transactional process between two or more parties with the intention to bring about a response. The topic of eWOM was first investigated from a relationship marketing perspective, which aimed to discuss the various threats and opportunities for business resulting from the increase in online consumers (Stauss, 2000). However, the Internet creates new ways to communicate between consumers who have never met (Gruen et al., 2006). eWOM can be either positive or negative statements made by prospective, current and former consumers and it can be a great way to receive such information and thus to decrease decision time (Schiffman and Kanuk, 2000). eWOM is becoming more popular and is more frequently performed by consumers (Akehurst 2009). It has become one of the major sources of information on products and services, as consumers have realized that it provides rich information (Cheung et al., 2009; Kim and Gupta 2009; Pai et al., 2013; Liu and Park, 2015). This is one reason why most offline decisions are based on online information (Mayzlin, 2006). Additionally, eWOM offers multiple ways to exchange

information in asynchronous mode and online review websites provide a free platform for consumers to share their opinions (Hung and Li, 2007; Zhong *et al.*, 2013). In other words, eWOM can take place in various platforms through consumers posting their opinions, comments and reviews of product on review websites, discussion forums, bulletin-board systems and social network sites (Lee *et al.*, 2006).

2.2.3 Similarities and Differences between WOM and eWOM

Trusov *et al.* (2009) claimed that consumers perceive eWOM as having more long-term value to the firm than traditional marketing channels. However, there are five main differences between the traditional concept of WOM and eWOM. First of all, traditional WOM usually involves opinions with strong ties or groups of people who have a relationship, such as family and friends. On the other hand, eWOM often happens between people who have little or no relationship (Bronner and Hoog, 2011; Jeong and Jang, 2011). Thus, eWOM has a disadvantage in that people who spread the word through online platforms feel little responsibility when posting their comments. Indeed, WOM can identify senders who are known to provide the receiver with credible information, but in eWOM, the messages are provided by unknown senders: therefore, the onus is on the receiver to make judgements and ensure the credibility of these messages (Lee and Youn, 2009).

Secondly, the key characteristic of WOM is that it is spread by oral communication in a face-to-face or interpersonal situation (Jeong & Jang, 2011). Mazzarol *et al.* (2007) pointed out that some researchers have found WOM to be more effective and credible because it is usually provided face to face in communication between people who are familiar with each other, such as close friends, family members and relatives, with express body language and voice tones. However, eWOM is usually in the form of written feedback, which lacks any nonverbal cues (Cheung and Thadani, 2012).

Thirdly, eWOM communication is available to large numbers of users with wider geographic reach, while WOM is restricted to sharing of information between small groups of individuals (Li and Hitt 2008; Steffes and Burgee 2009). With regard to the Internet, eWOM can surmount location constraints. In fact, messages from one reviewer

posted on a website are seen by millions from a wider geographical range (Yildirim, 2011) and remain available for long periods of time (Libai *et al.*, 2010; Jeong and Jang, 2011). Furthermore, eWOM uses various electronic technologies on multiple platforms to exchange information, such as blogs, online review websites and social networking sites (Goldsmith 2006; Hung and Li 2007).

Fourthly, because of the development of the Internet, eWOM is more accessible than traditional WOM. It is faster, saveable, instant to receive, and time independent (Hennig-Thurau *et al.*, 2004). Consumers can express their opinions easily to others (Dellarocas, 2003). Messages posted on the Internet are available 24 hours a day (Hennig-Thurau *et al.*, 2004; Sen, 2008; Hung and Li, 2007). In fact, eWOM is available for indefinite periods of time. Consumers can write their reviews on websites and then others can read and consult these reviews months or even years later (Breazeale, 2009).

Finally, the structure and format of eWOM on the Internet can be observed, ranked, noted and etc., making it easier to measure than WOM (Park and Kim 2008; Chatterjee, 2001). Written opinions or review information seems more formal and is transmitted interactively (Sun *et al.*, 2006).

Nevertheless, many researchers have found that WOM and eWOM have some characteristics in common, as they are both forms of communication which provide consumers' opinions about products, services and brands, whether they have had extremely good or bad experiences and that have motivated them to spread the word to others (Hennig-Thurau *et al.*, 2004; Livin *et al.*, 2008; Andreassen and Streukens, 2009; Pan and Zhang, 2011). Many researchers have found that WOM and eWOM have more effect on the decision process than marketing carried out by companies (Lee *et al.*, 2008; Steffes and Burgeee, 2009; Karakaya and Barners, 2010). As discussion above, it can be seen that eWOM could overcome the limitations of WOM due to the methods of communication (Godes and Mayzlin, 2004; Mazzarol *et al.*, 2007; Beak *et al.*, 2017). Hence, it has been widely studied in the field of information systems and marketing (Yan *et al.*, 2016).

2.2.4 Impact of eWOM

eWOM is becoming a popular source of information for marketers and consumers (Hu *et al.*,2008; Lee *et al.*, 2011b; Cui *et al.*, 2012). Bickart and Schindler (2001) claimed that information from online platforms has greater credibility to the consumer than information on marketers' websites. They collected product/service information from eWOM and the results revealed that COPs as a forum presents readers' interested on eWOM more than traditional or marketing information. However, they claimed that the results do not refer only to consumers who are seeking knowledge about products/ services but also to consumers who are interested in finding more information about these products/services. It could be the reason why eWOM have been drawn much attention from academics and practitioners as one of the most influential sources of information (Lee and Shin, 2014).

There are two aspects of eWOM: individual and population aspects (Yan et al., 2016). eWOM in individual aspect is treated as an interactive process between consumers. It involves communication between senders and receivers of eWOM and its impact on the receiver's decision-making process. In terms of the individual aspect, many researchers have studied factors related to consumers' psychological processes, such as their attitude (Park and Lee, 2008; Doh and Hwang, 2009), trust (Sen 2008; Awad and Ragowsky, 2008), awareness (Davis and Khazanch, 2008), loyalty (Litvin et al., 2008; Gauri et al., 2008; Chen, 2011) purchase intention (Bichart and Schindler, 2001; Park and Lee, 2008, Sher and Lee, 2009; Lee and Lee, 2009; Huang, 2010; Zhang et al., 2010c; Chan and Ngai, 2011; See-to and Ho, 2014; Lerrthairakul and Panjakajornsak, 2014; Tsao and Hsieh, 2015; Elwalda et al., 2016, Erkan and Evans, 2016a; Erkan and Evans, 2016b), persuasive of communication (Ismagilova and Dwivedi, 2017) and information adoption (Cheung et al., 2008; Cheung et al., 2009; Zhang and Watts, 2008; Filieri and McLeay, 2014). In contrast, the population aspect highlights the relationship between eWOM and product sales. Most previous research has focused on the impact of eWOM on consumer purchasing decisions in terms of sales (Chevalier and Mayzlin, 2006; Yang and Mai, 2010; Sharma, 2012; Bae and Kim, 2013; Moon et al., 2014; Chern et al., 2015). However, a number of researchers have studied the eWOM area using secondary data collected from the Internet and observed from actual

product performance rather than services. For example, Chevalier and Mayzlin (2006) have investigated the characteristics of online reviews that influence subsequent book sales, conducting their research on Amazon.com and Barnes&Noble.com. They found that the impact of negative online reviews is greater than the impact of positive online reviews. Yang and Mai (2010) studied the impact of online reviews on sales of video games, using data collected from two popular third party websites, Gamespot.com and Mmogchart.com. They found that negative reviews effect on sales.

2.2.5 From Electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM) to Online Consumer Reviews (OCR)

Online consumer reviews (OCR) are one type of eWOM that can be either positive or negative, depending on the perspective of the writer (Sen and Lerman, 2007). Mudambi and Schuff (2010, p. 186) defined OCRs as "peer-generated product evaluations posed on company or third party websites". Additionally, OCRs refer to an interaction between consumers for sharing personal opinions, recommendations and complaints in regard to products, services and company (Chatterjee, 2001). OCRs, by sharing their experiences, are helpful to others when making purchase decisions (Park *et al.*, 2007). More details in reviews seem to provide more helpful information to the readers (Ku *el al.*, 2012). Supported by Dellarocas *et al*, (2006), Houser and Wooders (2006) claimed that consumers seriously search for information or online feedback from others when making purchasing decisions. In fact, when consumers are unable to judge a product or service in person, they often rely on OCRs (Werbler and Harris, 2008).

The above discussion has explained that OCRs are one type of eWOM. OCRs are more easily accessibility than eWOM because they are normally posted on company or e-retail websites without restricted access, whereas social media such as Facebook have control over the users who access the information. Only friends on Facebook can use the information posted (Erkan and Evans, 2016a). OCRs play two roles in social influence: from a consumer perspective, they are informants and recommenders (Lee *et al.*, 2008). As an Informant, OCRs deliver additional user oriented information. Park *et al.* (2007) identified three aspects of information provided by OCRs. Firstly, consumer reviews provide information without hiding inferior aspects. Instead, they evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of products/services from consumers' own experience.

Secondly, consumers focus on product attributes and benefits rather than on sales objectives. Finally, there is no standardisation of contents and format for consumers when posting their reviews. Thus, they can express their feelings through words. On the other hand, as recommenders, they provide either a positive or a negative signal regarding the product (Bearden and Rose, 1990). Recommendations from fellow consumers provide more value than those from professional reviewers because consumers perceive fellow consumers' opinions to be free of sales purposes (Bickart and Schindler 2001). In other words, OCRs do not require huge advertising investment (Trusov *et al.*, 2010).

Chen and Xie (2008) noted that OCRs are considered as a new element of the marketing mix and work as free sales assistance. OCRs have become a major source of support for consumers' consumption (Xiang and Gretzel, 2010; Lee et al., 2011b; Bissell, 2012). The number of consumers relying on online reviews to assess services prior to purchase has been increasing due to the evident rise of websites' popularity (Senecal and Nantel, 2004). Forman et al. (2008) suggested that consumers have to deal with the uncertainty of online reviews. This might because services are intangible and thus difficult to qualify in terms of features and function. Thus, consumers look to reviews presented by others which provide comments on their levels of satisfaction (Hu et al., 2009). Many reviewers who post negative reviews may have aggressive complaints and wish to alert others to avoid the risk of the products/services (Cheng et al., 2006). OCRs have attracted researchers to investigate this topic area as an important form of eWOM (Purnawirawan et al., 2012). Several studies have investigated the effect of OCRs on consumers' decisions: for example, Kumar and Benbasat (2006) found that OCRs on company websites can improve customers' perceptions of the websites' usefulness and social presence. Elwalda et al. (2016) studied perceived derived attributes of OCRs and indicate that OCRs have positive influence on trust and purchase intentions. Nevertheless, as mentioned, OCRs reflect consumers' experience after using products/services (Pai et al., 2013). They seem to provide an opportunity for firms/companies to improve their performance (Wei et al., 2010). Thus, Stringam and Gerdes (2010) suggested that practitioners should monitor OCRs in order to serve and satisfy customers' needs.

2.2.6 eWOM, OCRs and the Different Product Types

Bone (1995) suggested that the value of available information for the purpose increases when consumers find it difficult to judge the products/services. A product can be categorized as either search goods or experience goods. Nelson (1974) defined search goods as products whose quality can be estimated based on previous purchases, whereas experience goods are characterized by attributes that are difficult to assess before purchase. In fact, the different nature of search goods and experience goods lead consumers to judge the product's quality before purchase (Huang *et al.*, 2009). Similarly, Park and Lee (2009) stated that searching for the attribute of search goods on the web 2.0 is much easier than searching for the attributes of experience goods. This might be because consumers post more detail and rich cognitive information about search goods based on their specifications and other attributes, and are thus more likely to buy search goods than experience goods over the Internet (Chiang and Dholakia, 2003).

Park and Lee (2009) suggested that the impact of eWOM depends on product type. Several studies have found eWOM to have more effect on experience goods rather than search goods. For instance, Senecal and Nantel (2004) found that when consumers select experience goods, they are likely to choose products based on recommendations from others. Similarly, Park and Lee (2009) found that negative eWOM has a more positive impact on consumer' purchase intentions toward experience goods compared to search goods. This might be because experience goods cannot be evaluated prior to purchase (Hanson, 2000). Moreover, Park and Lee (2009) claimed that when people intend to buy experience goods rather than search goods, eWOM may have a greater effect on the consumer decision-making process. Hu *et al.* (2008) stated that consumers perceived that the product uncertainty of experience goods are more likely than reviews of search goods to be highly ambiguous, personal and subjective, based on consumer judgments (Nelson, 1974). This study intends to focus on experience goods for which consumers seek information from OCRs.

2.3 OCRs and Information Adoption

OCRs has been found to be influential on consumer's information adoption by a considerable number of researchers (Filieri and McLeay, 2014; Cheung *et al.*, 2008; Zhang and Watts, 2008; Cheung *et al.*, 2009; Park and Lee, 2009). The adoption of information from OCRs refers to a process in which people purposefully engage in using information (Cheung *et al.*, 2008). Previous studies show that OCRs influence on information adoption in both products and services (Duan *et al.*, 2008; Zhu and Zhang, 2010).

Many researchers have studied the relationship between OCRs and information adoption. For example, Zhang et al. (2010b) investigated the impacts of information processing behaviour on consumer decision-making in the context of online review platforms by using the dual process theory to investigate behavioural intention. They studied the direct impact of consumers' adoption of information processing on their behavioural intentions. Zhang and Watts (2008) investigated how members of online communities adopt information from other members to help solve their problems. They developed a framework by using Heuristic Systematic Model (HSM) linked with the information adoption model. They applied disconfirming information and focused on searching as moderators. Survey data collected from two online communities showed that OCRs have a greater impact on information adoption and there is a strong relationship between focused searching and information adoption. Cheng et al. (2009) explored how informational and normative determinants influence the perceived credibility and adoption of OCRs. They used an online survey method to collect data in China. They found that OCRs impact on credibility and reputation and are significant to information adoption. However, the survey sample was limited to a single online platform and users might not be interested in filling out an online survey. This was demonstrated when response bias was tested and revealed that 25 percent of respondents showed no difference in the answer. Fang (2014) explored how users of social networking sites adopt information from other users. This study applied the stimulus-organism-response model and effect-as-information theory in its research model. The result showed that the cognitive and affective paths contribute to the adoption of OCRs.

Furthermore, previous researchers extended their knowledge by using the original model of Sussman and Siegal, which was the first to explain the adoption of information in terms of information usefulness, quality of argument, and source credibility. Sussman and Siegal (2003) applied the Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM) to study consumers' changes in attitude, and while several researchers studied and extended the knowledge of the relationship between eWOM and information adoption in an online context, they all developed their frameworks from Sussman and Siegal (2003). For example, Cheung *et al.* (2008) investigated how OCRs in online communities impact on consumers' decision-making by discovering which factors encourage adoption using information usefulness as a moderator. They applied the ELM and the IAM to explain the factors affecting information adoption in an online customer community. Their model was tested by customers who had experience with this community. They found that eWOM has an impact on information adoption, with the most effective component being argument quality.

Filieri and McLeay (2014) investigated the factors that influence the adoption of information from online reviews. They used the ELM and the IAM to understand the communication route and explore the factors that influence information adoption. In addition, they introduced the concept of product ranking, which summarizes the proportion of consumers' reviews in numeric form. Their framework was tested in the tourism industry and data was collected via online questionnaires from a sample comprising mainly Italian respondents. All questionnaires were sent to academic and administrative staff of three Italian Universities, workers and part-time students. They hypothesised the factors of OCRs and information adoption and confirmed that information accuracy is the strongest factor; they also showed that product ranking is significant to information adoption. However, a growing body of literature on OCRs and information adoption attempts to understand how consumers adopt information which relates to consumer decisions.

2.4 OCRs and Type of Consumer Opinion Platforms (COPs)

The Internet provides new forms of communication platforms that empower both providers and consumers, enabling sharing of information and opinions from businesses

to consumers and consumer-to-consumer. It is convenient to consumers by providing a rich and accessible platform for sharing consumption experiences (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004). Cox (1967) identified three types of information source: marketer dominated, consumer dominated and neutral: (1) marketer dominated sources refer to sources that are fully controlled by firms' marketers, such as company websites; (2) consumer dominated sources are sources which have interpersonal rather than marketing control, such as online forums; (3) neutral sources refer to sources that are controlled by an independent third party, such as consumer reports. Online opinion platforms became consumer opinion platforms (COPs) as consumer-dominated information sources when consumers started to become involved and posted their opinions on the internet (Akerhurst, 2009; Shao, 2009). COPs refer to Internet platforms which make it possible for consumers to read the opinions and experiences of other consumers in many different areas of consumption (Hennig-Thurau and Walsh, 2003). According to Cheung and Thadani (2012), more than ninety percent of respondents use online review websites, blogs and other form of COPs before they decide to buy products/services. However, consumers might not know about the people who have posted the online reviews. Thus, it is difficult for them to determine the credibility or usefulness of online reviews. The choice of online opinion platforms is one of the cues that consumers consider when deciding whether to use the information from those platforms (Jeong and Koo, 2015). Several types of platform have an impact upon interpersonal relationships, as each possesses different characteristics (Litvin et al., 2008). COPs have become one of the most popular sources for Internet consumers. They are available for Internet products such as electronic products (shopping.com), services (tripadvisor.com; Booking.com; Hotels.com), music and books (Amazon.com) and other products (ebay.com). COPs enable consumers to create and develop activities and provide powerful capabilities to bring consumers, potential consumers and resources together in a virtual environment (Kim and Hardin, 2010; Erden and Cobanoglu, 2010). It has been claimed that types of COP help to support the decision-making process (Helm, 2001).

Nowadays, the number and type of platform are increasing and playing roles that influence information adoption and decision-making (Yaep *et al.*, 2014). From a consumer perspective, the growth in the number of COPs has increased the opportunity for consumers to provide information, complaints and opinions about products and services, and to read product reviews (Perry, 2000; Boush and Kahle, 2002; Chatterjee,
2001; O'Leary, 2002). Consumers search for information using search engine websites in order to fulfil their unique searching needs (Jansen and Spink, 2006). At the beginning of the Internet era, online discussion forums encouraged consumers to discuss their opinions with others. Over time, blogs have been introduced. Consumers can share their experience and comments on their blogs and leave them open for others to read (Chu and Kamal, 2008). Therefore, marketers consider blogs as one type of COP which provide the opportunity to gather feedback directly from consumers (Hsu and Tsou, 2011). With the rapid advancement of technology, online review websites have become one of the most popular platforms which encourage consumers to exchange their experiences and knowledge about products/services (Purnawirawan *et al.*, 2012). Again, the information from online review websites, which is generated by other consumers instead of marketers, is more reliable (Willemsen *et al.*, 2011). Nowadays, consumers have started to use their own identities on the Internet in order to determine the reliability of the information such as social networking sites (Erkan and Evans, 2014).

Social media represent one of the major platforms. Kaplan and Haenlein (2010, p. 61) defined social media as " the group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideological and technological foundations of web 2.0 and that allow the creation and exchange of User-Generated Content". In previous studies, researchers investigated consumer behaviour through different form of social media such as discussion forums (Chiou and Cheng, 2003; Huang and Chen, 2006; Bickart and Schindler, 2001; Zhang and Watts, 2008) blogs (Chu and Kamal, 2008; Hsu and Tsou, 2011; Kozinets *et al.*, 2010, Lee and Youn, 2009; Lin *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2014), consumer review websites (Purnawirawan *et al.*, 2012; Gauri *et al.*, 2008; Cheung *et al.*, 2008; Elwalda *et al.*, 2016; Filieri and McLeay, 2014) and social networking sites (Kaplan and Haenlein, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2012; Canhoto and Clark, 2013; Kim *et al.*, 2014; See-To and Ho, 2014; Knoll and Proksch, 2015; Erkan and Evans, 2016a; Yan *et al.*, 2016).

2.4.1 OCRs and COPs in Travel Industry

The advance of the Internet allows consumers to share and receive information from others (Hjalager, 2001). In travel industry, before or during their trips, consumers increasingly use web 2.0 applications to obtain information (Parra *et al.*, 2011).

According to Chau and Xu, (2012) and Oz (2015), social media has been recognised as an innovative knowledge-sharing platform where consumers can connect and interact with others.

COPs are interactive platforms that attract consumers and influence their travel planning process (Pan *et al.*, 2007; Leung *et al.*, 2013; Gretzel and Yoo, 2013; Benchendorff *et al.*, 2014; Law *et al.*, 2014), particularly in the form of social media, such as social networking sites (Facebook, Twitter and Instagram) and consumer review websites (TripAdvisor and Booking.com) are widely used as COPs by travellers (Kim and Park, 2017; Harrigan *et al.*, 2017; Israeli *et al.*, 2017). According to previous researchers in the tourism field, consumer review websites such as TripAdvisor is the most used of these social media platforms (Sotiriadis, 2017).

Kucukusta *et al.* (2015) observes that online websites promote tourism products and help to reach potential customers without geographical or time limitations and are a cost-effective way to increase performance. The main purpose of OCRs on COPs, specifically online travel websites, is to provide and recommend alternative choices for consumers (Yoo and Gretzel, 2008). However, De Ascaniis, (2013, p. 150) defined OCRs in travel industry as "travel advice about a destination is given, in the form of a direct or indirect visit recommendation, by expressing an opinion on the destination. A constellation of arguments is put forward to support the opinion, which is based on a personal previous travel experience. Those aspects of the experience or the destination itself that are considered the most relevant are described, and suggestions are provided to help the reader to get the most from her trip. Narratives of the personal travel story and trip details constitute additional elements which contribute shaping prospective tourists' expectations".

The importance of personal recommendations within the travel industry has long been established (Cohen, 1972; Butler 1980; O'Neill *et al.*, 2002; Morgan *et al.*, 2003; Wang *et al.*, 2012; Filieri, 2015b). In other words, consumers tend to plan a trip by seeking opinions from family and friends or talking to a travel agency: this is known in the marketing literature as word of mouth (Carl, 2006; Li and Liu, 2014). For services, consumers cannot try the product before they buy it, or return it if they are unsatisfied. That is why WOM seems especially important in service marketing according to the heterogeneity of service quality and the intangible nature of services (Bansal and Voyer,

2000). However, consumers prefer to read and share travel experience posted by other consumers than to received the reviews from travel service providers (Gretzel *et al.,* 2007). Cantoni and Tardini (2010) suggested that OCRs on travel websites support consumers' decision-making by providing optional information. Hence, OCRs have become an important source of information for consumers and influence their travel intentions (Yun and Good 2007; Pan *et al.,* 2007; Yoo and Gretzel, 2011; Jalilvand and Samiei, 2012; Pietro, Virgilio, and Pantano, 2012).

The phenomenon of OCRs is receiving growing research attention, with many researchers studying their effects in the travel industry (Xiang and Gretzel, 2010; Fotis *et al.*, 2012; Jacobsen and Munar, 2012; Pantelidis, 2010; Zang *et al.*, 2010; Vermeulen and Seegers, 2009; Schamel 2012; Cantallops and Salvi, 2014; Israeli *et al.*, 2017). For example, Pantelidis (2010) found that positive comments outweighed negative electronic reviews for restaurants. Zang *et al.* (2010) studied the impact of eWOM on the online popularity of restaurants. Vermeulen and Seegers (2009) studied the impact of online reviews on travel-related decision-making processes. Schamel (2012) investigated the effect of popularity rating on the hotel room price. Israeli *et al.* (2017) investigated consumer's social media reporting behaviour after service failure experiences.

The travel industry consists of five main sectors: the hospitality sector, the attraction and events sector, the transport sector, the travel organizers' and intermediaries' sector, and the destination organization sector (Middleton *et al.*, 2009). See figure 2.1



Figure 2.1: Five main sectors in travel industry (Middleton et al., 2009)

Recently, as aforementioned, OCRs have been found to strongly affect the travel industry, particularly in the hospitality sector (Cantallops and Salvi, 2014). The hospitality sector has undergone some of the fastest growth in the global economies and its significant contribution is seen to represent the fastest growth in online industries (Kangogo *et al.*, 2013). Canhoto and Clark (2013) stated that the popularity of OCRs is specifically emphasized within the hospitality sector. This might because OCRs help consumers in their decision-making (Litvin *et al.*, 2008; Cox *et al.*, 2009). Most prior literature in the hospitality sector has tended to simply investigate the valence, consequences and the way in which OCRs affect consumers' attitude toward; the sale of hotel rooms (Ye *et al.*, 2009; Blal and Struman, 2014), consumer decision making (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008; Cheung and Loi, 2014), hotel performance (Anderson 2012;Xie and Zhang, 2014; Kim *et al.*, 2015).

Moreover, many researchers have studied the impact of OCRs on travel-related decision-making (Vermeulen and Seegers, 2009). For example, Sparks and Browning (2010) found that hotels with good reviews are more trusted. Papathanassis and Knolle (2011) and Ye et al. (2011a) found that OCRs have been studied in the travel industry, particularly with reference to searching, holiday planning and purchase decisions. Moreover, the importance of OCRs in the hospitality sector was confirmed by Mauri and Minazzi (2013), who studied the influence of OCRs on consumers' purchase intentions and expectations by focusing on independent review websites. They found that more than 75% of respondents from their research consulted reviews from other consumers before booking a hotel. In the same view, Gretzel et al. (2007) confirmed the importance of OCRs during the planning step, with consumers visiting travel websites to gather information and evaluate alternatives. Sites such as Tripadvisor and Lonely Planet were used by 92.3% of respondents, whereas online travel agencies or Emerchants were the most used for travel booking. Therefore, it can be seen that OCRs on travel websites are confirmed to be important sources of information which affect consumers' decision-making process.

It is easy for consumers to find information and observe hotel attributes by searching and matching without cost. For example, Law, Chan and Goh (2007) and Law and Hsu (2006) conducted research to investigate comparisons of room rates between travel websites and hotel websites. They found that hotel websites provide higher rates compare to travel websites. As a result, consumers may look for information from various online sources before making any decision. Indeed, consumers can make bookings directly with the hotel or online travel agency, or via E-merchants' websites such as Expedia.com and Booking.com, or make indirect/direct bookings from independent websites such as Tripadvisor. Thus, consumers can select and compare the price and hotel attributes that are most suitable for them (Yacouel and Fleischer, 2011). Additionally, OCRs not only have an impact on consumers' behaviour and decision-making but also affect business models, as OCRs are strategic and cost-effective marketing tools for business (Hajli, 2015); therefore, travel service providers need to monitor, respond to and understand the impact of OCRs to develop their business (Haussman, 2005; Ye *et al.*, 2011a).

2.4.2 OCRs and Comparison of COPs

Law and Huang (2006) found from their study that search engine sites are more important sources for consumers to find information than personal sources. However, Ascaniis and Gretzel (2013) suggested that people do not go through all sources yielded from their search but only select the sources they think might match their needs. However, there are numerous studies investigating the power of eWOM and OCRs on various COPs: for example, Hennig-Thurau et al., (2004); Mumdambi and Schuff (2010); Zhu and Zhang (2010); Racherla and Friske (2012). Most of them have focused on single platform. Only a few studies of eWOM communication have been investigated across various types of online review platforms. Senecal and Nantel (2004) studied consumers' usage of online recommendation sources and their impact on online product choices. Their study compared three different types of online review websites: those of sellers, commercially linked third parties and non-commercially linked third parties. Their results indicated that types of website do not influence perceived trustworthiness or consumers' propensity to follow the product recommendations. Lee and Youn (2009) studied how eWOM communication from different online platforms influenced consumers' judgments of the products reviewed. Their study examined the effect of personal blogs, product review websites and brands' websites on product judgments. They found that there was no difference in the influence of branded review websites and independent websites.

Luo *et al.* (2014b) compared two types of website, namely commercial and third party websites, using ELM and the principle agent theory approach. They found central factors of OCRs have a significant effect on information adoption. Yeap, Ignatius and Ramayah (2014) investigated consumers' most preferred eWOM platforms for movie reviews and examined the criteria that form an effective eWOM platform. The Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process was employed to evaluate four types of eWOM, including personal blogs, review sites, social networking sites and instant messaging sites. They found that review sites are the most influential in spreading eWOM compared to other platforms.

Tsao and Hsieh (2015) investigated the influence of eWOM on purchase intention using eWOM platform types (specifically, independent websites and corporate websites) and product type as moderators. They found that types of posting platform did not significantly influence purchase intention. Erkan and Evans (2016a) have recently compared information adoption across various electronic platforms. Their study compared social media such as Facebook and shopping websites in the context of purchase intention. They found that eWOM on shopping websites has more influence on consumers' online purchase intentions than social media. Baek *et al.* (2017) investigated the impact of eWOM through different types of social media (Twitter, Yahoo!Movies, YouTube, and Blogs) on box office revenue across different phases of movie screenings based on Roger's innovation diffusion model. They found that eWOM through Twitter was the most influential in the initial stage of the movie's opening, whereas Yahoo!Movies had a stronger impact of blogs and YouTube on box office revenue. They were consistent from the initial stage until the last stage.

However, particularly in the travel industry, to the author's knowledge, Inversini and Masiero (2014) explored the reason for hoteliers' adoption by comparing the influential factors across online travel agencies and social media websites in terms of online sales. They also investigated the technology related to these two practices. The findings showed that, in terms of online sales, hoteliers perceived that there was a relationship between social media and online travel agencies, in which social media had a stronger effect on online travel agencies than online travel agencies had on social media. The

probability that hoteliers would perceive social media and online travel agencies to be important for sales varied according to several factors and was different across the two variables investigated. However, from consumers' perspective, only Manthiou and Schrier (2014) have examined tourists' perception, comparing traditional review guidebooks and online travel review websites in Greek. They found that there are a number of factors that influence information adoption. Table 2.1 shows the different typologies in classifying online review platforms in previous studies.

Authors	Typology
Senecal and Nantel (2004)	Sellers' website
	Commercially linked third party websites
	Non commercially linked third party websites
Lee and Youn (2009)	Personal blogs
	Company brand's websites
	Independent product review websites
Luo <i>et al</i> . (2014b)	Commercial websites
	Third party websites
Manthiou and Schrier (2014)	Traditional review guidebooks
	Online travel review websites
Yeap et al. (2014)	Personal blogs
	Review sites
	Social networking sites
	Instant messaging sites
Inversini and Masiero (2014)	Social media
	Online travel agency
Tsao and Hsieh (2015)	Independent websites
	Corporate websites
Erkan and evan (2016a)	Social media
	Online shopping websites
Baek et al. (2017)	Twitter
	Yahoo!Movies
	Youtube
	Blogs

Table 2.1 the different typologies in classifying online review platforms

Based on the above discussion, there has been relatively little attention in academic research in terms of comparison between COPs. Additionally, in the online context, the information adoption approach has its limit to capture the impacts of OCRs between the different types of consumer review websites (Filieri and McLeay, 2014). Consumers rely on different information sources to support their decision process (Buhalis and Law, 2008; Inversini and Buhalis, 2009; Inversini and Masiero, 2014). Therefore, different from prior studies, this study will acknowledge the influence of OCRs on

information adoption by attempting to identify the factors of OCRs from different types of consumer review website that influence information adoption.

2.5 The Main Types of Consumer Review Website in the Travel Industry

For the last few years, online travel websites have been available for consumers who need to search for information for decision-making purposes (Law and Cheung, 2010). From a review of the literature on the travel industry, there are two main types of online review website which provide OCRs for consumers: (1) independent websites which consist exclusively of consumer reviews of hotels and services, such as TripAdvisor and Yelp, and (2) E-merchants' websites, which allow consumers to share their opinions and consult online reviews and also to book hotels, such as booking.com and Expedia (Filieri and McLeay, 2014). This study focuses only on these two types of consumer review website. Consumer review websites are more convenient when compared to other platforms. In other words, these two kinds of website have different purposes, providing information to consumers with unique attributes in the same industry. Additionally, these platforms are becoming an important focus into marketing, ecommerce and eTourism (Inversini and Masiero, 2014).

2.5.1 Independent Websites

Independent websites are not used for commercial purposes but are platforms where travellers share a common interest related to products and services (Kiecker and Cowles, 2002). Independent websites are a type of platform that is non-transactional in nature. This means that travellers cannot purchase services directly from these websites, which only offer reviewing and trip planning information (Mauri and Minazzi, 2013). In fact, independent websites are a kind of non-commercial third party that facilitates travellers' searching for information (Senecal and Nantel, 2004). Independent websites play a role in sharing opinions in communities for the exchange of consumer reviews about products/services (Ku *et al.,* 2012). Some authors consider the anonymity offered by these sites as an advantage for OCRs because it encourages travellers to share their opinions more comfortably (Goldsmith and Horowitz, 2006). However, independent

review websites only require reviewers to provide personal identifying information such as an email address, name, gender and place of residence in order to determine the credibility of the messages (Xie *et al.*, 2011). Even though OCRs on independent websites come from strangers, they are still more credible than hotel websites (Cheung *et al.*, 2009; Truong and Simmons, 2010).

TripAdvisor is a prominent example an OCR platform within the travel industry (Buhalis and Licata, 2002; Vermeulen and Seegers, 2009; Jeacle and Carter, 2011). TripAdvisor was created in response to travellers' demands for unbiased information (D'Ambra and Wilson, 2004). According to Litvin et al. (2008), TripAdvisor is a good example of a COP where consumers share their opinions online. It is the largest platform for travellers to post unbiased opinion reviews and give the real story about hotels, restaurants and attractions (Jalivand et al., 2013). TripAdvisor produces valuable information for travellers (Hajli, 2016). The website collects reviews from large numbers of travellers and is relatively impartial, independent and less biased than travel agency websites (Law, 2006; Ye et al., 2009). More than seventy percent of travellers usually or always reference OCRs from TripAdvisor reviews before selecting a hotel and it stands out as a website that consists exclusively of customer reviews of the travel industry, including hotels, restaurants and transportation (TripAdvisor, 2016). Tham et al. (2013) mentioned that TripAdvisor is a travel-specific source of COPs where travellers can examine OCRs about tourism products/services. In addition, consistent information or suggestions that are relevant to the finding increase the likelihood that travellers will follow the OCRs' advice. This website does not allow consumers to make bookings but provides link to travel agencies, service providers and hotel websites (Rabanser and Ricci, 2005).

2.5.2 E-Merchants' Websites

Web 2.0 provides alternative ways of gathering information and undertaking transactions in the hotel market. Online transactions are conducted rapidly, especially with online E-merchants' websites (Buhalis and Licata, 2002; Kuom and Oertel, 1999). E-merchants' websites are third party companies that play a crucial role in the travel industry and are more powerful than hotel websites (Morosan and Jeong, 2008). Law *et al.* (2007) claimed that E-merchants' websites have become a common way to make

travel plans and arrangements. It could to be said that E-merchants' websites are third parties that provide an increasingly important service in the travel industry. However, most of them have no physical outlets. They provide their services via Internet websites. Hence, the number of E-merchants' websites is increasing, while consumers are increasing in their confidence in searching for OCRs from online review websites (Kim *et al.*, 2009).

The advantage of E-merchants' websites is that they provide a one-stop shop for consumers to book and buy the entire holiday (O'Connor, 2008). Consumers tend to buy travel products from E-merchants' websites rather than hotel websites (Inversini and Masiero, 2014). This might because these websites build their success on economies of scope by offering consumers cheaper prices or great deals (Gazzoli *et al.*, 2008; Kim *et al.*, 2009). As a business model, E-merchants and hotel comparison websites purchase hotel rooms at a cheaper price and mark them up for sale at a profit on their websites and still undercut the hotel (Tso and Law,2005; Tranter *et al.*, 2009) or E-merchants earn commission from the hotel when they sell hotel rooms (Garrigos-Simon *et al.*, 2017). In addition, these websites usually provide packages of complementary products/services reduce the risk and facilitate the searching and matching process (Jin and Kato, 2006). Therefore, the reach of travel E-merchants is quite large.

There are many types of E-merchants websites, such as Booking.com, Expedia, Agoda, Hotel.com etc. Among these websites, Booking.com is the most popular platform (Inversini and Masiero, 2014). Booking.com is the world's leading online travel agency. It contains a large number of online consumer reviews, which subsequently attract individuals to make reservations (Garrigos-Simon *et al.*, 2015). In addition, Booking.com focuses more on hotels (Chaves *et al.*, 2012). Yacouel and Fleischer (2011) claimed that E-merchants' websites are more reliable sources of experiences for prospective consumers. Also, the reviews encourage hotels' marketers to put effort into improving goods and service quality in order to increase the profitability of both hotels and E-merchants' websites. E-merchants only publish reviews from existing consumers who have booked the services through their websites. Web marketers make efforts to encourage their real customers to provide their experience through reviews. They email consumers after their stay in order to ask them to provide reviews (Gretzel and Yoo,

2008). Moreover, the hotel descriptions on websites are monitored by marketers to ensure that the information and reviews are accurate. E-merchants have relationships with both hoteliers and consumers. Thus, the websites need to provide reliable information to keep their customers and guarantee their websites' credibility (Yacouel and Fleischer, 2011).

2.5.3 Similarities and Differences between Independent and E-merchants' Websites

This study investigates how consumers adopt information from independent and Emerchants' websites as COPs. One question that arises is what are the similarities and differences between independent and E-merchants' websites. The key similarity is that online reviews from both types of site are only created by consumers, not marketers (O'Connor, 2008; Ku *et al.*, 2012). Both types are third party websites that facilitate consumers to search for the information they need (Senecal and Nantel, 2004). In fact, these websites provide and evaluate information about travel choices contained in online consumers' reviews, and offer promotions to consumers (Law *et al.*, 2015).

However, independent websites differ from E-merchants' websites in a number of respects. Firstly, the main function of independent review websites is to collect and spread OCRs without engaging in commercial transactions (O'Connor, 2008). Consumers are not able to make a hotel booking on these websites, but they provide links to various travel agencies and hotel websites (Rabanser and Ricci, 2005), whereas E-merchants' websites present a one-stop shop where travellers can read OCRs and purchase the products/services from them. Secondly, OCRs on Independent websites can be from anyone who wishes to provide their opinion to others, but OCRs on E-merchants' sites are generated by consumers who have bought the products/services from their websites (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008). In fact, their reviews are submitted by consumers after their stay at any hotels booked through their websites (Garrigos-Simon *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, independent websites only require reviewer to provide identifying details such as email, name, gender and age when they register before providing their reviews. In contrast, OCRs on E-merchants' websites are created by existing consumers who have made purchases from the website and have therefore

36

provided more detailed personal information purchasing products/services from the websites (Yacouel and Fleischer, 2011). Nonetheless, OCRs on Independent websites cannot be modified or deleted by marketers, whereas on E-merchants' websites, marketers can monitor, control, modify or delete the negative reviews (Xue and Phelps, 2004). Moreover, due to their financial relationship, E-merchants' websites earn commission from the hotel depending on the number of rooms they sell. The average commission charged by websites such as Booking.com and Expedia is more than eighteen percent of the price of the hotel room (Garrigos-Simon *et al.*, 2017) but independent websites earn only a single fixed fee from each hotel when it provides its contact details. It can be seen that the two types of platform have different purposes. The purpose of E-merchants is to improve sales performance to earn more profit/commission through the use of OCRs, whereas independent websites need to enhance the value of the forum, provide a great amount of reviews, by attracting high visitor volume (Gretzel *et al.*, 2007; Luo *et al.*, 2014b).

Given such differences, a unique characteristic of independent websites compared to Emerchants is that they are constructed from the accumulated opinions of fellow consumers. The different characteristics of independent and E-merchants' websites could provide different factors of OCRs that influence whether consumers adopt the information, or not.

2.6 Theoretical Foundation

2.6.1 Information Adoption Model (IAM)

Adoption theories propose to explain the process that people go through when they decide to perform an activity. The Information Adoption Model (IAM) was introduced by Sussman and Siegal (2003) and is an extension from the related components of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM: Davis, 1989). However, the TAM originated from the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA: Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975). The TRA focuses on behaviour intention, whereas the TAM is more widely used in the context of information systems (Ozkan, Bindusara and Hackney, 2010).

The TRA postulates that individuals' behaviour is driven by their intention to perform that behaviour. It is a function that consists of a person's attitude towards behaviour and subjective norms (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975), as seen in Figure 2.1. Attitude towards behaviour (personal expectations) is a function of prior beliefs about the consequences of performing the target behaviour and the evaluation of those consequences. On the other hands, subjective norms (personal expectations) are the individual's perception of whether most people who are important to them will approve or disapprove of the untended behaviour (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975. Moreover, behavioural intention is applied to measure the level of intention or motivation (Ajzen, 1991).



Figure 2.2: Theory of Reasoned Action (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975)

The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) is an adaptation to the TRA proposed by Davis (1989), and was developed to predict and explain computer-based technology usage behaviour. It has been applied to identify any behavioural issues of the user in the acceptance of new technologies (Yui, Grant and Edgar, 2007; Lee, Kim and Hackney, 2011; Erkan and Evans, 2015) and it has been widely accepted as a model to explain online consumer behaviour (Gefen *et al.*, 2003). The TAM consists of two main components that influence users' attitudes towards adoption, namely perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. Perceived usefulness refers to " the degree to which people believes that using particular system would enhance his or her job performance", (Davis, 1989, p. 320). While, perceive ease of use refers to "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would be free of effort", (Davis, 1989, p. 320), see as figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Technology Acceptance Model TAM (Davis, 1989)

Although the TAM has been widely used by researchers within the online context (Rauniar *et al.*, 2014; Alenezi *et al.*, 2015; Elwalda *et al.*, 2016) it has been criticized for its limited explanatory power (Riffai *et al.*, 2012; Elwalda *et al.*, 2016; Erkan and Evans, 2016b). It neglects the essential social processes of information development and implementation and mostly focuses on individual perceived usefulness (Raffai *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, the TAM cannot deliver a satisfactory understanding of customer intentions (Ayeh, 2015).

Extended from the TAM, Sussman and Siegal (2003) proposed the IAM, which was developed by integrating the TAM (Davis, 1989) with dual process models of information influence (e.g. Petty and Cacioppo, 1986; Chaiken and Eagly, 1976). The IAM is underpinned by four constructs: argument quality (presented as the central route), source credibility (presented as the peripheral route), information usefulness and information adoption, as shown in Figure 2.5. Argument quality refers to the persuasive strength of arguments embedded in an informational message (Bhattacherjee and Sanford, 2006). Source credibility refers to the extent to which an information source is perceived to believable, competent and trustworthy by information recipients (Petty and Caciopo, 1986). Information usefulness refers to the extent to which the reader perceive the received information as valuable and it can helps them to make a better purchasing decision (Sussman and Siegal, 2003). Information adoption refers to a process in which people purposefully engage in using information (Cheung *et al.*, 2008).

Sussman and Siegal's study investigated how consultants are influenced to adopt information that they receive in knowledge transfer using computer-mediated communication. They found that the ELM plays a positively significant role in the relationships between information construction and information adoption. Moreover, they also found that information usefulness has a positive and significant effect on the information influence process. The IAM is widely accepted in the field of information systems and marketing as being applicable to eWOM studies to explain how people process persuasive information (Cheung *et al.*, 2008; Jin *et al.*, 2009; Filieri and McLeay, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2014; Shu and Scott, 2014; Zhu, Chang and Luo, 2016).



Figure 2.4 Information adoption model, Sussman and Siega (2003)

Sussman and Siega (2003) have stated that the TRA and the TAM are useful in the first step of understanding that consumers form intentions to adopt technology or behavioural intentions based on their beliefs towards adopting the message. In fact, adoption models such as the TAM and the TRA can explain the first step in understanding intentions towards adopting information, but they cannot explain the influence process. Moreover, the TAM has been used to investigate the acceptance of new technology (Hossain and de Silva, 2009; Kwon and Wen, 2010; Sparks and Browning, 2010; Elwalda *et al.*, 2016) whereas the IAM was constructed in an effort to better understand how people form intentions toward adopting knowledge in specific advocated ideas, behaviour or technology (Sussman and Siegal, 2003). Additionally, the IAM is able to explain the motivation for users' intention to use information (Jin *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, this study draws upon the IAM to understand how consumers process information from OCRs on online review websites.

2.6.2 Dual process Theory (DPT)

Several theoretical foundations from previous studies have investigated how consumers are influenced by the received eWOM, such as dual process theory (Cheung *et al.*, 2009; Sussman and Siegal, 2003; Park and Lee, 2009; Li and Zhan, 2011; Lis, 2013; Gupta and Harris, 2010; Zhang and Watts 2008; Filieri and McLeay, 2014; Filieri 2015a), interpersonal theory (Bickart and Schindler, 2001; Wathen and Burkell, 2002; Lee *et al.*, 2008), attribution theory (Qiu and Li, 2010; Lee and Youn, 2009), social presence theory (Kumar and Benbasat, 2006), social ties (Brown *et al.*, 2007), and cognitive fit theory (Park and Kim, 2008; Wu and Wang, 2011). Among these various theories, most of the existing eWOM studies have employed dual process theory as a theoretical base in order to study the impact of eWOM communication on consumers' decision processes. It might because DPT provides a powerful foundation to explain the

persuasive process and its effect on consumer attitude change (Cheung and Thadani, 2012).

According to Chaiken and Eagly (1976), eWOM is a message that is created by individuals for individuals. The same contents might elicit different responses in different recipients. Thus, it is interesting for researchers to study the process of information transfer to understand the adoption of information and its influence on people (Nonaka, 1994). Dual process theory (DPT) is one of the original persuasion theories under the principle of psychology. It can be used to explain how different types of determinants influence the persuasiveness of information. Thus, this study adopts DPT as the theoretical framework to investigate the influence of OCRs and information adoption.

In the field of psychology, a number of models have been developed to understand and explain consumers' attitude formation and change in persuasive settings. Many theories have been applied to explain how people are influenced by received information. From a review of the literature, dual process theories have long been proposed to understand individuals' persuasive communications (Chaiken, 1980; Petty and Cacioppo, 1986) and also to provide comprehensive discussion on how individuals process information before they make a decision (Eagly and Chaiken, 1993). Additionally, dual process theories (DPTs) can describe the process and condition when people accept information (Watt and Wyner, 2011). However, in Information System (IS) research, a number of existing studies, such as the works of Sussman and Siegal (2003), Zhang and Watts (2008), Cheung et al., (2009), Zhang et al., (2010b) and Filieri and McLeay (2014) have applied dual process theory to understand how individuals' information processing behaviour can influence their decision outcomes after they have received a message from COPs. The various DPTs may differ on a number of dimensions but they all present the basic consumption, including two different modes of information processing related to the decision-making process (Chaiken and Trope, 1999). In the literature on DPTs, there are three prominent theories: the theories of informational social influence and normative social influence (Deutsch and Gerrard, 1995), the elaboration likelihood model (ELM: Petty and Caciopo, 1986) and the heuristic-systematic model (HSM) Eagly and Chaiken, 1993).

Deutsch and Gerard (1995) posited that there are two different types of social influence upon individual judgment. These are informational social influence and normative social influence, which are used as two components of social influence on the persuasiveness of received messages. Deutsch and Gerard (1995, p. 629) defined information social influence as " an influence to accept the information obtained from another as evidence about reality" and normative social is defined as "an influence to conform with the positive expectations of another".

Moreover, Petty and Cacioppo (1986) developed the ELM, which posits two different routes – the central route and the peripheral route – by which a message can affect attitudes among individuals. The central route requires the individual to think about issues related to the argument in the information, whereas the peripheral route refers to issues that are indirectly related to the subject matter of the information.

Furthermore, Eagly and Chaiken (1993) developed the HSM, which posited two ways of information processing when people consider the validity of the information: systematic processing and heuristic processing. Systematic processing is used when people examine all information and incorporate it into what they already know, whereas heuristic processing is used when people consider a few informational cues and form a judgment based upon on these cues.

Both the ELM and the HSM are useful and commonly used for understanding the effect of eWOM on consumers. Cheung and Thadani (2012) stated that these theories are widely used to investigate eWOM communication. Chen and Chaiken (1999) stated that the HSM and ELM maintain that the central route and systematic processing require consumers' motivation and capacity. In contrast, peripheral and heuristic might occur processing with low motivation or capacity. Gupta and Harris (2010) have claimed that eWOM serves as an additional argument when the motivation to process the information is high, whereas simple decision-making by cue happens when the motivation to think about the information is low.

However, HSM and ELM have many of the same common concepts and ideas. Gupta and Harris (2009, p. 2) have mentioned that ELM and HSM theories are based on "the amount of thought devoted to an argument, proposing a continuum of elaboration".

They both provide similar mechanisms to explain the processing of information: that is, they have similar conceptions of the central route and systematic processing, peripheral and heuristic processing and similar views on the antecedents and consequences of the processing mode. However, ELM differs from HSM in the number of respects. ELM assumes inverse relationship between central and peripheral route along the elaboration continuum whereas HSM assumes the systematic and heuristic processing occur simultaneously in either independent or interactive effects (Chen and Chaiken,1999). ELM has been used specifically to model persuasive communication, while HSM is applicable to a wide range of validity-seeking contexts (Chaiken *et al.*, 1989).

In keeping with the aim of this research, the researcher utilizes the ELM in this study for three reasons. Firstly, the ELM explains how individuals are influenced by OCRs and information adoption is the outcome of the process. In fact, this theory can predict the extent to which an individual will be influenced by the information rather than trying to explain the processes by which that individual processes the information (Ferran and Watt, 2008; Zhang and Watts, 2008). Second, the ELM is the most widely used and accepted model in the field of consumer information processing (Ham *et al.*, 2008). Finally, in marketing research, the ELM has been widely adopted in order to understand what makes information most persuasive (Tam and Ho, 2005; Luo *et al.*, 2014b; Luo *et al.*, 2014c; Baek *et al.*, 2015).

2.6.3 Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM)

The Elaboration Likelihood Model is one of the most popular theories of the past 30 years and can explain consumers' reactions to online consumer reviews by focusing on information processes. The Elaboration Likelihood model was developed by Petty and Cacioppo (1983; 1986), who provided a theoretical framework for understanding the effectiveness of persuasive communication and consumer information processing. The likelihood of elaboration is influenced by the individual's motivation and ability to process information (Petty and Cacioppo, 1983). Chaiken *et al.* (1980) have claimed that the ELM is generally based on modelling persuasive communication. When information is being communicated, many steps occur before persuasion is achieved (Kasulis and Zaltman, 1977). A persuasive communication model that postulates

information which thought about or elaborated impact to persuasion has presented in figure 2.2 (Petty and Wegener, 1999).



Figure 2.5 The Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM) (Petty and Wegener, 1999)

According to Petty and Cacioppo (1986), the ELM is an informational processing theory that exploits the influences of information when consumers receive it in persuasive communication. They posited two major routes of elaboration: the central route and the peripheral route. If an attitude change requires high amounts of cognitive processing, it requires the central route, whereas other attitude changes require little cognitive effort and use the peripheral route. In detail, the central route is activated mainly in two cases: (1) when consumers make more effort in thinking about the argument; (2) when the receiver of the information can draw upon past experience and knowledge to scrutinise and evaluate the information presented. In other words, consumers use the central route when their motivation and ability to consider persuasive information are high. Consumers judge the information based on their cognitive effort of elaboration in developing a thoughtful evaluation of the information (Petty and Cacioppo, 1996). Consumers using the central route, thinking critically and in a state of high elaboration likelihood, are more likely to find the information and to be persuaded by argument quality. However, people cannot always think critically about all the information that they receive. Hence, consumers who lack critical thinking ability and

are in a low elaboration state tend to take shortcuts using peripheral cues. In fact, consumers use the peripheral route based on cues rather than on the information itself to judge persuasive information (Petty and Wegener, 1999).

The central route is differentiated from the peripheral route on the basis of three perspectives. The first is cognitive effort: the central route involves more cognitive effort than peripheral route. In other words, central route requires more thoughtful comprehension, evaluation of the quality of arguments and using both of supporting and conflicting arguments to make a judgment, whereas the peripheral route focuses less on the quality of the argument (Petty *et al.*, 1981). Secondly, information processing via the central route is based on arguments as information, but peripheral processes are based on cues. Finally, in terms of perception, the central route has more stable and long term perception and behaviour because the individual has already engaged in deliberate and thoughtful consideration of arguments, while the peripheral route tends to be based on less thought and is less predictive of long-term behaviour (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986).

The ELM is often used in eWOM studies (Cheung and Thadani, 2012). It has been applied to investigate the effect of eWOM on consumer scepticism (Sher and Lee, 2009), consumer expertise (Park and Kim, 2008) and consumer involvement (Park *et al.*, 2007). It can help to explain the process and reaction of consumers to eWOM by focusing on the information processing procedures and the consumer's response (Lee *et al.*, 2008).

Based on the above, the ELM is concerned with the degree to which the issue evokes an individual either to elaborate or think about the issue and to use critical steps in achieving attitude change (Petty and Wegener, 1999). Moreover, Tubb (2003) stated that elaboration tends to increase long-term storage of the information and leads to strengthening of the existing attitude (Petty and Wegener, 1999) and guidance for future behaviour (Bagozzi *et al.*, 2002).

2.6.4 IAM and ELM

Sussman and Siegal (2003) validated that the ELM and the IAM provide understanding of explanations for information adoption behaviour in the context of information adoption such as Cheung *et al.*, (2008), Tseng and Kuo (2014), Filieri and McLeay (2014), and Shu and Scott (2014). Cheung *et al.*, (2008) applied multiple dimensions of information quality and source credibility, which are the key factors in the mediating effect of information usefulness in information adoption. Moreover, particularly in the travel industry, the ELM and the IAM can be used for understanding information. Tseng and Kuo (2014) extended Sussman and Seigal's (2003) model to explain consumers' intention to adopt information from travel websites. Filieri and McLeay (2014) investigated consumers' use of online reviews influenced by information adoption. Shu and Scott (2014) investigated the influence of argument quality or source credibility of social media content on destination attractiveness among Chinese students and argued that the ELM and IAM perspectives could help to understand information adoption in social media. Table 2.2 shows the previous studies of the ELM and the IAM.

Study	Title	Methodology	Key findings and conclusion
Sussman and Siegal (2003)	Informational Influence in organizations: An integrated approach to knowledge adoption	Interview and survey	This research offer the process models use to understand information adoption which hightlights information usefulness as a mediator of information adoption process
Lee, Park and Han (2007)	The effect of negative online consumer reviews on product attitude: An informative processing view	Experiment	High quality of OCRs has more influential than low quality OCRs in consumer's attitudes.
Park, Lee and Han (2007)	The effect of online consumer reviews on consumer purchasing intention: the moderating role of involvement	Experiment	Consumers' purchasing intention increase along with review quantity. Moreover, review quantity has more effect to low invovement conusmers than review quality whereas both of review quantity and quality has effected to high involvement.
Cheung, Lee and Rabjohn (2008)	The impact of electronic word of mouth: The adoption of online opinions in online customer communities	Survey	Relevance and comprehensiveness are positively significants on information usefulness whereas source expertise and source trustworthiness were not found significant to information usefulness. Moreover, information usefulness has a strong influence on consumers' adopt the information with in onlne communities
Fan, Miao, Fnag and Lin (2013)	Establishing the adoption of electronic word of mouth through consumers' perceived credibility	Survey	Source credibility, eWOM quality and eWOM quantity significantly affect consumer's perceived eWOM credibility. Consumer's perceived eWOM credibility positively influences consumer's information adoption.
Filieri and McLeay(2014)	E-WOM and accommodation: An analysis of the factors that influence Travelers' adoption of information from online reviews	Survey	Information acuuracy, information value- add and information relevance have grater impact to travelers. Product ranking was found to be strongest predictor of travelers' adoption of information from online reviews.Moreover, the results indicated that high involvement travellers adopt both of central and peripheral routes when they process information from OCBs
Cheuan, Li , Zeng abd Yao (2014)	Managing uncertainty on eWOM: Acomparison study between commercial and third part websites	Survey	argument strenght, consistency, comprehensiveness and quantity were found positively significant on onformation adoption
Shu and Scott (2014)	Influence of social media on Chinese students' choice of an oversea study destination: An information adoption model perspective	Experiment	The characteristics of the message (argument quality and source credibility) have a strong influence on consumer adoption of information
Manthiou and Schrier (2014)	A comparison of traditional VS electronic word of mouth in the greek hotel market: An exploratory study	Survey	information relevance, understandability, sufficiency, objectivity, timliness, accracy, persuasiveness, trustworthiness, expertise significantly effect to information usefulness and led to a stronger information adoption from online travel review websites. In contrast, the analysis of the printed travel guidebooks shows objectivity and timeliness were found not to be significant to information usefulness. In addition, accuracy and trustworthiness has negative effect to information usefulness.
Tseng and Kuo (2014)	Investigating the Effects of Information Quality and Perceived Risk on Information Adoption on Travel Websites	Survey	Argument quality, source credibility and visual design attractively persuadecustomers to adopt information adoption via both perceived usefulness and perceived enjoyment.

Table 2.2 : The studies of the ELM and the IAM in prior studies

2.6.5 Dimensions of the OCRs

In terms of OCRs, Argument quality defined as "the audience's subjective perception of the arguments in the persuasive message as strong and cogent on the one hand versus weak and specious on the other (Petty and Cacioppo, 1981, p. 264-265)". In marketing research, online communication context, argument quality is known as information quality. Information quality refers to the level of content of the information and how it is fit for the consumer purpose and it has been described as the strength of meaning embedded for the information (Yeap et al., 2014). From the perspectives of the central and the peripheral route, information quality is represented by the central route. It plays an important role in consumers' evaluation of products/services (Erkan and Evans, 2016a; Erkan and Evans, 2016b). Numerous studies have extended the components of information quality (Chung et al., 2015). On the other hand, source expertise and source trustworthiness are two well-established components of source credibility and have been used as important determinants of OCRs as peripheral route (Dou et al., 2012). Source credibility refers to the extent to which the reviewer is perceived as a credible source for product/service information and can be trusted to give an objective opinion on the product (Goldsmith et al., 2000). In addition, existing research has extended several factors within the peripheral route to evaluate consumers' decision processes (Filieri and McLeay, 2014). However, most researchers have identified different factors of the central and the peripheral route to evaluate the different levels that influence consumers' decision processes. Table 2.3 presents the most widely used dimensions from previous studies.

Dimensions	Definitions	Studies
Timeliness	The information are curreny, timely and up to date	Bailey and Person (1983);Doll and Torzadeh (1988);Negash et al (2002);Wixon and Todd (2005); DeLone and McLean (2003); Filieri and McLeay (2014); Manthiou and Schrier (2014); Bandyonadhyay (2016)
Accuracy	The reliability of the information	Bailey and Person (1983);DeLone and McLean (2003); Doll and Torzadeh (1988); Negash et al (2002); Wixon and Todd (2005); Filieri and McLeav (2014)
Relevance	The extend to which the information are applicable, What the consumer want and what is provided by the information	Railey and Person (1983); DeLone and McLean (2003); Negash et al (2002); Wiman and Todd (2005); Filieri and McLeay (2014);Manthiou and Schrier (2014)
Understandability	Clarify of information	DeLone and McLean (2003); McKinney et al., (2002); Filieri and Mcleay (2014); Wang and Strong (1996); Filieri and McLeay (2014), Manthiou and Schrier (2014)
Completeness	The complete of information	Bailey and Person (1983); DeLone and McLean (2003); Wixon and Todd (2005); Negash et al (2002); Wnag and Strong (1996); Filieri and McLeav (2014)
Source expertise	The knowledge and skill of information source	Cheung, Lee and Rabjohn (2008); Senecal and Nantel (2004); Cheung and Thadani (2012); Manthiou and Schrier (2014)
Source trustworthiness	The accuaracy and truthful of information source	Cheung, Lee and Rabjohn (2008); Senecal and Nantel (2004); Cheung and Thadani (2012); Chu and Kamal (2008); Manthiou and Schrier (2014)
Review quantity	Total number of posted reviews	Lee, Park and Han (2008); Gupta and Harris (2005); Park and Lee (2009); Park and Kim (2008); Gauri, Bhatnagar and Rao (2008); Sher and Lee (2009); Park, Lee and Han,2007; Filieri and McLeay 2014; Park et al.,(2007); Bandyopadhyay (2016)
Product ranking	The overall rating given by other readers on an eWOM	Cheung,Luo,Sia and Chen (2009); Filieri and McLeay (2014)
Review consistency	Whether the current eWOM recommendation is consitent with other contributions' experiences concerning the same product/service evaluation	Cheung, Sia and Kuan (2012); Luo, Wu, Shi and Xu (2014), Cheuan, Li,Zhang and Yao (2014)
Review framing (Valence)	The valence of eWOM message and whether it is positive or negative	Lee and Lee (2009); Gauri, Bhatnagar and Rao(2008); Lee and Youn(2009); Park and Lee (2009); Sen and Lerman (2007); Wixon and Todd (2005)
Review sidedness	A two sided message includes both positive and negative elements	Cheung, Sia and Kuan (2012)
Value -Add information	Discover special offers (both of positive and negative)	Filieri and McLeay (2014)
Objectivity	The impartiality and fairness of the sender of massage	Manthiou and Schrier (2014)

|--|

Information quality measures the semantic success of the information in conveying the intended meaning. Therefore, the selection of dimensions depends on the objectives and context of the decision (Chen, Shang and Li, 2014). Given the number of studies using several determinants of information quality, this study focuses mainly on the basic determinants from Cheung *et al.* (2008), namely information timeliness, information accuracy, information relevance and information completeness. These dimensions are the most widely studied in the literature to measure information quality in the field of eWOM. Additionally, information understandability and value-added information from the studies of Filieri and McLeay (2014) are employed to represent the central route.

2.6.5.1 Information Timeliness

Timeliness is one characteristics of information quality (Bailey and Pearson 1983; Rainer and Watson 1995). Malone and Crowston (1994), Wakayama *et al.* (1998) and Browning (2002) defined timeliness as information that is available when needed. The information is sufficiently up-to-date for the task at hand (Lui and Arnett 2000). Ashill and Jobber (1999) stated that timeliness refers to whether the information could be received in time to make a decision. People are likely to perceive information is up-todate (Nahapiet and Ghoshal, 1998). A major feature of the review websites is that the information is provided over time and websites are always being updated to provide accurate information to the consumer. Clewley *et al.* (2009) suggested that information on websites could be used to make a decision and customers need to know when the information was posted and whether it is still current.

In previous research, information timeliness has been used as a basic measure of the quality of information in the context of computing use (Doll and Torkzadeh, 1998). Wangpipatwong *et al.* (2005) investigated information timeliness as one of the factors for the adoption of eGovernment websites and found that timeliness is a significant factor that influences information adoption from these sites. Xiaoping (2008) also found a significant link between timeliness and online purchasing behaviour. In contrast, Cheung *et al.* (2008) focused on which factors encourage consumers to use online consumer reviews in the adoption of information. They found that information timeliness does not have a significant effect on information usefulness. They explained that this might because their research was conducted in the food and restaurant industry, in which people are not particularly concerned about whether information is up-to-date. Similarly, Fillieri and McLeay (2013) found that consumers do not adopt only current information from online consumer reviews. Despite such mixed results, this study still considers it important to clarify the impact of information timeliness on information usefulness and information adoption from OCRs.

2.6.5.2 Information Accuracy

Information accuracy is defined as the correctness in the mapping of stored information to the real world that the information expresses (Nelson et al., 2005). In other words, information accuracy refers to whether consumers perceive that information is correct (Shen et al., 2013). Information accuracy refers to whether information from websites is based on the truth and the degree to which it is free of errors (Flanagin and Metzger, 2000). The main concept of information accuracy is linked to lack of bias in the way in which subject matter is represented (Boritz, 2005). In the eWOM literature, accuracy is widely used as a primary dimension of information quality (Haddow, 2003). Several researchers agree that eWOM can facilitate consumers' product evaluation prior to purchase (Mudambi and Schuff, 2010). Mizerski (1978) claimed that consumers will accept information on products/services if they believe the eWOM about the product/services being described. Particularly with intangible products, readers need to obtain clear information from reviewers in order to reduce uncertainty when they make a decision (Laroche et al., 2005). In addition, accuracy may be supported when online consumers perceive information to be consistent with what they already know to be true. They may have confidence in the received information and use it to make a decision (Zeithml, 1988; Zhang and Watts, 2003). Filieri and McLeay (2014) found that information accuracy is the strongest predictor of information adoption from OCRs. Nonetheless, Wixon and Todd (2005) claimed that accuracy is concerned with reliability and can show the consumer's perception that the information is correct.

2.6.5.3 Information Relevance

Information relevance refers to the extent to which a review is applicable and helpful for the task at hand and depends on different customers' needs in specific situations (Wang and Strong, 1996). Since the 1970s, information relevance has been used as a measure of information quality through judging whether information is related to the consumer's need (Chen, Shang and Li, 2014). Relevance is one of the dimensions of information quality and is a key variable that affects consumer decisions (Dunk, 2004).

Consumers are likely to spend more time and effort to read OCRs when they perceive them as being important and relevant to their target (Xu and Chen, 2006). Cheung *et al.*

(2007) suggested that consumer might not read all of the reviews in detail but prefer to scan the pages and search for the information they need. In other words, consumers might read a review faster if they think it is irrelevant, whereas they will slow down their reading and processing when they find relevant information (Kaakinen *et al.*, 2003). Chen *et al.* (2014) tested the effect of perceived relevance of travel blogs' content on behavioural intention to visit a tourist destination. Their study found that relevance influences behavioural intention when people are searching for a destination. Moreover, in previous research, Cheung *et al.* (2008) investigated the impact of eWOM within online customer communities, focusing on dining experiences on Openrice.com. They found that information relevance has a significant impact on information adoption. However, Spark *et al.* (2013) claimed that the specificity of information is more influential when people are planning a trip in the near future. They pay more attention to the information that they are looking for and then carefully evaluate and adopt it.

2.6.5.4 Information Completeness

Information completeness is defined as the degree to which the information source provides all necessary contents (Shen *et al.*, 2013). In other words, information completeness refers to the breadth, depth and scope of information (Wang and Strong, 1996). Wixon and Todd (2005) stated that the completeness of the information plays an important role in information quality. If the information on a website is complete and comprehensive, this can serve as a measure of the website's quality (Doll and Torkzadeh, 1988). Cheung *et al.* (2008) suggested that information that is complete is more likely to be useful. More detailed information with greater breadth of consumer categories on the website might lead to a greater likelihood of influencing consumers' decisions (Sullivan 1999).

Shen *et al.* (2013) found that information completeness has a significant effect on information usefulness. Cheung *et al.* (2009) claimed that consumers who read both positive and negative reviews could perceive the completeness of information because all products or services have strengths and weaknesses. Cheung (2014) studied the impact of eWOM on information adoption behaviours in online communities and investigated how it affects purchase intention. Incomplete information may not provide

the whole picture, missing necessary and relevant details, and can thus mislead the consumer (Bergman, 2006). Therefore, it is necessary to identify information completeness, as this might be one of the important criteria that consumers expect to read from OCRs.

2.6.5.5 Information Understandability

Information understandability refers to readability and ease of understanding, including the language, semantic and lexical expressions used by reviewers (Wang and strong, 1996). Lee and Kozar (2006) stated that information understandability refers to the degree of ease with which the information can be understood. In the same view, Xu and Chen (2006) mentioned that information understandability refers to the extent to which the receiver perceives information to be easy to read and understand. Ease of understanding includes three dimensions that address whether information is easy to understand, readable and clear (Wang and Strong, 1996).

Information understandability is concerned with the clarity and quality of information. Therefore, high information quality should involve concise presentation of information that is easy for consumers to understand (Cheung and Lee, 2005). On the other hand, the use of jargon or technical language may negatively affect the acceptance of information (Dwyer, 1999; Elsbach and Elofson, 2000). Similarly, Filieri and McLeay (2014) mentioned that the use of jargon, dialect or poor writing skills might undermine the clarity of reviews. Brown et al. (1978) noted that the use of jargon in documents is sensitive to expert and non-expert readers. This means that a lack of understandability may create knowledge uncertainty about products/services among consumers (Chen et al., 2014). Therefore, information clarity could be reduced by the use of jargon and technical language (Dwyer, 1999). In terms of OCRs, the review content is a key factor in determining perceived understandability (Chau, 2000), which means that writing skills can affect understandability (Bateman, 1998). However, if OCRs provide information in a way that is clear, logical and interpretable, it will be easy to understand (Filieri and McLeay, 2014). Thus, in this study, information understandability is related to the extent to which information from OCRs is clear and comprehensible.

2.6.5.6 Value-Added Information

Value-added information refers to the extent to which information is beneficial and its use provides advantages to readers (Wang and Strong, 1996). In terms of online communication, OCRs can help readers to discover special offers and better evaluate quality (Filieri and McLeay 2014). The reader may find out the details of the information by reading OCRs and thus discover information on both positive and negative aspects (Sparks *et al.*, 2013). In fact, readers may discover different aspects, either positive or negative, when they spend time reading OCRs and discovering new information that they have not previously come across (Li *et al.*, 2013). However, value-added information has attracted very little attention in previous studies. In the online context, Filieri and McLeay (2014) applied value-added information to their model in order to test its relationship to information adoption. Their study found that value-added information has a strongly significant effect on information adoption. The discovery of unexpected information could be beneficial and advantageous to their decision-making process. This is why value-added information is considered as a dimension of information quality in this study.

Furthermore, in previous literature, the peripheral route has been represented in numerous factors to evaluate the consumer decision process. This study will identify the importance of comprehensive factors that can represent the peripheral route from OCRs. It will review the factors employed in existing research, namely review quantity, product ranking, review sidedness and review consistency. Moreover, this study considers source credibility to be an important factor that affects consumers' persuasion process (Cheung *et al.*, 2008). Source credibility consists of two main constructs: source expertise and source trustworthiness (Dou *et al.*, 2012). The components of the peripheral route are presented as follows.

2.6.5.7 Information Quantity

Information quantity refers to the extent to which the quantity or volume of available data is appropriate for a particular task (Wang and Strong, 1996). The number of OCRs that have been posted and replied plays a role in consumers' judgment (Chen and Ku, 2012). Chatterjee (2001) noted that consumers cannot read all online reviews from

others. In contrast, they may consider products/services which have large numbers of reviews because the number of OCRs makes the consumers easier to notice (Cheung and Thadani, 2010). In fact, people take the quantity of reviews as an indicator of a product's popularity (Duan *et al.*, 2008). The number of reviews can represent the number of consumers who have experienced a product and then expressed their views by posting about their experience (Chatterjee, 2001). Lee and Koo (2012) suggested that consumers reduce their risk by assessing the number of messages when they are dealing with information uncertainty. In other words, consumers read online review by other reviewers because they believe that they could be useful and reduce discomfort and risk before making a decision because they can see that many others have purchased the products/services (Chatterjee, 2001). Similarly, Buttle (1998) claimed that the number of reviews could increase consumers' confidence by reference to others.

Previous studies of OCRs have reported that information quantity has a positive relationship with sales (Duan et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2013), consumer awareness (Liu, 2006; Vermeulen and Seegers, 2009), and consumer decision outcomes (Anderson and Salisbury, 2003; Ye el al., 2011; Sher and Lee, 2009). For example, the number of consumer reviews has a positive relationship with box office sales (Duan et al., 2008). Ye et al. (2011a) found a positive relationship between the review quantity and the number of hotel bookings. Lui (2006) and Vermeulen and Seegers (2009) also found that the quantity of online reviews increased consumers' awareness of the offering. Anderson and Salisbury (2003) found that review quantity on eWOM is significant in predicting consumers' behaviour. Zhang et al. (2013) conducted a study in the restaurant industry and found that the quantity of reviews has a positive effect on the number of buyers. Sher and Lee (2009) investigated the effect of positive online reviews on the attitude of online consumers by using scepticism as a moderator. They found that online consumers with low scepticism could be persuaded by the quantity of online reviews. Indeed, they suggested that low scepticism consumers are likely to be persuaded by peripheral cues such as the number of consumer reviews and source credibility. Additionally, Cui et al. (2012) stated that the number of consumer reviews has a greater impact for experience products than for search products. It can be concluded that information quantity is an important factors that affects consumers' decision-making process, as it is a signal of the popularity of products/services. In this

study, information quantity represents the number of OCRs per hotel/accommodation. A hotel with a large number of reviews is more likely to attract consumers. Therefore, information quantity can possibly be discussed as one of the important factors in the peripheral route when consumers process information from OCRs.

2.6.5.8 Product Ranking

Chen and Ku (2012) stated that when people are dealing with very large quantities of information, credibility of sources such as product ranking seem very useful and can help to justify and make decisions. Huang *et al.* (2009) have suggested that people are willing to use numerical information such as ratings or rankings to save time and cognitive resources and to reduce energy. A ranking is a type of statistic that represents a summary of the proportion of positive, negative and neutral reviews from consumers who review products and services (Filieri, 2015a). The product ranking refers to an overall (average) evaluation and is often displayed as a number provided by all reviewers about a specific product or service (Filieri, 2014). Typically, online consumer platforms allow consumers to rate products and/or services and the ranking (overall product rating) is computed from the rating. Some websites such as TripAdvisor are exceptions, being designed to allow reviewers to provide a product ranking for a hotel and they also give it a specific rating in each category, such as cleanliness, location, value, etc. (Schuckert *et al.*, 2015).

Many previous studies have found a significant positive relationship between consumer review ratings and product sales (Clemons *et al.*, 2006; Dellarocas *et al.*, 2007; Sun, 2012; Phillips *et al.*, 2015), hotel performance (Blal and Sturman, 2014; Kim *et al.*, 2015). In addition, Ye *et al.* (2011a) studied online ratings in the context of hospitality and found a positive relationship between online consumer ratings and hotel performance. Moe and Trusov (2011) and Liang *et al.* (2014) claimed that positive ratings from others could influence consumers' purchasing behaviour. Filieri (2015a) found that both product ranking and rating are important predictors of information diagnostics. However, Schuckert *et al.*, (2015) claim that product ranking seems to be a greater evaluation of reviewers than specific rating. Similarly, Filieri and McLeay (2014), they found that product ranking is the strongest influence on information quality

dimensions. Product ranking bring the best product which become the form to show satisfy of several aspects from consumers opinions. Product ranking bring the best products/ services which is highly rated with satisfaction (Dalal, Sengamedu and Sanyal, 2012).

2.6.5.9 Review Sidedness

Valence refers to whether reviews are positive or negative, and is one of the most important factors in the study of online reviews (Chen *et al.*, 2004). Positive reviews refer to favourable experiences and recommend the product to others, whereas negative reviews refer to unfavourable experiences and discourage others from buying the product (Qiu *et al.*, 2012). Purnawirawan *et al.* (2012) defined the valance of reviews as their direction of evaluation, which could to be positive, negative or neutral. In prior research, Zhang, Craciun and Shin (2010) examined the effect of eWOM valance on eWOM persuasive power from two software products and found that consumer do not assign the same weights to positive and negative reviews. Several researchers have identified that negative reviews have a stronger influence on consumers than either positive or neutral reviews (Xue and Zhou, 2010).

Fiske (1980) suggested that individuals pay more attention to negative information than positive, so negative reviews are more influential. This might because consumers are scared to face bad experiences in a real situation. Thus, they are wary and concerned about negative information (Chiou and Cheng, 2003). Previous research has shown that positive information is perceived as less useful than negative information (Ahluwalia, 2002). On the other hand, positive information has also been found to affect consumers (Lee *et al.*, 2009; Clemon *et al.*, 2006; Gershoff *et al.*, 2003). Doh and Hwang (2009) found that positive reviews have a positive effect on consumers' attitude and purchase intentions. However, Litvit *et al.* (2008) and Hu *et al.* (2009) mentioned that some online reviews present biased information from extremely satisfied or unsatisfied customers. Several researchers have identified that when consumer are dissatisfied, they are more likely to post reviews to convey negative messages to others (Tax *et al.*, 1998). In addition, it is possible to find fake positive reviews posted by companies to improve their reputation and negative reviews posted by competitors in order to discredit the reputation of their rivals (Hu *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, Walther *et al.* (2010)

claimed that if the first review is positive and the positive message continues in the next two or three reviews, then readers are likely to have favourable attitudes. Cheung *et al.* (2009) posited that two-sided reviews are perceived as being more detailed. Mauri and Minazzi (2013) stated that review sidedness refers to whether the contents of messages contain one-sided or two-sided information. Similarly, Purnawirawan *et al.* (2012) claimed that in real life, consumers are likely to find information from both sides (positive and negative online reviews). Therefore, review sidedness is considered as one of the peripheral routes in this study.

2.6.5.10 Review Consistency

Review consistency refers to whether information from one source is consistent with other sources (Barry and Schamber, 1998). Luo et al. (2013) suggested that consumers tend to obtain a lot of information from various reviews, and sometimes many reviews express similar viewpoints towards products and services (Barry and Schamber, 1998): therefore, the consistency of reviews is high. In contrast, consumers often find different viewpoints and attitudes from others towards the same products and services. This means that the reviews are inconsistent. However, Cheung et al. (2009) suggested that review consistency among consumers would increase the perceived credibility of the information. In contrast, if there are many inconsistent pieces of information, the reader might struggle to evaluate whether the reviews are correct or not (Pan and Zhang, 2011). Therefore, a review that is inconsistent with most of the others may lead consumers to perceive its information as less credible (Vandenbosch and Higgins, 1996). This might be because consumers prefer to follow and believe normative opinions and tend to accept wide opinions from others (Kelman, 1958; Zhang and Watts, 2003). In other words, consumers feel more comfortable if a consistent opinion is given by the crowd, whereas they may feel confused if the information is inconsistent (Cheung et al., 2009).

2.6.5.11 Source Expertise

From existing studies, several definitions of source expertise have been provided. Hovland, Janis and Kelley (1953) defined source expertise as the extent to which a source is believed to be capable of making valid assertions. Ohanian (1990) defined source expertise as the perceived knowledge, skills or experiences of reviewers which signal their capability to provide accurate information. Tseng and Fogg (1999) defined expertise as a knowledgeable, experienced and competent concept which captures the perceived knowledge and skill of the source. Senecal and Nantel (2004) stated that source expertise refers to the information sources that can provide the right answer to consumers. To conclude, source expertise represents the amount of knowledge about products/services from professionals as expert reviewers.

Source expertise is one of the factors that are often used to measure source credibility (Chen, 2008). Petty and Caicopo (1983) suggested that even if the contents are not relevant, information can persuade people if it is associated with source expertise. In online communication, the expertise level of the source could be presented through profile information or their identities (Cheung et al., 2009). Source expertise has been found to be positively associated with consumer attitudes toward the brand and behaviours (Gilly et al., 1998; Lascu et al., 1995). Consumers tend to accept information from expert sources because they think sources with high expertise could provide high quality information. The information from sources with high expertise has a higher impact (Cheung et al., 2009, Cheung et al., 2012). In previous studies, Shen et al. (2013) found that if consumers feel that eWOM reviews are more credible and reliable than those from non-experts, they are likely to agree with experts and adjust their attitudes to suit these expert opinions. Manthiou and Schrier (2014) conducted a study to examine international tourists' perceptions of travel review guidebooks and online travel review websites in Greek hotels and found that source expertise has a positive effect on perceived information usefulness in both online travel reviews and travel guidebooks. Fang (2014) used source expertise as one of the factors to explore how users of social media adopt information from eWOM which is shared by others; their results showed that source expertise plays an important role in the eWOM adoption process. Source expertise is important in this study, as consumers obtained reviews about products/services from sources with professional experiences or formal education/training. Source expertise is considered as one of the dimensions in the peripheral route.

2.6.5.12 Source Trustworthiness

Beside source expertise, trustworthiness is another dimension of the credibility of information sources. In recent year, many researchers (e.g. Lee et al., 2011b; Wu and Lin, 2015; Filieri, 2016) studied source trustworthiness with OCRs. Pornpitakpan (2004) claimed that source trustworthiness has more impact compared to expertise. Tseng and Fodd (1999, p. 40) defined trustworthiness as "a well-intentioned, truthful, unbiased concept which captures that perceived goodness or morality of the source". Moreover, source trustworthiness refers to the extent to which the receiver perceives assertions from the sender to be valid and believable (Hovland et al., 1953). Trustworthiness is one dimension of credibility, which captures the perceived goodness or morality of the source and the unbiased and truthful nature of the information (Ko et al., 2005). In fact, the concept of trustworthiness is closed linked with the concept of trust (McKnight et al., 2002). O'Keefe (2002) suggested that a trustworthy source is expected to have a strong intention to express truthful information to consumers. Grewal et al. (1994) claimed that the level trustworthiness of a source is directly related to how individuals perceive and respond to information. In online communication, perceptions of source trustworthiness rely on the degree to which the consumer feels the justice and honesty of OCRs from reviewers. Additionally, consumers have the freedom to review their perceptions of products or services anonymously. Thus, if consumers believe that reviews are posted by sources with a high degree of trustworthiness, then they might perceive the information to be more useful (Tormala et al., 2007) and are more likely to evaluate the information as having high validity and credibility (Cheung et al., 2009). Moreover, Senecal and Nantel (2004) noted that trustworthiness could be considered as the perceived information source's motivation to communicate the knowledge information without bias. If credible writers produce credible information, consumers will adopt it even if it is negative (Chang and Wu, 2014). In addition, trust in the information source has a positively significant effect on information adoption (Bickart and Schindler, 2001; Cheung, 2014).

2.6.5.13 Information Usefulness

In this topic, the concepts of review usefulness, review helpfulness and diagnosticity have attracted research interest in the area of online reviews in recent years. Davis *et al.*

(1989, p. 320) defined perceived usefulness as 'the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance'. This concept has been used to explain how individuals perceive that utilizing a new technology can improve their performance. In online communication, information usefulness refers to the extent to which the consumer perceives the received information as valuable and helpful in making a better purchasing decision (Sussman and Siegal, 2003; Luo *et al.*, 2014a). Specifically, in eWOM studies, information usefulness refers to the perception that eWOM information is useful (Cheung and Thadani, 2012).

According to Mudambi and Schuff (2010, p.186) defined helpfulness as 'a peergenerated product evaluation that facilitates the consumer's purchase decision processes'. Review helpfulness refers to the degree to which other consumers believe that the review is helpful when making a purchase decision and is measured as the ratio of the number of positive answers (Baek *et al.*, 2014). In the online environment, review helpfulness is represented by the subjective valuation of the review as judged by others, and also in terms of the aggregate perceived utility of information contained in the review. Indeed, online review websites allow consumers to 'review the reviews' (Huang *et al.*, 2015). Helpfulness is simply a dummy variable indicating whether the review is helpful to readers or not. (Cao et al., 2015). The most commonly used from is the helpful vote, with reviews being rated as 'helpful' or 'not helpful' (Li *et al.*, 2013). Reviews with a higher number of helpful votes lead to higher sales performance (Chen, 2013). Understanding what makes a review helpful could help to improve the success of Internet marketing.

Diagnosticity is determined by the perceived correlation between the information and the decision-making process (Qiu *et al.*, 2012). Perceived diagnosticity is defined as the extent to which consumers believe the shopping experience is helpful to evaluate product (Kempf and Smith, 1998). In the online context, information diagnosticity represents consumers' perceptions of a website's ability to convey relevant product information that can assist them in understanding and evaluating the quality and performance of products sold online (Jiang and Benbasat, 2004). Kempf and Smith (1998) stated that if consumers perceived high diagnosticity, their understanding about products/services will be stronger, with reduced uncertainty and high confidence. In line with Mckinney *et al.* (2002), they suggested that improving the understandability of
information would increase consumers' satisfaction with systems and information. Information diagnosticity refers to a consumer's improved understanding or knowledge about a product and how it works as a consequence of adopting information from a specific website (Filieri, 2015).

Previous studies have investigated review usefulness, review helpfulness and review diagnosticity because these factors have been shown to efficiently and effectively influence the consumer decision process. As discussed above, although the definitions of usefulness, helpfulness and diagnosticity are different, these concepts are connected. Diagnosticity is often operationalized as the helpfulness and usefulness of information for making a purchase decision (Qiu et al., 2012; Dick et al., 1990; Skowronski and Carlston, 1987). Review helpfulness can be seen as a reflection of review diagnosticity (Mudambi and Schuff, 2010). Filieri (2015) pointed out that diagnosticity is often used to conceptualize the degree of helpfulness of information. Other researchers have examined helpfulness as a measure of perceived value in the consumer decision process in line with information diagnosticity (Jiang and Benbasat, 2007; Pavlou et al., 2007; Weathers et al., 2015). For example, Weathers et al. (2015) stated that the perception of review helpfulness could be understood through review diagnosticity. The main reason why consumers read online reviews is because they lead to purchase decisions. Thus, the reviews are seen as diagnostic, which helps to reduce perceived uncertainty about the products/services. Racherla and Friske (2012) pointed out that helpfulness is commonly used to access the usefulness and the effect of OCRs.

Rather than investigating helpfulness and diagnoscity, this study focused only on review usefulness. Among these factors, information usefulness refers to the diagnostic ability or helpfulness of the review in the consumer's decision process (Mudambi and Schuff, 2010). According to the information adoption model, information usefulness is the most important factor, but there are limited previous studies. According to TAM theory, perceived usefulness is the most important factor when people use system technology for utilitarian purposes. Sussman and Siegal (2003) extended TAM theory by introducing an information adoption model with users' intention to adopt information, using perceived information usefulness as a mediator, in the computer-mediated context. They claimed that information usefulness is key to information adoption. In support of this, Jamil and Hasnu (2013) stated that information usefulness

is considered as an imperative factor in the consumer decision-making process. Therefore, the framework of ELM and IAM should not ignore this factor.

Information usefulness is considered to be a further potential antecedent of information adoption and is a key construct in adoption theories, having been confirmed by numerous studies. Cheung *et al.* (2008) found that information usefulness is an important antecedent of information adoption from OCRs. They examined the factors of OCRs that encourage information adoption and found that information adoption is highly influenced by the significant role of information usefulness. Similarly, Wixon and Todd (2009) claimed that when consumers perceive information. Indeed, if people consider an online opinion to be useful, then they will have greater intention to adopt the information. Choi and Ok (2011) investigated how online restaurant reviews affect their perceived usefulness.

Purnawirawan et al. (2012) noted that consumers screen out information if they perceive it not to be useful, and only adopt useful information. Park et al. (2014) conducted a study to explain the different antecedent factors that lead to both information sharing and information seeking behaviour. They found that perceived information usefulness is one of the most important factors in the seeking and sharing of the information. Awad and Ragowsky (2008) stated that consumers are concerned with the correctness and usefulness of eWOM. Morrison (1995) investigated newcomers' perceptions of the usefulness of various types of information when they need to get information about their role, performance, job and organization's culture. Moreover, Kim et al. (2014) conducted research in the travel industry, claiming that users tend to be sensitive and concerned about information's usefulness and specificity, using high cognitive accuracy when conducting direct searches for information for a trip in the near future. Additionally, although information usefulness is determined by argument quality and source credibility, it is more strongly related to information adoption than either of these factors (Sussman and Siegal, 2003). OCRs have been the centre of attention for many researchers (e.g. Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004; Mudambi and Schuff, 2010; Racherla and Friske, 2012; Elwalda et al., 2016).

Nonetheless, according to the IAM, information usefulness is an important factor that influences information adoption. It refers to consumers' willingness to adopt information after they have processed it (Sussman and Siegal, 2003). Investigation of information usefulness is valuable for understanding consumer priorities: what information do consumers see as useful and they are going to adopt the information. Therefore, information usefulness cannot be ignored when studying OCRs and information adoption theories.

2.6.6 Segmentation of Consumers

In the field of marketing research, identifying groups of consumers has long been recognized as an important marketing tool (Vilnai-Yavetz and Tifferet, 2015). Many marketing strategies are successful because the marketers can identify the needs of a particular segment of consumers (Wedel and Kamakura, 2002).

In previous studies, researchers have claimed that consumers have different responses and lifestyles; therefore, it is important to identify homogenous consumer groups by segmenting consumers into different clusters (Gill *et al.*, 2000; Wedel and Kamahura, 2002; Verain *et al.*, 2012). Categorization of groups/types of consumer has been developed in marketing research. In the online context, existing scholarly works have segmented consumer groups/types from different perspectives (Barner *et al.*, 2007): for example, shopping behaviour (Bose and Chen, 2010; Wu and Chou, 2011), lifestyle (Brengman *et al.*, 2005; Ye, Li and Gu, 2011), activities (Giboa, 2009) attitudes and beliefs (Strizhakava *et al.*, 2012), motivations and demographics (Sin and Tse, 2002; Source *et al.*, 2005; Gibert and Warren, 2005; Farrag *et al.*, 2010), consumer engagement (Sashi, 2012) and impression management (Underwood *et al.*, 2011; Alarcon-del-Amo *et al.*, 2011; Vilnai-Yavetz and Tifferet, 2015).

Matheick (2001) categorized Internet users into four segments based on relational norms and online activities: transactional community members, socializers, personal connectors and lurkers. Bose and Chen (2010) classified consumers into different groups according to mobile service usage data. They aimed to provide useful knowledge from categorizing groups of consumers and their results showed the key attributes and characteristics of each group and the relationship between the different

groups: usage, usage characteristics, revenue and service subscription. They also claimed that the results of clustering the groups of consumers were linked to several interesting facts about consumers that could be of benefit to mobile service providers. Ye et al. (2011b) identified eight segments of Internet users based on lifestyle drivers. They were divided into four groups on the basis of their online shopping behaviour: inexperienced shoppers, shopping lovers, business users and suspicious shoppers. Another four groups in terms of non-shopping behaviour were surfing lovers, fearful browsers, negative technology muddlers and positive technology muddlers. The results showed that the eight segments are different. Sashi (2012) attempted to classify types of consumer in terms of their engagement with social media. His paper developed a model of the customer engagement cycle with connection. He categorized consumers according to the degree of relational exchanges and emotional bonds that categorize their relationships with the sellers, namely transactional customers, delighted customers, loyal customers and fans. Vilnai-Yavetz and Tifferet (2015) identified the different types of consumer, segmenting Facebook users based on their profile pictures as a first impression based on four constructs: emotion, status, activeness and total look. Then, they conducted a cluster analysis based on the data analysis and segments of consumers and related the types to Facebook user pattern, demographics and brand engagement as reflected in users' Facebook profiles. From their findings, they introduced five different categories of Facebook users, namely Aloof, Affectionate, Gogetter, Sociable and Cryptic.

It can be seen that many researchers have tried to divide consumers into groups by selecting a variety of segmentation approaches. Categorizing groups of consumers is a way of grouping the heterogeneity among consumers and can capture consumer needs and provide results that benefit marketers (Bose and Chen, 2010). From this perspective, it is interesting to identify and categorize consumers and divide them into groups to examine the differences in behaviour from one group to another, develop understanding and insight by serving consumer needs and create marketing strategies for goods and/or services more effectively. This research, therefore, considers the moderating factors that are related to OCRs and information adoption in order to identify the groups/segments of consumers, examines the effect of that factor on the criteria of information adoption from one group of consumers to other groups based on various platforms.

Nowadays, consumers are not passive recipients of information but active participants. Consumers engage in different styles; therefore, across groups, the typology of consumer response styles is expected to differ significantly (Singh, 1990; Schmitt, 2012). These differences could be used to divide consumers into different groups to see the variety of behaviour.

2.6.6.1 Consumer Engagement

In the online context, consumer engagement has been widely studied in academic disciplines such as education, advertising, psychology, marketing and information systems, and is well established within the academic literature as a key marketing construct.

As noted in the literature, "customer engagement" or "consumer engagement" or "user engagement" has been used to describe and assess engagement from the marketing perspective. However, "consumer engagement" is commonly used to describe online activities (Schamari and Schaefers, 2015).

The concept of consumer engagement has attracted rapidly growing attention from marketing researchers in recent years (Brodie *et al.*, 2013; Hollebeek *et al.*, 2014; Cheung *et al.*, 2015; Harrigan *et al.*, 2017). Many different objects of consumer engagement have been studied in the literature, including products and organizations (Patterson *et al.*, 2006), consumer brand communities (Algesheimer *et al.*, 2005; Hamilton and Alexander, 2013), brands (Sportt *et al.*, 2009; Van Doom *et al.*, 2010), engagement cycle (Sashi, 2012), engagement value (Kumar *et al.*, 2010), consumer engagement behaviour (Grissemann and Stokbuger-Sauer, 2012; Cabiddu *et al.*, 2013), and user-generated hotel reviews (Wei *et al.*, 2013), In addition, some researchers have studied consumer engagement in relation to psychological state (Mollen and Wilson, 2010; Vivek, Beatty and Morgan, 2010).

Research into online consumer engagement is not new: it has been studied since before 2005, when it was known as "engagement", but it is still limited in the academic field of

marketing (Brodie *et al.*, 2011). More recent studies have developed to investigate the concept of consumer engagement in the online environment (e.g. Tsai and Men, 2013; Brodie *et al.*, 2013; Cheung *et al.*, 2015; Harrigan *et al.*, 2017). However, in terms of marketing, when discussing online consumer behaviour, engagement has been introduced as a construct from academics' and practitioners' perspectives. In the online environment, there are different meanings for academics and practitioners. The academic perspective focuses on attention, mind or energy (Mollen and Wilson, 2010; O'Brien, 2010), whereas practitioners focus on the act of sharing (Swedowsky, 2009; Wong, 2009). Moreover, engagement goes beyond involvement: involvement refers to mental readiness to consume information but is passive, while, engagement is more active and dynamic both cognitively and affectively towards the brands or websites (Mollen and Wilson, 2010). Parent *et al.* (2011) stated that consumer engagement is considered as a dynamic involvement of a consumer with a brand, product, service or company which is expressed through interaction with the brand.

Consumer engagement is a sub-concept under the concept of engagement. Prior studies in the literature have attempted to define the concept of consumer engagement but there is still a lack of consistency, as shown in Table 2.4.

Authors	Definitions
Algesheimer et al. (2005)	The consumer's intrinsic motivation to interact and cooperate with community
	members
Patterson et al. (2006)	The level of a customer's physical, cognitive and emotional presence in their
	relationship with a service organization
Webster and Ahuja (2006)	A subset of flow and a more passive state representing the extent of pleasure and
	involvement in an activity
Bowden (2009)	A psychological process that leads to consumer loyalty to the service brand
Calder et al. (2009)	A collection of experiences with the site, and they defined experience as
	experience as a consumer's beliefs about how a site fits into his/her life
Higgins and Scholer (2009)	A state of being involved, occupied, fully absorbed, or engrossed in something
	(i.e., sustained attention), generating the consequences of a particular attraction
	or repulsion force.
Sprott et al. (2009)	Individual difference representing consumers' propensity to include important
	brands as part of how they view themselves
Van Doorn et al. (2010)	The customer's behavioral manifestation toward the brand or firm, beyond
	purchase, resulting from motivational drivers
Cheung <i>et al.</i> (2011)	The level of a customer's physical, cognitive, and emotional presence in
	connections with a particular online social platform
Gambetti et. al (2012)	Customer-brand engagement appears as a multi-dimensional concept combining
	such elements as attention, dialogue, interaction, emotions, sensorial pleasure,
	and immediate activation aimed at creating a total brand experience with
	consumers.
Vivek <i>et al.</i> (2012)	The intensity of an individual's participation and connection with the
	organization's offerings and activities initiated by either the customer or the
	organization.
Baldus <i>et al.</i> (2014)	The compelling, intrinsic motivations to continue interacting with an online
	brand community
Chan <i>et al.</i> (2014)	The level of a person's cognitive, emotional and behavioral presence in brand
	interactions with an online community
Hollebeek et al. (2014)	A consumer's positively valenced cognitive, emotional and behavioral brand-
	related activity during, or related to, specific consumer/brand interactions

Table 2.4 Consumer engagement definitions in prior studies

Consumer engagement includes consumer-to-firm interactions and consumer-toconsumer communications about brands (Gummerus *et al.*, 2012). In addition, some scholars have stated that consumer engagement is characterised by repeated interactions between a consumer and an organisation that strengthen the consumer's emotional, psychological or physical investment in the brand and the organization (Phang *et al.*, 2013; Hollebeek *et al.*, 2014; Harrigan *et al.*, 2017).

Despite all these different definitions from previous studies, most studies conceptualize consumer engagement in the form of cognitive, emotional and behavioural components (So *et al.*, 2014; Bowden, 2009; Brodie *et al.*, 2013; Dwivedi, 2015; Patterson *et al.*, 2006). However, Cheung *et al.* (2015) stated that consumer engagement can be conceptualizing in three primary perspectives: the concept of consumer engagement consists of psychological processes, behavioural manifestation and psychological motivation. Hellebeek (2011) stated that there are differences between the three

dimensions of consumer engagement: behavioural activities represent the level of energy expressed while interacting with a brand, psychological activity represents the level of focus or concentration towards a brand and emotional activities represent the level of the individual's pride in or inspiration from a brand. Thus, several activities can be interpreted as forms of engagement (Wallance *et al.*, 2014).

Most of the prior research has studied consumer engagement in the range of behaviour related to trust, satisfaction, commitment, and customer/brand loyalty. (e.g. Hollebeek, 2009; Hollebeek, 2011; Van Doorn *et al.*, 2010; Patterson *et al.*, 2006 and Yu and Ruyer, 2006, Gruen *et al.*, 2006; Brodie *et al*, 2011). According to Brodie *et al.* (2010) and Harrigan *et al.* (2017), the concept and definition of consumer engagement are broad, inconsistent and weak in explanatory power.

Previous studies have attempted to define this concept, such as Verhoef *et al.* (2010, p. 247), who stated that consumer engagement is "a behavioural manifestation toward the brand or firm that goes beyond transactions". Van Doorn *et al.* (2010, p. 254) defined consumer engagement as: "Behaviours that go beyond transactions, and may be classed as a customer's behavioural manifestations that have a brand focus beyond purchase resulting from motivational drivers". Given this inconsistency of definitions and concepts, consumer engagement therefore reflects a multi-dimensional construct which is used in varying ways across contexts (Hollebeek, 2011).

Based on the above-mentioned literature, the consumers' engagement should not be ignored and it is proposed as a moderator for segmenting group of consumers in this study.

2.7 Literature Gaps

The actual information received may vary from consumer to consumer. This means that by the same content may lead to different responses by different receivers depending on their perception, experience and source (Chaiken and Eagly, 1976). Information adoption theories attempt to describe how consumers' processing occurs when they receive information or technologies (Cheung, *et al.*, 2008; Filieri and McLeay 2014; Cheung *et al.*, 2012; Zang and Watts, 2008). However, consumers' adoption of the information provided by OCRs is likely to be a key factor that influences their decisions (Elwalda *et al.*, 2016). Previous studies (Mazzarol *et al.*, 2007; Munnukka *et al.*, 2015; Erkan and Evans, 2016a; Erkan and Evans, 2016b) have stated that OCRs represent one of the most useful information sources because they consist of peer opinions and experience instead of company-generated information. The influence of OCRs on information has been justified by previous studies conducted in different types of platform.

From reviewing the literature, it appears that there has been little study investigation of the impact of consumer processing (central and peripheral route) in terms of enhancing the usefulness of the information and the intention to adopt it. It is very important to extend the growing body of literature on OCRs with studies that investigate such neglected factors in OCRs studies from the perspective of the central and peripheral route and explore the consequences of OCRs beyond information adoption. Overall, it is widely agreed that the assessment of information adoption involves a number of determinants of OCRs' factors which influence consumer processing.

Moreover, from the previous discussion of the relevant literature, the typology of COPs has an influence on consumers' decision-making processes. Online review websites are platforms for consumers to exchange their experiences and knowledge (Purnawirawan *et al.*, 2012). There are numerous studies investigating the impact of OCRs on consumers' information adoption in specific platforms. Little is known about the comparative effect of OCRs from different online review websites in the same industry. The existing literature investigates various types of COPs that have different appeals, utilities and engagement compared between various types of COPs (Senecal and Nantel, 2004; Lee and Youn, 2009; Luo *et al.*, 2009; Manthiou and Schrier, 2014; Yeap *et al.*, 2014; Inversini and Masiero, 2014; Tsao and Hsieh, 2015; Erkan and Evans, 2016a). The present study, in contrast, looks into the differences between two types of platform that have stronger and more direct relations with the travel industry. It attempts to clarify the factors of OCRs that affect each type of online review website separately.

This chapter has reviewed a number different theories and models of adoption use, such as the ELM and IAM, which are able to explain the likelihood of consumers' information adoption. Integration of an alternative model such as the Elaboration Likelihood Model is useful for investigating some of the important impacts of the complex adoption process. In addition, it helps to understand the process by which consumers will be influenced by the message that they perceive (Sussman and Siegal, 2003). This study aims to investigate whether the different online review websites on which OCRs are communicated influence consumers' information adoption processes. However, the literature on eWOM and OCRs has not paid much attention to the role of information usefulness, which is of key importance in information adoption theories. Therefore, the present study considers information usefulness to extend the knowledge on information adoption. It applies some factors of OCRs that have not yet been empirically tested with information usefulness, including value-added information, product ranking, review sidedness, review consistency and review quantity. In addition, source trustworthiness and source credibility are presented for the first time as perspectives from the peripheral route. The current study develops the adoption model to provide a better picture of consumer processing in the different online review websites in order to identify the factors of OCRs that have differential influences on information adoption. To the best of the author's knowledge, there is limited studies have so far focused on examining the information adopted from Independent and Emerchants' websites from consumers' perspective. Therefore, this is the first study to empirically test the influence of OCRs from different types of online consumers' review websites in the travel industry, particularly the hospitality sector.

Furthermore, Mollen and Willson (2010) pointed out that there is a lack of research on online consumers showing support of consumer engagement and consumer behaviour such as eWOM. Moreover, according to Holbrook (1994, p. 22), consumer engagement is "the fundamental basis for all marketing activity". In the study of eWOM, behaviour manifestations should not be ignored because this might have a negative effect on marketers in terms of evaluating potential customers (Verhoef *et al.*, 2010; Kumar *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, many researchers (e.g. Cabiddu *et al.*, 2014; Hudson *et al.*, 2015; Harrigan *et al.*, 2017) suggest that there is still a call for the study of consumers' engagement with social media platforms in the travel industry. Therefore, this study encompasses an extended the finding to examine the role of consumers' engagement to identify consumer segmentation and investigate the criteria of information adoption on groups of consumers based on various platforms. Additionally, the previous studies in the area of OCRs, eWOM have so far been conducted in developed countries, and there

is limited research on consumers in developing countries (Chan and Ngai, 2011). Thailand offers an interesting context for studying the developing country due to its ever-growing market potential and unique socio-cultural constructs.

This study, to the best of the author's knowledge, is the first to investigate how consumer engagement with various online review websites can contribute to information adoption. In sum, this study draws insights from merging ELM and IAM theory, and verifies the effect of OCRs on the adoption of information from the two types of online reviews websites.

Key issues from literature reveiew	Description	References
Information Adoption / eWOM /OCRs	 eWOM/OCRs have attracted researchers to investigate this topic area as an important form of eWOM. Different consumers have different concerns/needs. The literature on information adoption and eWOM/OCRs has provided inconsistent findings. Current literature does not fully capture and explain the factors that influence consumer' likelihood of information adoption. There has been little study investigation of the impact of consumer processing (central and peripheral route) in terms of enhancing the usefulness of the information and the intention to adopt it. 	Sussman and Siegal, 2003; Zhang and Watts, 2003; Cheung, <i>et al.</i> 2008; Zang and Watts, 2008; Cheung <i>et al.</i> 2012; Filieri and McLeay 2014; Hassain <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Wang, 2017

Table 2.5 Summary of research issue/problem

Platforms	 Current scholarship mostly focuses on analysing single platform. Little is known about the comparative effect of OCRs from different online review websites in the same industry. 	Senecal and Nantel, 2004; Mazzarol <i>et al.</i> 2007;Lee and Youn, 2009; Luo <i>et al.</i> 2009; Manthiou and Schrier, 2014; Yeap <i>et al.</i> 2014; Filieri and McLeay 2014; Inversini and Masiero, 2014; Tsao and Hsieh, 2015; Munnukka <i>et al.</i> 2015; Erkan and Evans, 2016a; Erkan and Evans, 2016b; Elwalda <i>et al.</i> 2016
Consumer segmentation	 There is a lack of research on segmenting behaviour regarding eWOM and OCRs. There is a lack of research on online consumers showing support of consumer engagement and consumer behaviour such as eWOM. 	Wedel and Kamahura, 2002;Pickton and Broderick, 2005; Mollen and Willson 2010; Verain <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Cabiddu <i>et al.</i> , 2014; ; Hudson <i>et al.</i> , 2015;Rodriguez Diaz <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Tseng and Wang, 2016; Harrigan <i>et al.</i> , 2017
Travel Industry	 There is a lack of study that examines consumers' information adoption criteria from OCRs and analyse the different characteristics of COPs in the travel industry. eWOM/OCRs have been found to strongly affect the travel industry, particularly in the hospitality sector. There is still a call for the study of consumers' engagement with social media platforms in the travel industry. 	Filieri and McLeay 2014; Cantallops and Salvi, 2014 Inversini and Masiero, 2014; Hudson <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Harrigan <i>et al.</i> , 2017
Context	 eWOM have so far been conducted in developed countries, and there is limited research on consumers in developing countries 	Chan and Ngai, 2011

2.8 Chapter Summary

This chapter has presented the main critique of the study, which is developed from a critical review of the literature on the evolution of eWOM and OCRs and the advantages and disadvantages of eWOM. Then, the relationship between OCRs and information adoption was provided. The different types of COPs were presented. Next, the theoretical foundations were discussed and the theories employed were explained. In addition, the dimension of OCRs and various mediating and moderating effects were discussed. This study has found a need to investigate the characteristics of OCRs that influence information adoption, comparing two different online review websites. Finally, gaps in the literature were highlighted.

The next chapter builds upon this literature review, particularly in relation to how the research should be conducted. It provides a theoretical background for the research and how it is constructed and sets out the research hypotheses.

CHAPTER THREE: CONCEPTUAL FRAMWORK

3.1 Introduction

The review of the literature in the previous chapter leads to the creation of a conceptual framework that begins with a set of factors as antecedents. Twelve constructs are considered in this research, these being the components of the central route (six dimensions: information timeliness, information accuracy, information relevance, information completeness, information understandability and value-added information) and the peripheral route (six dimensions: information quantity, review sidedness, product ranking, review consistency, source expertise, source trustworthiness). Moreover, as an extension to the study; Consumers' engagement will also be used as a moderating factor for segmenting groups of consumers. Categorise groups of consumers according to their behaviour engagement with various platforms; to improve the researcher's understanding of the factors that influence information adoption criteria. This chapter will propose the study's theoretical and conceptual framework and identify research hypotheses.

3.2 Theoretical Background

In this section, an overview of the theoretical development for this study will be provided. This study develops a theoretical model to identify determinants of OCRs (via the central route and the peripheral route) on different COPs which influence consumers' information adoption. Specifically, the Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM) and the Information Adoption Model (IAM) are discussed. The ELM is a specific dual process theory which was introduced by Petty and Cacippo (1983). This theory is appropriate for this study for the following reasons. Firstly, the aim of this study is to investigate consumers' likelihood of adopting information from different types of consumer review platform. The ELM can explain the influence processes and their impacts on consumers' perceptions and behaviour and why different users have different outcomes (Bhattacherjee and Sanford, 2006). In other words, the ELM integrates an array of variables, and also explains why and how the information is more or less likely to lead the consumer to information processing (Song, 2008). Secondly, prior studies have developed the ELM to study OCRs. The ELM is the most widely recognized and accepted model in this context. It has been applied to explain the influence of perceived information (Cheung and Thadani, 2012).

Perloff (2003, p. 130) defined Elaboration as " the extent to which the individuals engage in information contained in the communication and mentally modify or process the issue". Indeed, it links to consumer 's issue relevant thinking and consideration. In terms of Likelihood, it has been defined as "the probability that situation can be happen and used to illustrate whether the elaboration is likely or unlikely" (Perloff, 2003, p. 130). There are two ways in which consumers' thoughts about and reactions to information are processed, namely the "central route" and the "peripheral route". The central route is significant when elaboration is high. It occurs when individuals make more effort to examine and evaluate arguments related to their experiences or link them to other material (Petty et al., 1983). On the other hand, individuals may reject the difficulties in processing and evaluating information via the central route. They might turn to alternative ways of processing via the peripheral route (Tang et al., 2012). Consumers may evaluate information via easy processes or might focus only on graphical information such as numerical and star ratings. Additionally, the routes of the ELM may be inversely related, as one increases while the other decreases (Larson, 2010).

From the review of the literature, the ELM reveals the importance of highlighting the understanding of the effect of eWOM and OCR on information adoption. This is because consumers perceive and act on information in different ways: for example, focusing on different factors that affect their elaboration. Moreover, the role of eWOM and OCR will vary according to the consumer's level of motivation and ability to process information in the given situation. The ELM focuses on consumers' motivation to examine information more carefully (Petty *et al.*, 1983).

The IAM was introduced by Sussman and Siegal (2003), who developed this model to identify which factors are important in driving individuals to adopt information in an organization context. Sussman and Siegal were among the very first researchers to study information adoption in an organization context (Jin *et al.*, 2009). They applied information usefulness as a mediator because they believe that this variable might drive people to adopt information. The IAM was adapted from the TAM (Davis, 1989) and the ELM (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986). There are two key propositions that influence consumers' attitude change when applied to the computer mediator context. The first

one is augmented quality, which presents as a central route, and the second is source credibility, which presents as a peripheral route (Sussman and Siegal, 2003).

As mentioned above, according to the aim of this research, drawing upon the ELM and the IAM, the researcher believes that consumers who adopt information from OCRs in different COPs will unite the information obtained into their mental models. Thereafter, they may take action or make decisions based on the recommendations that they receive from OCRs.

3.3 Conceptual Framework

Based on the above, this research will investigate the antecedents of information adoption from ELM and IAM perspectives. To understand the influence of OCRs on consumers' information adoption, it is necessary to identify the determinants of the central and the peripheral route from OCRs that influence consumers to adopt information.

The constructs of this framework are built upon the theoretical adoption of information model based on the main three studies by Sussman and Siegal (2003); Cheung *et al.* (2008) and Filieri and McLeay (2014).

Sussman and Siegal (2003) developed the information adoption model, integrating the Theory of Reasoned Action (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975; Fishbein, 1980) and its derivative, the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM: Davis, 1989) with dual-process models of information processing (Chaiken and Eagly, 1976; Petty and Cacioppo, 1986). They applied the Elaboration Likelihood Model to study consumers' change in attitude. This model has been used to examine how individuals receive advice from computer-mediated communication (email) and translate it into action. Sussman and Siegal's (2003) model explains the adoption of information in terms of information usefulness, quality of argument, and source credibility. They proposed that the quality of the argument and the source credibility predict the perceived usefulness, leading to information adoption. The highlight in this model is information usefulness, which they used as a mediator in the information adoption process. The model was applied to obtain qualitative data first by using interviews in order to understand the phenomenon

and then quantitative data from another sample, with a questionnaire being used to measure respondents' perceptions.

Cheung *et al.* (2008) investigated which factors affect consumers who are seeking information from online consumer reviews and deciding whether to adopt it. Their research model is build upon the theoretical model of information adoption proposed by Sussman and Siegal (2003). They applied four dimensions – information relevance, information timeliness, information accuracy and information completeness – to measure argument quality, and measured source credibility using source expertise and source trustworthiness. Their model investigated the impact of argument quality and source credibility on information usefulness and linked it to the impacts of information adoption. Data was collected via questionnaire targeting respondents who had experience with OpinionRice.com (openrice.com), which is a consumer review website that is used to seek and share information about food and restaurants in Hong Kong and Macau. The questionnaire focused mainly on argument quality, source credibility and information usefulness. See figure 3.1



Figure 3.1 Information Adoption by Cheung et al. (2008)

Filieri and McLeay (2014) studied the factors that influence the adoption of information from online reviews in the travel industry. They employed the ELM and IAM models to explain the phenomenon of OCRs in the context of online reviews via the central and peripheral routes. They introduced the concept of product ranking, which refers to information related to the overall evaluation of products/services. Their conclusion indicates that product ranking (peripheral route) was found to be the strongest predictor of information adoption from OCRs, and they claimed that this had a greater influence on consumers' decisions to adopt information than did information quality. In addition, they were the first researchers to investigate both central and peripheral cues on high involvement products. See figure 3.2



Figure 3.2 Information Adoption by Filieri and McLeay (2014)

Filieri and McLeay's (2014) framework has been mainly adopted in this study to investigate the antecedent of information adoption. The main reasons for adopting this framework are that the IAM and ELM models aim to investigate the factors that influence the adoption of information from OCRs, it has not yet received validation for various COPs, and it includes a number of relationships that have not been tested before, but which have been highlighted in the eWOM/OCR literature. Also, this framework does not consider information useful as a mediating factor, which has been highlighted in the information adoption literature of OCRs; thus, it has been adapted to fit this study.

From the literature reviewed in Chapter 2, this study attempts to develop and extend the research discussed above to identify what factors influence consumers to adopt information from OCRs, specifically from Independent and E-merchants' websites, a set of antecedents of information adoption are hypothesized, using information usefulness as a mediator and consumers' engagement will be added as a moderator for segmenting groups of consumers to extend the knowledge in terms of consumer behaviour.

As can be seen from Figure 3.3, the research model empirically tests and compares consumer review websites to investigate the influence of OCRs on information usefulness and information adoption. Hypotheses H1, H2, H3, H4, H5, H6 are concerned with the effects of the central route (information timeliness, information accuracy, information relevance, information, information completeness, information understandability and Value-Add information) on the usefulness of information from Independent and E-merchants' websites. Meanwhile, hypotheses H7, H8, H9, H10, H11, H12 are concerned with the effects of the peripheral route (information quantity, review sidedness, product ranking, review consistency, source expertise and source trustworthiness) on the usefulness of information from Independent and E-merchants and information from Independent and E-merchants and information from Independent and E-merchants, review consistency, source expertise and source trustworthiness) on the usefulness of information from Independent and E-merchants and hypothesis H13 shows the relationship between information usefulness and information.

Moreover, this research model is used for extensive study by adding consumer' engagement as moderator for segmenting groups of consumers. The hypotheses are H14 to H25. Finally, the last hypotheses H26 examine the groups of consumers for whom perceived information usefulness has an influence on information adoption.



Figure 3.3 Research frameworks

3.4 Development of Hypotheses

The research model classifies the determinants of OCRs into two routes: the central and the peripheral route. It hypothesises that these two routes of consumer processing from OCRs affect consumers' perceived information usefulness and information adoption. This research has brought forward multi-group analysis approaches to test the differences between two types of consumer online review website (Independent and E-merchants' websites). Multi-group analysis is a type of moderator analysis where the moderator variable is categorical and is assumed to potentially affect all relationships in the conceptual model (Joe *et al.*, 2014).

As mentioned in the previous chapter, some factors of OCRs have not been tested with usefulness, including value-added information, product ranking, review sidedness, review consistency and review quantity. Specially, this study extends the meaning of the peripheral route by adding the concepts of review sidedness and review consistency.

These factors have only been tested in the area of credibility. To the best of the author's knowledge, this is the first study to take a comprehensive perspective of OCRs under the two routes of consumer processing to adopt information.

It also advances the scholarship by segmenting our groups of consumers which moderating by consumer engagement with the aforementioned platforms. This study introduces the influence of consumer engagement in terms of EWOM/OCRs. This is only study to date to categorise groups of consumers and identify the criteria for information adoption. A total of twenty-six hypotheses are formulated, as discussed below.

3.4.1 Central Route and Information Usefulness

In ELM theory, Petty and Cacioppo (1987, p. 264-265) defined argument quality as " the audience's subjective perception of the arguments in the persuasive massage as strong and cogent on the one hand versus weak and specious on the other". In marketing research, information quality refers to the level of content of the information and how it is fit for the user's purpose. It has been described as the strength of the meaning embedded in the information (Yeap *et al.*, 2014). As a central route, argument quality determines the attitude towards a message by focusing on and considering carefully the argument of the message presented. Information quality has been shown to be an important antecedent of information adoption, which is how people perceive and believe the information from websites (Wathen and Burkell, 2002).

According to prior research, most researchers consider that information quality is the most significant factor influencing the readers of OCRs (Yoo *et al.*, 2015; Reichelt *et al.*, 2014; Erkan and Evans, 2015). In the present study, the researcher has employed six dimensions of information quality in examining consumers' information adoption of information from OCRs, namely information timeliness, information relevance, information accuracy, information completeness, information understandibility and value-added information.

3.4.1.1 Information Timeliness

One of the information quality dimensions is information timeliness (Ashill and Jobber, 1999), which is an important factor in information quality (Bailey and Peason, 1983). *Information timeliness* is defined as 'information that is up to date, current and represents the state of the art of a product or service' (Nelson *et al.*, 2005). Wixom and Todds (2005) stated that information timeliness refers to the degree to which the system is sufficient by offering quick responses and up-to-date information. The most recent information is always displayed in the first online review and it is easy for readers to identify.

In this study, information timeliness is assumed to be a factor that is considered by consumers because they need up-to-date information for their current decision. In the Internet era, there are no limits on time, person or place: therefore, OCRs message will remain on the online review websites from the past to the present (Hennig-Trurau *et. al.*, 2004). The information should be up to date, and it should be easy for consumers to access reviews published in the last 24 hours. In fact, if a website is not up-to-date, its information cannot deliver the expected performance that consumers need (Madu and Madu, 2002). Hence, information timeliness may increase the likelihood of the usefulness and adoption of information from E-merchants and Independent websites.

H1a: Information timeliness from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H1b: Information timeliness from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.1.2 Information Accuracy

Information accuracy means that the information is free of errors (Dunk, 2004). Information accuracy is one of the most powerful information quality dimensions of consumers' adoption of information from OCRs. Consumers may have confidence in the information when the online consumer reviews are consistent or match their experience or a fact they already know (Peterson and William, 1987; Zeithaml, 1988; Zhang and Watts, 2003). In other words, consumers believe that opinions based on real consumers' experiences will lead to accurate information (Filieri and McLeay, 2014).

Accuracy of information represents consumers' perceptions and is concerned with reliability (Wixom and Todd, 2005). In fact, information accuracy reflects consumers' perceptions that information is correct. However, Cheung *et al.* (2008) claimed that accuracy is a dimension of information quality that may be difficult to adopt and evaluate in the context of OCRs. Confirmation or disconfirmation is required from consumers' knowledge and their direct or indirect experiences. Previous studies have shown that confirmation and disconfirmation influence the credibility, reception and adoption of information (Fogg 2003). It is anticipated that the more accurate the information on E-merchants' and Independent websites, the more useful it will be perceived to be and the more likely consumers will be to adopt it.

H2a: Information accuracy from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H2b: Information accuracy from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.1.3 Information Relevance

Information relevance is an important dimension of the decision-making process (Dunk, 2004). Ascaniis and Grezel (2013) have claimed that consumers need to collect relevant information to increase their knowledge and provide alternative choices. Online consumers usually scan the pages to find the information they need rather than reading all web pages (Madu and Madu, 2002). Their searching behaviour depends on the kind of information they are looking for or need from specific, rather than overall reviews (Wang and Strong, 1996). Thus, consumers adopt information from online reviews so that they can fulfil a specific need based on the opinions of others (Filieri and Mcleay, 2014). Chen and Chaiken (1999) suggested that consumers have their own attitudes and confidence when they are seeking information and assessing the validity of the messages contained in it. According to Kaakinen et al. (2003), the attention paid to information can be shown by the time spent reading. In fact, consumers spend less time reading when they perceive the information to be irrelevant, whereas they spend more time and high attention when they are reading relevant information. Nowadays, a large number of OCRs' information is displayed on COPs. Due to limited time, consumers generally cannot read all of the OCRs available, and thus look for the relevant information to help them to make a decision. Therefore, the online reviews on E-

merchants' and Independent websites will only be useful for consumers if they provide the kind of information they are looking for.

H3a: Information relevance from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H3b: Information relevance from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.1.4 Information Completeness

Information completeness refers to the extent to which eWOM information fulfils the consumer's need in the discussion of the products or services provided on the website (McKinney *et al.*, 2002). Wixon and Todd (2005) suggest that the completeness of the information serves as an important dimension of information quality. Consumers judge a review based on its degree of comprehensiveness (Wang and Strong, 1996). The completeness of information refers to whether it has sufficient breadth, depth and scope to enable consumers to obtain the main aspects of the information. In addition, Sullivan (1999) supported that the wider the breadth of consumer categories and the more complete the information, the greater the likelihood of user acquisition and retention of information. Consumers may judge online reviews as complete based on the breadth, depth and scope of the information they receive, which may affect their cognition (Luo *et al.*, 2013). Hence, the completeness of information from Independent websites and E-merchants' websites may affect information usefulness. In other words, the more complete the information provided by the reviewer, the more useful it is for consumers' decision-making.

H4a: Information completeness from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H4b: Information completeness from E-merchants websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.1.5 Information Understandability

Information understandability refers to how easy it is to understand the information in terms of language, semantics, and expression (Wang and Strong, 1996). People can use their own style when writing online reviews. This leads to two issues. First, some of them may use technical words or dialect, which might undermine a review's clarity.

Second, the reviewer might lack the writing skills to represent their experience. This can happen when they present a different language or use jargon. In contrast, consumers can easily understand information that is presented in a simple, logical and clear manner. Palmer (2002) claimed that the clarity of the information could make for ease of reading and motivate consumers to use it. Independent and E-merchants' websites offer an open platform for reviewers to post their recommendations and reviews. Thus, consumers might not always be able to understand these reviews. To assess this factor, information understandability is related to the clarity of the information presented. Huang *et al.* (1999) asserted that high quality information is necessary to provide a concise presentation that is easy to understand. Therefore, the ability of the information to be understood is correlated to information usefulness, which may influence consumers to adopt it.

H5a: Information understandability from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H5b: Information understandability from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.1.6 Value-Added Information

Value-added information can be positive or negative. Online reviews from consumer opinion platforms can help consumers to discover special offers and better evaluate quality (Filieri and Mcleay, 2014). Consumers may find unexpected information from other reviewers. In the hotel sector, hotel websites or agency websites generally provide only positive information about their hotels. They do not usually present the negative sides. In contrast, in OCRs, consumers can describe and comment on all aspects of their experience, simplifying the understanding of a hotel's relative strengths and weaknesses. Wang and Strong (1996) suggested that consumers obtain benefits and advantages from both positive and negative online reviews. Consumers may discover something they never knew before but that is worth knowing. Consumers may discover worthwhile information that they did not previously know, such as that a particular hotel is undergoing renovation, with dust and construction materials all over the place and a lot of dust; or that a sea view might negate the noisy early bin clearing but consumers might suffer some road noise instead. Hence, consumers may adopt value-

added information if they perceive information usefulness from Independent and Emerchants' websites

H6a: Value-added information from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H6b: Value-added information from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.2 Peripheral Route and Information Usefulness

The peripheral route is differentiated from the central route. According to ELM theory, the peripheral route is taken when individuals have less motivation or are less capable of thinking about the information (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986).

Consumers may use heuristic cues to make a decision via a quick and simple method to analyze and evaluate an interface (Nielsen and Molich, 1990). Regarding the peripheral route, consumers might be influenced by simple decision rules. Therefore, the researcher considers and identifies the factors that will be investigated in this study, which are information quantity, product ranking, review sidedness, review consistency, source expertise and source trustworthiness.

3.4.2.1 Information Quantity

Review quantity is an indicator of the product's popularity (Duan *et al.*, 2008). The presence of a large number of online consumer reviews draws readers' attention (Cheung and Thadani, 2010). They can perceive more reviews, which will help them to rationalise and reduce any feelings of uncertainty (Park *et al.*, 2007). Lu *et al.* (2009) agree that people who read others' reviews are more willing to adopt an opinion that is held by a number of people. Sher and Lee (2009) noted that consumers who are low in scepticism tend to adopt information based on the quantity of OCRs. They need a low cognition process. However, the information quantity of reviews may affect consumers' adoption of information usefulness. This is because people tend to have a massfollowing psychology (Ciadini and Goldstein, 2004). The travel industry provides experience products to consumers. This type of product is more subject to the influence of the number of reviews, as this factor represents the popularity of a product and

awareness from others (Duan *et al.*, 2008). Also, Zhang *et al.* (2010c) and Cui *et al.* (2012) concluded that number of reviews matters for experience products. In other words, consumers may believe a viewpoint that refers to a large number of people who have provided comments and recommendations about products and services. ; therefore, consumers are likely to adopt an entire volume of information from Independent and E-merchants' websites for their decision-making.

H7a: Review quantity from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H7b: Review quantity from *E*-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.2.2 Product Ranking

Product ranking focuses on the ranking of reviewers' behaviour (Godes and Silva, 2012; Moe and Schweidel, 2012). This refers to an overall rating that is often displayed as a number to represent the average rating provided by all reviewers of the same product. Product ranking significantly influences receivers' perceptions of information (Eysenbach et al., 2000). In online review websites, product ranking is derived from the average score of all ratings by the total number of customer ratings of each category. In terms of travel websites, product ranking is used for evaluation of a hotel's service quality. However, Different websites create different numeric scales for building ratings graphically (Filieri and Mcleay, 2014). For example, TripAdvisor and Booking.com, which have different scales and numbers of stars. For example, on Tripadvisor, reviewers can provide ratings from one to five (terrible to excellent) whereas on Booking.com, reviewer can provide ratings from one to ten (terrible to excellent). To sum up, consumers may use the overall product ranking instead of reading the full contents of an online review and considering its usefulness when making a decision. Indeed, consumers may adopt information from the overall ranking, which summarizes the evaluations provided by others. The score represents the average consumer's evaluation and provides a short cut in the elaboration process (Filieri and McLeay, 2014). The high score are always shown in the top position or in the first page of the websites (Schuckert et al., 2015). It can be seen that product ranking is clear and straightforward because it presents the score in terms of both representation format and content, making it very easy to understand and consider for judgment (Qiu and Li,

2010). Thus, consumers may perceive product ranking to be very useful as an alternative way to make the decision process easier.

H8a: Product ranking from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H8b: Product ranking from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.2.3 Review Sidedness

Review sidedness points out positive and negative elements so that consumers can consider a balance of positive and negative reviews (Purnawirawan et al., 2012). Many previous studies have found that a two-sided message is perceived as more believable than one that offers only one side (Kamin and Lawrence, 1998; Chow et al., 1995). In the travel industry, both positive and negative reviews increase consumers' awareness of hotels' existence (Vermeulen and Seegers, 2009) and point out positive and negative elements. In fact, all products or services normally have strengths and weaknesses, which is why readers should consider information from both sides. In OCRs, one-sided reviews may be perceived as more biased than two-sided reviews. Sometimes, consumers provide some biased information with extremely satisfied and extremely unsatisfied (Litvin et al., 2008). This is useful in enabling consumers to gain and enhance the completeness of information from others (Kamins and Assael, 1987). Cheung et al. (2012) claim that OCRs are most useful when they represent both positive and negative aspects. Two-sided reviews are useful when consumers are judging the validity of the information. These reviews tend to be more persuasive than those that are either positive or negative. Therefore, review sidedness is considered to be a useful source of information from online reviews for consumers' decision-making process.

H9a: Review sidedness from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H9b: Review sidedness from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.2.4 Review Consistency

Review consistency refers to similarity of experience reported by different consumers and users' belief in the experience and reviews (Cheung *et al.*, 2009). In the travel industry, online reviews are usually posted by more than one experienced consumer, which is why consumers can gather a lot of information. It is easy for consumers to obtain information from the different opinions expressed in the reviews and then compare their consistency (Zhang and Watts, 2003). However, Cheung et al. (2009) suggested that consumers generally tend to believe viewpoints that are consistent across most of the reviews available. Barry and Schamber (1998) support this, indicating that information consistency affects consumers because the various review authors hold the same viewpoint in the discussion. Similarly, Cheung et al. (2007) concluded that if OCRs are consistent and the same viewpoint is repeatedly reported by different reviewers, this is more likely to encourage the reader to believe in these reviews. In other words, if OCRs are consistent with other opinions or reviews, consumers tend to follow and believe them. In contrast, if online reviews are inconsistent with other reviews of the same products/services, consumers become confused and unable to adopt the information. According to Laczniak et al. (2001), information consistency could be one of the factors in the peripheral route that affects the adoption of information by people who look through OCRs in the form of online reviews. Therefore, this study hypothesises that the consistency of reviews affects information usefulness.

H10a: Review consistency from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H10b: Review consistency from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.2.5 Source Expertise

Expertise is one of the dimensions of source credibility (Homer and Kahle, 1990). *Source expertise* refers to information being described as trustworthy and delivered by experts (Self, 1996). Source expertise particularly relates to the knowledge and skills of the source. It can be identified when receivers perceive professionalism (Tseng and Fogg, 1999). In online communication, consumers usually check the profile information of reviewers in terms of the quality and quality of their past reviews (Mackiewicz, 2008). High knowledge in communicators is considered to increase credibility and it seems to provide a more convincing argument with strong information. To investigate OCRs from online review websites, consumers could use source expertise to justify the validity of the information. This is because consumers usually favour information from

others whom they know are knowledgeable in the subject area and provide valuable information (Borgatti and Cross, 2003). Indeed, if consumers perceive the source of OCRs to have professional presentation and to be clear and confident, they may perceive a high level of information usefulness and adopt the information.

H11a: Source expertise from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H11b: Source expertise from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.2.6 Source Trustworthiness

Source trustworthiness is an important determinant of information usage (Komiak and Benbasat, 2006). Some researchers have found that consumers believe that most of the information on websites is not trustworthy (McKnight and Kacmar, 2006); in other words, online sources of information are perceived as being less reliable than offline sources (Flanagin and Metzger, 2007). If consumers do not trust an information source, this serves as a major barrier to the adoption of information (Egger, 2000). Wu and Lin (2017) suggest that OCRs posted on Independent websites are perceived to be more trustworthy than those on brands' websites. Similarly, Filieri (2016) found that consumers trust OCRs on Independent and E-merchants websites more than those on corporate websites (brands' websites). OCRs on E-merchants' websites seem to be perceived as equally or more trustworthy than those on Independent websites. However, different websites present different details of reviewers. For example, TripAdvisor (Independent websites) provides more details about reviewers, such as name, country, the number of reviews that they have written and whether these reviews have been rated as helpful. In contrast, Booking.com (E-merchants websites) provides only reviewers' name and country, but all reviews come from existing consumers who have previously made purchases from the website. These details lead to trustworthiness. Consumers judge the trustworthiness of products/services based on consumer inferences regarding the reviewer's motivation (McCracken, 1989). Therefore, if consumers perceive that reviews have been posted by a highly trustworthy source, they are more likely to find them useful.

H12a: Source trustworthiness from Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H12b: Source trustworthiness from E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

3.4.3 Information Usefulness and Information Adoption

Information adoption has been defined as a process in which consumers modify their behaviour based on suggestions made by online consumer reviews (Cheung et al., 2008; Filieri and McLeay, 2014; Sussman and Seigel, 2003). In fact, information adoption is the way in which people accept the information and believe it to be meaningful after considering its validity (Zhang and Watts, 2003). This is why people usually scan online opinions and comments before making a decision (Qiu and Li, 2010). Along with information adoption, information usefulness is considered to be a key construct in adoption theory Sussman and Siegel (2003). The construct of information usefulness refers to the individual's perception that using technology such as virtual platforms, new media and online opinions can enhance their performance. It is a fundamental predictor of users' adoption of information (David, 1993). In addition, Cheung et al. (2008) stated that there is a strong relationship between information usefulness and the impact of consumers' decisions to adopt information within online communities. Information usefulness is an important factor which can drive people to believe and accept information from others (Bhattacherjee and Sanford, 2006). This was confirmed by Cheung et al. (2008), who found that people are willing to accept and adopt information from online reviews and examined the factors that encourage information adoption. They revealed that information adoption is highly impacted by the significant role of information usefulness. In short, if consumers consider information to be useful, then they will tend to adopt this information. Referring to context in this study, consumers may adopt information from OCRs when they perceive information as useful, i.e. beneficial and advantageous. This leads to the formation of the following hypothesis:

H13a: Perceived information usefulness of Independent websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' adoption of information.

H13b: Perceived information usefulness of E-merchants' websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' adoption of information.

3.4.4 Consumer Engagement

To extend the study, all factors from the central and peripheral route of OCRs are used to test hypotheses in this phase. Moreover, consumer engagement is added as a moderator factor for segmenting groups of consumers to improve the researcher's understanding of the factors that influence information adoption criteria.

Consumers are no longer perceived as passive: they have now become active consumers who search for the information needed to make deliberate decisions. Consumers search and communicate through electronic channels (Goldsmith, 2006). Consumers tend to rely on information provided by other experienced consumers (Kim *et al.*, 2011). Indeed, consumer engagement creates opportunities for interaction between marketers, consumers and society (Garber, Hyatt and Boya, 2009). However, Malthouse *et al.* (2013) stated that there are different levels of consumer engagement, ranging from high to low. However, the criteria of measurement are still inconsistent with regard to the focus and scope of engagement. For example, Malthouse and Calder (2011) studied the psychological state of the consumer, whereas Wirtz *et al.* (2013) investigated psychological motivation.

As mentioned in the previous chapter, behavioural engagement could be beneficial for marketers and should not be ignored. Therefore, this study aims to determine the influence of low and high levels of engagement regarding behavioural activities. Consumer engagement refers to the intention to increase the time and attention a consumer or prospective customer gives to a brand on the web or across multiple channels (Chaffey, 2008; Dessart *et al.*, 2015). Particularly in OCRs, Sashi (2012) highlights that reading OCRs is a customer engagement activity. They pointed out that a high level of customer engagement depends on the average number of times that the consumer spend in a certain period. This study examines consumer engagement at an individual level; thus, it uses the time spent on reading OCRs to capture the influence of behavioural engagement on information adoption. In detail, when consumers have high engagement with OCRs, they will be more likely to devote their time, effort and energy to read OCRs on online review websites and further will be deeply engrossed in and highly enthusiastic about the information from OCRs. Moreover, Brengman *et al.* (2006) pointed that consumers who actually purchase the products/services are those

who have spent time (Burke *et al.*, 1999) and frequently used these websites (Hoffman *et al*, 1996). As information adoption is an antecedent of purchase intention (Erkan and Evan, 2016b), time and frequency are factors that might be significant to information adoption.

In this study identify the level of consumer engagement is based on the frequency of using online reviews the average time and they spend time searching for information from online review websites (Cheung et al., 2015). Moreover, consumer engagement in this study is the individual's type of participation: i.e. whether they connect with OCRs from Independent and E-merchants' websites. Assuming that consumer engagement moderates in groups of consumers and impact of OCRs leading to information usefulness and information adoption, once a certain behavioural engagement is reached, information usefulness and information adoption are expected to change linearly. When the frequency of using online reviews and time spent on websites increase, the related consumer engagement will also increase. Higher levels of consumer attention as behavioural engagement with OCR from online review websites will lead to higher levels of information usefulness and information adoption. This line of thought is carried through in this study of the level of consumer engagement, which is proposed to act as a moderator for segmenting groups of consumers; Four groups of consumers low engagement with Independent websites, high engagement with Independent websites, low engagement with E-merchants websites and high engagement with Emerchants websites – are tested in this phase. Therefore, the following hypotheses are established:

H14: Information timeliness has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H15: Information accuracy has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H16: Information relevance has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H17: Information completeness has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H18: Information understandability has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H19: Value-added information has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H20: Information quantity has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H21: Review sidedness has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H22: Product ranking has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites. H23: Review consistency has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H24: Source expertise has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has (a) low engagement (b) high engagement using Independent websites and consumer has (c) low engagement (d) high engagement using E-merchants websites.

H25: Source trustworthiness has a positive and significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H26: Information usefulness has a positive and significant influence on consumers' on consumers' adoption of information when consumers have (a) low engagement or (b) high engagement using Independent websites, and when consumer have (c) low engagement or (d) high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

This chapter has presented the theoretical background and hypotheses, along with the influence of OCR factors on information adoption between Independent and E-merchants' websites. The selection of theories and factors were discussed and justified. The hypotheses were presented based on the theoretical background which underpins the theoretical model using ELM and IAM. In addition, consumer engagement was proposed as a moderator for segmenting groups of consumers to investigate the effect on information adoption criteria. Full details of the context in this study will be provided in Chapter 4.

3.5 Chapter Summary

This chapter provides a detailed investigation of the antecedents of information adoption in two ways. First, it has reviewed the theories related to this study and
confirmed that these theories have been appropriately applied to investigate the relationships between factors of OCRs and information adoption. Second, this chapter provides details of the antecedents constructed: the hypotheses demonstrate the different relationships between the study constructs in the integrative framework presented. Twenty-six hypotheses are proposed in order to test the model: these hypotheses have been developed using the Elaboration Likelihood Model and the Information Adoption Model. The philosophy of the research design and the methodology used to test the hypotheses will be identified in the next chapter.

CHAPTER FOUR: METHODOLOGY

4.1 Introduction

This chapter will first present the research paradigm and philosophical choices made in studying OCRs and information adoption. This research is carried out with an epistemological perspective in mind. From a philosophical view, positivism is identified as the most appropriate paradigm according to the aim of this research, which is to identify and test the OCRs factors that influence on information adoption in Independent websites and E-merchants' websites. It also extends the findings on how the level of consumers' engagement with types of various platforms influences the likelihood of adoption of information from online review websites. Moreover, the process of selecting a research approach, design, strategy and research methods, including sampling, sample size, questionnaire design and measurement scale is discussed here. Then, reliability and validity tests of the pilot study and the main study are explained. The data analysis to test and validate the proposed conceptual framework. Finally, a brief summary of the chapter is drawn.

4.2 Choosing a Research Paradigm

A paradigm refers to a way of looking at the world, concerning certain philosophical assumptions that guide and direct thoughts and actions (Milliken, 2001). The questions that concern research methods come from questions regarding paradigms (Guba and Lincoln, 1994). In other words, the choice of research methodology and research method results from a research paradigm (Staller *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, identifying the research paradigm is important because it helps researchers to determine an appropriate framework. Groff (2004) stated that producing research within a declared worldview can be advantageous in providing a clear framework for further discussion and research.

This study aims to identify and analyse the factors of OCRs that influence consumers' likelihood and willingness to adopt information from online review websites: specifically, Independent and E-merchants' websites. Thereafter, this study extends the knowledge of the literature in terms of consumer engagement by categorising groups of consumers in terms of their level of engagement with various platforms in order to

identify factors that influence their information adoption. The framework attempts to test the existing theories and confirm the factors that influence information adoption. The details of how a research paradigm was selected will be provided in the next sections.

4.3 Research Philosophy

According to Saunders et al. (2012), a research philosophy is the development of knowledge and the nature of that knowledge. It might be contributing a new theory or answering a specific problem in a specific context. However, research philosophy helps researchers to shape their assumption and also to choose a suitable research design, research strategy and research methods. There are two main assumptions based on research philosophy that represent how the world is viewed, namely ontological and epistemological (Collis and Hussey, 2014). Ontology refers to the nature of existence and concern with reality (Becker and Niehaves, 2007; Saunders et al., 2012), whereas epistemology is concerned with what is considered to be acceptable knowledge (Becker and Niehaves, 2007; Saunder et al., 2012). Additionally, Gray (2014) suggested that ontology embodies understanding what is, while epistemology tries to understand what it means to know. Myer (1997) claimed that epistemology is the most significant philosophical perspective. Along the same lines, Easterby-Smith et al. (2002) suggested that epistemology is important in guiding research for several reasons. Firstly, it helps to clarify the issue of research design. Secondly, consideration of philosophy will help the researcher to recognize which design processes work and which do not. Thirdly, it helps to select an appropriate research strategy and methods to collect empirical evidence.

From an epistemological perspective, there are two major research paradigms in the tradition of social science, namely positivism and interpretivism (Bryman, 2012). Positivism defined as " an epistemological position that advocates the application of the methods of the natural sciences to the study of social reality and beyond (Bryman, 2012, p. 28). Positivist is objective and assumes that phenomena can be measured directly through observation. Indeed, it assumes that reality consists of what is available to the senses and that natural and human sciences share common logical and methodological principles that rely on facts (Bryman and Bell, 2011). Positivist

101

researchers employ theories that attempt to produce a set of hypotheses for testing (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). They attempt to improve our understanding of phenomena by testing theories based on existing tested relationships which are examined with structured instrumentation (Babbie, 2015). Bryman and Bell (2011) noted that positivist studies could use both inductive and deductive approaches but rely more on the deductive approach (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). Positivism is linked to quantitative methods, which apply numerical data collection and statistical analysis to investigate and understand human behaviour (Saunders *et al.*, 2012; Collis and Hussey, 2014). In other words, a study is considered positivist if it involves evidence of propositions, quantifiable measures of variables, hypothesis testing and drawing of inferences about a phenomenon from the sample (Orlikowski and Baroudi, 2002).

Interpretivism refers to "a term that usually denotes an alternative to the positivist orthodoxy that has held sway for decades. It is predicated upon the view that a strategy is required that respects the differences between people and the objects of the natural sciences and therefore requires the social scientist to grasp the subjective meaning of social action" (Bryman, 2012, p. 30). Moreover, interpretivism requires " the social scientist must collect facts and data describing not only for purely objective, publicly observable aspects of human behavior, but also the subjective meaning this behavior has for the human subjects themselves" (Lee, 1991, p. 347). Interpretivism suggests that knowledge and meaning are viewed as intersubjective, socially constructed and varied, depending on whom we interact with (Weber, 2004). Interpretivists deal with the assumption that social reality is different and subjective. People interpret the meaning of objects and then act upon those interpretations in dealing with phenomena (Saunders et al., 2012). The interpretivist approach has been formed and shaped to understand participants' motivation with interactive dialogue (Ponterotto, 2005). Therefore, Interpretivists use qualitative methods rather than using numerical data to understand social phenomena (Saunder et al., 2012). A comparison of the features between the two paradigms (positivism and interpretivism) is presented in Table 4.1

Positivism	Interpretivism
Use large samples	Use small samples
Have an artificial location	Have a natural location
Be concerned with hypothesis testing	Be concerned with generating theories
Produce precise, objective quantitative data	Produce rich, subjective, qualitative data
Produce results with high reliability but low	Produce findings with low reliability but high
validity	validity
Allow results to be generalised from the sample	Allow findings to be generalised from one
to the population	setting to another similar setting

Table 4.1: Comparison of feature between two paradigms

Source: Collis and Hussey (2014, p. 50)

The positivist approach has long been used in social science (Hussey and Hussey, 1997; Grey, 2014). It focuses on formal propositions, quantifiable measures of variables, hypothesis testing, addressing research questions and drawing predictions about a phenomenon from existing knowledge to explain realities and their relationships. In contrast, the interpretivist approach seeks to understand social phenomena through accessing the meanings of objects (Orlikowski and Baroudi, 2002).

This study sets out to test and validate factors of OCRs affecting information adoption in the context of different online review websites. Interpretivism is thus not considered an appropriate paradigm because the aim of this study is to gather the results in a quantitative manner. The present study is designed within the positivist paradigm, which aims to validate the research and test the proposed hypotheses (Collis and Hussey, 2014) and suggests that the view of knowledge is objective, based on natural science methods and on the direct observation of data (Weber, 2004). This study provides evidence of propositions, as presented in Chapter 2, quantifiable measure of variables, as presented in Chapter 4, hypothesis testing and drawing of inferences about a phenomenon, as will be presented in Chapters 5 and 6 (Orlikowski and Baroudi, 2002). Furthermore, the study seeks to obtain a more objective analysis of the data by applying statistical tools and rigour. Therefore, adopting a positivist approach would be advantageous in this study to investigate critical factors and their relationships and to develop a comprehensive theoretical model.

4.4 Research Approach (Inductive/Deductive)

There are different strategies for data collection and analysis, which can impact the overall process of research in different ways. It is necessary for researchers to think about the relationship between research and theory in terms of deductive and inductive approaches (Gilbert, 2002). In order to develop a study, there are two major approaches for building and testing of theory, namely the inductive and the deductive approach (Collis and Hussey, 2014).

Bryman (2012) stated that the deductive approach represents the common view of the nature of the relationship between theory and research. The deductive approach is the traditional way of testing a theory, confirming or rejecting hypotheses and revising theories. The outcome of the deductive approach with quantitative techniques leads to either acceptance or rejection of the hypothesis (Saunders *et al.*, 2012). On the other hands, inductive approaches work in the opposite direction to deductive approaches: process starts from observing certain phenomena, and the theory is the result of the research (Bryman, 2012).

The deductive approach was employed in this study. This was because this research is built on theories that already exist in the domain being researched. Indeed, the deductive approach has to begin with ideas based on experience or theory and hypotheses which come from a literature search (Bryman, 2012). This approach starts with literature reviews and theory, and then narrows down into more specific hypotheses, tests these hypotheses with specific data and ends with confirmation or rejection of the theory. The hypotheses in the current research are developed from relevant theories based on existing literature, and after data collection, all hypotheses will be tested and analysed. The research activities are planned to justify the results of this study and well as the research method will be conducted to accomplish the aim as shown in Figure 4.1 below:



Figure 4.1 Deductive approach (Bryman 2012, p. 24)

4.5 Research Design

According to Easterby-Smith *et al.* (1991,p. 33) defined research design as " about organizing activities, including the collection of data in ways that are most likely to achieve research aims". Research design is one of the critical aspects of research methodology because it helps the researcher to scope and set up the boundaries of research (Hussey, 1997). Collis and Hussey (2014) highlighted that if the appropriate choices are made in the research design, the process of conducting the research can be successful. This is because research design reflects decisions about the priority being given to a range of dimension of the research process (Bryman, 2012). In support of this, Iacobucci and Churchill (2010) suggested that research design provides an overall plan and process of data collection, findings and analysis of the study, and as such is a general plan of how the research will provide the answers to the research question (Saunders *et al.*, 2016). In this study, the research design will be develop based on the conceptual model as shown in Figure 4.2



Figure 4.2: Research design

The research design for this study included four main steps: research design, data collection, data analysis and results. The first step involved reviewing the literature on OCRs, eWOM and information adoption studies to identify the literature gaps. A conceptual model was developed, along with twenty-six hypotheses. Then, a research strategy was justified. After designing the questionnaire, ethical issues should be checked before beginning the data collection process. In the second step, a pilot study will be conducted in order to check the understanding of language and the structure of the questionnaire items and to identify any unclear questions. Next, a set of questionnaires from the pilot study will be used to check the reliability and validity of the research instrument and measurement scale. After that, questionnaires will be presented to respondents in order to collect data for the main study. Next, in the third step, the data will be analysed using SPSS and AMOS software, employing the SEM technique using multigroup analysis, to validate the theoretical model and test the

hypotheses. Thereafter, in the final step, the findings are discussed in the light of existing studies in the literature. The theoretical and practical implications, with research limitations and future research directions, will be provided.

4.6 Research Strategy

When a researcher prepares a research plan, the research strategy is one of the key aspects that must be considered. In the field of social science, Alasuutari, Branen and Bickman (2008) stated that research methods are categorized into two main approaches: quantitative and qualitative. However, the selection of the research method depends on the aim of the study, the research questions and the author's justification.

Quantitative research focuses on enumerating data to be analyzed using statistical procedures (Bryman and Bell, 2007). It is used for testing theories by examining the relationships between variables (Creswell, 2009). It starts from the theory, sets hypotheses and then collects and analyzes data, and finally, the results will show whether the hypotheses can be rejected or accepted. Meanwhile, qualitative research is mainly used for exploring and understanding the meaning of human behaviour (Creswell, 2007). Carson *et al.* (2001) noted that qualitative research is suitable when the researcher needs to unfold what surrounds a phenomenon and gain deep understanding of individuals or groups of people. Therefore, the results of qualitative research can be used to explain how and why a phenomenon occurs.

In the current study, the researcher considered the differences between quantitative and qualitative research in terms of six areas to justify the method employed by following Gray (2014), as shown in Table 4.2 below:

Description	Quantitative research	Qualitative research
Epistemological positions	Objectivist	Constructivist
Relationship between researcher and subject	Distant/Outsider	Close/Insider
Research focus	Facts	Meaning
Relationship between	Deduction/Confirmation	Induction/emergent

Table 4.2: The differences between quantitative and qualitative research

theory/concept and research		
Scope and finding	Nomothetic	Ideographic
The nature of data	Data based upon numbers	Data based upon text

Source: Gray (2014, p. 191)

To select the types of research methodology, the objectives of the research must be clarified (Easterby-Smith *et al.*, 2008). Hair *et al.* (2010) provided a comparison of purposes and properties of research objectives and how researchers can use them to identify an appropriate methodology, as shown in Table 4.3

Table 4.3: A comparison of purpose and properties of quantitative and qualitative research

Description	Quantitative research	Qualitative research
Purpose	-More useful for testing.	-More useful for discovering.
	-Provides summary information on	-Provides in-depth (deeper
	many characteristics.	understanding) on a few
	-Useful in tracking trends.	characteristics
		-Discovering 'hidden' motivation and
		values
Properties	-More structured collection	-More unstructured collection
	techniques and objective ratings.	techniques requiring a subjective
	-High concern for representativeness.	interpretation.
	-Relatively short interviews (1to 20	-Little concern for representativeness.
	minutes)	-Relatively long interviews (1/2 to
	-Interviewer is passive.	many hours).
	-Large samples (over50).	-Interview is active and should be
	-Results objective.	highly skill.
		-Small sample (1-50)
		-Results subjective.

Source: Hair et al. (2010)

Moreover, Amaratunga *et al.* (2002) noted that quantitative and qualitative methods each have their strengths and weaknesses. Quantitative research is suitable for a large number of participants and is less time-consuming but it is not flexible in terms of data

collection methods and the structure of the final written report. On the other hand, qualitative research is suitable for gaining an in-depth understanding of respondents and it has a flexible structure when writing the report, but it is more difficult to interpret and analyze the data in the results stage. In addition, Creswell (2003) suggested that the methodology should relate to the research problem. Quantitative research fits the research problems that involve identifying factors that influence the outcome or understanding the predictors of the outcome. Also, it is the best approach to test a theory or explanation. In contrast, qualitative research is useful when the researchers do not know which variables are important to examine.

4.6.1 Justification for Adopting Quantitative Research

As illustrated in Tables 4.3 and 4.4, Gray (2014) and Hair *et al.* (2010) have made a clear distinction between quantitative and qualitative research. According to its research aim, this study focuses on human behaviour, which is related to an epistemological research philosophy. The aim of this research is to develop a theoretical model to investigate the consumers' likelihood of adopting information from OCRs from different online review websites and to identify the factors from the level of consumers' engagement with various platforms and their effect on information adoption. This research has employed a quantitative method and follows a deductive approach, which is generally used as one of the major approaches in business and social science research methodology.

Quantitative research is a deductive approach, which has positivist epistemology and it deals with numerical data (Creswell, 2003). The positivist philosophy, being deductive, begins with hypotheses. It is used to establish theories and hypotheses based on the literature (Hussey and Hussey, 1997). It is suitable for developing the validity of data collection from human society because it can be used for statistical analysis and the results will explain social phenomena (Hussey and Hussey, 1997). Quantitative research will be used in this research for several reasons. Firstly, this research is focused on social facts and phenomena that are related to the positivist philosophy (Burrell and Morgan, 1979). Secondly, this research will investigate and predict phenomena within the realm of social science (human behaviour), so the quantitative approach is appropriate to investigate the relationship between independent and dependent

variables. Thirdly, quantitative research is useful to collect data from a large sample in order to maintain the quality of research. Furthermore, due to the pressure of time and resources, this quantitative research employed a cross-sectional study, which is widely used in survey research (Gray, 2014).

4.7 Research Methods

4.7.1 Quantitative Research: Survey Instrument

A survey defined as "a systematic method for gathering information from (a sample of) entities for the purpose of constructing quantitive descriptors of the attributes of the larger pupolulartion of which the enrntities are members" (Groves et al., 2011, p. 2). Surveys are widely associated with the deductive approach (Bryman, 2012). A survey is an instrument used to collect primary data from individuals (Hair et al., 2003). There are two broad categories of methods for collecting survey data: self-administered and interviewer-administered. Self-administered surveys could be administered in several ways, such as in person, by phone, by mail or online (Kolb, 2008). In contrast, the interviewer-administered method rests on direct contact with participants such as personal interviews, either face-to-face, by telephone or via computer dialogue (Hair et al., 2003). In fact, the interviewer-administered method is used for collecting data from small numbers of individuals as qualitative data, whereas the self-administered method is convenient for collecting data from large numbers of individuals in quantitative form. In a survey, the questions are presented in standardized form: therefore, the researcher can compare all participants' answers to the same questions. A self-administered questionnaire was chosen to collect data in light of the aim to collect large amounts of data to validate the research model and hypotheses. This study used a survey questionnaire method to obtain data from a large number of individuals in a convenient manner due to limited cost and time. The types of self-administered questionnaire will be discussed in the next few sections.

4.7.2 Data Collection Method: Questionnaire Survey

Zikmund *et al.* (2010, p. 197) defined questionnaire as "a pre-formulated written set of questions to which respondents record their answers, usually within rather closely defined alternatives". Baruch and Holton (2008) noted that a survey questionnaire

enables researchers to seek information about individual attitudes, feelings and perceptions. The use of a survey questionnaire as a data collection method has many advantages. Firstly, the questionnaires are the principal tool for collecting data and the researcher can identify the population or sample based on the research interest. Also, it is possible to reach a large number of target populations (Malhotra *et al.*, 2013). Secondly, it is possible to gain information on individuals' feelings and perceptions (Baruch and Holton, 2008; Malhotra *et al.*, 2013). Thirdly, it is a low cost method and is easy to complete with the target group when compared to other methods (Nachmais and Nachmias, 2008; Saunders *et al.*, 2016) Moreover, it provides much more time for respondents to read and answer the questions. Respondents are free to complete the questionnaire at their own convenience and have time to think about the answers (Oppenheim, 1996; Malhotra *et al.*, 2013). Finally, it has the ability to collect data from wide geographical areas (Oppenheim, 1996).

The present study follows the steps suggested by Czaja and Blair (2005), who stated that conducting a survey is more than merely designing questionnaire questions and collecting data. Rather, it involves five-stage processes, as shown in Figure 4.3



Figure 4.3 Five-stage processes for conducting a survey Source: Adapted from Gray (2014)

From the above discussion, the researcher has chosen to use a self-administered questionnaire. In this approach, all participants have to complete all questions in the questionnaire by themselves (Bryman, 2012). However, there are three main types of self-administered questionnaire: delivery and collection questionnaires, online questionnaires and postal questionnaires (Czaja and Blair, 2005). The differences between these types will be presented in Table 4.4

	Delivery and collection questionnaire	Online questionnaire	Postal questionnaire
Data collecting	Delivery by hands to hands	Delivery by electronically using internet	Delivery by posed to respondent and return by posted
Cost	High	Low	Medium
Time	Short	Long	Very long
Advantages	Have interactive with respondents in case they do not understand the questions Selecting the representative samples	Respondents can spend their time to consider question Flexible to respondents complete the questionnaire on their own schedule at their own place Anomymity , respondents easier to provide honest response Data can be storage as electronic files	Respondents can spend their time to consider question Flexible to respondents complete the questionnaire on their own schedule at their own place Anomymity , respondents easier to provide honest response
Disadvantages	Respondents feel more pressure	Respondents cannot have interactive if they do not understand the questions Difficult to control	Respondents cannot have interactive if they do not understand the questions problems in terms of delivery such as postal address, return by post

Table 4.4 : The difference types of questionnaire

Additionally, Evans and Mathur (2005) also set out the advantages of using online questionnaire surveys as follows:

- Online questionnaires can minimize the period required to collect and process data;
- They are associated with lower costs because there are many specialized online questionnaire development programs which include all kinds of questions (scales, open-ended questions, multiple choice);
- Technology allows online questionnaires to be made more attractive and easier to use;
- The flexibility exists to design questionnaire items in different versions depending the respondents, especially language;
- The respondents can answer the questionnaire at a time that is convenient to them;
- When the data collection process is finished, the researcher will have all data stored in a database.

The self-administered survey questionnaire approach has been widely used in previous studied of OCRs and eWOM (see, for example, Awad and Ragowsky, 2008; Fei, 2011; Amblee and Bui, 2011; Hsu *et al.*, 2013; Liang *et al.*, 2013; Yang *et al.*, 2015; Elwalda *et al.*, 2016). According to the aim of this study and following the positivist research paradigm, a self-administered survey questionnaire, using an online questionnaire for data collection, is the most suitable method for this study (Collis and Hussey, 2014).

4.7.3 Selection of the Sample

Population referred to "the universe of the units from which the sample is to be selected. The term 'units' is employed because it is not necessarily people who are being sampled (Bryman, 2012, p. 187). This population of this study is Thai travellers. According to resources and time limitations, it is impossible to study the whole of the population. Therefore, researchers try to select representative samples in their studies. A sample is a subset of the population which can reflect the attributes of the target population in research which is related to the whole population (Bryman and Bell, 2007). It is important decide whom and what to study, because the sample represents the whole of the study population (Sarantakos, 1998). Fink (2002) suggested that a good sample is a miniature of the population, while Sarantakos (1998) noted that sample selection is an important determinant of the quality of quantitative research. This is the reason why the sampling process should be clarified before conducting a survey. This research is focused on OCRs in the travel industry: therefore, the sample has been defined as Thai travellers who have used online consumer review websites.

4.7.3.1 Thai Consumers

Thailand was used as the sample in this study. Despite its political uncertainty and infra-structural problems (BBC, 2016), the steady growth of the Thai market shows its tenacity and potential. The number of international outbound traveller from Thailand saw a rapid increase from 5.9 million in 2014 to 6.4 million in 2015 (The World Bank, 2016), indicating the huge prospects that Thai consumers offer to the travel industry.

Most of the existing research studying Thai tourism has been related to international inbound tourists. Relatively little attention has been paid to Thai outbound tourism (Cohen, 2014). A number of Asian consumers and specifically Thai consumers consider

Europe as a prime destination. The forecast for 2020 predicts that one in every three visitors might be travelling to Europe (WTC, 2011). The main destinations in Europe that attract Thai travellers are the United Kingdom, Germany, Denmark, Austria, France and Germany (Thai Ministry of Tourism and Sports, 2014). The number of outbound consumers may be linked to the increasing household income. In 2011, Thailand became an upper-middle income economy (The Word Bank, 2011). Thai currency is strong against the devolution of the Euro currency, which might be why Thai consumers are more able to afford to travel now than in the past. In addition, it has been noted that the number of outbound Thai travellers travelling is greater than the number of international travellers travelling to Thailand (Chaipinit and Phetvaroon, 2011).

Furthermore, culture is known to play role in consumer perception (Cialdini and Goldstein, 2004; Luo *et al.*, 2014c). Culture defines as "the collective programming of the mind the distinguishes the members of one group or category of people from others" (Hofstede 2001, p. 9). Thailand is categorised as a nation of high power distance, and is also high in collectivism, certainty avoidance and femininity. In terms of OCRs, the researcher will focus on only two of these aspects: high collectivism and high uncertainty avoidance. Thailand is classified as a strongly collectivist society (Prasongsukarn and Patterson, 2012; Rhein, 2013). When consumers face a choice, they may search for referent social groups to guide them towards the best course of action (Holmoes and Tangtongtavy, 1995). Hofstede (1991) noted that people from collectivist cultures are more sensitive to uncertainty avoidance compared to those from individualist cultures. Higher avoidance means that they need to reduce the vagueness of the situation and seek predictability and good preparation (Triandis, 1995).

Money and Crotts (2003) investigate the influence of uncertainty-averse culture on Internet information searching between a lower uncertainty avoidance culture (Germany) and a higher uncertainty avoidance culture (Japan). They found no difference between these cultures. However, findings from specific cultural investigations on travel websites are still needed (Ip *et al.*, 2010). Due to the collectivist nature of Thai culture, outbound Thai consumers may seek information from others from different online review websites, and then decide whether to adopt this information before they make their decision. Hence, the dynamics and kinetics of OCRs

and factors influencing information adoption by Thai consumers would enable marketers to obtain better market intelligence and insights.

For the next step, the method of selection of the sample will be considered. According to Bryman (2012), there are two types of sample selection, namely probability and non-probability sampling. A probability sampling refers to " a sample that has been selected using random selection so that each unit in the population has known chance of being selected. It generally assumed that a representative sample is more likely to be outcome when this method of selection from the population is employed" (Bryman, 2012 p. 187). Every consumers of the population has the same chance of being part of the sample (Wilson, 2010). The strength of probability sampling is in the validity of the results, but it is costly and time consuming. There are several types of probability sampling techniques: simple random sampling, systematic sampling, stratified random sampling and multi-stage cluster sampling (Bryman and Bell, 2007).

In contrast, a non-probability sampling refers to " a sample that has not been selected using a random selection method. Essentially, it implies that some units in the population are more likely to be selected than others" (Bryman, 2012, p. 187). A non-probability sample is used when the sample selection relies on the researcher's judgment. The population for non-probability sampling cannot be identified because of the sample selection process (Field *et al.*, 2006). However, non-probability sampling is less costly and time-consuming, although it requires more planning compared to probability sampling (Cooper and Scindler, 2014). Bryman and Bell (2015) noted that there are three main techniques of non-probability sampling: these are convenience sampling, snowball sampling and quota sampling. Moreover, Black (1999) sets out the advantages and disadvantages of the different types of sampling technique, as shown in Table 4.5

Technique	Descriptions	Advantages	Disadvantages
Simple random	Random sample from whole population	Highly representative if all subjects participate; the ideal	Not possible without complete list of population members; potentially uneconomical to achieve; can be disruptive to isolate members from a group; time-scale may be too long, data/sample could change
Stratified random	Random sample from identifiable groups (strata), subgroups,etc.	Can ensure that specific groups are represented, even proportionally, in the sample(s) (e.g., by gender), by selecting individuals from strata list	More complex, requires greater effort than simple random; strta must be carefully defined
Cluster	Random samples of successive clusters of subjects (e.g. by institution) until small groups are chosen as units	Possible to select randomly when no single list of population members exists, but local lists do; data collected on groups may avoid introduction of confounding by isolating members	Cluster in a level must be equivalent and some natural ones are not for essential characteristics (e.g., geographic: numbers equal, but unemployment rates differ)
Stage	Combination of cluster (randomly selecting clusters) and random or stratified random sampling of individuals	Can make up probability sample by random at stages and within groups; possible to select random sample when population lists are very localized	Complex, combines limitations of cluster and stratified random sampling
Purposive	Hand-pick subjects on the basis of specific characteristics	Ensures balance of group sizes when multiple groups are to be selected	Samples are not easily defensible as being representative of populations due to potential subjectivity of researcher
Quota	Select individual as they come to fill a quota by characteristics proportional to populations	Ensures selection of adequate numbers of subjects with appropriate characteristics	Not possible to prove that the sample is representative of designated population
Snowball	Subjects with desired traits or characteristics give names of further appropriate subjects	Possible to include members of groups where no lists or identifiable clusters even exist (e.g., drug abusers, criminals)	No way of knowing whether the sample is representative of the population
Volunteer, accidental, convenience	Either asking for volunteers, or the consequence of not all those selected finally participating, or a set of subjects who just happen to be available	Inexpensive way of ensuring sufficient numbers for a study	Can be highly unrepresentative

Table 4.5	The advantage an	d disadvantage	in difference	types of sam	pling technig	ue
				·) p • 0 • 1 0 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		

Source: Black (1999, p.118)

A non-probability sampling technique can be used if the sampling objectives are met (Cooper and Schindler, 2014). Due to the limited time and cost, this study adopted non-probability sampling by using a snowball sampling technique to provide questionnaires to participants who were used Independent websites or E-merchants' websites. Atkinson and Flint (2001, p. 1) defined snowball sampling as " a technique for finding research subjects. One subject gives the researcher the name of another subject, who in turn provides the name of a third, and so on".

Snowball sampling has been designed for social science research (Coleman, 1958). This sampling method involves a chain of referrals made by people who know others who possess the required population characteristics (Salganik and Heckathorn, 2004). Participants were asked to suggest others who would satisfy the participation criteria. Indeed, Snowball sampling is also called referral sampling: initial participants are chosen and then help to identify and share the questionnaire with others in the target sample. This process continues until the required sample size is reached (Hair *et al*, 2010). However, Snowball sampling is appropriate in this study because it provides flexibility of data collection within a limited time. In particular, snowball sampling is useful to capture the role of informal communication in online social environments and is an effective method to recruit numerous participants (Matook *et al.*, 2013). Additionally, snowball sampling can identify the scope of a study, expand the sample size and reduce cost and time (Benfield and Szlemko, 2006).

Moreover, the researcher was looking for participants who were willing to complete the survey. The data collection process took ten weeks between the periods of June to August 2015. Snowball sampling selected Thai consumers who use online reviews from websites in order to choose accommodation/hotels in which to spend their holidays. Thus, the purpose of snowball sampling in this case was to reach more potential participants. Bryman (2012) suggested that snowball sampling is a useful approach when the researcher needs to trace connections. The researcher contacts a small group of people who are of relevance to the study and then uses these connections to contact others. In this research, an online link to the web-based questionnaire (Qualtrics) was sent to the researcher's contacts by email and social networking sites such as Facebook to reach more potential respondents, as well as the Line and Whatsapp applications on the mobile phone. Contacts from both channels were encouraged to forward and share

the online survey link to their relevant contacts or friends. The participants were gently asked to complete the online questionnaire. A pilot study was conducted prior to the main study, as discussed below.

Unfortunately, bias can occur when participants are not willing to respond to a questionnaire in a proper way. In order to eliminate such bias, the objective of the questionnaire should be clear and related to their interest, so that they will read the items carefully and provide precise answers (Armstrong and Overton, 1977). The researcher made efforts to minimise this bias by using a pilot study for pre-testing in order to gain feedback and comments from participants. This information was used to enhance the questionnaire.

4.7.4 Sample Size

According to Bryman (2012), sample size considerations are usually based on the most crucial aspects, which are time and cost. A large sample size is better able to reflect the characteristics of the whole population and contribute to the generalisation of the research (Collis and Hussy, 2014). However, with regard to distribution theory, structural equation modelling (SEM) requires a sample size that is related to reliable estimates (Raykov and Widaman, 1995). Therefore, the researcher relied on three considerations that affect sample size in SEM. The first consideration is that SEM is a large sample technique: in order to produce a high quality study with sufficient data, a sample size of at least 200 is strongly recommended (Barbara, 2008). The second consideration is the multivariate distribution of the data: the ratio of respondents to parameters needs to be 10:1 (Kline, 2005). In this study, the total number of questions is 39 model parameters: thus, an ideal minimum sample size would be 390. Lastly, Comrey and Lee (1992) and Tabachick and Fidell (2001) categorise the level of sampling in SEM as follows: 200 is fair, 300 is good, 500 is very good and 1,000 or more is excellent. In light of these considerations, the sample size for this study was 635 respondents, which can be classed as very good.

4.7.5 Questionnaire Design and Development Process

It is necessary to spend time composing, designing, checking and revising the questionnaire before distributing it to participants. There are many issues that need to be addressed when developing the questionnaire, such as the survey instrument, the length of the questionnaire, wording, minimizing respondents' bias and reliability/validity concerns.

The questionnaire in this study was developed based on the process suggested by Kolb (2008, p. 194), which consists of structure, content, and wording of the questions. It begins with a cover page, which is used to introduce the basic background of the research topic in order to motivate participants to complete the questionnaire. The background information sets out the aim of research, the study field, information about the author and ethical aspects such as confidentiality.

The questionnaire was divided into three parts; it consists of six sections, with clear instructions for each section, as described below:

Part one: Usage of COPs

This part contains the questions used for studying the use of online review websites. Section one contains four questions addressing the current use of online review websites for making hotel reservation plans. The first question asks participants if they have used with online consumer review websites. If not, they are asked to discard the questionnaire, because this research focuses on people who are familiar with this kind of website. If participants' responses indicate that they have used with online review websites, they will continue to answer questions 2 and 3, which ask them how often they book hotels and how much time they spend on hotel reservation plans. Next, the last question in part one requires them to choose a favourite travel website that they use to read online reviews for hotel reservation plans.

Part two: Information usefulness and information adoption

This part contains the questions used to investigate the factors that affect information usefulness and information adoption. It consists of sections two to four, involving 39

questions in the form of 7-point Likert scales ranging from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'. All items measured the scale of each variable, including information timeliness, information accuracy, information relevance, information completeness, information understandability, value added information, information quantity, product ranking, review sidedness, review consistency, source expertise, source trustworthiness, information usefulness and information adoption.

Part Three: Demographic questions

This part contains questions eliciting the background of the participants. Demographic questions will be asked. It consists of five questions related to nationality, gender, age, the highest level of education attained and occupation.

4.7.5.1 Content of Question

Davies (2007) suggested that questionnaire items should avoid jargon, technical terms and overly long questions. The questions should follow a natural logic in order to help respondents complete them step by step. It is necessary to make questions clear and easy to understand. Therefore, the researcher considered these suggestions when constructing the questionnaire for this study. In addition, the researcher provided instructions for every section in order to help participants understand what they need to do to provide their answers.

Moreover, all questions were developed based on the variables in the research hypotheses. Questions were selected with reference to previous research that attempted to measure the determinants of information adoption.

4.7.5.2 Format of Respondents

Closed-ended structured questions were used. Baker (2003) suggested that structured, closed-end questions are the best suited to quantitative research for a number of reasons. First, closed-end questions are easier to complete by choosing the appropriate answer. Second, closed-end questions allow researchers to collect standardized responses that can be meaningful to compare. Third, this format does not discriminate against less talkative and articulate respondents. Fourth, a closed-end questionnaire is

not focused on a recall task but helps participants with a recognition task. Finally, the closed-end questions are quick to code and allow smooth data entry and statistical calculation thanks to the structure of the information (Foddy, 1994; Coombers 2001; Leung, 2001; Bryman, 2012).

A seven-point Likert scale is appropriate to use in this research because it provides wider latitude for respondents to present their opinions by allowing a range of answers (Diamantopoulos, Schlegelmilch and Reynolds, 1994). As described by Hair *et al.* (2010), a Likert scale is a scale that asks participants to indicate whether they agree or disagree with a question by rating a series of mental belief or behaviour beliefs. In addition, Likert scales are the best design when using a questionnaire survey method to collect the data. This is because Likert scales do not force the respondents to take a stand on a "yes" or "no" answer but rather to provide the answer as a degree of agreement or disagreement (Brace, 2008). In addition, Likert scales help the researcher to manage and code data for different statistical techniques (Luck and Rubin, 1987) and allow the participants to state their answers more accurately (Oppenheim, 1996).

In this study, all variables will be measured on seven-point Likert scales, with 1 being "Strongly disagree" and 7 being "strongly agree". This is because providing more scale points allows participants to express their feelings with greater specificity (Dawes, 2008).

4.7.5.3 Measurement Scales

Both independent and dependent variables will be used to measure information adoption.

1. Independent Variables

This study employed twelve factors that are assumed to be able to predict OCRs' adoption. Six dimensions of the central route will be employed to measure information adoption: information timeliness, information accuracy, information relevance, information completeness, information understandability and value-added information. Also, other independent variables from the peripheral route will be employed to

measure information adoption: information quantity, review sidedness, product ranking, review consistency, source expertise and source trustworthiness.

2. Dependent variables

There are two dependent variables in this study: information usefulness and information adoption. Factors that are used to measure information usefulness and information adoption are information timeliness, information accuracy, information relevance, information completeness, information understandability, value-added information, information quantity, review sidedness, product ranking, review consistency, source expertise and source trustworthiness. These determinant factors of OCRs were taken from the ELM and the IAM. The measurement items of the theoretical constructs and their sources are presented in Table 4.6

Construct	Measurement items	Source
Information Timeliness	I always adopt current comments in online reviews	Wixon and Todd
	I concern timely posed in online reviews	(2005)
	Up to date of online reviews make me confident to adopt the information	
Information Accuracy	I think the information I obtain from online reviews is correct	Wixom and Todd
	I think the information I obtain from online reviews is accurate	(2005)
	I think the information I obtain from online reviws is realiable	
Information Relevance	I think the information I got from online reviews is relevent as it	Wixom and Todd
	matches my needs.	(2005)
	I think the information I got from online reviews is appropriate for	
	satisfying my needs.	
	I think the information in website are applicable	
Information Completeness	I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is of sufficient	Wang and Strong
	depth	(1996)
	I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is of sufficient	
	breadth	
	I think online reviews in website sufficients complete my needs	
	I thinkonline reviews in website include all necessary value	
Information Understandability	I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is easy to read	Filieri and McLeay
	I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is easy to	(2014)
	understand	
	I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is easy to	
	interpret	
Value add Information	I think the information that I obtain from online reviews enable me to	Filieri and McLeav
	understand both positive and negative aspects of destination.	(2014)
	I think the information that I obtain from online reviews enable me to	()
	detect unknown aspects of destination.	
Information Quantity	I adopt online reviews when the number of reviews per accomodation is	Filieri and McLeav
	large.	(2014)
	I adopt online reviews when the quantity of reviews per accomodation is	· · · ·
	large	
Product Ranking	The ranking of different accommodations facilitate the evaluation of the	Filieri and McLeav
5	alternatives avaliable.	(2014)
	Overall ranking is a useful information to help me select the best	· · · ·
	accommodation among several alternatives	
Review Sidedness	I think the information include only one side-comments is usefulness	Cheung et al.,
	I think the information includes both positive and negative side is	(2012)
	usefulness	
	I think the information that only one side of reviews is bias	
	I prefer to read positive and negative comments	
Information Consistency	I adopt the information when the review are consistent with other	Cheung et al.,
	reviews	(2012)
	I adopt the information when the review are similar to other reviews	
Source Expertise	I think people who provide reviews are knowledgeable	Cheung et al.,
	I think people who provide reviews are experts	(2008)
	I think people who provide reviews are reputatable	
Source Trustworthiness	I think people who provide reviews are highly rate by other site	Cheung et al.,
	I think people who provide reviews are trustworthy	(2008)
	I think people who provide reviews are reliable	
Information Usefulness	Online reviews are valuable	Bailey and Pearson
	Online review are informative	(1983)
	Online reviews are helpful	
Information Adoption	I agree with the opinion suggested in the comments	Filieri and McLeay
	I closely followed the suggestions in online reviews if I feel it is useful	(2014); Cheung et
	I closely followed the suggestions in online reviews and it effect to my	al., (2008)
	purchase decision	

Table 4.6: The measurement items of the theoretical constructs and their sources

Source: Adapt by researcher

4.7.5.4 Measurement Items of Consumer Engagement

Having examined the main aim of the research by identifying and analyzing the OCR factors that influence consumers' likelihood of adopting information from Independent and E-merchants' websites, this study extends the knowledge in terms of consumer behaviour, categorizing groups of consumers according to their levels of engagement with various platforms. Therefore, the two groups from the sample (Independent websites and E-merchants websites) were classified into four groups (low engagement with Independent websites, high engagement with Independent websites, low engagement with E-merchants websites and high engagement with E-merchants websites and high engagement in this study will be discuss below, figure 4.4:



Figure 4.4 Classified four groups of consumers

Cheung *et al.* (2015) stated that there are three main perspectives from scholars who have investigated and conceptualized consumer engagement: that it is a psychological process that leads to loyalty and returning consumer (Bowden, 2009); a behavioural manifestation towards a brand or firm which goes beyond purchase behaviour (Van Doorn *et al.*, 2010) and a motivational psychological state categorized by four dimensions, namely vigour, dedication, absorption and interaction (Patterson *et al.*, 2006).

The aim of this research is to investigate consumers' likelihood of information adoption, as information adoption goes beyond purchase intention (Erkan and Evan, 2016b). This study, therefore, focuses on the behavioural manifestation. It develops a consumer engagement measurement, which is then employed to test the proposed theoretical model.

The clear definition of engagement behaviour and its measurement remain inconsistent (as discussed in Chapter 2). In previous research, measurements of behavioural engagement have varied across contexts (Hollebeek, 2012), for example, Kumar *et al.* (2010) identified consumer engagement metric by using customer lifetime value, customer referral behaviour, customer influencer value and customer knowledge value. Rossmann *et al.* (2016) and Coelho *et al.* (2016) studied consumer engagement and eWOM via social media platforms such as Facebook, and conceptualized consumer engagement in terms of consumer behavioural manifestations such as 'likes' and 'comments'.

Thus, a clear measurement of consumer engagement does not exist. Therefore, this study has adapted the measurement from Cheung *et al.* (2015), who studied behavioural engagement in promoting online game sales. The measurement of consumers' engagement defined on the basis of frequency and duration which can be measure behavioural engagement. The respondents were asked to indicate their answers to question 1.2 and question 1.3 in section 1.

The researcher adapted a measurement question from Cheung *et al.* (2015); however, to study behavioural manifestation via online review websites focusing on consumer participation, minor changes in wording were made to reflect the context of this study, as shown in the original items below:

Original items (Cheung et al., 2015)

In the past three months, how many times have you played this game per week on average?

In the past three months, how long have you played this game per visit on average?

Items use in this study

How often do you read online reviews when making your hotel reservation plan? For each trip on average, how much time do you spend to read online reviews when making your hotel reservation plans?

4.7.5.6 Translation of the Research Instrument

This research was conducted with Thai consumers. The main research instrument is written in English, but Thailand does not use English as a first language. Therefore, the researcher decided to use back-translation, which is commonly used when conducting international market research (Chen and Boore, 2009). The questionnaire was developed into two versions (Thai and English). The questions were translated into Thai before being presented to Thai consumers. However, back-translation might not provide the exact meanings of the questions: thus, a professional translator or independent translator should be required to verify the validity and reliability of the research (Halai, 2007). The questionnaire items were sent to a professional translator in Thailand to check whether they agreed with the questions when the originals were in English and the translator in order to avoid language differences and misunderstandings about their meaning.

4.7.6 Ethical Considerations

Burton (2000, p. 299) defined that "ethical concerns are present in all research designs and go beyond data collection to including analysis and publication". Research ethics is one of the most important considerations when conducting research. Collis and Hussey (2003) suggested that researchers should consider four major aspects when conducting their research: participants, data protection, anonymity and confidentiality. This research focuses on ethics as one of the most important aspects. Before distributing the questionnaires, the researcher submitted ethical and participant forms to Brunel University to be reviewed and approved. The participants were notified of the research aim and provided with background information about the study. Demographic information was kept confidential and all answers were saved in a password-protected folder on the researcher's laptop.

4.8 Pre-testing: Pilot Study

After the development of the final version of the questionnaire, the researcher's supervisors were asked to provide comments. In light of this feedback, some changes

were made to the layout, wording and response scales. However, Bryman and Bell (2007) suggested that researchers should also use pilot testing in order to ensure that the research instrument is sufficient to be administered. Along the same lines, Zikmund (1997) stated that pilot testing should be used to eliminate possible weaknesses in the first draft of a questionnaire and to revise and refine the measures before creating the final questionnaire for the main participants.

In social science research, pilot studies are used to test the procedure with a small sample in preparation for the main study (Polit *et al.*, 2001). Given the word by De Vaus (1993, p. 54) stated that "Do not take the risk. Pilot test first". In fact, the survey method has some disadvantages. Pilot testing helps to develop the efficiency of the main research because it provides a warning about aspects that are complicated and inappropriate (Teijlingen and Hudley, 2001). Therefore, a pilot study was conducted in this research using a trial questionnaire that was sent to sample participants before being widely distributed.

In order to help researchers to improve design of questionnaires, participants were asked to comment on the content of the questions, layout, the clarity of wording, the sequence of questions and any other comments that they wished to provide. According to Fink (2003), a pilot study is effective when choosing participants who are similar to those who will form the main sample. Hence, participants for the pilot testing were selected from people who were used online review websites.

This pilot study was conducted among different group of people, with two rounds of pilot testing. Firstly, a pilot test was conducted with 16 Thai travellers, PhD students (non-business/ business students) in Brunel University who were used online consumer review websites. In this pretesting stage, the researcher followed Krisnick's (1999) recommendations for cognitive pre-testing and behaviour coding techniques. It focused on monitoring participants' physical and mental behaviour during questionnaire completion. Using cognitive pre-testing, the researcher contacted the participants individually and asked what they thought about the questions while they were completing the questionnaire. However, as a behaviour coding technique, the researcher also monitored their reactions when they were reading the questions, such as how smoothly they were reading and completing the questionnaire. This stage resulted in

useful feedback, as most of the participants provided comments related to the structure, scales, unclear questions and wording. To address these issues, the researcher rewrote unclear questions and added and removed some items and modified response scales. Then, the second round of the pilot survey was conducted among 40 Thai travellers, post-graduate students (non-business students) in Brunel University who were used online review websites. Participants in this phase of the pilot study were asked to read the questionnaire and allowed to comment and ask questions about any aspects that they did not understand. The results of the second pilot provided more positive feedback than the first pre-test. The comments that they provided related to confusing wording. To deal with this issue, the researcher clarified wording by simplifying the confusing words.

4.9 Reliability and Validity

To assure the significance of this study, the validity and reliability of the scale items and analysis are addressed.

4.9.1 Content Assessment

4.9.1.1 Validity of Content

Validity generally refers to accuracy. Validity is the first element that determines the quality of the selected measurement instruments. Hair et *al.* (2003, p. 174) defined, " a construct with perfect validity contains no measure error". In order to achieve this validity, the content of the questions and answers were developed on the topic of OCRs and information adoption based on the previous chapter (literature review) and later revised and pretested (pilot study) to ensure content validity. Moreover, measurement items for the questionnaire were developed from previous studies; therefore, they have already been shown and accepted to be valid. Measurement scales were thus revalidated to fit the objectives of this study.

4.9.1.2 Reliability of Content

Reliability attempts to ascertain the consistency of the data. Reliability is the second element that ascertains the quality of quantitative research. In order to limit measurement errors in this research, the internal consistency of the measurements must

be preserved. The researcher used three criteria to evaluate reliability. First, several questions were used to measure the same variable. This is because multiple questions help to eliminate individual error rather than relying on answers to a single question (Muijs, 2004). Second, similar questions were asked about the same concept to prove the accuracy of the data (Hernon and Schwartz, 2009). Finally, questions were pretested to ensure their internal consistency by asking people who were not familiar with this area to examine the questionnaires to ensure that they could fully understand them (Hernon and Schwartz, 2009).

4.10 Main Study

From the pilot study, structure and wording mistakes were corrected. The final version of the questionnaire was then distributed. The final questionnaire consists of three parts with five sections, with a total of 49 questions. The self-administered questionnaires with closed-end questions were distributed using an online link to the web-based questionnaire (provided via Qualtrics) via email, Facebook, Line and Whatsapp applications to reach potential participants. The data collection process took ten weeks, during which a snowball sample of 766 was collected. As the aim of the study is to investigate the factors of OCRs between Independent websites and E-merchants' websites, participants were asked select their favourite sites to classify the sample into two groups. It would be easier to mention the names of websites rather than using terms such as Independent and E-merchants' websites. Therefore, in the questionnaire Q1.4, the respondents were asked to select the names of the websites (TripAdvisor, Booking.com, Hotel.com, Expedia, Yelp and others) that they use to read online consumer reviews.

Among the 766 participants, 312 used TripAdvisor, 323 used Booking.com, 24 used Hotel.com, 23 used Expedia, 65 used Yelp and 19 were incomplete answers. This research presents two specific online review websites to represent Independent and E-merchants' websites. The results showed the participants were most familiar with TripAdvisor and Booking.com. However, other websites showed the number of selection is very low and would be rejected in the analysis process. Therefore, some respondents and incomplete answers were excluded. TripAdvisor was used to represent

Independent websites and Booking.com was used to represent E-merchants' websites. This led to a total of 635 usable responses.

4.11 Data Analysis

Essentially, this study employed Analysis of Moment Structures (AMOS), using the Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) technique with multigroup analysis to validate the hypotheses and conceptual framework. SEM refers to a multivariate technique that combines multiple regression analysis and factor analysis to estimate simultaneously a series of interrelated dependence relationship (Hair *et al.*, 1998). It is also known as "path analysis with latent variables" (Bagozzi, 1984). Indeed, SEM is combination of factor analysis and regression or path analysis.

There are a number of reasons why SEM was used in this study. Firstly, SEM fits the objective of testing hypotheses by simultaneously examining a series of relationships between dependent and independent variables (Hair *et al.*, 2010). In other words, SEM captures complete and simultaneous tests of all the relationships between all variable at the same time (Tharenou *et al.*, 2007). Secondly, SEM can be used to estimate the size of the paths in the model and the model can be tested the fit to the data at the same time while correcting for measure error (Tharenou *et al.*, 2007). Thirdly, in analysis, estimating and removing the measurement error is required to achieve perfect reliability (Werner and Schermelleh-Engel, 2009). Next, SEM provides valid conclusions on the construct level because it is not a separate analysis but allows the use of several variables per construct simultaneously (Werner and Schermelleh-Engel, 2009). Finally, SEM is a statistical methodology that is useful for the testing and confirmatory approach to the analysis of structure theory yield to phenomenon. Additionally, SEM allows hypothesis testing for inferential purposes and provides unambiguous handling of measurement errors (Byrne, 1998).

Normally, Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) comprises two components: the measurement (factor) model and the structural model. The measurement model refers to the specification of the measurement theory that shows how constructs are operationalized by sets of measured variables (Hair *et al.*, 2010). The measurement model is acquired by conducting confirmatory factors analysis (CFA: Anderson and

Gerbing, 1988). There are five elements in CFA: the latent constructs, the measured variables, the item loadings on specific constructs, the relationship among constructs and the error terms for each indicator (Hair *et al*, 2010). All of the constructs and variables are used to estimate and confirm the relationship between a set of measurement items and demonstrate a good factor structure that fits well. Specialty, CFA is able to show an acceptable model with good fit and evidence of construct validity (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, CFA is used to test the convergent validity (composite reliability and average extracted variance) and discriminant validity of the construct. To sum up, CFA is required as the first step test of a structural equation model.

4.11.1 Analysis Assessment

4.11.1.1 Reliability

Reliability refers to the extent to which a measure is free of random measurement errors. Hence, no random measurement error is a perfectly reliable measure (Smithson, 2005). To evaluate the appropriateness of the questions and the subsequent scale of variables, a reliability test must be carried out for each instrument (Tharenou et al., 2007). In social science research, coefficient alpha is commonly used by researchers: this measure indicates how the different items propose to measure different aspects of a construct (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007). Reliability was assessed via Cronbach's alpha, which is used to examine the reliability of measurement scale (Cortina, 1993) and is a measure of the degree to which all items are measuring the same thing (DeVellis, 1991). However, Hair et al. (1995) stated that if the scale items are highly correlated, then the coefficient alpha will be high. On the other hand, if the measurement scale used does not sufficiently measure the construct that it was intended to measure, then the coefficient alpha will be low. As the rule of thumb, the cronbach's alpha greater than 0.9 are excellent, cronbach's alpha between 0.7-0.9 are considered as high, cronbach's alpha between 0.5-0.7 are considered as moderated and cronbach's alpha lower than 0.5 are considered as low (Hinton et al., 2014).

4.11.1.2 Validity

Hair *et al.* (2010) defined construct validity as asset of measured items actually reflects the theoretical latent construct. The evidence of construct validity provides confidence that item measures taken from a sample represent the actual value that exists in the population. Therefore, this study employed construct validity to confirm that the measurement of the construct accurately represents the concept of interest.

Construct validity consists of two subtypes: convergent and discriminant validity. Convergent validity refers to the degree to which two measures of the same concept are correlated (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Convergent validity was examined by using the value of composite reliability (CR) and Average Extracted Variance (AVE). The value of composite reliability (CR) was tested to measure the consistency reliability of the survey. Average extracted variance (AVE) was employed to explain the average variance of an item's loading, while discriminant validity refers to the degree to which a construct is truly distinct from other constructs. Also, a measure should correlate more strongly with other measures of the same construct than with the measures of other constructs. Indeed, the square roots of AVE should be greater than the other correlation coefficients for satisfactory validity (Hair *et al.*, 2010).

4.11.2 Model Fit Indices Assessment

A number of criteria have been suggested for evaluating the model fit indices. However, Hair *et al.* (2010) noted that the selected at least four tests of good fit index should be use for measurement and structural model. In this study, the researcher has used model fit indices: Chi square to the degree of freedom ($\chi 2$ /df), goodness of fit index (GFI), adjusted goodness of fit index (AGFI), Tucker Lewis Index (TLI), comparative fit index (CFI) and root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA). The recommended criteria of GFI, AGFI, IFI, TLI and CFI values between 0.9 and 1.0 are considered to be a good fit. The values between 0.8 and 0.89 are considered to be a reasonable fit, while RMSEA values less than 0.05 are considered to be a good fit (Hair *et al.*, 2010; Elwalda *et al.*, 2016). The descriptive and criteria of model fit indices briefly showed in the table 4.7
Model Fit Indicies	Descriptive	Recommended Criteria	
Absolute Fit Indicies			
To measures of overall goodness of fit for both the measurement and structure models			
	Is minimum discrepancy divided by its		
Normal Fit Chi-Square (χ^2	degree of freedom. Value close to 1	1:3	
/df)	indicates good fit but less than 1 implies		
	over m Le en este etterent te une dece e fit eteticie		
Goodness of Fit Index (GFI)	is an early attempt to produce a fit statistic	≥ 0.80	
	that was less sensitive to sample		
	Tries to take into account differing degrees		
Adjusted goodness of fit	of model complexity by adjusting GFI by	> 0.80	
(AGFI)	a ratio of the degree of freedom used in a	_ 0.00	
	model to total degrees of freedom available		
Root Means Square Error of	Is population discrepancy function which		
Approximation Residual	implies that how well the fitted model	< 0.50	
(RMSEA)	approximates per degree of freedom		
Incremental Fit Indecies			
Group of goodness of fit in	dices that assesses how well a specified mod	el fits relative to some	
	Represents the comparative index between		
Tucker Lewis Index (TLI)	proposed and baseline model adjusted for	≥ 0.90	
	df		
Comparative Fit Index (CFI)	Is improve version of NFI. It is highly	> 0.00	
	recommend index for fitness of model	<u>~</u> 0.70	

Table 4.7 Model fit indices criteria

After carrying out the measurement model steps, the structural model has to be employed. The structural model refers to the correlational and dependence relationships between latent variables and observed variables comprising the main elements of the model (Hair *et al*, 2010). It is used to confirm the relationship between variables. If the results provide that model fit indices is acceptable, the model is adequate for hypothesised relations among variables, whereas if it unacceptable the adequacy of some relations is rejected (Byrne, 2010).

Moreover, to evaluate the structural model, standardised estimate, critical ratios and p value were examined along with the model fit indices to assess all hypotheses structural fits to the data. However, critical ratio (t-value) is achieved by dividing the regression weight estimate by standard error (S.E). Relationships are significant when t-value greater than 1.96 and p value is \leq .05 (Hair *et al.*, 2010).

4.11.3 Multigroup Analysis

The main objective of this research focuses on comparison between different groups. Thus, multigroup analysis is applied in this study. Multigroup analysis is used for testing any number or type of differences between similar models estimated for different groups of respondents. In other words, the same model is used across different samples of respondents. Thus, a specific test of difference is adopted for unique questions, while a general model is used to compare the measurement and structural models across groups (Hair *et al.*, 2010). In support of this, Nyaga *et al.* (2010) suggested that it is necessary to use multigroup analysis if the set of the items and the number of constructs are assumed to be the same across groups. Additionally, multigroup is an appropriate method for group analysis and finally produces the results for two models (Bansel *et al.*, 2016).

4.11.3.1 Multisample Confirmatory Factors Analysis: Invariance Test

Basically, confirmatory factors analysis (CFA) is used to establish construct validity, but in multigroup analysis, CFA is extended to become MCFA (multisample confirmatory factor analysis). In MCFA, separated samples are collected for each group and then compared to determine their invariance (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Essentially, measurement invariance testing in multigroup analysis is important in assessing whether the construct items remain the same across groups (Byrne *et al.*, 1989; Cheung and Rensvold, 2002). Thus, the measurement invariance test was adopted in this study. Measure invariance refers to " the variance that is attributable to the measurement method rather than to the construct of interest" (Podsakoff and Organ, 1986, p. 897). Hair *et al.* (2010) suggested that there are six steps in the process of group comparisons; (1) Configural Invariance (2) Metric Invariance (3) Scalar Invariance (4) Factor Covariance Invariance (5) Factor Variance Invariance and (6) Error Variance Invariance. However, not all of these steps of invariance need to be tested. That is, the level of invariance tests depends on the type of research question. Partial invariance at any of the steps as a practical standard is acceptable (Hair *et al.*, 2010).

According to the research question, configural and metric invariance are required as the basic structure of invariance. Configural invariance (unconstrained) assesses whether there is equality of the factors structures for the theoretical model across group; Metric invariance (constrained) assesses whether the factor loadings for each scale indicator are identical or equivalent across groups (Hair et al., 2010). To determine evidence of invariance, the difference in χ^2 between the configural invariance and metric invariance should be examined. If the difference is not statistically significant, it means the equality constrains do not significantly diminish fit. There is no different between groups (invariance), the results between groups is valid (Babin et al., 2016) whereas, if the difference is statistically significant, it means that they are not equivalent across groups (Byrne, 2006). However, Cheung and Rensvold (2002) noted that the difference in χ^2 values is sensitive to sample size and it may not be a practical and realistic measure of invariance. Thus, we need to consider evidence of invariance on two criteria: (1) the multigroup model should model fit indices to the data; (2) the difference in CFI value between the configural and the metric test should be less than the suggested threshold of 0.01 (Byrne, 2006; Cheung and Rensvold, 2002).

Moreover, structural model comparisons are used in specific testing to address a number of research hypotheses, and are also used for multigroup testing (group analysis). The structural model comparison testing builds similar to the measurement model process. The steps of invariance testing are still required to ensure that the constructs are comparable, but it has to be noted that the computed difference must be statistically significant to confirm that there are differences (Hair *et al.*, 2010).

4.12 Chapter Summary

This chapter has clarified the research methodology adopted in this study. The different research paradigms were examined and it was found that the epistemological, positivist approach is the most suitable for this research. The research design, research strategy and research method were identified. Quantitative research with online questionnaires was selected. Details of survey procedures were provided, including the data collection method, sampling technique, sample size, questionnaire design process, translation and ethical considerations. A sample of 635 sets of data was collected by using self-

administered questionnaires. Pilot tests were conducted and the reliability and validity tests were also provided to validate the questionnaire items and measurement scale. Furthermore, AMOS was introduced as the structural equation modelling technique (SEM), and multigroup analysis was employed to analyze the data. The next chapter will provide the findings in terms of both the measurement and the structural model.

CHAPTER FIVE: DATA ANALYSIS AND

RESEARCH FINDINGS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter provides a detailed account of the quantitative study in order to present the data analysis and results. AMOS 20 software and the Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) technique were applied, using multigroup analysis to validate the theoretical model. A preliminary examination of the data, addressing outliers and normality, is presented in the first part of this chapter. Then, the demographic profile of the participants is presented, followed by an assessment of the reliability and validity of the measurement scale. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), multisample confirmatory factor analysis (MCFA) and invariance testing were performed. Multigroup analysis was employed to examine the relationship between factors that influence consumers' perceptions of information usefulness and their decisions about adopting information from Independent and E-merchants' websites. Additionally, this study extends the knowledge in terms of consumer engagement beyond the generation of OCRs by categorising groups of consumers according to their level of engagement with various platforms that characterize the impact of OCRs on information adoption. The extended study to test the consumer engagement as moderating, clustering the groups of consumers - low engagement with Independent websites, high engagement with Independent websites, low engagement with E-merchants websites and high engagement with E-merchants websites - is also provided. Structural models were employed to test the hypothesized relationships and to assess the overall fit of the proposed model. Finally, a summary of the chapter is presented.

5.2 Preliminary Examination of the Data

This research collected data by using an online questionnaire survey. Howell (2008) stated that survey methods usually include failure to respond to some of the questions, which causes the problem of missing data. This can occur when a respondent fails to answer at least one question, which means that the questionnaire cannot be used in analysis. However, Israel (1992) suggested that the researcher can solve the problem by collecting a larger number of valid questionnaires than the allowable sample size to achieve reliable statistical results. In the present study, a sample of 766 questionnaires was collected but only 635 were useable. All incomplete questionnaires were excluded. Thus, the total number of questionnaires collected was sufficient to achieve the

objective of the study. To prepare the data for analysis, examination of outliers and normality tests were conducted.

5.2.1 Outliers

Outliers refer to "observations with a unique combination of characteristics identifiable as distinctly different from the other observations" (Hair *et al.*, 2006, p. 73). As outliers might be very high or very low scores (extreme values), these result might cause non-normal data and distorted statistics (Hair *et al.*, 2010). In order to identify univariate outliers, all scores for a variable need to be compared to standard scores. A standard score is ± 3.0 or above if the sample size is larger than 80. In this study, the results indicated that the data had no extreme values but contained a number of univariate outliers, as presented in Table 5.1

Construct	Measure	N	Minimun	Maximum
Zscore: Information Timeliness	TI1	635	-2.37	1.56
	TI2	635	-2.48	1.54
	TI3	635	-2.42	1.59
Zscore: Information Accuracy	AC1	635	-2.47	1.94
	AC2	635	-2.21	1.91
	AC3	635	-2.45	1.95
Zscore: Information Relevance	RE1	635	-2.73	1.50
	RE2	635	-2.62	1.53
	RE3	635	-2.57	1.52
Zscore: Information Completeness	COM1	635	-2.75	1.89
	COM2	635	-2.91	1.92
	COM3	635	-2.51	1.81
	COM4	635	-1.59	1.54
Zscore: Information Understandability	UN1	635	-2.71	1.64
	UN2	635	-2.68	1.58
	UN3	635	-2.52	1.63

Table 5.1 Outliers

Zscore: Value Add Information	VA1	635	-2.67	1.43
	VA2	635	-1.44	1.33
Zscore: Review Quantity	QU1	635	-1.42	1.35
	QU2	635	-1.52	1.43
Zscore: Product Ranking	RA1	635	-2.66	1.49
	RA2	635	-2.67	1.45
Zscore: Information Sidedness	SI1	635	-2.10	1.66
	SI2	635	-2.96	1.75
	SI3	635	-2.85	1.70
Zscore: Information Consistency	CON1	635	-2.33	1.55
	CON2	635	-2.52	1.57
Zscore: Source Expertise	EX1	635	-2.22	1.53
	EX2	635	-2.41	1.52
	EX3	635	-1.41	1.71
Zscore: Source Trustworthiness	TR1	635	-2.60	2.01
	TR2	635	-2.72	2.09
	TR3	635	-2.78	2.04
Zscore: Information Usefulness	US1	635	-2.17	1.52
	US2	635	-2.24	1.60
	US3	635	-2.44	1.41
Zscore: Information Adoption	AD1	635	-2.86	1.82
	AD2	635	-2.04	1.65
	AD3	635	-2.11	1.65

5.2.2 Normality

After the assessment of outliers, it is necessary to assess the normality of distribution of the data. According to Hair *et al.* (2010), normality is a fundamental assumption in multivariate analysis, particularly in structural equation modelling. If the variation from the normal distribution is sufficiently large, the results are invalid (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2014). The assessment of normality consists of computing the Skewness and Kurtosis of the data (Valle, 2007). Skewness highlights the asymmetry of a distribution and is used to describe the balance of the distribution. Kurtosis is the 'peakedness' or the 'flatness' of the distribution and serves to highlight whether the distribution can be

compared to the normal distribution. The acceptable range for the value of skewness and kurtosis is ± 3.0 (Hair *et al.*, 2010). In this study, all univariate variables are satisfied as shows in table 5.2

Construct	Measure	Ν	Mean	Skewness	Kurtosis
Information Timeliness	TI1	635	5.81	-0.443	0.065
	TI2	635	5.85	-0.438	0.137
	TI3	635	5.81	-0.36	-0.004
Information Accuracy	AC1	635	5.24	-0.401	0.264
	AC2	635	5.14	-0.332	-0.079
	AC3	635	5.23	-0.335	0.223
Information Relevance	RE1	635	5.58	-0.103	-0.74
	RE2	635	5.53	-0.298	-0.295
	RE3	635	5.51	-0.269	-0.384
Information Completeness	COM1	635	5.37	-0.38	-0.108
	COM2	635	5.41	-0.184	-0.158
	COM3	635	5.32	-0.268	-0.016
	COM4	635	5.52	-0.671	0.321
Information Understandability	UN1	635	5.49	-0.616	0.556
	UN2	635	5.52	-0.645	0.442
	UN3	635	5.43	-0.693	0.443
Value Add Information	VA1	635	5.26	-0.356	-0.623
	VA2	635	5.56	-0.348	-0.706
Review Quantity	QU1	635	5.54	-0.705	0.054
	QU2	635	5.54	-0.621	0.118
Product Ranking	RA1	635	5.92	-0.188	-0.348
	RA2	635	5.94	-0.286	-0.18
Information Sidedness	SI1	635	5.68	-0.276	-0.304
	SI2	635	5.51	-0.381	0.014
	SI3	635	5.5	-0.233	-0.236
Information Consistency	CON1	635	5.8	-0.363	-0.11
	CON2	635	5.85	-0.242	-0.177

Table 5.2 Normality

Source Expertise	EX1	635	4.96	-0.433	-0.515
	EX2	635	4.68	-0.411	-0.623
	EX3	635	4.26	-0.131	-0.772
Source Trustworthiness	TR1	635	4.38	-0.381	-0.276
	TR2	635	4.39	-0.368	-0.221
	TR3	635	4.46	-0.559	0.272
Information Usefulness	US1	635	5.76	-0.275	-0.376
	US2	635	5.75	-0.154	-0.401
	US3	635	5.9	-0.352	-0.24
Information Adoption	AD1	635	5.45	-0.003	0.021
	AD2	635	5.66	-0.018	-0.564
	AD3	635	5.68	0.026	-0.584

5.2.3 Demographic Profile

Demographic profiles of this research are provides in Table 5.3. The descriptive statistics showed the respondents were female (65.8%) greater than male (34.2%). Ages of respondents were between 18-24 (10.2%), most of them aged 25-34 (64.7%), followed by aged between 35-54 (21.6%) then aged between 55-64 (3.1%) and the respondents aged 65 or above were only a few number (0.3%). The overwhelming percentage of respondents indicated having a university degree, Bachelor's degree (49.3%) and Master's degree or higher (48.2%); followed by up to high school level (1.7%) and Others such as N/A and lower than high school were less than 0.3%. Regard to the occupation, the results indicated that the respondents of student (15.9%) and self employed (21.1%). While more than half respondents were employed (57.8%) .The minority case includes others such as housewife and retired (0.8%).

Table 5.3 Demographic profiles of respondents (N=635)

Measure	Items	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	217	34.2
	Female	418	65.8
	Total	635	100

Age	18-24	65	10.2
	25-34	411	64.7
	35-54	137	21.6
	55-64	20	3.1
	65 or above	2	0.3
	Total	635	100
Education	Up to high school	11	1.7
	Bachelor's degree	313	49.3
	Master's degree or higher	306	48.2
	Other	5	0.8
	Total	635	100
Occupation	Student	101	15.9
	Self employed	134	21.1
	Employed	367	57.8
	Unemployed	28	4.4
	Other	5	0.8
	Total	635	100

Note: Others* includes: N/A and lower than high school, Others** includes: Housewife, Retired

In this section, Table 5.4 illustrates the demographic profile of respondents separately between Independents and E-Merchants' website. Results showed that majority of the respondents from Independents and E-Merchants' website were females (63.8% and 67.8% respectively). The results also showed more than half of the respondents from both of websites were between the ages of 25-34 (59.9% and 63.9%). With regard to the education, Bachelor degree were largest proportion (54.2%) on Independent website whereas Master's degree or higher were largest response (52%) on E-Merchants' website. Results of occupation indicated that the majority of respondents from both websites are falling in employed (52.2% and 63.2%).

Maggura Itams		Independe	ent website	E-Merchan	E-Merchants' website		
Ivicasuic	Items	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage		
Gender	Male	133	36.2	104	32.3		
	Female	199	63.8	219	67.8		
	Total	312	100	323	100		
Age	18-24	33	10.6	32	9.9		
	25-34	187	59.9	224	69.3		
	35-54	75	24.0	62	19.2		
	55-64	15	4.8	5	1.5		
	65 or above	2	0.6	0	0		
	Total	312	100	323	100		
Education	Up to high school	5	1.6	6	1.9		
	Bachelor's degree	169	54.2	144	44.6		
	Master's degree or						
	higher	138	44.2	168	52.0		
	Other	0	0	5	1.5		
	Total	312	100	323	100		
Occupation	Student	52	16.7	49	15.2		
	Self employed	77	24.7	57	17.6		
	Employed	163	52.2	204	63.2		
	Unemployed	17	5.4	11	3.4		
	Other	3	1	2	0.6		
	Total	312	100	323	100		

Table 5.4 Demographic profiles of respondents (Independent and E-Merchants' websites)

5.2.4 Descriptive Statistics

All measures were carried out by a seven-point Likert scale, ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (7). The descriptive statistics show generally positive responses to constructs, all items of the constructs scored a mean of greater than 3.5 with standard deviation, signifying that the participants mostly agree with items of the constructs. The means and standard deviation scores of all constructs are presented in

Table 5.5 and the means and standard deviations of all measurements are presented in Table 5.6

Construct	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation
Information Timeliness	635	5.82	0.67
Information Accuracy	635	5.20	0.77
Information Relevance	635	5.54	0.87
Information Completeness	635	5.41	0.72
Information Understandability	635	5.48	0.84
Value Add Information	635	5.41	1.06
Review Quantity	635	5.54	1.00
Review Sidedness	635	5.93	0.64
Product Ranking	635	5.56	0.71
Review Consistency	635	5.82	0.67
Source Expertise	635	4.63	1.27
Source Trustworthiness	635	4.41	1.13
Information Usefulness	635	5.80	0.67
Information Adoption	635	5.60	0.74

Table 5.5 Descriptive statistics

Table 5.6 The means and standard deviations of all measurements

Construct	Measure	Mean	Std. Deviation
Information Timeliness	TI1	5.81	0.76
	TI2	5.85	0.75
	TI3	5.81	0.75
Information Accuracy	AC1	5.24	0.91
	AC2	5.14	0.97
	AC3	5.23	0.91
Information Relevance	RE1	5.58	0.94
	RE2	5.53	0.96
	RE3	5.51	0.98

Information Completeness	COM1	5.37	0.86
	COM2	5.41	0.83
	COM3	5.32	0.93
	COM4	5.52	0.96
Information Understandability	UN1	5.49	0.92
	UN2	5.52	0.94
	UN3	5.43	0.96
Value Add Information	VA1	5.26	1.22
	VA2	5.56	1.08
Review Quantity	QU1	5.54	1.08
	QU2	5.54	1.02
Product Ranking	RA1	5.92	0.72
	RA2	5.94	0.73
Information Sidedness	SI1	5.68	0.80
	SI2	5.51	0.85
	SI3	5.50	0.88
Information Consistency	CON1	5.80	0.77
	CON2	5.85	0.73
Source Expertise	EX1	4.96	1.33
	EX2	4.68	1.52
	EX3	4.26	1.60
Source Trustworthiness	TR1	4.38	1.30
	TR2	4.39	1.25
	TR3	4.46	1.24
Information Usefulness	US1	5.76	0.81
	US2	5.75	0.78
	US3	5.90	0.78
Information Adoption	AD1	5.45	0.85
	AD2	5.66	0.81
	AD3	5.68	0.80

5.2.5 Reliability Test

In this study, reliability was calculated by measuring the internal consistency of the entire scale. The internal consistency is usually tested by calculate the coefficient alpha or known as Cronbach's alpha (Hair *et al.*, 2010). A cut off point of cronbach's alpha should be 0.7 (Nunnally and Bernstein,1994). It means 0.7 is a standard accepted to demonstrate a high level of homogeneity within the scale. Additionally, Hinton *et al.* (2014) suggested that the cronbach's alpha greater than 0.9 are excellent, cronbach's alpha between 0.7-0.9 are considered as high, cronbach's alpha between 0.5-0.7 are considered as moderated and cronbach's alpha lower than 0.5 are considered as low. To consider reliable for purpose in this study, all these cronbach's alpha are accepted and provides high reliability level of internal consistency. The reliability are shown in Table 5.7

Constructs	Number of the Measures	Cronbach's Alpha
Information Timeliness	3	0.872
Information Accuracy	3	0.774
Information Relevance	3	0.893
Information Completeness	4	0.822
Information Understandability	3	0.881
Value add Information	2	0.815
Review Quantity	2	0.898
Product Ranking	2	0.712
Information Sidedness	3	0.809
Information Consistency	2	0.732

Source Expertise	3	0.818
Source Trustworthiness	3	0.873
Information Usefulness	3	0.809
Information Adoption	3	0.882

5.2.6 KMO and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity

As a prerequisite step for Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA), it is necessary to conduct a Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test and Bartlett's test of sphericity. KMO measures whether the sample meets the criteria and is appropriate for conducting CFA in the next stage. Bartlett's test of sphericity highlights whether the sample can confirm the relationship between variables (Hair *et al.*, 2010). The KMO value should be at least 0.6 (Hair *et al.*, 2010), and values closer to 1 are considered excellent (Hinton *et al.*, 2014). Bartlett's test of sphericity should have a significant value at p <0.05 (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Table 5.8 shows the results of KMO and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity in this study. The KMO statistic is well above the recommended acceptable value of 0.6, as the obtained value is 0.806, and Bartlett's test of sphericity is significant at p<0.05. Therefore, the results confirm that the KMO and Bartlett's test values in this study exceed the minimum values required and the data are suitable for confirmatory factor analysis.

Test	Value
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy (KMO)	0.806
Barlett's Test of Sphericity Approx. Chi-Square	12285.51
Df	741
Sig	0.000

Table 5.8 KMO and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity

5.3 Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)

As mentioned in Chapter 4, the structural equation modelling (SEM) technique is used to test the measurement and structural equation models. According to Hair *et al.* (2010), SEM is a combination between factor analysis and a path model. A two-stage approach is recommended. Firstly, confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) known as measurement model using AMOS 20 is performed to confirm the relationship between the variables and their underlying theoretical constructs. Secondly, the casual relationships between variables as hypothesized are specific in the structural model between the variables.

5.3.1 Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA)

Confirmatory Factor analysis (CFA) was applied to assess the measurement properties of the scale. Anderson and Gerbing (1988) stated that confirmatory factor analysis is a technique use to test whether the theoretically imposed structure of the underlying constructs exist in the observed data. However, Hair *et al.* (2010) suggested that the validity of the CFA required as two stages (1) goodness of model fit indicated (2) Construct validity. Thus, this study considered these two stages to validate the confirmatory factor analysis.



Figure 5.1 Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) model

1
,

Madal	χ2 /df	GFI	AGFI	TLI	CFI	RMSEA
Widdei	1:3	≥ 0.80	≥ 0.80	≥ 0.90	≥ 0.90	< 0.05
CFA	1.513	0.932	0.913	0.968	0.973	0.028

5.3.2 Validity Test

Construct Validity Assessment

However, it is important to validating the CFA results to construct validity (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Construct validity defined as " the true measure of accuracy; this involve the extent to which the test actually measures the hypothetical construct or behavior it is designed to assess" (Maitland and Hannah, 2008, p. 203). To examine construct validity of the scales, this study used convergent and discriminant validity tests.

5.3.2.1 Convergent Validity

Hair *et al.* (2006, p. 771) defined convergent validity as " the extent to which indicators of a specific construct converge or share a high proportion of variance in common". In this study, convergent validity is examined by using (1) Factor loading which should be more than 0.50. (2) Composite reliability (C.R.) of at least 0.70. (3) The average variance (AVE) should be higher than 0.50. However, the results in this study were achieved as presented in the table 5.10, all the factor loading are above 0.50 (0.60 to 0.92). All C.R. are greater than 0.70 (0.732 to 0.899) and AVE are more than 0.50 (0.538 to 0.817), see Table 5.10

Construct	Measure	Factor loading	CR	AVE
Information Timeliness	TI1	0.89	0.874	0.699
	TI2	0.76		
	TI3	0.85		
Information Accuracy	AC1	0.66	0.779	0.542
	AC2	0.84		
	AC3	0.70		
Information Relevance	RE1	0.76	0.896	0.743
	RE2	0.91		
	RE3	0.90		

Table 5.10 Convergent validity

Information Completeness	COM1	0.72	0.823	0.538
	COM2	0.71		
	COM3	0.72		
	COM4	0.78		
Information Understandability	UN1	0.81	0.882	0.715
	UN2	0.90		
	UN3	0.83		
Value Add Information	VA1	0.84	0.818	0.692
	VA2	0.82		
Review Quantity	QU1	0.89	0.899	0.817
	QU2	0.92		
Product Ranking	RA1	0.60	0.743	0.601
	RA2	0.92		
Information Sidedness	SI1	0.80	0.811	0.589
	SI2	0.74		
	SI3	0.76		
Information Consistency	CON1	0.77	0.732	0.578
	CON2	0.75		
Source Expertise	EX1	0.7	0.827	0.617
	EX2	0.88		
	EX3	0.76		
Source Trustworthiness	TR1	0.75	0.877	0.705
	TR2	0.91		
	TR3	0.85		
Information Usefulness	US1	0.70	0.812	0.591
	US2	0.81		
	US3	0.79		
Information Adoption	AD1	0.75	0.887	0.724
	AD2	0.91		
	AD3	0.89		

Note : CR = Composite Reliability , AVE = Average Variance Extracted

5.3.2.2 Discriminant Validity

Hair *et al.* (2006, p. 771) defined discriminant validity as "the extent to which a construct is truly distinct from other construct". To assess the discriminant validity is to

compute the average variance extracted (AVE), the square root of AVE for each construct should be greater than any correlation between the tested construct and any other construct (Fornell and Larcker, 1981). The results confirmed that the criteria for discriminant validity had been met as presented in the table 5.11

Table 5.11 The results confirmed that the criteria for discriminant validity

	TR	TI	AC	RE	COM	UN	VA	QU	RA	SI	CON	EX	US	AD
TR	0.840													
ΤI	0.073	0.836												
AC	0.139	0.082	0.737											
RE	0.044	0.083	0.056	0.862										
COM	0.221	0.105	-0.063	0.051	0.734									
UN	0.387	0.121	0.188	0.104	0.365	0.846								
VA	-0.013	0.027	-0.075	0.033	0.338	0.360	0.832							
QU	0.271	0.115	0.178	0.058	0.313	0.425	0.230	0.904						
RA	0.093	0.139	0.030	0.133	0.074	0.225	0.194	0.121	0.775					
SI	-0.066	-0.049	0.013	0.030	-0.020	-0.047	-0.011	-0.122	0.015	0.767				
CON	0.189	0.048	0.100	0.036	0.086	0.291	0.058	0.341	0.181	-0.063	0.760			
EX	0.334	0.123	-0.035	-0.010	0.354	0.220	0.474	0.271	0.120	-0.065	0.130	0.786		
US	0.277	0.231	0.206	0.181	0.278	0.436	0.270	0.489	0.433	0.102	0.445	0.179	0.769	
AD	0.303	0.180	0.157	0.137	0.299	0.361	0.157	0.437	0.086	-0.101	0.313	0.234	0.429	0.851

Note: Bold elements are the square root of AVE for each variable

5.4 Multigroup Analysis

The main objective in this study is to compare consumers' adoption of information between two sample groups: Independent and E-merchants' websites. Multigroup analysis allows testing of the validity of the conceptual model and hypotheses, and it can be used to test moderating factors of path coefficients (Hair *et al.*, 2010). To test whether there are differences between two groups from the sample in the main phase and four groups in the extended phase, a multigroup analysis technique is performed (Kline, 2011). Nyaga *et al.* (2010) stated that multigroup analysis must be used if the set of items and the number of constructs are assumed to be the same across groups. Additionally, multigroup analysis is an appropriate method for group analysis and ultimately produces the results for two models (Bansel *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, this study performed multigroup analysis because our study met these assumptions. The measures of constructs are the same in both Independent and E-Merchants' websites, but the final results yield two models.

5.4.1 Multisample Confirmatory Factors Analysis

The results showed that factor loading all items in each websites were fairly high which means high correlation between the hypothesized factors and each item. The results in this study is achieved as presented in the table 5.12, all the factor loading from both of platforms are above 0.50 (Independent websites 0.62 to 0.94; E-Merchants' websites 0.62 to 0.97).

Independent websites	TI	AC	RE	СОМ	UN	VA	QU	RA	SI	CON	EX	TR	US	AD
TI1	0.93													
TI2	0.75													
TI3	0.91													
AC1		0.62												
AC2		0.86												
AC3		0.74												
RE1			0.75											
RE2			0.88											
RE3			0.93											
COM1				0.66										
COM2				0.70										
COM3				0.74										
COM4				0.77										
UN1					0.79									
UN2					0.91									
UN3					0.89									
VA1						0.83								
VA2						0.82								
QU1							0.86							
QU2							0.80							
RA1								0.62						
RA2								0.91						
SI1									0.91					
SI2									0.62					
SI3									0.64					
CON1										0.73				
CON2										0.74				
EX1											0.72			
EX2											0.86			
EX3											0.69			
TR1												0.72		
TR2												0.91		
TR3												0.82		
US1													0.68	
US2													0.81	
US3													0.77	
AD1														0.70
AD2														0.94
AD3														0.91

Table 5.12 MCFA Factor loadings

E-merchant websites	ΤI	AC	RE	COM	UN	VA	QU	RA	SI	CON	EX	TR	US	AD
TI1	0.82													
TI2	0.72													
TI3	0.78													
AC1		0.66												
AC2		0.85												
AC3		0.62												
RE1			0.77											
RE2			0.94											
RE3			0.88											
COM1				0.75										
COM2				0.75										
COM3				0.68										
COM4				0.70										
UN1					0.78									
UN2					0.84									
UN3					0.76									
VA1						0.88								
VA2						0.79								
QU1							0.97							
QU2							0.92							
RA1								0.62						
RA2								0.89						
SI1									0.72					
SI2									0.81					
SI3									0.87					
CON1										0.77				
CON2										0.69				
EX1											0.68			
EX2											0.88			
EX3											0.80			
TR1												0.77		
TR2												0.90		
TR3												0.86		
US1													0.65	
US2													0.78	
US3													0.73	
AD1														0.72
AD2														0.83
AD3														0.75

5.4.2 Testing Measurement Invariance

Many studies have suggested that measurement invariance testing in multigroup analysis is important toward assuring that the construct items remain the same across groups (Byrne *et al.*, 1989; Cheung and Rensvold, 2002). Therefore, this study performed the measurement invariance test. This refers to "the variance that is attributable to the measurement method rather than to the construct of interest" (Podsakoff and Organ, p. 897). In this study, Hair *et al.* (2010) steps are followed to conduct the four steps of measurement invariance. Firstly, the model fit indices should

be achieved. Secondly, multigroup analysis allows all factor loadings to be freely estimated (unconstrained). Thirdly, the factor loadings of all items for each construct are constrained to be equal across groups (Constrained). Finally, testing for multigroup invariance is carried out.

First of all, as a prerequisite step for invariance testing, model fit indices from CFA were conducted to test separately the validity of each sample to the baseline model. Fit indices for Independent and E-Merchants' websites showed a good fit. The results for GFI and AGFI are slightly less than ≥ 0.90 . However, the values ranges from 0.80 to 0.89 are indicative of reasonable fit (Doll *et al.*, 1994; Baumgartner and Homburg, 1996). Therefore, the value of GFI (0.876 and 0.885) and AGFI (0.842 and 0.853) are acceptable (Independent website: $\chi 2$ /df = 1.513, GFI= 0.876, AGFI = 0.842, TLI= 0.934, CFI= 0.945, RMSEA= 0.041; E-Merchants' website: $\chi 2$ /df = 1.343, GFI= 0.885, AGFI = 0.853, TLI= 0.953, CFI= 0.961, RMSEA= 0.033) see Table 5.13

Table 5.13 Fit Indices for measurement model (each group)

Model	χ2 /df 1:3	$\begin{array}{c} \text{GFI} \\ \geq 0.80 \end{array}$	AGFI ≥ 0.80	TLI ≥ 0.90	CFI ≥ 0.90	RMSEA <0.05
Independent websites: CFA	1.513	0.876	0.842	0.934	0.945	0.041
E-Merchants websites: CFA	1.343	0.885	0.853	0.953	0.961	0.033

Moreover, Abdullah *et al.* (2014) suggested that it is necessary to test overall model fit of baseline model between two groups before invariance testing in the future step (as show in table 5.9). It because Byrne (2004, p. 279) defined that " the fit of this simultaneously estimated model can provide the baseline value against which all subsequently specified models are compare".

The basic form of measurement invariance is named configural invariance. In this study, according to configural invariance, the numbers of factors are the same between the two groups but all parameters are freely estimated within each group. Therefore, if the model is rejected, this indicates inconsistencies within the data, as measurement invariance does not qualify at any basic level. If the model is accepted, it is considered as a strong form of measurement invariance. However, in this studies, all model fit indices for configural invariance were satisfied the recommended criteria as presented

in Table 5.14, χ^2 /df acceptable fit of 1.428 and above the minimum 1:3. The results of GFI (0.881) and AGFI (0.848) were accepted. The results of TLI, CFI were greater than the recommended of ≥ 0.90 (0.943 and 0.953 respectively) and RMSEA (0.026) also satisfied the recommended criteria of <0.05.

Previous studies have suggested that invariance tests should be processed with configural and metric invariance. Configural invariance (unconstrained) measures the equality of the factors' structures for the theoretical model across groups, whereas metric invariance (constrained) measures whether the factor loadings for each scale indicator are identical or equivalent across groups (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, all model fit indices satisfy the recommended criteria, χ^2 /df acceptable fit of 1.485 and above the minimum 1:3. The results of GFI (0.873) and AGFI (0.843) were accepted. The results of TLI, CFI were greater than the recommended of \geq 0.90 (0.935 and 0.945 respectively) and RMSEA (0.028) also satisfied the recommended criteria of <0.05 as shows in Table 5.14

To determine evidence of invariance, the difference in χ^2 between the configural invariance and the metric invariance should be examined. If the difference is statistically significant, this means that there is not equivalence across groups (Barbin *et al.*, 2016). However, Cheung and Rensvold noted that the difference in χ^2 values is sensitive to sample size and it may not be a practical and realistic measure of invariance (Cheung and Rensvold, 2002). Thus, we need to consider evidence of invariance on two criteria: (1) the multigroup model should fit as indicated to the data; (2) the difference in CFI value between the configural and the metric test should be less than the suggested threshold of 0.01 (Buttner and Goritz, 2008; Cheung and Rensvold, 2002).

The fit indices for configural and metric invariance are shown in Table 5.14. The computed difference between CFI in configural invariance (0.953) and metric invariance (0.945) was 0.008, which is less than 0.01: this suggests that the results support measurement invariance. The model is accepted, as there is equivalence across groups. It could be said that the factors of each indicator are constructed in the same way and have the same meaning in each group.

Table 5.14 Fit Indices for measurement invariance

Model	χ2 /df 1:3	GFI ≥ 0.80	AGFI ≥ 0.80	TLI ≥ 0.90	CFI ≥ 0.90	RMSEA <0.05	P value	ΔCFI
2 groups: Configural invariance	1.428	0.881	0.848	0.943	0.953	0.026		
2 groups: Matric invariance	1.485	0.873	0.843	0.935	0.945	0.028	<.05	0.008

5.5 Structural Model and Hypotheses Testing

Structural equation modelling (SEM) using multigroup analysis was employed as the analysis method to find the results (See Structural Model in figure 5.2). All model fit indices of the default model for structural were met the recommended criteria $\chi^2/df =$ 1.628, GFI= 0.925, AGFI = 0.906, TLI= 0.961, CFI= 0.967, RMSEA= 0.031) see table 5.15



Figure 5.2 Structural Model

Table 5.15 Fit Indices for structural model

χ_2/u	I ULI	AGFI	TLI	CFI	RMSEA
1:3	≥ 0.80	≥ 0.80	≥ 0.90	≥ 0.90	< 0.05
Structural model 1.628	3 0.925	0.906	0.961	0.967	0.031

All model of fit indices for structural in each group were satisfied the recommended criteria (Independent website: $\chi 2 / df = 1.535$, GFI= 0.871, AGFI = 0.838, TLI= 0.931, CFI= 0.942, RMSEA= 0.041; E-Merchants' website: $\chi 2 / df = 1.347$, GFI= 0.882, AGFI = 0.853, TLI= 0.952, CFI= 0.960, RMSEA= 0.033) see Table 5.16

Table 5.16 Fit Indices for structural model (each group)

Model	χ2 /df	GFI	AGFI	TLI	CFI	RMSEA
Model	1:3	≥ 0.80	≥ 0.80	≥ 0.90	≥ 0.90	< 0.05
Independent websites: structural	1.535	0.871	0.838	0.931	0.942	0.041
E-Merchants websites: structural	1.347	0.882	0.853	0.952	0.960	0.033

The model fit test of configural and metric invariance completes the assessment of measurement invariance in this study, (Configural invariance: $\chi 2$ /df = 1.441, GFI= 0.877, AGFI = 0.846, TLI= 0.941, CFI= 0.951, RMSEA= 0.026; Matric invariance: $\chi 2$ /df = 1.520, GFI= 0.867, AGFI = 0.839, TLI= 0.931, CFI= 0.940, RMSEA= 0.029) reported in Table 5.17. The computing the difference of $\chi 2$ and df between the two models and found it to be statistically significant (\leq .05). The model fit indicated confirmed that the model is appropriate and there are differences between the factors that have an influence on Independent and E-merchants' websites.

Table 5.17 Fit Indices for structural invariance

Model	χ2 /df 1:3	GFI ≥ 0.80	AGFI ≥ 0.80	TLI ≥ 0.90	CFI ≥ 0.90	RMSEA <0.05	P value
2 groups: Configural invariance	1.441	0.877	0.846	0.941	0.951	0.026	
2 groups: Matric invariance	1.520	0.867	0.839	0.931	0.940	0.029	<.05

5.5.1 Hypothesis Testing

The invariance test was statistically significant, indicating that the result was consistent effect by types of online review website. A detailed examination of Independent websites and E-Merchants' websites were implemented by constraining each structure parameter estimate in turn. Based on the structural model, the hypotheses were tested to

answer the research questions by examine the relationship through the standardised estimate, critical ratios and p-value were examined along with the model fit indices to assess all hypotheses structural model fits the data. A relationship is significant when critical ratio (t-value) greater than 1.96 and p value is \leq .05. Table 5.18 presented the results of path estimate of structural and hypothesis testing in the proposed conceptual model.

	Hypothesis	Estimate	S.E.	C.R.	P value	Finding
H1	H1a: TI> US	0.087	0.064	1.587	0.112	Not Supported
	H1b: TI> US	0.265	0.063	4.340	***	Supported
H2	H2a: AC> US	0.262	0.062	3.906	***	Supported
	H2b: AC> US	-0.031	0.055	-0.549	0.583	Not Supported
H3	H3a: RE> US	0.123	0.045	2.122	0.034	Supported
	H3b: RE> US	-0.04	0.030	-0.746	0.455	Not Supported
H4	H4a: COM> US	0.126	0.067	1.706	0.088	Not Supported
	H4b: COM> US	0.109	0.05	1.829	0.067	Not Supported
H5	H5a: UN> US	0.042	0.065	0.497	0.619	Not Supported
	H5b: UN> US	0.095	0.048	1.434	0.152	Not Supported
H6	H6a: VA> US	0.315	0.075	3.064	0.002	Supported
	H6b: VA> US	0.017	0.045	0.233	0.816	Not Supported
H7	H7a: QU> US	0.076	0.057	1.076	0.282	Not Supported
	H7b: QU> US	0.393	0.046	7.022	* * *	Supported
H8	H8a: RA> US	0.324	0.099	3.513	***	Supported
	H8b: RA> US	0.233	0.050	3.531	* * *	Supported
H9	H9a: SI> US	0.334	0.062	5.153	***	Supported
	H9b: SI> US	0.008	0.045	0.159	0.873	Not Supported
H10	H10a: CON> US	0.142	0.087	1.830	0.067	Not Supported
	H10b: CON> US	0.483	0.098	6.033	***	Supported
H11	H11a: EX> US	-0.091	0.058	-1.043	0.297	Not Supported
	H11b: EX> US	-0.169	0.026	-2.424	0.015	Not Supported

Table 5.18 Summary of the hypotheses assessment

H12	H12a: TR> US	0.094	0.051	1.223	0.221	Not Supported
	H12b: TR> US	0.173	0.030	2.764	0.006	Supported
H13	H13a: US> AD	0.186	0.060	2.876	0.004	Supported
	H13b: US> AD	0.348	0.061	4.968	***	Supported

Note: Estimate = Standardized Regression Weights (Path Estimate), S.E. = Standard Error, C.R.= Critical Ratio (t-value), P value = Significant value p < 0.05, *** = p < 0.001

For the variable relationships under central route processing (H1 to H6), the influence of Information Timeliness on information usefulness was not supported for Independent websites (H1a: $\beta=0.870$, t-value=1.587, p<0.112), but it was significant for E-Merchants' websites (H1b: $\beta=0.265$, t-value=4.340, p<0.05). The influence of Information accuracy on information usefulness was significant for Independent websites (H2a: β =0.262, t-value=3.901, p<0.05), whereas for E-Merchants' websites (H2b: β =-0.031, t-value=-0.549, p=0.583), it was not significant. The influence of Information Relevance on information usefulness was significant for Independent websites (H3a: $\beta=0.123$, t-value=2.122, p<0.05) but not significant for E-Merchants' websites (H3b: β=-0.040, t-value=-0.746, p=0.455). Unexpectedly, H4a (β=0.126, tvalue=1.706, p=0.088) H4b (β=0.109, t-value=1.829, p=0.067) and H5a (β=0.042, tvalue=0.497, p=0.619) H5b (β =0.095, t-value=1.434, p=0.152) with regard to the influence of Information completeness and Information understandability on information usefulness, were found to be non-significant for both Independent and E-Merchants' websites. However, the impacts of value-added information from independent websites was significant with regard to information usefulness (H6a: β =0.315, t-value= 3.064, p<0.05) but insignificant for E-Merchants' websites (H6b: $\beta = 0.017$, t-value= 0.233, p=0.816).

Continuing with the variable relationships under peripheral route processing (H7 to H12), the impact of Review quantity on Information usefulness was not significant for Independent websites (H7a: β =0.076, t-value= 1.076, p=0.282), but it was significant for E-Merchants' websites (H7b: β =0.393, t-value=7.022, p<0.05). The influence of Product ranking on information usefulness in H8a and H8b was significant for both Independent (β =0.324, t-value=3.513, p<0.05) and E-Merchants' websites (β =0.233, t-value=3.531, p<0.05). For H9a, the results support the influence of information sidedness on information usefulness for Independent websites (β =0.334, t-value=5.153,

p<0.05) but not for E-Merchants' websites (H9b: β=0.008, t-value=0.159, p=0.873). The influence of Information consistency on information usefulness was significant for E-merchants' websites (H10b: β=0.483, t-value=6.033, p<0.05) but insignificants for independent websites (H10a: β=0.142, t-value=1.830, p=0.067). For both types of website, the influence of source expertise on information usefulness was found to be non-significant (H11a: β=-0.091, t-value=-1.043, p=0.297, H11b: β=-0.169, t-value=-2.424, p<0.05). However, the influence of source trustworthiness on information usefulness was found to be significant for E-Merchants' websites (H12b: β=0.173, t-value=2.764, p<0.05), but was not significant for Independent websites (H12a: β=0.094, t-value=1.223, p=0.221). Finally, as expected, in H13a and H13b, Information usefulness had a positive significant effect on Information Adoption in both Independent and E-merchants' websites (β=0.186,t-value=2.876, p<0.05and β=0.348, t-value=4.968, p<0.05 respectively). Therefore, H13a and H13b are supported.

5.5.2 Cluster Analysis

This conceptual model also brings a new approach to information adoption by employing the level of consumer engagement. To extend the main study, which used two groups from the sample (i.e. consumers use of independent and e-merchants' websites), the level of consumers' engagement (low and high engagement) was added. Therefore, the two groups from the sample will be classified into four groups; low engagement with Independent websites, high engagement with Independent websites, low engagement with E-merchants websites and high engagement with E-merchants websites.

From reviewing the literature, this study extends the investigation of consumer behaviour by proposing to segment investigate consumer engagement levels into different groups based on different types of online review websites. In previous studies, researchers have used cluster analysis to segment group of consumers (e.g. Jih and Lee, 2003; Bhattnagar and Ghose, 2004; Underwood *et al.*, 2011; Mathwick, 2001; Ye *et al.*, 2011b; Kaye and Johnson, 2011; Vilnai-Yavetz and Tifferet, 2015).

Cluster analysis is usually used to segment data in the analysis process (Vilnai-Yavetz and Tifferet, 2015). Cluster analysis refers to "a convenient method for identifying

homogenous groups of objects called clusters. Objects (or in this case, observations) in a specific cluster share many characteristics, but are very dissimilar to objects not belonging to that cluster." (Mooi and Sarstendt, 2010, p. 238).

This study applied two-step cluster analysis, which is appropriate for statistical analysis, according to Babic *et al.* (2012), and Kaye and Johnson (2011), who suggested that this approach allows segmentation to form clusters based on categorical and continuous variables. It has the ability to successfully analyse enormous databases and the selection of the number of clusters is done automatically.

In this study, a two-step cluster analysis was used to identify groups of Thai travellers who were used Independent and E-merchants' websites, defined by consumer engagement, the frequency of reading/using online reviews and time spent reading OCRs on these websites. The data from the answers to questions 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 were entered into the two-step cluster analysis statistical procedure.

The clusters were generated using the log-likelihood distance measure two-step cluster analysis algorithm. The number of four clusters was fixed based on the level of engagement with online review websites in order to identify types of consumer behaviour among Thai travellers.

	Clust	ter 1	Clu	ster 2	Clu	ster 3	Clu	ster 4
	Ν	%	Ν	%	N	%	N	%
Website								
Independent website	168	100%	144	100%				
E-merchants website					151	100%	172	100%
Frequency								
Rarely	-	-	9	6.2%	-	-	2	1.2%
Sometimes	-	-	9	6.2%	78	51.7%	6	3.5%
Often	110	65.5%	12	8.3%	73	48.3%	14	8.1%
Very often	58	34.5%	45	31.2%	-	-	68	39.5%
Every time I plan trip	-	-	69	47.9%	-	-	82	47.7%
Time spend								
Less than 1/2 hour	14	8.3%	2	1.4%	30	20%	5	2.9%
From ¹ / ₂ to 1 hour	124	73.8%	19	13.2%	76	50%	10	5.8%
From 1 to 2 hours	27	16.1%	3	2.1%	42	27.8%	13	7.6%
From 2 to 3 hours	-	-	72	50%	-	-	66	38.4%
More than 3 hours	3	1.8%	48	33%	3	2%	78	45.3%

Table 5.19 Cluster groups of consumers

From the results, the four clusters differed in the numbers of participants they contained, as classified using the cluster analysis technique.

Cluster 1 Consumers who used Independent websites with low engagement. These consumers use the Independent websites and the majority of consumers use these websites often (65.5%) or very often (34.5%). Most of them spend less than 2 hours reading OCRs on the websites. Only 1.8% spend more than 2 hours reading OCRs.

Cluster 2 Consumers who used Independent websites with high engagement. These consumers use Independent websites every time (47.9%) or very often (31.2%) when making hotel reservations. More than half of them spend more than 2 hours reading OCRs on the websites (more than 80%).

Cluster 3: Consumers who used E-merchants websites with low engagement. These consumers use E-merchants' websites and the majority of consumers use these websites sometimes (51.7%) or often (48.3%). Most of them spend less than 2 hours reading OCRs on the websites. Only 2% spend more than 2 hours reading OCRs.

Cluster 4: Consumers who used E-merchants websites with high engagement. These consumers use E-merchants' websites very often (39.5%) or every time (47.7%) when making hotel reservations. Most of them spend more than 2 hours reading OCRs on the websites (more than 80%).



Figure 5.3: The results of the cluster analysis

The result of the cluster analysis was saved as a new variable to be used for multigroup analysis in the next sections.

5.5.3 Demographic Profile (groups of consumers)

In this section, Table 5.20 illustrates the demographic profile of respondents separately between groups of consumers. Results showed that majority of the respondents all groups were females (68.5%, 58.3%, 72.8% and 63.4% respectively). The results also showed more than half of the respondents from all groups were between the ages of 25-34 (61.9%, 57.6%, 73.5% and 65.7%). With regard to the education, Bachelor degree were largest proportion on Independent website (57.7% with low engagement and 50% with high engagement) whereas Master's degree or higher were largest response on E-Merchants' website (53% with low engagement and 51.2% with high engagement). Results of occupation indicated that the majority of respondents from all groups are falling in employed (51.8%, 52.8%, 68.9% and 58.1%).

	U	1	1		1	(\mathcal{O})	1		,
		Low engag	gement with	High enga	gement with	Low engag	gement with	High engag	gement with
Measure	Items	Independe	ent websites	Independent websites		E-merchai	nts websites	E-merchar	nts websites
		Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	53	31.5	60	41.7	41	27.2	63	36.6
	Female	115	68.5	84	58.3	110	72.8	109	63.4
	Total	168	100	144	100.0	151	100	172	100
Age	18-24	20	11.9	13	9.0	13	8.6	19	11
	25-34	104	61.9	83	57.6	111	73.5	113	65.7
	35-54	35	20.8	40	27.8	24	15.9	38	22.1
	55-64	8	4.8	7	4.9	3	2	2	1.2
	65 or above	1	0.6	1	0.7	0	0	0	0
	Total	168	100	144	100.0	151	100	172	100
Education	Up to high school	3	1.8	2	1.4	5	3.3	1	0.6
	Bachelor's degree	97	57.7	72	50.0	66	43.7	78	45.3
	Master's degree or higher	68	40.5	70	48.6	80	53.0	88	51.2
	Other	0	0	0	0.0	0	0	5	2.9
	Total	168	100	144	100.0	151	100	172	100
Occupation	Student	33	19.6	19	13.2	17	11.3	32	18.6
	Self employed	38	22.6	39	27.1	27	17.9	30	17.4
	Employed	87	51.8	76	52.8	104	68.9	100	58.1
	Unemployed	7	4.2	10	6.9	3	2	8	4.7
	Other	3	1.8	0	0.0	0	0	2	1.2
	Total	168	100	144	100.0	151	100.0	172	100

Table 5.20 Demographic profiles of respondents (groups of consumers)

5.5.4 Groups of Consumers

However, this study phase still needs to test the measurement model and the structural model, as in the main finding, in order to validate the model. Invariance tests must also be applied for multigroup analysis. In this part, model fit indices for configural invariance and matric invariance were met the recommended criteria (Configural invariance: χ^2 /df = 1.318, GFI= 0.809, AGFI = 0.757, TLI= 0.918, CFI= 0.932, RMSEA= 0.022; Matric invariance: χ^2 /df = 1.348, GFI= 0.799, AGFI = 0.755, TLI= 0.910, CFI= 0.923, RMSEA= 0.024) reported in Table 5.21.

As the results show, the values of GFI and AGFI are below the accepted indicated fit but close to 0.80. AGFI is adjusted from the GFI based on the degree of freedom; therefore, the values of AGFI and GFI are related (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007). AGFI and GFI tend to increase with sample size (Hooper, Coughlan and Mullen, 2008). In this section, the sample size in each group is quite low, and this might cause the low values of AGFI and GFI. Hu and Bentler (1999) noted that GFI and AGFI are considered as inferior model fit measures, and recommend examining other model fit indices instead, such as RMSEA or CFI, rather than considering only a standalone index. However, this study shows satisfactory model fit recommendations.

Table 5.21 Fit Indices for measurement invariance (Groups of consumers)

Model	χ2 /df 1:3	GFI ≥ 0.80	AGFI ≥ 0.80	TLI ≥ 0.90	CFI ≥ 0.90	RMSEA <0.05	P value	ΔCFI
4 groups: Configural invariance	1.318	0.809	0.757	0.918	0.932	0.022		
4 groups: Matric invariance	1.348	0.799	0.755	0.910	0.923	0.023	<.05	0.009

The difference of χ^2 and df between the four models was computed and the difference in CFI value between the configural and the metric test was 0.009 which less than the suggested threshold of 0.01 found to be not statistically significant. The conclusion is that the factor loadings are the same across both samples.

For structural invariance, the model fit indices were met the recommended criteria see table 5.22 (Configural invariance: χ^2 /df = 1.322, GFI= 0.805, AGFI = 0.756, TLI= 0.917, CFI= 0.930, RMSEA= 0.023; Matric invariance: χ^2 /df = 1.359, GFI= 0.793, AGFI = 0.752, TLI= 0.908, CFI= 0.919, RMSEA= 0.023). The lower of GFI and AGFI regards to sample size as discussed above section.

Model	χ2 /df 1:3	GFI ≥ 0.80	AGFI ≥ 0.80	TLI ≥0.90	CFI ≥ 0.90	RMSEA <0.05	P value
4 groups: Configural invariance	1.322	0.805	0.756	0.917	0.930	0.023	
4 groups: Matric invariance	1.359	0.793	0.752	0.919	0.919	0.023	<.05

Table 5.22 Fit Indices for structural invariance (Groups of engagement)

Moreover, the difference of χ^2 and df between the four models was computed and found to be statistically significant ($\leq .05$). This confirmed that the factors that have the different influence on information adoption between the four groups ; low engagement with Independent websites , low engagement with E-merchants websites, high engagement with Independent websites and high engagement with E-merchants websites are differences.

According to the rule of thumb, relationships are significant when the t-value is greater than 1.96 and the p-value is \leq .05. The results show that of the thirteen hypotheses (H14 to H26) in this section, seven hypotheses were significant for information usefulness in at least one in out of four groups and four hypotheses were not found to be significant in any groups. Two hypotheses were found to be significant in all groups. See table 5.23

	Hypothesis	Estimate	S.E.	C.R.	P value	Finding
H14	H14a: TI> US	0.082	0.019	1.038	0.299	Not supported
	H14b: TI> US	0.111	0.075	1.433	0.152	Not supported
	H14c: TI> US	0.343	0.077	3.568	***	Supported
	H14d: TI> US	0.206	0.104	2.519	0.012	Supported
H15	H15a: AC> US	0.237	0.081	2.636	0.008	Supported
	H15b: AC> US	0.394	0.111	3.312	***	Supported
	H15c: AC> US	0.032	0.096	0.353	0.724	Not supported
	H15d: AC> US	-0.079	0.073	-1.061	0.289	Not supported
H16	H16a: RE > US	0.156	0.064	1.885	0.059	Not supported
	H16b: RE> US	0.063	0.067	0.713	0.476	Not supported
	H16c: RE> US	0.039	0.044	0.468	0.64	Not supported
	H16d: RE> US	-0.078	0.04	-1.162	0.245	Not supported

Table 5.23 Summary of hypotheses assessment for groups of consumers

H17	H17a: COM> US	0.114	0.089	1.082	0.279	Not supported
	H17b: COM> US	0.061	0.119	0.539	0.59	Not supported
	H17c: COM> US	0.155	0.072	1.672	0.094	Not supported
	H17d: COM> US	0.021	0.061	0.268	0.789	Not supported
H18	H18a: UN> US	0.107	0.101	0.793	0.428	Not supported
	H18b: UN> US	0.027	0.097	0.219	0.827	Not supported
	H18c: UN> US	0.108	0.067	0.964	0.335	Not supported
	H18d: UN> US	0.122	0.07	1.427	0.154	Not supported
H19	H19a: VA> US	0.265	0.148	1.376	0.169	Not supported
	H19b: VA> US	0.395	0.096	2.807	0.005	Supported
	H19c: VA> US	0.014	0.071	0.113	0.91	Not supported
	H19d: VA> US	0.011	0.06	0.112	0.91	Not supported
H20	H20a: QU> US	0.102	0.076	1.057	0.29	Not supported
	H20b: QU> US	-0.061	0.094	-0.48	0.631	Not supported
	H20c: QU> US	0.415	0.071	4.249	***	Supported
	H20d: QU> US	0.373	0.062	5.316	***	Supported
H21	H21a: RA> US	0.312	0.105	2.863	0.004	Supported
	H21b: RA> US	0.328	0.139	2.798	0.005	Supported
	H21c: RA> US	0.266	0.072	2.319	0.02	Supported
	H21d: RA> US	0.209	0.065	2.32	0.02	Supported
H22	H22a: SI> US	0.282	0.078	3.402	***	Supported
	H22b: SI> US	0.439	0.1	4.258	***	Supported
	H22c: SI> US	-0.11	0.072	-1.285	0.199	Not supported
	H22d: SI> US	0.069	0.058	1.034	0.301	Not supported
H23	H23a: CON> US	0.09	0.118	0.891	0.373	Not supported
	H23b: CON> US	0.16	0.111	1.437	0.151	Not supported
	H23c: CON> US	0.331	0.134	3.141	0.002	Supported
	H23d: CON> US	0.548	0.141	5.098	***	Supported
H24	H24a: EX > US	-0.039	0.155	-0.217	0.828	Not supported
	H24b: EX> US	-0.102	0.049	-1.075	0.282	Not supported
	H24c: EX> US	-0.16	0.046	-1.278	0.201	Not supported
	H24d: EX> US	-0.135	0.034	-1.536	0.124	Not supported
H25	H25a: TR> US	0.15	0.081	1.315	0.189	Not supported
-----	--------------	-------	-------	-------	-------	---------------
	H25b: TR> US	0.049	0.068	0.439	0.66	Not supported
	H25c: TR> US	0.176	0.046	1.711	0.087	Not supported
	H25d: TR> US	0.164	0.04	2.1	0.036	Supported
H26	H26a: US> AD	0.181	0.081	2.044	0.041	Supported
	H26b: US> AD	0.195	0.086	2.114	0.035	Supported
	H26c: US> AD	0.361	0.097	3.25	0.001	Supported
	H26d: US> AD	0.365	0.078	3.998	***	Supported

Note: Estimate = standardized Regression Weights (Path Estimate), S.E. = Standard Error, C.R.= Critical Ratio (t-value), P value = Significant value, *** = p< 0.001

For the central route, Information timeliness was significantly related to information usefulness only for E-Merchants' websites in both of the low engagement and high engagement (H14c: β =0.343, t-value=3.568, p<0.05; H14d: β =0.206, t-value=2.519, p<0.05), but was not significant for the low engagement with Independent websites and high engagement with Independent websites (H14a: β =0.082, t-value=1.038, p=0.299; H14b: β =0.111, t-value=1.433, p=0.152).

Information accuracy was significantly related to information usefulness only for Independent websites in both of the low engagement and high engagement (H15a: β =0.237, t-value=2.636, p<0.05; H15b: β =0.394, t-value=3.312, p<0.05), but was not significant for the low engagement and high engagement with E-Merchants' websites (H15c: β =0.032, t-value=0.353, p=0.724; H15d: β =-0.079, t-value=-1.061, p=0.289). However, Value Added Information was significantly related to information usefulness only for the high engagement with Independent websites (H19b: β =0.395, t-value=2.807, p<0.05), and was not significant in other groups (H19a: β =0.265, t-value=1.376, p=0.169; H19c: β =0.014, t-value=0.071, p=0.91; H19d: β =0.011, t-value=0.112, p=0.91).

Information relevance (H16a: β =0.156, t-value=1.885, p=0.059; H16b: β =0.063, t-value=0.713, p=0.476; H16c: β =0.039, t-value=0.468, p=0.64; H16d: β =-0.078, t-value=-1.162, p=0.245), Information completeness (H17a: β =0.114, t-value=1.082, p=0.279; H17b: β =0.061, t-value=0.539, p=0.59; H17c: β =0.155, t-value=1.672, p=0.094; H17d: β =0.021, t-value=0.268, p=0.789) and information understandability (H18a: β =0.107, t-value=0.793, p=0.428; H18b: β =0.027, t-value=0.219, p=0.827; H18c: β =0.108, t-value=0.964, p=0.335; H18d: β =0.122, t-value=1.427, p=0.154) were not found to be significantly related to information usefulness in any of the groups.

For the peripheral route, the relationship between review quantity and information usefulness was found to be significant regarding information usefulness only for the low engagement and high engagement with E-merchants' websites (H20c: β =0.415, t-value=4.249, p<0.05; H20d: β =0.373, t-value=5.316, p<0.05) and was not significant for the low engagement and high engagement with Independent websites (H20a: β =0.102, t-value=1.057, p=0.29; H20c: β =-0.061, t-value=-0.48, p=0.631). Product ranking was significantly related to information usefulness and information adoption in all groups (H21a: β =0.312, t-value=2.863, p<0.05; H21b: β =0.328, t-value=2.798, p<0.05; H21c: β =0.266, t-value=2.319, p<0.05; H21d: β =0.209, t-value=2.32, p<0.05).

Information sidedness had a positive influence on information usefulness only for the low engagement and high engagement with Independent websites (H22a: β =0.282, t-value=3.402, p<0.05; H22b: β =0.439, t-value=4.258, p<0.05); it was not significant for the low engagement and high engagement with E-merchants websites (H22c: β =-0.11, t-value=-1.285, p=0.199; H22d: β =0.069, t-value=1.034, p=0.301). The relationship between information consistency and information usefulness was found to be significant only for the low engagement and high engagement with E-merchants websites (H23c: β =0.331, t-value=3.141, p<0.05; H23d: β =0.548, t-value=5.098, p<0.05), and was not significant for the low engagement and high engagement with Independent websites (H23a: β =0.09, t-value=0.891, p=0.373; H23b: β =0.16, t-value=1.437, p=0.151). More specifically, source expertise was found to have a negative influence on information usefulness (H24a: β =-0.039, t-value=-0.217, p=0.828; H24b: β =-0.102, t-value=-1.075, p=0.282; H24c: β =-0.16, t-value=-1.278, p=0.201; H24d: β =-0.135, t-value=-1.536, p=0.124). However, source trustworthiness was found to have a positive relationship with information usefulness only for the high engagement with E-merchants websites

(H25d: β =0.164, t-value=2.1, p<0.05) and was not significant in other groups (H25a: β =0.15, t-value=1.315, p=0.189; H12b: β =0.049, t-value=0.439, p=0.66; H12c: β =0.176, t-value=1.711, p=0.087). Finally, not surprisingly, information usefulness has a positive and significant relationship with information adoption in all four groups (H26a: β =0.181, t-value=2.044, p<0.05; H26b: β =0.195, t-value=2.114, p<0.05; H13c: β =0.361, t-value=3.25, p<0.05; H13d: β =0.365, t-value=3.998, p<0.05).

5.6 Chapter Summary

This chapter has presented the data analysis for this research. Two steps were carried out to test the relationships of the factors that influence information usefulness and information adoption in the proposed model. The sample of 635 was divided into two groups (312 users of Independent websites and users of 323 E-merchants' websites) to test these relationships through multigroup analysis. Moreover, the sample was further subdivided by cluster analysis into four groups to extend the study by adding the level of consumers' engagement as a moderator.

The outliers and normality were reported and the demographic profile and descriptive statistics of the sample were described. The test of reliability using Cronbach's alpha and the constructs achieved high reliability. CFA and MCFA were used to validate the measurement model. The validity of data (AVE and CR) was satisfied. However, in multigroup analysis, invariance tested is required. Finally, structural equation modelling was performed to test the research model. The final model outcomes in each section were provided. The next chapter discusses the results using the findings from the data analysis in this chapter in the light of related literature.

CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION

6.1 Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to discuss the results of the hypothesis testing and reflect upon the findings in relation to the existing literature. It provides more details on the validity of the measurement scales, followed by the results of the hypothesis testing. The results for each of the hypotheses and their significance are summarized. The discussion of the results is divided into two phases. First, the results from the main finding are discussed and the factors of OCRs that influence information adoption from independent and E-merchants' websites are identified. Thereafter, the chapter discusses the results from the second phase, extending from the main finding, which included consumer engagement as a moderator. The results of the hypothesis testing and discussion are provided. Finally, a summary is presented in the last section.

6.2 Measurement Scale Validity

Cronbach's alpha (α) is used to test the internal reliability of scale. As requirement, the value greater than 0.90 is excellent, the value between 0.70 and 0.90 is high reliability and the value between 0.50-0.70 is moderate and the value lower than 0.50 is low reliability (Hinton *et al.*, 2014). The results in this study presents high reliability for all constructs which highlights internal consistency of the scale (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, convergent and discriminant validity test was conducted to ensure whether the measurement of the constructs accurately represent the concept of interest. Convergent validity is assessing by factor loading, average variance extracted (AVE) and composite reliability (C.R.). As a rule of thumb, factor loading should be greater than 0.50, the value of AVE should be greater than 0.50 and C.R. value should be more than 0.70. The results in this study showed the exceeded value of the minimum requirement for factor loading, AVE and C.R. value. Discriminant validity is assessed by comparing AVE for each construct with the squared roots correlation between them. It satisfies when AVE is greater than squared correlation estimates between constructs. In sum, the scales of this study have presented the high level of validity and reliability.

6.3 Discussion of the Hypotheses Testing

The aim of this research is to identify the effects of OCRs' influence on information adoption in different types of online review websites (Independent and E-merchants' websites). The influences of these two different platforms have not previously been compared in the literature, although there is one major difference between them in terms of OCRs. Independent websites allow any reviewer to post reviews, while E-merchants' websites only allow customers who have bought products/services from them to provide reviews. For this reason, this study expected a significant difference between the influences of OCRs on information usefulness and information adoption from these platforms.

Consistent with this prediction, the results show some differences between independent and E-merchants' websites. Table 6.1 illustrates the results of thirteen hypotheses (H1 to H13)

	Hypothesis	Finding
H1	H1a: Information Timeliness from Independent websites has	Not Supported
	a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived	
	information usefulness.	
	H1b: Information Timeliness from E-merchants' websites	Supported
	has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived	
	information usefulness.	
H2	H2a: Information Accuracy from Independent websites has a	Supported
	positive significant influence on consumers' perceived	
	information usefulness.	
	H2b: Information Accuracy from E-merchants' websites has	Not Supported
	a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived	
	information usefulness.	

Table 6.1 Hypotheses testing for platforms

- H3 H3a: Information Relevance from Independent websites has Supported a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
 H3b: Information Relevance from E-merchants' websites has Not Supported a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
- H4 H4a: Information Completeness from Independent websites Not Supported has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
 H4b: Information Completeness from E-merchants websites Not Supported has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H5 H5a: Information Understandability from Independent Not Supported websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
H5b: Information Understandability from E-merchants' Not Supported websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H6 H6a: Value-Added Information from Independent websites Supported has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
H6b: Value-Added Information from E-merchants' websites Not Supported has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H7 H7a: Review Quantity from Independent websites has a Not Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
H7b: Review Quantity from E-merchants' websites has a Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

- H8 H8a: Product Ranking from Independent websites has a Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
 H8b: Product Ranking from E-merchants' websites has a Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
- H9 H9a: Review Sidedness from Independent websites has a Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
 H9b: Review Sidedness from E-merchants' websites has a Not Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
- H10 H10a: Review Consistency from Independent websites has a Not Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
 H10b: Review Consistency from E-merchants' websites has Supported a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H11 H11a: Source Expertise from Independent websites has a Not Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
H11b: Source Expertise from E-merchants' websites has a Not Supported positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H12 H12a: Source Trustworthiness from Independent websites Not Supported has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.
H12b: Source Trustworthiness from E-merchants' websites Supported has a positive significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness.

H13 H13a: Perceived information usefulness of Independent Supported websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' adoption of information
H13b: Perceived information usefulness of E-merchants' Supported websites has a positive significant influence on consumers' adoption of information.

6.3.1 Central Route and Information Usefulness

The results show that consumers prefer to adopt information processed via the central route from independent websites (*information accuracy, information relevance, value-added information*) compared to E-merchants' websites (*information timeliness*), and that the central route is significant when elaboration is high.

To be more specific, regarding the central route, this study has proposed that information timeliness has a positive influence on information usefulness only on E-merchants' websites. Meanwhile, information timeliness from independent websites was not significantly related to information usefulness.

The number of reviews on Independent and E-merchants websites has grown rapidly. Consumers may need the most up-to-date information about the products/services in their current state. For example, a number of reviews from the previous three months might complain about poor Wi-Fi connections, but in more recent reviews, no one is complaining about this issue. This suggests that the problem has been fixed. However, the difference result could relate to source of reviews from two types of platforms.

E-merchants websites allows only existing consumers to provide reviews after they have experienced services (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008). In fact, email will be sent to consumers to write the review after they stay. Therefore, the most up-to-date OCRs are provided by consumers who have just had the experience and the reader may find it useful to receive this up-to-date information from existing consumers (Xiang *et al.*, 2015b). The timeliness of information thus determines its usefulness and influences consumers' adoption decisions.

In contrast, these findings are consistent with those of Cheung *et al.* (2008), Jamil (2013) and Manthiou and Schrier (2014), who tested the impact of information timeliness on information usefulness in the context of online reviews and found that it did not have a significant influence. In particular, in this study, there may be two reasons for this. Firstly, OCRs on independent websites can come from any consumer who wishes to share their experience (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008). Therefore, the reader cannot be sure whether the reviews come from real consumers even if they provide up-to-date information. Secondly, people who need to write a review can go through the websites and provide reviews whenever they want. For example, they might have stayed at a hotel six months ago, but whenever they write their review, it will appear as up-to-date information. Therefore, readers cannot be sure of exactly when the reviewers had experienced the services reviewed.

Information accuracy is an important variable and this study has proposed that it has a positive influence on information usefulness only on independent websites. This may be due to the fact that consumers believe that the information comes from other consumers who have genuine experience with the products/services and they will adopt this information if it is in line with what they already know (Zhang and Watts, 2003). In contrast, OCRs from independent websites could come from anybody and readers cannot be sure that the information is accurate; therefore, while searching OCRs, they may read the reviews and check if the information matches their prior knowledge, and then judge whether the OCRs are accurate and useful. In contrast, information accuracy of OCRs on E-merchants' websites did not show a significant impact on information usefulness. This might be due to the fact that in some cases, readers did not have prior knowledge about products/services, making it difficult to judge whether the information is correct (Lehto et al., 2004; Doh and Hwang; 2009). In the context of this study, the readers know that OCRs from E-merchants' websites have come from existing consumers who have bought rooms and have experience with the products/services (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008), and might thus believe that those reviews are accurate. Hence, the comparison between the two different types of platforms indicates different dynamics in information adoption and processing which have not been fully explicated in the current scholarship.

The results of this study also show that the information relevance of OCRs on independent websites has a significant impact on information usefulness. This is in line with previous studies that have found a significant relationship between information relevance and information usefulness in online review context (Filieri and McLeay 2014; Jamil 2013, Chueng *et al.*, 2008). OCRs provide information on different experiences and there is a lot of information on the websites. Thus, the readers may only read reviews that match their specific needs. On the other hand, the information relevance of OCRs on E-merchants' websites did not show a significant impact on information usefulness. A probable explanation is that the relevance of information influences consumers' decision-making when they are presented with a choice (Zimmer *et al.*, 2010). This means that if there are a large number of OCRs on a website, readers may search only for the information they need, but if there is less information on the website, they may read all of it.

Moreover, Kaakinen *et al.* (2003) suggested that consumers adopt value-added information and actively seek the information that they need. This may help consumers to discover positive and negative information on hotel services from reviewers who are not connected with the hoteliers. Value-added information was not significant in the case of E-merchants' websites but had a significant impact on independent websites. This might be because the OCRs from independent websites are controlled by the consumers who provided the reviews (Gretzel *et al.*, 2007). There are a variety of reviews from consumers and they can express their opinions freely, without editing from web marketers. They can provide negative comments and hoteliers can only reply by commenting on their reviews. In contrast, OCRs from E-merchants' websites are controlled or monitored by web marketers. Therefore, consumers perceived the usefulness from value added information from Independent websites rather than E-merchants' websites.

Surprisingly, information completeness and information understandability were not found to have a significant relationship with information usefulness. This result matches those observed in a previous study by Filieri and McLeay (2014), who found that information completeness and information understandability did not affect information adoption in the context of OCRs. However, this study expands on the existing work by testing information completeness and information understandability with information usefulness. Information completeness and information understandability from OCRs did not influence consumers in either platform. A possible explanation for the finding that information completeness was not significant might be that these consumers have a set of criteria for making certain decisions. Perhaps due to a lack of interest or time, and/or to avoid complexity, consumers may choose to limit the range of required criteria. Information understandability may not be significant to information usefulness because consumers can use information even if the language is not clear. In fact, consumers do not necessarily look for clear language and/or grammatical perfection. In particular, according to the respondents in this study are from Thailand which is non-native English country. Therefore, it may be not much important from them to concern about clear language and/or grammatical perfection.

6.3.2 Peripheral Route and Information Usefulness

Meanwhile, the results show that consumers prefer to adopt information processed via the peripheral route *(review quantity, product ranking, review consistency* and *source trustworthiness)* from E-merchants' websites compared to Independent websites *(product ranking, review sidedness):* the peripheral route is significant when elaboration is low.

Review quantity was only significant on E-merchants' websites. As explained previously, reviews on E-merchants' websites are only provided by consumers who have actually bought products/services from these websites. The number of online reviews makes the reviews more noticeable to consumers (Cheung and Thadani, 2010); therefore, the volume of reviews may indicate the popularity of the hotel. Moreover, the number of reviewers may guarantee that the quality of the products/services is good. Thus, if the quantity of reviews is high, consumers consider the information to be useful. However, OCRs on independent websites can come from anyone, even from people who have never used the products/services but have received WOM from others. A large number of reviews might exist if hoteliers have hired fake customers to provide positive comments about their hotel (Dellarocas, 2003; Smith, 2013; Mauri and Minazzi, 2015). Consumers may believe that the volume of reviews may not reflect real consumers who have actually used these products/services; therefore, they might not

consider this information to be useful. Another possibility is that the number of reviews can be considered as a predictor, but consumers may prefer categorical information such as product ranking rather than the number of reviews (Filieri and McLeay, 2014; Filieri, 2015a).

Product ranking has an influence on consumers' information usefulness intention in both independent and E-merchants' websites and is consistent with the prediction. The relationship between product ranking and information usefulness is strongly significant. Product ranking is an important factor in the field of OCRs. This might be because product ranking could help to increase consumers' confidence in adopting the information (Schuckert *et al.*, 2015). In addition, ranking represents how consumers judge a particular product/service by using other consumers' evaluations (Filieri and McLeay, 2014). It is more reliable than single reviewers because the product ranking is computed from the average evaluation of all consumers (Filieri, 2015a). Hence, consumers may prefer to look at product rankings, which provide a shortcut in the elaboration process (Filieri, 2015a), rather than scrolling down to read all of the online reviews. In the case of independent websites such as TripAdvisor, consumers are likely to look at product rankings when searching for information to book a new hotel (Hajli, 2016). It is easier to notice and is numeric information which is derived from information on quality (Filieri, 2015a).

Review sidedness was another significant factor on independent websites. The existing literature suggests that negative reviews have a stronger effect than positive reviews (Xue and Zhou, 2010; Yang and Mai, 2010). The findings indicate that consumers need to consider both types of information (positive and negative). This result is similar to the finding from Chong and Ngai (2013) that both sides of reviews have positive relationships with information adoption. This may be because consumers can make a better decision if they know about both positive and negative aspects of a service. Furthermore, the availability of positive and negative information enhances the credibility and rigor of the review processes (Cheung *et al.*, 2009; Chong and Ngai, 2013). However, consumers have various concerns and differing priorities. For example, a review might provide positive comments about a hotel's good location, nice swimming pool and good Wi-Fi connection but then complain about its cleanliness.

very strict about cleanliness, and might thus reject this hotel. Therefore, consumers probably need to see both positive and negative comments.

Review consistency from E-merchants' websites also determines information usefulness. Consumers may need to read online reviews from different sources and perspectives to make informed decisions. Online reviews provide a lot of information and consumers need to skim through and assess the consistency of information from different reviewers. This is important because review consistency affects consumers' cognition (Zhang and Watts, 2008). However, the results particularly highlight the lack of a significant relationship between information consistency and information usefulness from independent websites. This might be because OCRs represent opinions from others and they might wish to find OCRs that reflect different opinions from other perspectives (Dellarocas *et al.*, 2006; Wooders, 2006).

Source trustworthiness was also a factor that influences perceptions of the usefulness of information and its subsequent adoption of E-merchants' websites. Consumers still focus on the sources of information, and trustworthiness is difficult to evaluate without knowing these sources. In online websites, personal details about information sources are limited (Bartel and Dutton, 2001). Thus, it is not easy to assess trustworthiness unless the source can be verified. As a minimum, consumers need to feel sure that the people providing reviews on E-merchants' websites have genuinely experienced the products/services that they are reviewing. This is why they consider source trustworthiness from E-merchants' websites to be useful and thereby consider adopting this information. In other words, the consumers may examine personal information to evaluate the credibility of a source and thus judge its OCRs as more useful (Forman et al., 2008). Tidwell and Walther (2002) noted that source effects can reduce consumers' uncertainty when they are searching for information in the online environment. In other words, information that provides the identity of the sender might be granted higher credibility when making decisions about its usefulness (Esfahani et al., 2016). However, source trustworthiness from independent websites does not have a significant impact on information usefulness. A possible explanation may relate to the fact that these websites allow anyone to provide a review simply by registering their email address (Xie et al., 2011; Mauri and Minazzi, 2015; Filieri 2015b). Therefore,

consumers do not feel comfortable about trusting the information from this source. A few previous researchers mentioned that TripAdvisor had been seen as a negative source of trustworthiness in a few cases; for example, it was criticised on a Chinese site because one of the reviewers provided 2,633 reviews within four years, whereas others only provided 1,361 within a whole year (Attwooll, 2014). Fili and Krizaj (2017) studied the credibility of the reviews in the case of TripAdvisor and mentioned that the slogan of the website, "reviews you can trust", and the claim that "all the reviews are from real travellers" had been withdrawn because British hoteliers had complained about the many fake reviews about their hotels and posted negative/terrible reviews about nearby rivals. Hence, it can be claimed that the unclear personal identity of sources affects the trustworthiness (Rains and Scotts, 2007). In addition, this finding reveals the E-merchants' websites are perceived to be more trustworthy than Independent websites, as Filieri (2016) suggested.

This study has also found that source expertise, a dimension of peripheral route processing, had no influence in either of the two platforms. This finding is in line with previous findings from Lui and Park (2015), who found that source expertise has no influence on information usefulness. A possible explanation for the lack of support for the relationship between source expertise and information usefulness might be because consumers look for source providers who share similar characteristics to them: this is known as homophily. Homophily is defines as "the degree to which pairs of individuals who interact are similar with respect to certain attributes such as beliefs, values, education social status (Roger and Bhowmil, 1970, p. 525). In online communication, homophily refers to the extent to which individuals are congruent or share similarities in attribute like age, gender and lifestyle (Thelwell, 2009). Additionally, Chu and Kim (2011) note that homophily not only refers to similar characteristics but also to perceived similarity in terms of shared values, preferences and lifestyle. Therefore, consumers may not look for information from experts; rather, they may search for reviews from others whose understanding/personality/lifestyle and preferences are similar to their own. Indeed, consumers may feel comfortable interacting with other consumers who have similar characteristics or preferences (McCroskey et al., 2006). For example, when consumers plan to make a reservation with children, they may not search for expert opinions but rather for information from other people who have stayed at the destination with their children. Additionally, Cheung *et al.* (2008) found that source expertise did not influence information usefulness. Their explanation provides to the result as it is difficult for consumers to evaluate whether information has been posted by an expert. Therefore, source expertise was not a factor that they considered to contribute to information usefulness.

6.3.3 Information Usefulness and Information Adoption

As discussed in Chapter 3, a number of previous studies have identified information usefulness as one of the predictors of information adoption (Sussman and Siegal, 2003; Cheung *et al.*, 2008; Lee *et al.*, 2007; Mathiou and Schrier, 2014; Erkan and Evans, 2016b). This finding is not surprising, and the results of this study are consistent with previous studies and provide further evidence that information usefulness is a strongly significant predictor of information adoption. This finding reveals that perceived information usefulness is important for consumers, as it encourages them to adopt information from both types of website. In other words, the results of this study suggest that hoteliers or service providers should focus on factors that encourage consumers' perceived usefulness and willingness to adopt information.



Figure 6.1: The result of information adoption from Independent websites



Figure 6.2: The results of Information Adoption from E-Merchants websites



Figure 6.3: The final result of information adoption for Independent and E-merchants websites

Clear differences between the influence of OCRs on independent and E-merchants' websites have emerged and this study has found significant results. Moreover, it has extended our knowledge of consumer behaviour by categorizing the sample into four groups according to the level of consumers' engagement with various platforms (independent and E-merchants' websites) which also provides interesting results. Table 6.2 illustrates the results for hypotheses H14 to H26. Four groups of consumers were examined to identify the factors that influence information usefulness and information adoption. The results for each hypothesis are discussed in the following sections.

	Hypothesis	Finding
H14	H14a: Information Timeliness has a positive significant	Not supported
	influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness	
	when consumer has low engagement using Independent	
	websites.	
	H14b: Information Timeliness has a positive significant	Not supported
	influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness	
	when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites	
	H14c. Information Timeliness has a positive significant	Supported
	influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness	
	when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants'	
	websites.	
	H14d: Information Timeliness has a positive significant	Supported
	influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness	
	when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants'	
	websites.	
H15	H15a: Information Accuracy has a positive significant	Supported
	influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness	
	when consumer has low engagement using Independent	
	websites.	
	H15b: Information Accuracy has a positive significant	Supported
	influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness	
	when consumer has high engagement using Independent	
	websites.	
	H15c: Information Accuracy has a positive significant	Not supported
	influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness	
	when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants'	
	websites.	

H15d: Information Accuracy has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H16 H16a: Information Relevance has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H16b: Information Relevance has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H16c: Information Relevance has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H16d: Information Relevance has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H17 H17a: Information Completeness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H17b: Information Completeness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H17c: Information Completeness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H17d: Information Completeness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H18 H18a: Information Understandability has a positive Not supported significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H18b: Information Understandability has a positive Not supported significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H18c: Information Understandability has a positive Not supported significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H18d: Information Understandability has a positive Not supported significant influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H19 H19a: Value-added information has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H19b: Value-added information has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H19c: Value-added information has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H19d: Value-added information has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H20 H20a: Review Quantity has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H20b: Review Quantity has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H20c: Review Quantity has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H20d: Review Quantity has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H21 H21a: Product Ranking has a positive significant influence Supported on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H21b: Product Ranking has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H21c: Product Ranking has a positive significant influence Supported on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

100

H21d: Product Ranking has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H22 H22a: Review Sidedness has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H22b: Review Sidedness has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H22c: Review Sidedness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H22d: Review Sidedness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H23 H23a: Review Consistency has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H23b: Review Consistency has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H23c: Review Consistency has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H23d: Review Consistency has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H24 H24a: Source Expertise has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H24b: Source Expertise has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H24c: Source Expertise has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H24d: Source Expertise has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H25 H25a: Source Trustworthiness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites.

H25b: Source Trustworthiness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites.

H25c: Source Trustworthiness has a positive significant Not supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H25d: Source Trustworthiness has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' perceived information usefulness when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

H26 H26a: Information usefulness has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' adoption of information when consumer has low engagement using Independent websites. H26b: Information usefulness has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' adoption of information when consumer has high engagement using Independent websites. H26c: Information usefulness has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' adoption of information when consumer has low engagement using E-merchants' websites H26d: Information usefulness has a positive significant Supported influence on consumers' adoption of information when consumer has high engagement using E-merchants' websites.

From the finding, the identification of online review websites and the level of consumers' engagement were integrated to build the NEP (The Nature of engagement and various platforms). The groupings that form the NEP matrix represent an extension from the main finding: this is why they will be presented with types of online review platforms (Independent and E-merchants' website). Cluster analysis produced four cluster which researcher termed *Quicker, Explorer*, *Confidant and Passionate*; identified name for each groups based on data attribute:

The NEP matrix is constructed with the types of online review website (Independent websites and E-merchants' websites) along the horizontal axis and the level of consumers' engagement (high vs. low) along the vertical axis, as shown in Figure 6.3



Figure 6.4 The NEP matrix

Levels of consumer engagement were categorized and found to have different way of assessing the two different platforms. The results indicated that peripheral route processing has a greater influence on consumers than central route processing in all groups of the NEP matrix; *Quicker, Explorer, Confidant and Passionate*.

Overall, as expected, *Quicker group* considered fewer factors compared to the other groups. In addition, they perceived information usefulness via the central and peripheral route (information accuracy, *product ranking and reviews sidedness*). The *Explorer and Confidant* groups adopted equal numbers of factors, but consumers in the *Explorer* group adopt OCRs equally in both the central route (*information accuracy and value-added information*) and the peripheral route (*product ranking and review sidedness*) whereas those in the *Confidant* group preferred to adopt OCRs via the peripheral route (*information timeliness*). Moreover, not surprisingly, the majority of consumers in the *Passionate* group are more likely to consider a large number of factors compared to other groups of consumers. Beyond expectations, consumers in the *Passionate* group prefer to consider OCRs via the peripheral route (*review quantity, product ranking, and trustworthiness*) rather than the central route (*information timeliness*).

6.3.4 Quicker

Consumers are those who have low engagement and search OCRs from Independent websites. The results propose that for this group, only three factors – namely information accuracy, product ranking and review sidedness – have a positive influence on information usefulness. Not surprisingly, these consumers relied on information under the peripheral route rather than the central route. This may be because they did not spend much time or effort on searching for information from OCRs; therefore, they only used shortcut cues when evaluating the usefulness of information. However, they consider information accuracy via central route. It might because they probably have knowledge about products/services before searching for information (Zhang and Watts, 2003). Therefore, they need to ensure that the OCRs are correct by comparing them to what they already know. In terms of peripheral route, product ranking and information sidedness has a strong relationship with information usefulness. In other words, they may consider product ranking and skim through the sidedness of OCRs.

This finding implies that this group was less likely to spend time considering factors and processing information from Independent websites. Compared with the other group of consumers, the *Quicker* group considered the lowest number of factors to be useful in determining their intention to adopt this information.



Figure 6.5 Quicker

6.3.5 Explorer

The current study found that information accuracy, value-added information, product ranking and review sidedness from consumers who have high engagement with independent websites all had directly significant effects on information usefulness in this group. Consumers in this group relied on the central route, in contrast to other groups, and considered information accuracy and value-added information. A possible explanation might be that as high engagement consumers, they spend more time reading and considering the OCRs (Sashi, 2012). As a result of their high engagement, they are likely to have more information in their minds. They probably have knowledge about products/services before searching for information. Thus, they need to ensure that the OCRs are correct by comparing them to what they already know, and they also appreciate perceived value-added information because they may need to update their information about products/services when they find something new, as it makes them feel useful.

However, product ranking and review sidedness under the peripheral route is considered to be consistent with the factors under the central route in order to see the overall picture of the information. This group is similar to the Quicker group in that if they spend less time reading the OCRs, they consider product ranking and review sidedness. It can be seen that when consumers search for OCRs from Independent websites, whether their engagement is high or low, product ranking and review sidedness are the basic factors that they consider. Compared with the other groups, *Explorer* was the only group to use the central route and the peripheral route in equal proportion, as they considered the information to be useful and adopted it.



Figure 6.6 Explorer

6.3.6 Confidant

This study has proposed that information timeliness, review quantity, product ranking, and review consistency have a significant positive effect on information usefulness in this group. These consumers prefer to use central route information only and consider information timeliness to assess whether information is up to date. Thereafter, they consider the information under the peripheral route, such as the number of reviews and the rankings of hotels on the websites, and then have a quick look through the reviews to assess their consistency. It can be seen that even if consumers have low engagement in terms of reading OCRs, they still consider the factors of OCRs on E-merchants' websites rather than the information from independent websites. A possible explanation may be related to the character of these websites, which provide OCRs from real consumers who have bought the products/services (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008); therefore, they may have a quick look through the information because they believe the OCRs to be useful.

This finding implied that the *Confidant* group favoured the peripheral route rather than the central route. The number of factors under the peripheral route is more significant in terms of information usefulness and information adoption if compared to the other groups - *Quicker and Explorer* - using Independent websites.



Figure 6.7 Confidant

6.3.7 Passionate

Interestingly, the results showed that consumers who have high engagement with Emerchants' website considered the OCRs factors as useful more than other groups. The empirical results of this study found that information timeliness, review quantity, product ranking, review consistency and source trustworthiness all had positive impacts on information usefulness. Unexpectedly, the findings showed that even though consumers in this group spend time reading the reviews, they consider factors under the peripheral route, such as review quantity, product ranking and source trustworthiness, rather than those under the central route, such as information timeliness. A possible explanation might relate to the nature of the websites (Gretzel and Yoo, 2008), which have more source credibility than independent websites, and also to the fact that consumers expend time and effort on reading the reviews.

Among the four clusters, this group presented the highest number of factors related to information usefulness and information adoption, and this difference was statistically significant. In terms of the characteristics of the platforms, E-merchants' websites can be considered as online review platforms that provide information from existing consumers. Also, more engagement might create more adoption of information (Imlawi, 2017). This might be why the Passionate group tended to spend time and effort in gathering and adopting as much information as possible.



Figure 6.8 Passionate

The final model of the NEP matrix revealed the following. It can be seen that all groups favoured the peripheral route rather than the peripheral route, whether from Independent or E-merchants' websites. As shown in Figure 6.9, for the central route, only three out of six factors were significant with regard to information usefulness and information adoption. Meanwhile, five out of six factors had a positive and significant effect on information usefulness and information adoption. Overall, information processed using the peripheral route appears to have been more influential than information processed using the central route, as it is easier to look through such information based on numeric and alternative short cuts. eWOM/OCRs from other opinions can represent others' beliefs and provide comments on whether products/services are good or bad: therefore, readers are motivated by such information, perceive it to be useful and adopt it.



Figure 6.9: The final result of information adoption for four groups of consumers (Quicker, Explorer, Confidant and Passionate)

The paragraphs above have discussed the relationships between factors that have positive influences on information adoption in the various groups. Nevertheless, there are still some factors which are not positively related to information adoption in any of the groups. When consumers are categorized into four groups based on low and high engagement with independent and E-merchants' websites, the results of this extended study are similar to those in the main study, revealing that information usefulness is not significantly affected by information completeness, information understandability or source expertise. It can thus be suggested that the level of consumers' engagement with both types of website does not affect information usefulness. The explanations for information completeness and information understandability should be similar to those offered in the main study, which highlighted that irrespective of the amount of time consumers spend on reading OCRs, they still do not take into account the completeness of information; nor are they concerned with understandability when reading OCRs. However, with regard to source expertise, it might be that when consumers search for information from others and find that they share similar characteristics with the author of a review, they are more likely to follow its advice (Forman, Ghose and Wiesenfeld, 2008). Therefore, perceived similarity between source and consumers might be more important than associating the source with expertise.

Interestingly, the significant interaction between information relevance and information usefulness found in the main study was not found in the extended section. This inconsistency can be explained by adding the level of consumers' engagement and types of review website, which influence consumers when they are looking for information from OCRs.

6.3.8 Information Adoption for Groups of Consumers

The findings in this section test the impact of information usefulness and information adoption according to the level of consumers' engagement with various online review websites. The empirical results of this study support the positive influence of information usefulness on information adoption. This extended section reveals that information usefulness from OCRs still possibly influences consumers' adoption of information when they are categorized groups of consumers according to their levels of engagement with various platforms. It also confirms and extends our knowledge of consumer behaviour. Information usefulness is an important antecedent to information adoption (Racherla and Friske, 2012). In other words, when people perceive that information is helpful, useful and valuable, they will have greater intention to adopt it (Jin *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, Christou and Kassianidis (2002) and Zheng *et al.*, (2009) cited information usefulness as a factor in consumers' adoption of information in a travel context. In this study, the results reveal that all types of consumers consider OCRs as useful and intend to adopt the information contained therein.

To conclude, it is understood that a number of factors pertaining to the OCRs influence consumers' decision making processes. The author investigates the influence of OCRs in different types of online platforms, and examines the factors that impact on consumers' information adoption and decision process. Current literature has not studied multiple platforms and compared and contrasted the differences. Given these concerns, the author added more factors (value-add information, review quantity, product ranking, review sidedness, information consistency) and assesses information usefulness as a mediating variable in the context of online review platforms. It refers to consumers' willingness to adopt information after they process online review in difference platforms. The findings suggestconsumers consider different factors from different online review websites.

Thereafter, this study added the level of consumers' engagement factors, low and high, to find the effects of the level of consumers' engagement with various platforms (Independent and E-merchants websites). The results of the current study confirm that to a certain extent, consumer engagement goes beyond information adoption knowledge, and that OCRs' constructs are moderated by consumer engagement to categorize the consumer groups. The moderation effect of consumer engagement in categorising the groups and analysing the results is an original contribution of this research. The empirical findings lend themselves to the construction and advancement of theoretical understanding. The NEP matrix, which represents the four groups of consumers, classified by the level of consumer engagement with various platforms, confirms that OCRs have different effects on information adoption within different groups.

6.4 Chapter Summary

This chapter has discussed the results according to the findings in the previous chapter. It began by discussing the validity of the measurement scale. Thereafter, each of the hypotheses and supporting results were discussed through considering previous literature. The discussion of the results has highlighted the factors that are significant for each of the two types of online review website (independent and E-merchants' websites) and for each of the four groups of consumers (as set out in the NEP matrix).

Evidently, information usefulness from OCRs is a strongly significant predictor of information adoption in both Independent and E-merchants' websites, and also for all groups of consumers in the NEP matrix.

The next chapter presents a summary of the research results and evaluates the findings according to the research objectives, discusses the theoretical and practical contributions and the limitations of this study and suggests future research directions.

CHAPTER SEVEN: CONCLUSION

7.1 Introduction

This final chapter aims to provide conclusions regarding the important areas covered in this study. The chapter will begin with a summary of research results, followed by evaluation of findings according to the research aim and objectives and a discussion of the achievement of each objective within the thesis. After that, it will present the key theoretical and practical contributions of this research. Finally, the limitations and future research directions of this research will be outlined.

7.2 Summary of Research Results

The focus of the theoretical model was to address the research question, which is "What factors of OCRs influence consumers' adoption of information?" The theoretical model provided the comprehensive factors from reviewing the main dimensions of OCRs and how they affect consumers' adoption of information. In previous studies, researchers have investigated OCRs from single platforms: thus, their models might be useful for OCRs but only in relation to those specific platforms. However, this study adds knowledge that presents the variation of antecedents based on different COPs. In order to answer the following research question, the current study needed to modify such a model to investigate the impact of OCRs information adoption in different platforms. Moreover, this study will advance the scholarship by identifying factors that vary in terms of consumer behaviour by using consumer engagement factors, segmenting groups of consumers. Therefore, this research proposed a theoretical framework for information adoption which added comprehensive factors of OCRs that can be investigated in any type of COP. It thus asked two further questions: "Do consumers' adoption criteria vary between COPs in terms of OCR factors?" and ".Do consumers' adoption criteria vary between groups of consumers in terms of OCR factors?" The theoretical model confirmed that the different types of online review websites affect consumers' adoption criteria. Moreover, the level of consumers' engagement with online review websites was categorized into four groups: these groups also have an impact on consumers' adoption criteria.

The conceptual model was validated through a survey of 635 respondents (312 users of Independent websites and 323 users of E-merchants' websites). Thereafter, this study extended the knowledge by clustering the sample into four groups; *Quicker* (168 participants in low engagement with Independent websites), *Explorer* (144 participants in high engagement with Independent websites), *Confidant* (151 participants in low engagement with E-merchants websites), and *Passionate* (172 participants in high engagement with E-merchants websites). Categorizes consumer type regarding the level of engagement and various platforms. Overall, this study clarifies the mechanism of consumers' information adoption from Independent and E-merchants' websites and, through extensive analysis, classifies the level of consumers' engagement with various platforms and at the end, introduce the NEP matrix from the perspective of ELM and Information adoption theories. It uses structure equation modelling and the multigroup analysis technique to collect and analyze data. The key results of this study are briefly presented below.

The results and analysis offer a new perspective towards analyzing the efficacy of online review platforms. Findings advance the knowledge on consumers' perceptions of the usefulness of information and their decisions to adopt the information. First of all, the perceived usefulness of information from both Independent websites and E-merchants' websites are found to be significant in consumers' adoption of information. This result is in line with prior studies (e.g. Erkan and Evans, 2016b; Cheung and Thadani, 2010; Sussman and Siegel, 2003) which stated that information usefulness has a strong and significant influence on consumers' decisions to adopt information from OCRs. There are differences in elaboration processing for perceived information usefulness in the role of the central route and the peripheral route in each platform. Consumers prefer to adopt information processed via the central route from independent websites compared to E-Merchants' websites; the central route (information accuracy, information relevance, value-added information) is significant when elaboration is high. This occurs when individuals make more effort to examine and evaluate arguments related to their experiences or link them to other materials. Meanwhile, for E-Merchants' websites, peripheral route processing (review quantity, product ranking, review consistency and source trustworthiness) of OCRs is more evident and consumers may evaluate
information by using easy processes or graphic information (e.g. numerical ranking).

- Moreover, this study contributes to the current literature by investigating the impact of the level of consumers' engagement with various platforms. This study confirms the predictions that the different groups of consumers are influenced by different OCR in the information adoption process. In all groups of consumers, they prefer to adopt information processed via the peripheral route rather than the central route, and Quicker; consumers who have low engagement and read the OCRs from Independent websites perceived the information usefulness via the central route (information accuracy) and peripheral route (product ranking and review sidedness). Explorer; consumers who have high engagement and read the OCRs from Independent websites are an exception, as they consider the central (information accuracy and value-added information) and the peripheral route (review sidedness and review consistency) equally when deciding whether to adopt information. Confidant; consumers who have low engagement and read OCRs from E-merchants' websites consider the peripheral route (review quantity, product ranking and review consistency) more than the central route (information timeliness). Similarity, Passionate; consumers who have high engagement and read OCRs from E-merchants' websites tend to use the peripheral route (review sidedness, review consistency and source trustworthiness) rather than central route (information timeliness).
- Furthermore, in this study, the factors that have an influence on the two types of tourism website and the groups of consumers type were found to be different. Only *product ranking* was found to have strong significance in both platforms and in the group of consumers. Consistent with existing research, this research verifies that the product ranking in the peripheral route is more useful in the information search stage than the central route (Beak, Ahn and Choi, 2012). In this respect, the findings are in line with Filieri and McLeay (2014) who claimed that product ranking has an impact on the consumer's perception when they receive the information. However, Filieri and McLeay did not consider information usefulness in their research. This research has combined and

developed a more holistic model by testing the relationship between product ranking and information usefulness as it is for the information adoption model. The results revealed that product ranking is a strong antecedent of information usefulness, since consumers regard it as as a stronger means of evaluation than the specific rating (Schuckert *et al.*, 2015).

• Finally, these research results reveal that consumers adapt their perceptions based on the information channel provided (Shan, 2016), and it should be highlighted that the information on peripheral route processing should be considered to facilitate consumers' evaluation of information usefulness during the information adoption process.

7.3 Evaluation of Findings According to the Research Aim and Objectives

The aim of this study is to identify and analyze the OCR factors that influence consumers' likelihood to adopt information from various platforms in the travel industry.

To achieve the research's aims, five research objectives were set. Table 7.1 illustrates each objective and the chapters in which the objectives were achieved.

Objectives	Achievement			
1. To identify the critical factors that influence consumers'	Chapter 2			
information adoption by reviewing the existing literature.				
2. To develop a theoretical model for information adoption	Chapter 3			
focusing on online consumer reviews for various types of online				
consumer review platforms, investigating their effects on				
information adoption criteria.				

Table 7.1	Objectives	of the study	y and their	achievement
-----------	------------	--------------	-------------	-------------

3. Segmenting groups of consumers with regard to their behavior	Chapter 3, 4, 5
to identify the key factors of OCRs and their effect on information	
adoption criteria.	
4. To empirically validate the theoretical model by assessing the	Chapter 4 and 5
hypotheses' relationships.	

5. To provide theoretical and practical contributions of the key Chapter 6 and 7 results and offering suggestions for future research directions.

Objective 1: To identify the critical factors that influence consumers' information adoption by reviewing the existing literature.

This objective was met in Chapter 2. A comprehensive and critical literature review was conducted, which highlighted the need for this research. The review focused upon the relationship between eWOM, OCRs, COPs, product types, the travel industry, the influence of OCRs on information adoption and the relationship between information usefulness and information adoption. It was also found from the literature that a number of factors (value-added information, review quantity, product ranking, review sidedness, review consistency) had not been tested with others in the same model and also had never been tested with information usefulness. There was still a need for further investigation. The present study observed this need and proposed the factors in the theoretical model. Additionally, the literature identified a lack of research that investigates consumers' engagement with OCRs and information adoption. The level of consumer engagement (low and high) related to various platforms was highlighted as moderating variables, as they affect consumers' information adoption. The theoretical foundation was drawn and discussed in this chapter. Limitations in the literature and calls for future studies were identified.

Objective 2: To develop a theoretical model for information adoption focusing on online consumer reviews for various types of online consumer review platforms, investigating their effects on information adoption criteria.

This objective was met in Chapter 3, which presented the factors of OCRs, information usefulness and information adoption. The theoretical model was developed based on the Information Adoption Model (IAM) through the inclusion of consumer processing via the central and peripheral routes, as proposed by the Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM). The chapter also presented the importance and relevance of the theories within OCRs, information usefulness and the information adoption domain. The theoretical model explains the effect of OCRs and information usefulness on information adoption from online review websites (Independent and E-merchants' websites). Thirteen hypotheses (H1 to H13) were developed and supported using the existing literature.

Objective 3: Segmenting groups of consumers with regard to their behaviour to identify the key factors of OCRs and their effect on information adoption criteria.

This objective was met in chapter 3 and 4. The extends of the knowledge from finding by segmenting to categorising groups of consumers according to the level of consumer engagement (low and high) with various platforms (Independent and E-merchants' websites) to characterize the impact of OCRs on information usefulness and information adoption for each consumer groups. Thirteen hypotheses (H14 to H26) were developed from previous relevant literature to identify the key factors that influence information adoption in chapter 3. Cluster analysis employed to identify groups of consumers in chapter 4 and 5.

Objective 4: To empirically validate the theoretical model by assessing the hypotheses' relationships.

This objective was met in Chapters 4 and 5. The research methodology used in carrying out this research was presented in Chapter 4 in order to provide justification and support for the chosen research methodology, design, approach and method. Chapter 5 then presented the findings derived using the SEM technique with multigroup analysis. The results of the preliminary data analysis, demographic profile, reliability and validity tests, confirmatory factor analysis, multisample confirmatory factor analysis, invariance tests, structural model and the tests of hypotheses were presented.

Objective 5: To provide theoretical and practical contributions of the key results and offering suggestions for future research directions.

This objective was met in Chapters 6 and 7. The results of this study were discussed in Chapter 6 in light of the existing literature. Chapter 7 summarizes the research results and concludes the study by revisiting the aim and objectives. It then presents the theoretical and practical contributions. Thereafter, research limitations and further research directions are provided.

7.4 Research Contributions

This research provides a number of contributions for both academics and practitioners.

7.4.1 Theoretical Contributions

Theoretically, the major contribution of this study is developing a comprehensive theoretical model identifying the determinants of eWOM information on online review websites. The model was developed based on the integration of IAM and related components of ELM. The ELM can explain the process of influence and its impact on consumers' perceptions and behaviour as well as why every consumers has different outcomes (Bhattacherjee and Sanford, 2006). IAM can explain how people are affected by the information on computer-mediated communication platforms (Sussman and Siegel, 2003). The rationale for selecting these theories is that the IAM can be used to understand how people form an intention to adopt knowledge and related behaviour (Sussman and Siegel, 2003), while the ELM can be used to explain the persuasive power of eWOM (Petty and Cacioppo, 1983). The current paper brings in an original effort to identifying information adoption decisions for two different types of platforms. To the best of the author's knowledge, this is the first attempt to introduce and compare between two different characteristics of websites; Independent and E-merchants' websites in the same industry. For example, Erkan and Evans (2016a) have recently compared information adoption across various electronic platforms. However, their study compared social media such as Facebook, which has different appeals, utilities and engagement compared to independent websites and E-merchants' websites. This study, in contrast, looks into the differences between two types of platform that have

stronger and more direct relations with the travel industry, particular in the hospitality sector.

While this represents a significant novel effort, the thesis also addresses a knowledge gap in the relevant field by combining two different models. At one end, we can see the seminal article of Filieri and McLeay (2014), which identifies and assesses the factors that contribute to information adoption decisions; at the other end, we can see other researchers (Sussman and Siegel, 2003; Cheung et al., 2008; Erkan and Evans, 2016b) spelling out the influence of information usefulness on information adoption without delineating the key factors that contribute to the actual perception of the usefulness of information. This doctoral thesis merges the two equally fascinating and insightful streams of research in order to obtain a more holistic understanding that can advance the scholarship on both OCRs and the travel industry particular in hospitality sector. It is now further reconfirmed that the perception of 'usefulness' and its constructs are variable and complex. There is a dearth in scholarly works that take a comprehensive perspective on the adoption of OCRs to identify these factors that influence consumers' perceived information usefulness and intention to adopt the information. People define and perceive usefulness in different ways. While considering OCRs, the constructs have different natures and inter-relations. This study has investigated these aspects so that a better and more holistic understanding of consumers' interactions with consumer online review websites can be obtained.

This research also expands on the knowledge in the literature in terms of consumer behaviour by introducing the NEP matrix (Nature of engagement with various platforms). In previous literature, researchers have not specifically investigated the level of consumer engagement in the way that this study has done. This is the first study to identify consumer segments based on consumer engagement with various types of COPs.The important benefit of employing consumer engagement for segmentation is that this study shows that consumer engagement can be used as a predictor for consumers' adoption of information. One of the novel contribute of this study is that it empirically tests the influence of the level of consumer engagement with the OCRs generated from various online platforms on information adoption. In fact, the NEP matrix represents four groups of consumers, classified by the level of consumers' engagement (low and high) with various platforms (Independent websites and E- merchants' websites). In order to understand the variations between consumers in terms of consumer engagement and information processing, they were tested together using multigroup analysis. The results revealed that the levels of consumer engagement with different types of online review websites have an impact on consumers' adoption criteria.

This study makes a theoretical contribution that establishes the factors in central and peripheral route processing. Some factors in the central route (value-added information) and the peripheral route (review quantity, product ranking, review sidedness and review consistency) have never been tested with information usefulness in the tourism context. The results found these factors resulting from different online reviews websites have an impact on information adoption. Value-added information, product ranking and review sidedness have a positively significant effect on the adoption of information from Independent websites, whereas review quantity, product ranking and review consistency have a positively significant effect on the adoption from E-merchants' websites.

Another interesting contribution is that product ranking is the most significant factor in both Independent and E-merchants' websites and all groups of the NEP matrix. Moreover, the results highlight that information completeness and information understandability in the central route and source expertise in the peripheral route were not significant for either type of consumer review website (Independent and Emerchants' websites) or for any of the groups in the NEP matrix. Additionally, there are inconsistencies between the main study and the extended section. Information relevance has a positively significant effect when investigating its influence on information adoption from different online review websites. In contrast, it does not influence information adoption in any groups from the NEP matrix.

Finally, this study provides a greater understanding of OCRs with different types of consumer review websites and different groups in the NEP matrix, validating factors which might have an effect from Independent or/and E-merchants' websites and the level of consumers' engagement with various platforms on information adoption in the tourism context. It also forms a sound basis for future research.

7.4.2 Practical Contributions

Practically, this research provides a comprehensive understanding of OCRs, information usefulness and information adoption in the travel industry – specifically the hospitality sector – and the main factors that encourage or discourage readers of specific online review platforms (Independent websites and E-Merchants websites). Also, the researcher conducted cluster analysis to identify consumer segments based on consumer engagement and various types of online review websites. The level of consumer engagement (low, high) and various types of COP variables were used for cluster analysis so this study obtained difference segments. Therefore, the result could create groups of consumers to allow marketers to develop targeting strategies. It categorizes four groups of consumers (NEP matrix) who have different backgrounds and different likelihoods to perceive the reviews (*Quicker, Explorer, Confidance and Passionate*). This contributes to our understanding of key factors affecting the needs of consumers who read online consumer reviews in this particular context.

According to Saha and Theingi (2009, p. 354) defined consumer feedback as "the transmission of negative information (complains) or positive information (compliments) to providers about service used". OCRs is feedback which provided by consumers and very useful for marketers (Torres et al., 2015). OCR can be used by hoteliers and service providers to obtain perspectives from consumers' insights free of charge (Kusumasondjaja, 2015). This research offers a number of practical contributions to enable hoteliers and other tourism service providers to learn how to deal with OCRs in various platforms, and to monitor and respond to these OCRs. For instance, although product ranking is important in both platforms and all groups of consumers, the quantity of information has more influence for E-merchants. Hence, hoteliers must work on both objective ranking and subjective aspects of their service deliveries. More qualitative comments from previous customers should be encouraged for E-merchants' websites. As consumers actively look for both positive and negative information, it is important that hoteliers constantly monitor negative feedback and focus on how to overcome these issues in their marketing communication materials (Wei et al., 2013). Again, due to the apparent limited influence of source expertise, hoteliers should actively promote the experiences of their previous customers in general marketing communications.

Moreover, the results from categorizing the groups of consumers can help marketers to better understand online consumers and thus to develop better marketing strategies. A better understanding of the heterogeneity among their consumers will allow them to provide customized goods/services to specific groups of consumers based on their need (Ye *et al.*, 2011b). For instance, managers should differentiate their communication strategy to adapt to the differing needs of each segment. They should decide which segment they should target. Additionally, hotel marketers need to be aware of the effects of these factors on the development of marketing strategies by considering consumers' expectation from OCRs (Erkan and Evans, 2016a).

In practice, hoteliers should monitor and address OCRs from consumers' online reviews websites because they serve as testimony to others who need to search for hotel information. Most reviewers provide intensive reviews and elaborate information, which might affect the hotel's image. Indeed, consumers use these platforms as communication channels; therefore, hoteliers can also respond through these channels: for example, they could thank reviewers for positive comments or apologise for dissatisfying experiences. This means that hoteliers should build strong relationships with consumers by taking advantage of COPs (Noone *et al.*, 2011 and Fili and Krizaj, 2017).

Moreover, hoteliers could use the information from online reviews to discuss and improve their services because the information is directly from consumers (Torres *et al.*, 2014). This study provides useful pointers regarding consumer segmentation, which can be used by managers in understanding each group of consumers and providing employees with direction in terms of how to serve their customers. For example, several departments in the hotel could use information from OCRs to improve their strategies and bring them into line with consumers' preferences, developing products and services to meet consumers' demands. With regard to consumer segmentation, from the perspective of hoteliers and service providers, the main concern is to separate consumers according to their preference to the each target groups (Kohijoki and Marjanen, 2013).

Public relations and marketing is one key department that should make use of the information from online reviews. They can use this information to create marketing

strategies in order to determine ways in which communication strategies can be enhanced in terms of achieving information usefulness and information adoption. In particular, from categorized the groups of consumers, it helps marketers to do business intelligence. In fact, they may develop their marketing strategies based on the perspectives of various platforms and also each type of consumers to distribute their information to their consumers via different routes. In addition, marketers could develop a review format in which consumers can provide their reviews in a more structured way that is easier to notice (Shan, 2016). For example, trustworthiness should be more in Booking.com. The results showed that trustworthiness is strongly significant to the *Passionate* group: therefore, marketers should use this to their advantage in advertisements and promotions, emphasising that their reviews can be trusted because of the source of reviewers. Sales and marketing can also use information from OCRs, such as product ranking, to set goals and boost satisfaction with services. Further, room division services could use the comments from OCRs to provide services that exceed expectations the next time.

With regard to the findings from this research, product ranking is of strong significance in both Independent and E-merchants' website and affects readers who have both low and high engagement. This means that readers will be likely to adopt product ranking as valuable information. However, product ranking indicates overall satisfaction with services: therefore, hoteliers need to make sure that they provide a good experience to consumers so that they will create good comments, which are related to ranking.

7.5 Limitations and Future Research Directions

In the realm of academic research, the study makes several important contributions to the existing body of knowledge, but some limitations are unavoidable. The results of this study are subject to certain limitations and it also provides a number of areas where future research would be valuable to academics and practitioners.

First, the sampling method used to collect online questionnaire responses was snowball sampling: this sampling technique might have introduced a level of non-completion and selection bias. However, this limitation did not compromise the integrity of this study,

because incomplete questionnaires were excluded from the analysis. In addition, researcher believes selection bias is minimal because all participants were chosen satisfy to participations criteria. Future studies should use other sampling technique to approach participants to achieve a balance sample structure.

Second, sample size should be considered when using multigroup analysis. This research provided two phases of findings: in the first phase, the sample was divided into two groups, and in the second phase, the same sample was divided into four groups. When the total sample was divided into smaller groups, some goodness of fit indices, namely GFI and AGFI, might not meet the recommenced criteria. However, this limitation also did not cause a problem in this study because other goodness of fit indices still provided an acceptable fit. Future research should consider a larger sample size when using multigroup analysis.

Third, the conceptual framework was mainly tested on Thai consumers; therefore, the findings provide a limited understanding that is only from Thai consumers' perspective and it would not be irrational to assume that some of the factors might have different levels of influence in other cultures, or for other demographic groups. The results might be different according to the lifestyle and cultures of different countries. Additionally, the conceptual framework has been tested and validated only in the travel industry, and specifically in the hospitality sector. It would be interesting to examine the generalizability of the framework by replicating this framework in other industries to test its validity in future studies.

Fourth, this study only focuses on Independent and E-merchants' websites, but there are various other types of consumer online review platforms. Hence, future research should replicate and extend this study to other types of online review platform, such as social media and mobile applications, to make future improvements to the theoretical framework.

Furthermore, Yan *et al.* (2016) studied the impact of multiple channels of OCRs on consumer decision-making by considering the inter-relationship between the adoption of e-commerce and social media based on the cognitive cost theory. Consumers are

simultaneously facing both types of OCRs from these two kinds of platforms. They followed the scenario that consumers were using information from e-commerce and then social media. Their study found that if OCRs from e-commerce can help consumers to make a decision, they would not prefer to use OCRs from social media. In contrast, if they could not make a decision after having searched for information from e-commerce, then they would turn to social media. However, the present study focuses only on Independent and E-merchants' websites as separate entities. Therefore, future research could investigate the interactive process between Independent websites and E-merchants' websites, which was not examined in this study.

The NEP matrix, a conceptual model, was developed based on the integration of the IAM and related components of the ELM. Future research could develop the NEP matrix by incorporating other possible constructs or replicating it in different COPs.

Moreover, it could further investigate insight the groups of consumer perspective (NEP matrix) by using qualitative approach such as in-depth interview to explain the understanding the social phenomenon.

Segmenting groups of consumers in this research is an extended area of study. Therefore, future studies should replicate this model but classify groups of consumers to understand each group more fully, considering control variables such as age, gender and education. For example, age has been found to have a significant effect on consumers' information processing (Philips and Sternthal, 1977), attitudes and behaviour (Kohijoki and Marjanen, 2013).

Future research may want to extend the conceptualization of comparing group analysis in terms of the different relationships between significant variables across two groups (Independent and E-merchants) or more groups (NEP matrix). For example, the hypothesis should be set that the positive effect of product ranking on information usefulness is stronger for Independent websites than for E-merchants' websites. REFERENCES

- Abdullah, A., Marzbali, M. H., Woolley, H., Bahauddin, A. and Maliki, N. Z. (2014)
 'Testing for Individual Factors for the Fear of Crime Using a Multiple Indicator-Multiple Cause Model', *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, 20(1), pp. 1-22.
- Ahluwalia, R. (2002) 'How prevalent is the negativity effect in consumer environments?, *Journal of Consumer Research*, 29, pp. 270–279.
- Ajzen, I. (1991) 'The theory of planned behavior', Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), pp. 179–211.
- Akehurst, G. (2009) 'User generated content: the use of blogs for tourism organisations and tourism consumers', *Service Business*, *3*(1), pp. 51-61.
- Alarcon-del-Amo, M. D. C., Lorenzo-Romero, C. and Gomez-Borja, M. A. (2011) 'Classifying and profiling social networking site users: A latent segmentation approach', *Cyberpsychology, behavior, and social networking*, 14(9), pp. 547-553.
- Alasuutari, P., Bickman, L. and Brannen, J. (2008) *The SAGE handbook of social research methods*. Sage Publications.
- Alenezi, H., Tarhini, A. and Sharma, S.K. (2015) 'Development of quantitative model to investigate the strategic relationship between information quality and egovernment benefits', *Transforming Government: People, Process and Policy*, 9(3), pp. 324–351.
- Algesheimer, R., Dholakia, U. M. and Herrmann, A. (2005) 'The social influence of brand community: Evidence from European car clubs', *Journal of marketing*, 69(3), pp. 19-34.
- Allsop, D.T., Bassett, B.R. and Hoskins, J.A. (2007) 'Word-of-mouth research: Principles and applications', *Journal of Advertising Research*, 47(4), pp. 398– 411.

- Amaratunga, D., Baldry, D., Sarchar, M. and Newton, R. (2002) 'Quantitative and qualitative research in the built environment: application of mixed research approach', *Work Study*, 51 (1), pp. 17-31.
- Amblee, N. and Bui, T. (2011) 'Harnessing the influence of social proof in online shopping: The effect of electronic word of mouth on sales of digital microproducts', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 16(2), pp. 91-114.
- Anderson, C. (2012) 'The impact of social media on lodging performance', Cornell Hospitality Report, 12(5), pp. 4-12.
- Anderson, J. C. and Gerbing, D.W. (1988) 'Structural equation modeling in practice: a review and recommended two step approach', *Psychological Bulletin*, 103, pp. 411-423
- Anderson, E.W. and Salisbury, L.C. (2003) 'The formation of market level expectations and its covariates', *Journal of Consumer Research*, pp.115-124.
- Andreassen, T. W., and S. Streukens (2009) 'Service innovation and electronic word-ofmouth: Is it worth listening to?', *Management Service Quality*, 19 (3), pp. 249-65.
- Armstrong, J.S., and Overton, T.S. (1977) 'Estimating nonresponse bias in mail surveys', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 14 (August), pp.396-402.
- Arndt, J. (1967) 'Role of Product Related Conversations in the Diffusion of a new Product', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 4(3), pp. 291–295.
- Ashill, N. J. and Jobber, D. (1999) 'The impact of environmental uncertainty perceptions, decision-maker characteristics and work environment characteristics on the perceived usefulness of marketing information systems (MkIS): A conceptual framework', *Journal of Marketing Management*, 15(6), pp. 519-540.
- Assaf, A. G., Josiassen, A., Cvelbar, L. K. and Woo, L. (2015) 'The effects of customer voice on hotel performance', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 44, pp. 77-83.

- Atkinson, R. and Flint, J. (2001) 'Accessing hidden and hard-to-reach populations: snowball research strategies', *Social Research Update*, 33, pp. 1-5.
- Attwooll, J. (2014) TripAdvisor's China website comes under re. *The Telegraph*. Retrieved from http:// www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/destinations/asia/china/ articles/TripAdvisors-China-website-comes-under - re/
- Awad, N. F. and Ragowsky, A. (2008) 'Establishing trust in electronic commerce though online word of mouth: An examination across genders', *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 24(2), pp.101-121.
- Ayeh, J.K. (2015) 'Consumers' acceptance of consumer-generated media: An integrated model of technology acceptance and source credibility theories', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 48, pp. 173–180.
- Babbie, E. (2015) The practice of social research. Cengage Learning.
- Babic, V., Vancetovic, J., Prodanovic, S., Andjelkovic, V., Babic, M. and Kravic, N. (2012) 'The identification of drought tolerant maize accessions by two-step cluster analysis', *Rom Agric Res*, 29, pp. 53-61.
- Babin, B. J., Borges, A. and James, K. (2016) 'The role of retail price image in a multicountry context: France and the USA', *Journal of Business Research*, 69(3), pp. 1074-1081.
- Bae, J. and Kim, B. (2013) 'Is the electronic word of mouth effect always positive on the movie?', *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 17(1), pp. 61-78.
- Bae, S. and Lee, T. (2011) 'Product type and consumers' perception of online consumer reviews', *Electronic Markets*, 21(4), pp. 255-266.
- Baek, H., Ahn, J. and Choi, Y. (2012) 'Helpfulness of online consumer reviews: Readers' objectives and review cues', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 17(2), pp. 99-126.

- Baek, H., Oh, S., Yang, H. D. and Ahn, J. (2017) 'Electronic word-of-mouth, box office revenue and social media', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 22, pp. 13-23.
- Bagozzi, R. P. (1984) 'A prospectus for theory construction in marketing', *The Journal* of Marketing, pp. 11-29.
- Bagozzi, R., Gurhan-Canli, Z. and Priester, J. (2002) *The social psychology of consumer behaviour*. UK: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Bailey, J. E. and Pearson, S. W. (1983) 'Development of a tool for measuring and analyzing computer user satisfaction', *Management science*, 29(5), pp. 530-545.
- Baker, M. (2003) 'Data Collection-Questionnaire Design', *The Marketing Review*, pp.343-370.
- Baldus, B.J., Voorhees, C. and Calantone, R. (2014) 'Online brand community engagement: scale development and validation', *Journal of Business Research*, 68 (5), 978–985.
- Bansal, G., Zahedi, F. M. and Gefen, D. (2016) 'Do context and personality matter? Trust and privacy concerns in disclosing private information online', *Information and Management*, 53(1), pp. 1-21.
- Bansal, H., and Voyer, P. (2000) 'Word-of-mouth processes within a services purchase decision context', *Journal of Service Research*, 3 (2), pp.166–178.
- Barnes, S. J., Bauer, H. H., Neumann, M. M. and Huber, F. (2007) 'Segmenting cyberspace: A customer typology for the Internet', *European Journal of Marketing*, 41, (1/2), pp. 71–93.
- Barry,C.L. and Schamber,L. (1998) 'Users' criteria for relevance evaluation: A crosssituational comparison', *Information processing and Management*, 34(2-3), pp. 219-236.

- Bartel, C. and Dutton, J. (2001) 'Ambiguous organizational memberships: Constructing organizational identities', Social identity processes in organizational contexts, pp. 115-130.
- Bartikowski, B. and Walsh, G. (2014) 'Attitude contagion in consumer opinion platforms: posters and lurkers', *Electronic Markets*, 24(3), pp. 207-217.
- Baruch Y and Holton BC (2008) 'Survey response rate levels and trends in organizational research', *Human Relations*, 81(8), pp. 1139–60.
- Bateman, J. (1998) 'Changes in relevance criteria: A longitudinal study', *In Proceedings of the 61st annual meeting of the American society for information science*, 35, pp. 23-32).
- Baumgartner, H. and Homburg, C. (1996) 'Applications of Structural Equation Modeling in Marketing and Consumer Research: a review', *International Journal* of Research in Marketing, 13(2), pp. 139-161.
- BBC (2014) *Why is Thailand under military rule?*. Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-25149484 (Accessed: 7 January 2015).
- Bearden,W.O. and Rose,R.L. (1990) 'Attention to social comparison information: an individual difference factors affecting consumer conformity', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 16(4), pp.461–471.
- Becker, J. and Niehaves, B. (2007) 'Epistemological perspectives on IS research: a framework for analysing and systematizing epistemological assumptions', *Information Systems Journal*, 17(2), pp. 197-214.
- Benckendorff, P., Sheldon, P.J. and Fesenmaier, D.R. (2014) *Tourism Information Technology*, 2nd edn. London: CABI
- Benfield, J.A. and Szlemko, W.J. (2006) 'Internet-based data collection: promises and realities', *Journal of Research Practice*, 2(2), p.1.

- Berger, J. (2014) 'Word of mouth and interpersonal communication: A review and directions for future research', *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 24(4), pp. 586-607.
- Bergman, M. J. D. (2006) 'The impact of completeness and web use motivation on the credibility of e-health information', *Journal of Communication*, 54 (2), 253-269.
- Bhatnagar, A. and Ghose, S. (2004) 'A latent class segmentation analysis of e-shoppers', *Journal of Business Research*, 57, pp. 758–767.
- Bhattacherjee, A. and Sanford, C. (2006) 'Influence processes for information technology acceptance: An elaboration likelihood model', MIS Quarterly, 30(4), pp.805–825.
- Bickart, B. and Schindler, R.M. (2001) 'Internet forums as influential sources of consumer information', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 15(3), pp.31-40.
- Bissell, D. (2012) 'Mobile testimony in the information age: The powers of travel reviews', *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 15(2), pp. 149–164.
- Black, T.R. (1999) Doing quantitative research in the social sciences: An integrated approach to research design, measurement and statistics. Sage Publications
- Blal, I. and Sturman, M.C. (2014) 'The differential effects of the quality and quantity of online reviews on hotel room sales', *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 55(4), pp. 365-375.
- Blythe, J. (2000) Marketing Communications. Edinburgh: FT Prentice-Hall.
- Bone, F. (1995) 'Word of mouth Effects on short term and long term product judgments', *Journal of Business Research*, 32(2), pp. 213-224.
- Bone, P.F. (1995) 'Word-of-mouth effects on short-term and long-term product judgments', *Journal of Business Research*, 32(3), pp. 213-223.

- Borgatti, S. P., and Cross, R. (2003) 'A relational view of information seeking and learning in social networks', *Management science*, 49(4), pp.432-445.
- Boritz, J. E. (2005) 'IS practitioners' views on core concepts of information integrity', *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, 6(4), pp. 260-279.
- Bose, I. and Chen, X. (2010) 'Exploring business opportunities from mobile services data of customers: An inter-cluster analysis approach', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 9(3), pp. 197-208.
- Boush, D. M. and Kahle, L. (2002) 'Evaluating negative information in online consumer discussions: From qualitative analysis to signal detection', *Journal of Euromarketing*, 11(2), pp. 89-105.
- Bowden, J.L.H. (2009) 'The process of customer engagement: a conceptual framework', *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 17 (1), pp. 63–74.
- Brace I. (2008) *Questionnaire design: how to plan, structure and write survey material for effective market research.* London: KoganPage.
- Breazeale, M. (2009) 'Word of mouse: an assessment of electronic word-of-mouth research', *International Journal of Market Research*, 51 (3), pp.297–319.
- Brengman, M., Geuens, M., Weijters, B., Smith, S. M. and Swinyard, W. R. (2005) 'Segmenting Internet shoppers based on their web usage-related lifestyle: A cross-cultural validation', *Journal of Business Research*, 58 (1), pp. 79–88.
- Brodie, R. J., Ilic, A., Juric, B. and Hollebeek, L. (2013) 'Consumer engagement in a virtual brand community: An exploratory analysis', *Journal of Business Research*, 66(1), 105-114.
- Brodie, R.J., Hollebeek, L.D., Juric, B. and Ilic, A. (2011) 'Customer engagement: conceptual domain, fundamental propositions, and implications for research', *Journal of Service Research*, 14 (3), pp. 252–271.

- Bronner, F., and Hoog, R. (2011) 'Vacationers and eWOM: who posts, and why, where, and what?', *Journal of Travel Research*, 50(1), pp.15-26.
- Brown, J. and Reingen, P. (1987) 'Social Ties and Word-of-Mouth Referral Behavior', Journal of Consumer Research, 14(3), pp. 350–362.
- Brown, J., Broderick, A.J. and Lee, N. (2007) 'Word of mouth communication within online communities: Conceptualizing the online social network', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 21(3), pp. 2–20.
- Brown, J.J. and Reingen, P.H. (1987) 'Social Ties and Word-of-Mouth Referral Behavior', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 14(3), pp. 350-362.
- Brown, R. D., Braskamp, L. A. and Newman, D. L. (1978) 'Evaluator Credibility as a Function of Report Style Do Jargon and Data Make a Difference?', *Evaluation Review*, 2(2), pp. 331-341.
- Browning, T. (2002) 'Process integration using the design structure matrix', Systems Engineering, 5 (3), pp. 180-93.
- Bryman, A. (2012) Social Reasearch Mehtods. 4th edn. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A., and Bell, E. (2007) *Business research methods*. 2nd edn. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2011) *Business research methods*. 3rd edn. New York: Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2015) *Business research methods*. 4th edn. New York: Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Buhalis, D., and Licata, M. C. (2002) 'The Future eTourism Inter- mediaries', *Tourism Management*, 23 (3), pp. 207-220.
- Burke, R. R., Rangaswamy, A. and Gupta, S. (1999) Marketing research in the digital age, *MIS working paper*.

- Burrell, G. and Morgan, G. (1979) Sociological Paradigm and Organizational Analysis: Elements of the Sociology of Corporate Life. Heinemann, London.
- Burton, D. (2000) Research training for social scientists: a handbook for postgraduate researchers. Sage Publications.
- Butler, R. W. (1980) 'The concept of a tourist area cycle of evolution: implications for management of resources', *The Canadian Geographer/Le Géographe canadien*, 24(1), pp. 5-12.
- Buttle, F. A. (1998) 'Word of mouth: understanding and managing referral marketing', *Journal of strategic marketing*, 6(3), pp. 241-254.
- Buttner, O.B. and Goritz, A.S. (2008) 'Perceived trustworthiness of online shops', *Journal of Consumer Behavior*, 7(1), pp. 35-50.
- Byrne, B. M. (1998) Structural Equation Modelling with LISREL, PRELIS and SIMPLIS: Basic Concepts, Applications and Programming. Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Byrne, B. M. (2004) 'Testing for multigroup invariance using AMOS graphics: A road less traveled', *Structural Equation Modeling*, 11(2), pp. 272-300.
- Byrne, B. M. (2008) 'Testing for multigroup equivalence of a measuring instrument: A walk through the process', *Psicothema*, 20(4), pp. 872-882.
- Byrne, B. M. (2010) *Structural equation modeling with Amos: Basic concepts, applications, and programming.* 2nd edn. New York: Taylor and Francis Group.
- Byrne, B. M., Shavelson, R. J. and Muthén, B. (1989) 'Testing for the equivalence of factor covariance and mean structures: The issue of partial measurement invariance', *Psychological bulletin*, 105(3), pp. 456.

- Byrne, B.M. (2006) Structural Equation Modeling with EQS: Basic Concepts, Applications and Programing. 2nd edn. New York: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cabiddu, F., Carlo, M. D. and Piccoli, G. (2014) 'Social media affordances: Enabling customer engagement', *Annals of Tourism Research*, 48, pp. 175-192.
- Cabiddu, F., Lui, T. W. and Piccoli, G. (2013) 'Managing value co-creation in the tourism industry', *Annals of Tourism Research*, 42, pp. 86-107.
- Cakir, F. and Cetin,A. (2013) 'The effects of word of mouth communication on the Consumers' travel agency choices', *International Journal of Business and Management studies*, 5(1),pp. 1309-8047.
- Calder, B.J., Malthouse, E.C. and Schaedel, U. (2009) 'An experimental study of the relationship between online engagement and advertising effectiveness', *Journal* of Interactive Marketing, 23,pp. 321–331.
- Canhoto, A.I. and Clark, M. (2013) 'Customer service 140 characters at a time the users' perspective', *Journal of Marketing Management*, 29(5-6), pp. 522–544.
- Cantallops, A. S. and Salvi, F. (2014) 'New consumer behavior: A review of research on eWOM and hotels', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 36, pp. 41-51.
- Cantoni, L. and Tardini, S. (2010) 'The Internet and the Web', in Albertazzi, D. and Cobley. P. (eds) *The media. An introduction*. New York: Longman, pp. 220-232.
- Carl, W. J. (2006) 'What's all the buzz about? Everyday communication and the relational basis of word-of-mouth and buzz marketing practices', *Management Communication Quarterly*, 19(4), pp. 601-634.
- Carmines, E.G. and Zeller, R.A. (1979) *Reliability and validity assessment*, Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.

- Carson, D., Gilmore, A., Perry, C., and Gronhaug, K. (2001) *Qualitative marketing research*. London: Sage Publications.
- Chaffey, D. (2008), "Customer engagement definition", available at: www.davechaffey.com/Emarketing-Glossary/Customer-engagement.htm (Accessed 9 March 2016).
- Chaiken, S. (1980) 'Heuristic versus systematic information processing and the use of source versus message cues in persuasion', *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 39(5), pp. 752.
- Chaiken, S. and Eagly, A. H. (1976) 'Communication modality as a determinant of message persuasiveness and message comprehensibility', *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 34(4), pp. 605.
- Chaiken, S. and Trope, Y. (1999) *Dual-process theories in social psychology*. Guilford Press.
- Chaiken, S., A. Liberman, and A. H. Eagly (1989) 'Heuristic and Systematic Information Processing within and Beyond the Persuasion Context', in Uleman, J. S. and Bargh, J. A (Eds.) Unintended Thought, New York: Gilford Press, pp. 212-252.
- Chaipinit, W. and Phetvaroon, K. (2011) 'Motivation and Behaviour of Thai Outbound Tourists to Europe', *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality and Culinary Arts*, 3(1), pp. 99–109.
- Chan, T. K., Zheng, X., Cheung, C. M., Lee, M. K. and Lee, Z. W. (2014) 'Antecedents and consequences of customer engagement in online brand communities', *Journal of Marketing Analytics*, 2(2), pp. 81-97.
- Chan, Y.Y.Y. and Ngai, E.W.T. (2011) 'Conceptualising electronic word of mouth activity: An input-process-output perspective', *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 29(5), pp. 488–516.

- Chang, H. H., and Wu, L. H. (2014) 'An examination of negative e-WOM adoption: Brand commitment as a moderator', *Decision Support Systems*, 59, pp. 206-218.
- Chatterjee, P. (2001) 'Online reviews: do consumers use them?', *Advances in Consumer Research*, 28, pp. 129-133.
- Chau, M. and Xu, J. (2012) 'Business intelligence in Blogs: Understanding consumer interactions and communities', *MIS Quarterly*, 36(4), pp. 1189-1216.
- Chau, P.Y.K. (2000) ' Impact of information presentation modes in online shopping: An empirical evaluation of broadband interactive shopping service', *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce*, 10 (1), pp. 1-21.
- Chaves, M.S., Gomes, R. and Pedron, C. (2012) 'Analysing reviews in the Web 2.0: small and medium hotels in Portugal', *Tourism Management*, 33 (5), pp. 1286-1287.
- Chen Y.C., Shang R.A. and Li M.J. (2014) 'The effects of perceived relevance of travel blogs' content on the behavioral intention to visit tourist destination', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 30, pp. 787-799.
- Chen, C. D. and Ku, E. C. (2012) 'Building Member's Relationship Quality Toward Online Community From The Elaboration Likelihood Model Perspective', *PACIS2012 Proceedings*.
- Chen, H.Y. and Boore, J. (2009) 'Translation and back-translation in qualitative nursing research: methodological review', *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 19, pp. 234–239.
- Chen, P. Y., Dhanasobhon, S. and Smith, M. D. (2008) 'All reviews are not created equal: The disaggregate impact of reviews and reviewers at amazon. Com', Working paper. in: Heinz, H., III (Eds.), *School of Public Policy and Management*. Carnegie Mellon University, pp. 1–29.
- Chen, P. Y., Wu, S. Y. and Yoon, J. (2004) 'The impact of online recommendations and consumer feedback on sales', *ICIS 2004 Proceedings*, paper 58.

- Chen, S. (2011) 'Understanding the effects of technology readiness, satisfaction and electronic word-of-mouth on loyalty in 3C products', *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, 1(3), pp. 1-9.
- Chen, S. and Chaiken, S. (1999) 'The heuristic-systematic model in its broader context' *Dual-process theories in social psychology*, 15, pp. 73-96.
- Chen, Y. and Xie, J. (2008) 'Online consumer review: Word-of-mouth as a new element of marketing communication mix', *Management Science*, 54(3), pp. 477-491.
- Chen, Y. F. (2008) 'Herd behavior in purchasing books online', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(5), pp. 1977-1992.
- Chen, Y., Shang, R. and Li, M. (2014) 'The effects of perceived relevance of travel blogs' content on the behavioral intention to visit a tourist destination', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 30, pp. 787-799.
- Cheng, S., Lam, T. and Hsu, C.H.C., (2006) 'Negative word-of-mouth communication intention: an application of the theory of planned behavior', *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 30, pp. 95–116.
- Cheng, V.T.P. and Loi, M.K. (2014) 'Handling negative online customer reviews: the effects of elaboration likelihood model and distributive justice', *Journal of Travel* & *Tourism Marketing*, 31(1), pp. 1-15.
- Chern, C. C., Wei, C. P., Shen, F. Y. and Fan, Y. N. (2015) 'A sales forecasting model for consumer products based on the influence of online word-of-mouth', *Information Systems and e-Business Management*, 13, pp. 445-473.
- Cheung, C. M. K. and Lee, M. K. O. (2005) 'The Asymmetric Effect of Website Attribute Performance on Satisfaction: An Empirical Study', 38th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS 2005) Proceedings.
- Cheung, C. M. Y., Sia, C. L. and Kuan, K. K. (2012) 'Is this review believable? A study of factors affecting the credibility of online consumer reviews from an ELM perspective', *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 13(8), pp. 618.

- Cheung, C. M., Shen, X. L., Lee, Z. W. and Chan, T. K. (2015) 'Promoting sales of online games through customer engagement', *Electronic Commerce Research* and Applications, 14(4), pp. 241-250.
- Cheung, C.M. and Lee, M.K. (2012) 'What drives consumers to spread electronic word of mouth in online consumer-opinion platforms', *Decision Support Systems*, 53(1), pp. 218-225.
- Cheung, C.M., Lee, M.K. and Rabjohn, N. (2008) 'The impact of electronic word- ofmouth: The adoption of online opinions in online customer communities', *Internet Research*, 18(3), pp. 229-247.
- Cheung, C.M.K. and Thadani, D.R. (2012) 'The impact of electronic word-of-mouth communication: A literature analysis and integrative model', *Decision Support Systems*, 54(1), pp. 461–470.
- Cheung, C.M.K., Lee, M.K.O. and Jin, X. (2011) 'Customer engagement in an online social platform: a conceptual model and scale development', *International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS 2011) Proceedings.*
- Cheung, G. W. and Rensvold, R. B. (2002) 'Evaluating goodness-of-fit indexes for testing measurement invariance', *Structural equation modeling*, 9(2), pp. 233-255.
- Cheung, M. Y., Luo, C., Sia, C. L. and Chen, H. (2007) 'How do people evaluate electronic word-of-mouth? Informational and normative based determinants of perceived credibility of online consumer recommendations in China', *PACIS* 2007 Proceedings.
- Cheung, M.Y., Luo, C., Sia, C.L. and Chen, H. (2009) 'Credibility of Electronic Wordof-Mouth: Informational and Normative Determinants of On-line Consumer Recommendations', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 13(4), pp. 9– 38.
- Cheung, R. (2014) 'The influence of electronic word-of-mouth on information adoption in online customer communities', *Global Economic Review*, 43(1), 42-57.

- Chevalier, J.A. and Mayzlin, D. (2006) 'The effect of word of mouth on sales: Online book reviews', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 43(3), pp. 345-354.
- Chiang, K. P. and Dholakia, R. R. (2003) 'Factors driving consumer intention to shop online: an empirical investigation', *Journal of Consumer psychology*, 13(1), pp. 177-183.
- Chiou, J. S. and Cheng, C. (2003) 'Should a company have message boards on its web sites?', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 17(3),pp. 50-61.
- Choi, J. W. and Ok, C. (2011) 'The Effect of Online Restaurant Reviews on Diners' Visit Intention: A Comparative Analysis of Expert vs. Peer Reviews', Graduate Student Research Conference in Hospitality and Tourism.
- Chong, A. Y. L. and Ngai, E. W. (2013) 'What Influences Consumers' Adoption of a Location-based Social Media Service for Their Travel Planning?', *PACIS*2013 *Proceedings*.
- Chow H. W., Lim, S. L. and Lwim, M. (1995) 'Word-of-mouth communication in Singapore: With focus on effects of message-sidedness, source and user-type', *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 7(2), pp. 5-36.
- Chu, S. C. and Kim, Y. (2011) 'Determinants of consumer engagement in electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) in social networking sites', *International journal of Advertising*, 30(1), pp. 47-75.
- Chu, S.C. and Kamal, S. (2008) 'The Effect of Perceived Blogger Credibility and Argument Quality on Message Elaboration and Brand Attitudes: An Exploratory Study', *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 8(2), pp. 26-37.
- Chung, C.M.Y. and Darke, P.R. (2006) 'The consumer as advocate: Self-relevance, culture, and word-of-mouth', *Marketing Letters*, 17(4), pp.269-279.

- Chung, N. Han,H. and Koo, C. (2015) 'Adoption of travel information in user-generated content on social media: the moderating effect of social presence', *Behaviour and Information Technology*, 34(9), pp. 902-919.
- Cialdini, R.B. and Goldstein, N.J. (2004) 'Social influence: Compliance and conformity', *Annual review of Psychology*, 55(1), pp. 591-621.
- Clemons, E. K., Gao, G. G. and Hitt, L. M. (2006) 'When online reviews meet hyperdifferentiation: A study of the craft beer industry', *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 23(2), pp. 149-171.
- Clewley, R., Soto-Trevino, C. and Nadim, F. (2009) 'Dominant ionic mechanisms explored in spiking and bursting using local low-dimensional reductions of a biophysically realistic model neuron', *Journal of Computational Neuroscience*, 26(1), pp. 75-90.
- Coelho, R. L. F., Oliveira, D. S. D. and Almeida, M. I. S. D. (2016) 'Does social media matter for post typology? Impact of post content on Facebook and Instagram metrics', *Online Information Review*, 40(4), pp. 458-471.
- Coffman, K. G. and Odlyzko, A. M. (1998) 'The size and growth rate of the Internet', *First Monday*, *3*(10), pp. 1-25.
- Cohen, E. (1972) 'Toward a sociology of international tourism', *Social research*, 39, pp. 164-182.
- Cohen, E. (2014) 'The Permutations of Thai Tourism', in K. Husa, A. Trupp, and H. Wohlschlä gl (Eds.), Southeast Asian Mobility Transitions: Issues and Trends in Migration and Tourism, Vienna: Department of Geography and Regional Research, University of Vienna, pp. 237–261.
- Collis, J. and Hussey, R. (2003) Business Research: A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Student. 2nd edn, Palgrave Macmillan, New York.

- Collis, J. and Hussey, R. (2014) *Business research: a practical guide for undergraduate and postgraduate students*. 4th edn. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Coleman, J. (1958) 'Relational analysis: the study of social organizations with survey methods', *Human organization*, 17(4), pp.28-36.
- Comrey, A. and Lee, H. (1992) *A first course in factor analysis*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, NJ: Hillsdale.
- Coombers, H. (2001) Research using IT. New York: Palgrave.
- Cooper, D. and Schindler, P. (2014) *Business research methods*.12th edn. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Cortina, J. M. (1993) 'What is coefficient alpha?', *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78, pp. 98-104.
- Cox, C., Burgess, S., Sellitto, C. and Buultjens, J. (2009) 'The role of user-generated content in tourists' travel planning behavior', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 18(8), pp. 743-764.
- Cox, D.F. (1967) *Risk Taking and Information Handling in Consumer Behaviour*, Boston, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Cresswell, J.W. (2003) Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches. 2nd edn, London: Sage Publications
- Creswell, J.W. (2009) *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approach.* 3rd edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J.W., and Plano Clark, V.L. (2007) *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cui, G., Lui, H. and Guo, X. (2012) 'The effect of online consumer reviews on new product sales', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 17(1), pp. 39-58.

- Czaja, R. and Blair, J. (2005) Designing survey: A guide to decisions and procedures Undergraduate research methods and statistics in the social sciences. New York, NY: Putnam.
- D'Ambra, J. and Wilson, C. S. (2004) 'Use of the World Wide Web for international travel: Integrating the construct of uncertainty in information seeking and the task-technology fit (TTF) model', *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 55(8), pp. 731-742.
- Dalal, O., Sengemedu, S. H. and Sanyal, S. (2012) 'Multi-objective ranking of comments on web', the 21st international conference on World Wide Web proceedings, pp. 419-428.
- Davies, M. (2007) Doing a Successful Research Project. Using qualitative or quantitative methods. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Davis, A. and Khazanchi, D. (2008) 'An empirical study of online word of mouth as a predictor for multi-product category e-commerce sales', *Electronic Markets*, 18(2), pp.130-141.
- Davis, F.D. (1989) 'Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology', *MIS Quarterly*, 13(3), pp. 319–340.
- Davis, F.D. (1993) 'User acceptance of information technology: system characteristics, user perceptions, and behavioral impacts', *International Journal of Man-Machine Studies*, 38 (3), pp. 475-87.
- Dawes, J. G. (2008) 'Do data characteristics change according to the number of scale points used? An experiment using 5 point, 7 point and 10 point scales', *International Journal of Market Research*, 51(1).
- De Ascaniis, S. (2013) Destination Online Travel Reviews. An Argumentative and textual genre perspective, PhD thesis, Lugano: Università della Svizzera italiana.

De Ascaniis, S. and Gretzel, U. (2013) 'Communicative functions of Online Travel Review titles: a pragmatic and linguistic investigation of destination and attraction OTR titles', *Studies in Communication Sciences*, 13(2), pp. 156-165.

De Vaus, D.A. (1993) Surveys in Social Research. 3rd edn. London: UCL Press.

- Dellarocas, C. (2003) 'The digitalization of Word of Mouth: Promise and Challenges of Online Feedback Mechanisms', *Management Science*, 49 (10), pp.1407–1424.
- Dellarocas, C., Awad, N. and Zhang, X. (2006) 'Exploring the value of online product ratings in revenue forecasting: the case of motion pictures', *Working paper*, pp.1-42.
- Dellarocas, C., Zhang, X.M. and Awad, N.F. (2007) 'Exploring the value of online product reviews in forecasting sales: The case of motion pictures', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 21(4), pp. 23-45.
- Derbaix, C. and Vanhamme, J. (2003) 'Inducting word-of –mouth by eliciting surprise-a pilot investigation', *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 24(1), pp.99-116.
- Dessart, L., Veloutsou, C., and Morgan-Thomas, A. (2015) 'Consumer engagement in online brand communities: a social media perspective', *Journal of Product and Brand Management*, 24(1), pp. 28-42.
- Deutsch, M. and Gerard, H. B. (1955) 'A study of normative and informational social influences upon individual judgment', *Journal of abnormal and social psychology*, 51(3), pp. 629.
- DeVellis, R.F. (1991) Scale development: theory and application applied social research methods series. London: Sage Publications.
- Diamantopoulos, A., Schlegelmilch, B., and Reynolds, N. (1994) 'Pretesting in questionnaire design: the impact of respondent characteristics on error detection', *Journal of the Market Research Society*, 36(4), pp. 295-313.

- Doh, S. J. and Hwang, J. S. (2009) 'How consumers evaluate eWOM (electronic wordof-mouth) messages', *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 12(2), pp. 193-197.
- Doll, W.J. and Torkzadeh, G. (1988) 'The measurement of end-user computing satisfaction', *MIS Quarterly*, 12 (2), pp.259-74.
- Doll, W.J., Xia, W. and Torkzadeh, G. (1994) 'A confirmatory factor analysis of the end-user computing satisfaction instrument', *MIS Quarterly*,18(4), pp. 357–369.
- Dou, X., Walden, J. A., Lee, S., and Lee, J. Y. (2012) 'Does source matter? Examining source effects in online product reviews', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28, pp. 1555-1563.
- Duan, W., Gu, B. and Whinston, A.B. (2008) 'Do online reviews matter? An empirical investigation of panel data', *Decision Support Systems*, 45(4), pp. 1007-1016.
- Dunk, A.S. (2004) 'Product life cycle cost analysis: the impact of customer profiling, competitive advantage, and quality of IS information', *Management Accounting Research*, 15 (4), pp. 401-14.
- Dwivedi, A. (2015) 'A higher-order model of consumer brand engagement and its impact on loyalty intentions', *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 24, pp. 100-109.
- Dwyer, J. (1999) Communication in Business: Strategies and Skills. Sydney: Prentice Hall.
- Eagly, A. H. and Chaiken, S. (1993) *The psychology of attitudes*. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers.
- Easterby-Smith, M., Thorpe, R. and Jackson, P.R. (2008) *Management Research*. 3rd edn. London: Sage Publications.
- Easterby-Smith, M., Thorpe, R. and Lowe, A. (1999) *Management Research. An Introduction*. London: Sage Publications.

Egger, F.N. (2000) 'Trust me, I'm an online vendor: towards a model of trust for e-

commerce system design', CHI '00 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, ACM, New York, NY, pp. 101-2.

- Elsbach, K. D. and Elofson, G. (2000) 'How the packaging of decision explanations affects perceptions of trustworthiness', *Academy of Management Journal*, 43(1), pp. 83-9.
- Elwalda, A., Lu, K. and Ali, M. (2016) 'Perceived derived attributes of online customer reviews', *Computers in Human Behavior*, *56*, pp. 306-319.
- Engel, J. F., Fiorillo, H. F. and Cayley, M. A. (1972) *Market segmentation concepts and applications*. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Erdem, M. and Cobanoglu, C. (2010) 'The impact of consumer-generated media and social networking in hospitality: The implications for consumers and hospitality managers', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 19(7), pp. 697-699.
- Erkan, I. (2015) 'Electronic Word of Mouth on Instagram: Customers' Engagements with Brands in Different Sectors', *International Journal of Management*, *Accounting and Economics*, 2(12), pp. 1435–1444.
- Erkan, I. and Evans, C. (2014) "The Impacts of Electronic Word of Mouth in Social Media on Consumers' Purchase Intentions", *the International Conference on Digital Marketing (ICODM2014) Proceedings*, Colombo, Sri Lanka, pp. 9–14.
- Erkan, I. and Evans, C. (2016a) 'Social media or shopping websites? The influence of eWOM on consumers' online purchase intentions', *Journal of Marketing Communications*, pp. 1-17.
- Erkan, I. and Evans, C. (2016b) 'The influence of eWOM in social media on consumers' purchase intentions: An extended approach to information adoption", *Computers in Human Behavior*, 61, pp. 47–55.

- Evans, J. and Mathur, A. (2005) 'The value of online surveys', *Internet Research*, 15(2), pp. 195-219.
- Eysenbach, G., Yihune, G., Lampe, K., Cross, P. and Brickley, D. (2000) 'MedCERTAIN: quality management, certification and rating of health information on the Net', *AMIA Symposium Proceedings*, pp. 230.
- Fang,Y.H. (2014) 'Beyond the credibility of Electronic word of mouth: Exploring eWOM Adoption on social networking Sites from Affective and Curiosity Perpectives', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 18(3), pp. 67-101.
- Farrag, D. A., El Sayed, I. M. and Belk, R. W. (2010) 'Mall shopping motives and activities: a multimethod approach', *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 22(2), pp. 95-115.
- Fei, Z. (2011) 'A study on relationship between online trust and E-WOM communication in B2C environment', *E-Business and E-Government (ICEE)*, 2011 International Conference on IEEE Proceedings, pp. 1-4.
- Feild, L., Pruchno, R.A., Bewley, J., Lemay, E.P., Jr and Levinsky, N.G. (2006) 'Using probability vs. nonprobability sampling to identify hard-to-access participants for health-related research: costs and contrasts', *Journal of Aging and Health*, 18(4), pp. 565-583.
- Ferran, C. and Watts, S. (2008) 'Videoconferencing in the field: A heuristic processing model', *Management Science*, 54(9), pp. 1565-1578.
- Fili, M. and Krizaj, D. (2017) 'Electronic Word of Mouth and Its Credibility in Tourism: The Case of Tripadvisor', Academica Turistica-Tourism and Innovation Journal, 9(2), pp. 107-111.
- Filieri, R. (2015a) 'What makes an online reviews helpful? A diagnosticity-adoption framework to explain informational and normative influences in eWOM', *Journal of Business Research*, 68, pp. 1261-1270.

- Filieri, R. (2015b) 'Why do travelers trust TripAdvisor? Antecedents of trust towards consumer-generated media and its influence on recommendation adoption and word of mouth', *Tourism Management*, 51, pp. 174-185.
- Filieri, R. (2016) 'What makes an online consumer review trustworthy?', *Annals of Tourism Research*, 58, pp. 46-64.
- Filieri, R., and McLeay, F. (2014) 'E-WOM and accommodation an analysis of the factors that influence travelers' adoption of information from online review', *Journal of Travel Research*, 53(1), pp. 44-57.
- Fink, A. (2002) *How to sample in survey*. 2nd edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Fink, A. (2003) The Survey Handbook. 2nd edn. CA: Sage Publications.
- Fishbein, M. and Ajzen, I. (1975) *Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behaviour: An Introduction to Theory and Research*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Fiske, S. T. (1980) 'Attention and weight in person perception: The impact of negative and extreme behavior', *Journal of personality and Social Psychology*, 38(6), pp. 889.
- Flanagin, A. J. and Metzger, M. J. (2000) 'Perceptions of Internet information credibility', *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 77, pp. 515–540.
- Flanagin, A.J. and Metzger, M.J. (2007) 'The role of site features, user attributes, and information verification behaviors on the perceived credibility of web-based information', *New Media Society*, 9 (2), pp. 319-42.
- Floh, A., Koller, M. and Zauner, A. (2013) 'Taking a deeper look at online reviews: The asymmetric effect of valence intensity on shopping behavior', *Journal of Marketing Management*, 29(5-6), pp. 646-670.

Foddy, W. (1994) Constructing questions for interview and questionnaires: theory and
practice in social research, Cambridge University Press.

- Fogg, B.J. (2003) *Persuasive Technology: Using Computers to Change What We Think and Do.* San Francisco: Morgan Kaufmann.
- Forman, C., Ghose, A., and Goldfarb, A. (2008) 'Examining the relationship between reviews and sales: the role of reviewer identity disclosure in electronic markets', *Information Systems Research*, 19(3), pp. 291–313.
- Fornell, C. and Larcker, D. F. (1981) 'Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error', *Journal of marketing research*, 18(1), pp. 39-50.
- Fotis, J., Buhalis, D. and Rossides, N. (2012) 'Social Media Impact on Holiday Travel Planning: The Case of the Russian', *Transdisciplinary Marketing Concepts and Emergent Methods for Virtual Environments*, 1, pp. 1-19.
- Gambetti, Rossella C., and Guendalina Graf gna (2010) 'The Con- cept of Engagement: A Systematic Analysis of the Ongoing Marketing Debate', *International Journal* of Market Research, 52 (6), pp. 801–826.
- Garber Jr, L. L., Hyatt, E. M. and Boya, U. O. (2009) 'The Collaborative Roles of the Designer, the Marketer, and the Consumer in Determining What Is Good Design', *Advertising and Society Review*, 10(1).
- Garrigos-Simon, F. J., Garrigos-Simon, F. J., Galdon, J. L., Galdon, J. L., Sanz-Blas, S. and Sanz-Blas, S. (2017) 'Effects of crowdvoting on hotels: the Booking. com case', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(1), pp. 419-437.
- Gauri, D. K., Bhatnagar, A. and Rao, R. (2008) 'Role of word of mouth in online store loyalty', *Communications of the ACM*, 51(3), pp. 89-91.
- Gazzoli, G., Gon Kim, W. and Palakurthi, R. (2008) 'Online distribution strategies and competition: are the global hotel companies getting it right?', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 20(4), pp. 375-387.

- Gefen, D., Karahanna, E. and Straub, D. W. (2003) 'Trust and TAM in online shopping: an integrated model', *MIS quarterly*, 27(1), pp. 51-90.
- Gershoff, A. D., Mukherjee, A. and Mukhopadhyay, A. (2003) 'Consumer acceptance of online agent advice Extremity and positivity effects', *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 13(1/2), pp. 161–170.
- Gil, J.M., Gracia, A. and Sánchez, M. (2000) 'Market segmentation and willingness to pay for organic products in Spain', *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, 3, pp. 207–226.
- Gilbert, F. and Warren, W. (2005) 'Psychographic constructs and demographic segments', *Psychology and Marketing*, 12(3), pp. 223–237.
- Gilbert, N. (2002) Researching Social Life. 2edn. London: Sage Publications.
- Gilboa, S. (2009) 'A segmentation study of Israeli mall customers', *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 16(2), pp. 135-144.
- Gilly, M. C., Graham, J. L., Wolfinbarger, M. F. and Yale, L. J. (1998) 'A dynamic study of personal information search', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 26(2), pp.83–100.
- Godes, D. and Mayzlin, D. (2004) 'Using Online Conversations to Study Word of Mouth Communication', *Marketing Science*, 23 (4), pp.545–560.
- Godes, D., and Silva, J. C. (2012) 'Sequential and temporal dynamics of online opinion', *Marketing Science*, 31(3), pp. 448-473.
- Godes, D., Mayzlin, D., Chen, Y.B., Das, S., Dellarocas, C. and Pfeiffer, B. (2005) 'The firm's management of social interactions', *Marketing Letters*, 16(3), pp. 415-428.

- Goldenberg, J., Libai, B. and Muller, E. (2001) 'Talk of the network: a complex systems look at the underlying process of word-of-mouth', *Marketing Letters*, 12 (3), pp. 211–223.
- Goldsmith, R. E. (2006) *Electronic word-of-mouth'*, *Encyclopedia of e-commerce*, *e-government and mobile commerce*. Idea group Publishing.
- Goldsmith, R. E. and Horowitz, D. (2006) 'Measuring motivations for online opinion seeking', *Journal of interactive advertising*, 6 (2), pp. 2-14.
- Goldsmith, R. E., Lafferty, B. A., and Newell, S. J. (2000) 'The influence of corporate credibility on consumer attitudes and purchase intent', *Corporate Reputation Review*, 3(4), pp. 304-318.
- Gray, D.E. (2014) *Doing Research in the Real World*. 3rd edn. London: Sage Publications.
- Gretzel, U. and Yoo, K. H. (2008) 'Use and impact of online travel reviews', *Information and communication technologies in tourism 2008*, pp. 35-46.
- Gretzel, U. and Yoo, K.H. (2013) 'Premises and promises of social media marketing in tourism', in McCabe, S. (Eds.) *The Routledge Handbook of Tourism Marketing, Routledge*. New York, pp. 491-504.
- Gretzel, U., Hyan-Yoo, K., and Purifoy, M. (2007) Online travel review study: The role and impact of online travel reviews. College Station, TX: Laboratory forIntelligent Systems in Tourism.
- Grewal, D., Gotlieb, J. and Marmorstein, H. (1994) 'The moderating effects of message framing and source credibility on the price-perceived risk relationship' *Journal of consumer research*, 21(1), pp. 145-153.

- Grissemann, U. S. and Stokburger-Sauer, N. E. (2012) 'Customer co-creation of travel services: The role of company support and customer satisfaction with the cocreation performance', *Tourism Management*, 33(6), pp. 1483-1492.
- Groff, R. (2004) Critical Realism, Post-positivism and the Possibility of Knowledge. London: Routledge.
- Groves, R.M., Fowler Jr, F.J., Couper, M.P., Lepkowski, J.M., Singer, E. and Tourangeau, R. (2011) *Survey methodology*. New Jersey. John Wiley & Sons.
- Gruen, T.W., Osmonbekov, T. and Czaplewsk, A.J. (2006) 'eWOM: the impact of customer-to-customer online know-how exchange on customer value and loyalty', *Journal of Business Research*, 59 (4), pp.449–456.
- Guba, E.G. and Lincoln, Y.S. (1994) 'Competing paradigms in qualitative research', in Denxin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.) *Handbook of Qualitative Research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Plucations, pp. 105-117.
- Gupta, P. and Harris, J. (2010) 'How e-WOM recommendations influence product consideration and quality of choice: A motivation to process information perspective', *Journal of Business Research*, 63(9-10), pp. 1041–1049.
- Haddow, G. (2003) 'Focusing on health information: How to assess information quality on the Internet', *The Australian Library Journal*, 52(2), pp. 169-178.
- Hair, J., Babin, B., Money, A. and Samouel, P. (2003) Essentials of business research methods.United State of America: Leyh Publishing, LLC.
- Hair, J.F., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L. and Black, W.C. (1995) *Multivariate Data Analysis With Readings*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice–Hall.
- Hair, J.F., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., and Black, W.C. (1998) *Multivariate Data Analysis With Readings*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Hair, J.F., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., and Black, W.C. (2006). *Multivariate Data Analysis.* 5th edn. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Hair, J.F., Black, W.C., Babin, B.J. and Anderson, R.E. (2010) *Multivariate Data Analysis*. 7th edn. New York: Pearson.
- Hajli, N. (2015) 'Social commerce constructs and consumer's intention to buy', International Journal of Information Management, 35(2), pp. 183–191.
- Hajli, N. (2016) 'Ethical Environment in the Online Communities by Information Credibility: A Social Media Perspective', *Journal of Business Ethics*, pp. 1-12.
- Halai, N. (2007) 'Making Use of Bilingual Interview Data: Some Experiences from the Field', *The Qualitative Report*, 12(3), pp. 344-355.
- Haley, R. I. (1968) 'Benefit segmentation: A decision-oriented research tool', *Journal of Marketing*, pp. 30-35.
- Ham, S. H., Weiler, B., Hughes, M., Brown, T., Curtis, J. and Poll, M. (2008). Asking visitors to help: Research to guide strategic communication for protected area man- agement. Gold Coast: CRC for Sustainable Tourism.
- Hamilton, A. (2013) A New Account of the East Indies: Being the Observations and Remarks of Capt. Alexander Hamilton. Cambridge University Press.
- Hansen, U. (2000) Lost in relationship-marketing space: the limitations of relationship marketing from the perspective of the consumer. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Haussman, G. (2005) 'Spinning the blogoshpere', Lodging Hospitality, 61, pp. 13-38.
- Helm, S. (2001) 'Meinungsportale im Internet (Opinion platforms on the Internet)', Das Wirtschaftsstudium, 30(1), pp. 63.
- Hennig-Thurau, T., Walsh, G. and Walsh, G. (2003) 'Electronic word-of-mouth: Motives for and consequences of reading customer articulations on the Internet', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 8(2), pp. 51-74.

- Hennig-Thurau, T., Gwinner, K.P., Walsh, G. and Gremler, D.D. (2004) 'Electronic word-of-mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: What motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the Internet?', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 18(1), pp. 38-52.
- Hernon, P. and Schwarts, C. (2009) 'Reliability and Validity', *Library and Information Science Research*, 31, pp. 73-74.
- Herr, P., Kardes, F. and Kim, J. (1991) 'Effects of word-of-mouth and product-attribute information onpersuasion: An accessibility-diagnosticity perspective', *Journal of Consumer Reseach*, 17(4), pp. 454.
- Higgins, E. Tory, and Abigail A. Scholer (2009) 'Engaging the Consumer: The Science and Art of the Value Creation Process', *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 19(2), pp. 100–114.
- Hinton, P.R., McMurray, I. and Brownlow, C. (2014) SPSS Explained. 2nd edn. East Sussex: Routledge.
- Hjalager, A. M. (2001) 'Quality in tourism through the empowerment of tourists', *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 11(4), pp. 287-296.
- Hoffman, D. L. and Novak, T. P. (1996) 'Marketing in hypermedia computer-mediated environments: Conceptual foundations', *Journal of Marketing*, pp. 50-68.

Hofstede, G. (1991) Culture and Organizations. McGraw-Hill.

Hofstede, G. (2001) *Cultures consequences*. 2nd edn. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

- Holbrook, M. B. (1994) 'The nature of customer value: an axiology of services in the consumption experience', *Service quality: New directions in theory and practice*, 21, pp. 21-71.
- Hollebeek, L. D., Glynn, M. S. and Brodie, R. J. (2014) 'Consumer brand engagement in social media: Conceptualization, scale development and validation', *Journal of interactive marketing*, 28(2), pp. 149-165.
- Hollebeek, L.D. (2011) 'Demystifying customer brand engagement: exploring the loyalty nexus', *Journal of Marketing Management*, 27 (7–8), pp. 785–807.
- Holmes, H. and Tangtongtavy, S. (1995) *Working with the Thais*. Bangkok: White Lotus.
- Homer, P. M. and Kahle, L. R. (1990) 'Source expertise, time of source identification, and involvement in persuasion: An elaborative processing perspective', *Journal* of Advertising, 19(1), pp. 30-39.
- Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., Mullen, M. (2008) 'Structural Equation Modelling: Guidelines for Determining Model Fit', *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 6(1), pp. 53-60.
- Hossain, L. and de Silva, A. (2009) 'Exploring user acceptance of technology using social networks', *The Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 20(1), pp. 1-18.
- Houser, D. and Wooders, J. (2006) 'Reputation in auctions: theory and evidence from eBay', *Journal of Economics and Management Strategy*, 15, pp. 353–369.
- Hovland, C. I., Janis, I. L. and Kelley, H. H. (1953) 'Communication and Persuasion', Psychological Studies of Opinion Change, New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Howell, D. C. (2008) 'The analysis of missing data', in Outhwaite, W. and Turner, S.

(eds) Handbook of Social Science Methodology, London: Sage Publications.

- Hsu, C., Lin, J.C. and Chiang, H. (2013) 'The effects of blogger recommendations on customers' online shopping intentions', *Internet Research*, 23(1), pp. 69-88.
- Hsu, H.Y. and Tsou, H.T. (2011) 'Understanding customer experiences in online blog environments', *International Journal of Information Management*, 31(6), pp. 510-523.
- Hu, L. T. and Bentler, P. M. (1999) 'Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives', *Structural equation modeling: a multidisciplinary journal*, 6 (1), pp. 1-55.
- Hu, N., Bose, I., Koh, N. S. and Liu, L. (2012) 'Manipulation of online reviews: An analysis of ratings, readability, and sentiments', *Decision Support Systems*, 52(3), pp. 674-684.
- Hu, N., Liu, L. and Sambamurthy, V. (2011) 'Fraud detection in online consumer review', *Decision Support Systems*, 50 (3), pp. 614-626.
- Hu, N., Liu, L. and Zhang, J.J. (2008) 'Do online reviews affect product sales? The role of reviewer characteristics and temporal effects', *Information Technology and Management*, 9(3), pp. 201-214.
- Hu, N., Pavlou, P.A. and Zhang, J., (2009) 'Overcoming the J-shaped distribution of product reviews', *Communications of the ACM*, 52 (10), pp.144–147.
- Huang, J.H. and Chen, Y.F. (2006) 'Herding in online product choice', *Psychology and Marketing*, 23(5), pp. 413–428.
- Huang, K. T., Lee, Y. W. and Wang, R. Y. (1999) *Quality information and knowledge*. Prentice Hall.
- Huang, L. (2010) 'Social contagion effects in experiential information exchange on bulletin board systems', *Journal of Marketing Management*, 26(3-4), pp. 197-212.

- Huang,P. ,Lurie,N. and Mitra,S. (2009) 'Searching for experience on the web: an empirical examination of consumer behavior for search and experience goods', *Journal of Marketing*, 73 (2), pp. 55–69.
- Hudson, S., Roth, M. S., Madden, T. J. and Hudson, R. (2015) 'The effects of social media on emotions, brand relationship quality, and word of mouth: An empirical study of music festival attendees', *Tourism Management*, 47, pp. 68-76.
- Hung, K. H. and Li, S. Y. (2007) 'The Influence of eWOM on Virtual Consumer Communities: Social Capital, Consumer Learning, and Behavioral Outcomes', *Journal of Advertising Research*, 47(4), pp. 485.
- Hunt, S. D. and Arnett, D. B. (2004) 'Market segmentation strategy, competitive advantage, and public policy: Grounding segmentation strategy in resource-advantage theory', *Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ)*, 12(1), pp. 7-25.
- Hussain, S., Ahmed, W., Jafar, R. M. S., Rabnawaz, A., Akhtar, H. and Jianzhou, Y. (2016) 'Electronic word of mouth communications and consumer's information adoption on the Internet', *Computer Communication and the Internet (ICCCI)*, 2016 IEEE International Conference, pp. 493-497.
- Hussey, J. and Hussey, R. (1997) Business Research, A practical guide for undergraduate and postgraduate students. New York: Palgrave.
- Iacobucci, D. and Churchill, G. A. (2010) *Marketing Research: Methodological Foundations*. Mason, OH, USA: South-Western Cengage Learning.
- Inversini, A. and Masiero, L. (2014) 'Selling rooms online: the use of social media and online travel agents', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 26 (2), pp. 272-292.
- Ip, C., Lee, H. and Law, R. (2010) 'Profiling the users of travel websites for planning and online experience sharing', *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*, 36(3), pp. 418-426.

- Ismagilova, E., Dwivedi, Y. K., Slade, E. and Williams, M. D. (2017) Persuasiveness of eWOM Communications. In Electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM) in the Marketing Context (pp. 49-71). Springer International Publishing.
- Israel, G. D. (1992) *Determining sample size*. University of Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agriculture Sciences, EDIS.
- Israeli, A., Lee, S. A. and Karpinski, A. C. (2017) 'Investigating the Dynamics and the Content of Customers' Social Media Reporting After a Restaurant Service Failure', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, (just-accepted).
- Jacobsen, J. K. S. and Munar, A. M. (2012) 'Tourist information search and destination choice in a digital age', *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 1, pp. 39-47.
- Jalilvand, M. R. and Samiei, N. (2012) 'The impact of electronic word of mouth on a tourism destination choice: Testing the theory of planned behavior (TPB)', *Internet Research: Electronic Networking Applications and Policy*, 22(5), pp. 591-612.
- Jalilvand, M. R., Ebrahimi, A. and Samiei, N. (2013) 'Electronic word of mouth effects on tourists' attitudes toward Islamic destinations and travel intention: An empirical study in Iran', *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 81, pp. 484-489.
- Jamil, R.A. (2013) 'Consumer's Reliance on Word of Mouse: Influence on Consumer's Decision in an Online Information Asymmetry Context', *Journal of Business and Economics*, 5 (2), pp. 171-205.
- Jansen, B. J. and Spink, A. (2006) 'How are we searching the World Wide Web? A comparison of nine search engine transaction logs', *Information Processing and Management*, 42(1), pp. 248-263.
- Jeacle, I. and Carter, C. (2011) 'In TripAdvisor we trust: Rankings, calculative regimes and abstract systems', *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 36(4), pp. 293-309.

- Jeong, E. and Jang, S. (2011) 'Restaurant experiences triggering positive electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) motivations', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 30(2), pp. 356-366.
- Jeong, H. J. and Koo, D. M. (2015) 'Combined effects of valence and attributes of e-WOM on consumer judgment for message and product: The moderating effect of brand community type', *Internet Research*, 25(1), pp. 2-29.
- Jih, W. J. K. and Lee, S. F. (2003) 'An exploratory analysis of relationships between cellular phone users' shopping motivators and lifestyle indicators', *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 44(2), pp. 65–73.
- Jin, G. Z. and Kato, A. (2006) 'Price, quality, and reputation: Evidence from an online field experiment', *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 37(4), pp. 983-1005.
- Jin, X. L., Lee, M. K. O. and Cheung, C. M. K. (2009) 'Predicting continuance in online communities: Model development and empirical test.', *Behavior and Information Technology*, 29(4), pp. 383–394.
- Joe, J. F., Sarstedt, M., Hopkins, L., and Kuppelwieser, V. G. (2014) 'Partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM): An emerging tool in business research', *European Business Review*, 26(2), pp.106-121.
- Kaakinen, J. K., Hyona, J. and Keenan, J. M. (2003) 'How prior knowledge, WMC, and relevance of information affect eye fixations in expository text', *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 29(3), pp. 447.
- Kamins, M. A. and Assael, H. (1987) 'Two-sided versus one-sided appeals: A cognitive perspective on argumentation, source derogation, and the effect of disconfirming trial on belief change', *Journal of marketing Research*, pp. 29-39.
- Kamins, M. A. and Lawrence, J. M. (1988) 'An examination into the effectiveness of two-sided comparative price appeals', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 16(2), pp. 6-16.

- Kangogo, E. J., Musiega, D. J. M. and Kakamega, K. (2013) 'Effect of Customer Satisfaction on Performance of the Hotel Industry in the Western Tourism Circuit of Kenya', *European Journal Of Business and Management*, 5(14), pp. 87-100.
- Kaplan, A. M. and Haenlein, M. (2010) 'Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media', *Business horizons*, 53(1), pp. 59-68.
- Karaka,F. and Barnes,N.G. (2010) 'The impact of online reviews of customer care experience on brand or company selection', *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 27(5), pp. 447-457.
- Kasulis, J. J. and Zaltman, G. (1977) 'Message reception and cognitive complexity', *Advances in Consumer Research*, 4, pp. 93-97.
- Katz, E. and Lazarsfeld , P.F. (1955) Personal Influence The Part Played by People in the Flow of Mass Communication. New York: The Free press.
- Kaye, B. K. and Johnson, T. J. (2011) 'Hot diggity blog: A cluster analysis examining motivations and other factors for why people judge different types of blogs as credible', *Mass Communication and Society*, 14(2), pp. 236-263.
- Keller, E. (2007) 'Unleashing the power of word of mouth: Creating brand advocacy to drive growth', *Journal of Advertising Research*, 47(4), pp. 448–452.
- Kelman, H. C. (1958) 'Compliance, identification, and internalization: Three processes of attitude change', *Journal of conflict resolution*, pp. 51-60.
- Khammash, M. and Griffiths, G. H. (2011) 'Arrivederci CIAO. com, Buongiorno Bing. com Electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM), antecedences and consequences', *International Journal of Information Management*, 31(1), pp. 82-87.
- Kiecker, P. and Cowles, D. (2002) 'Interpersonal communication and personal influence on the Internet: A framework for examining online word-of-mouth', *Journal of Euromarketing*, 11(2), pp. 71-88.

- Kim, E. E. K., Mattila, A. S. and Baloglu, S. (2011) ' Effects of gender and expertise on consumers' motivation to read online hotel reviews', *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 52(4), pp. 399-406.
- Kim, E., Sung, Y. and Kang, H. (2014) 'Brand followers' retweeting behavior on Twitter: How brand relationships influence brand electronic word-of-mouth', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 37, pp. 18–25.
- Kim, H. B., Kim, T. T. and Shin, S. W. (2009) 'Modeling roles of subjective norms and eTrust in customers' acceptance of airline B2C eCommerce websites', *Tourism management*, 30(2), pp. 266-277.
- Kim, H. W. and Gupta, S. (2009) 'A comparison of purchase decision calculus between potential and repeat customers of an online store', *Decision Support Systems*, 47 (4), pp.477–487.
- Kim, J. and Hardin, A. (2010) 'The impact of virtual worlds on word-of-mouth: Improving social networking and servicescape in the hospitality industry', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 19(7), pp. 735-753.
- Kim, S. B., Kim, D. Y. and Wise, K. (2014) 'The effect of searching and surfing on recognition of destination images on Facebook pages', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 30, pp. 813-823.
- Kim, W. G. and Park, S. A. (2017) 'Social media review rating versus traditional customer satisfaction: which one has more incremental predictive power in explaining hotel performance?', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(2)
- Kim, W.G., Cho, M. and Brymer, R.A. (2013) 'Determinants affecting comprehensive property- level hotel performance: The moderating role of hotel type', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 34, pp. 404-412.

- Kim, W.G., Lim, H. and Brymer, R.A. (2015) 'The effectiveness of managing social media on hotel performance', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 44(1), pp. 165-171.
- Kline, R. B. (2005) *Principles and practice of structural equation modelling*. 3rd edn. New York: Guilford.
- Kline, R. B. (2011) *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling, Methodology in the Social Sciences*, 3 rd edn. London: The Guildford Press.
- Knoll, J., and Proksch, R. (2015) 'Why we watch others' responses to online advertising–investigating users' motivations for viewing user-generated content in the context of online advertising', *Journal of Marketing Communications*, pp. 1-13.
- Ko, D. G., Kirsch, L. J. and King, W. R. (2005) 'Antecedents of knowledge transfer from consultants to clients in enterprise system implementations', *MIS quarterly*, pp. 59-85.
- Kohijoki, A. M. and Marjanen, H. (2013) 'The effect of age on shopping orientation choice orientation types of the ageing shoppers', *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 20(2), 165-172.
- Kolb, B. (2008) Marketing Research: A Practical Approach. Sage Publications.
- Komiak, S. Y. and Benbasat, I. (2006) 'The effects of personalization and familiarity on trust and adoption of recommendation agents', *MIS Quarterly*, pp. 941-960.
- Kotler, P. and Keller, K. L. (2009) *Marketing Management*. Pearson Education International
- Kozinets, R. V, de Valck, K., Wojnicki, A.C. and Wilner, S.J. (2010) 'Networked Narratives: Understanding Word-of-Mouth Marketing in Online Communities', *Journal of Marketing*, 74(2), pp. 71–89.

- Krosnick, J.A. (1999) 'Survey Research', Annual Review Psychology, 50 (1), pp. 537-567.
- Ku, Y.C., Wei, C. and Hsiao, H. (2012) 'To whom should I listen? Finding reputable reviewers in opinion-sharing communities', *Decision support systems*, 53, pp. 534-542.
- Kucukusta, D., Law, R., Besbes, A. and Legohérel, P. (2015) 'Re-examining perceived usefulness and ease of use in online booking: the case of Hong Kong online users', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27(2), pp. 185-198.
- Kumar, V., Aksoy, L., Donkers, B., Venkatesan, R., Wiesel, T. and Tillmanns, S. (2010). 'Undervalued or overvalued customers: capturing total customer engagement value', *Journal of Service Research*, 13(3), pp. 297-310.
- Kumar,N. and Benbasat,I. (2006) 'The influence of recommendations and consumer reviews on evaluations of websites', *Information Systems Research*, 17(4), pp.425– 439.
- Kuom, M. and Oertel, B. (1999) 'Virtual travel agencies', Netnomics, 1(2), pp. 225-235.
- Kusumasondjaja, S. (2015) 'Information quality, homophily, and risk propensity: Consumer responses to online hotel reviews', *Journal of Economics, Business, and Accountancy Ventura*, 18(2), pp. 241-252.
- Kwon, O. and Wen, Y. (2010) 'An empirical study of the factors affecting social network service use', *Computers in human behavior*, 26(2), pp. 254-263.
- Lacziak,R.N., DeCarlo,T.E. and Ramaswami,S.N. (2001) 'Consumers' responses to negative word of mouth communication: An attribution theory perspective', *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 11(1),pp. 57-73.
- Laroche, M., Yang, Z., McDougall, G. H. and Bergeron, J. (2005) 'Internet versus bricks-and-mortar retailers: An investigation into intangibility and its consequences', *Journal of retailing*, 81(4), pp. 251-267.

- Larson, C. U. (2010) Persuasion: reception and responsibility. 12th edn. Boston: Wadsworth.
- Lascu, D. N., Bearden, W. O. and Rose, R. L. (1995) 'Norm extremity and interpersonal influences on consumer conformity', *Journal of Business Research*, 32(3), pp. 201-212.
- Law, R. (2006) 'Internet and Tourism—Part XXI: TripAdvisor', Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing, 20(1), pp. 75-77.
- Law, R. and Cheung, S., (2010) 'The perceived destination image of Hong Kong as revealed in the travel blogs of mainland Chinese tourists', *International Journal* of Hospitality and Tourism Administration, 11 (4), pp. 303-327.
- Law, R. and Hsu, C. H. (2006) 'Importance of hotel website dimensions and attributes: perceptions of online browsers and online purchasers', *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 30(3), pp. 295-312.
- Law, R. and Huang, T. (2006) 'How do travelers find their travel and hotel websites?', *Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research*, 11(3), pp. 239-246.
- Law, R., Buhalis, D. and Cobanoglu, C. (2014) 'Progress on information and communication technologies in hospitality and tourism', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 26(5), pp. 727-750.
- Law, R., Chan, I. and Goh, C. (2007) 'Where to find the lowest hotel room rates on the internet? The case of Hong Kong', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 19(6), pp. 495-506.
- Law, R., Leung, R., Lo, A., Leung, D. and Fong, L.H.N. (2015) 'Distribution channel in hospitality and tourism: revisiting disintermediation from the perspectives of hotels and travel agencies', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27(3), pp. 431-452.

- Lee, A. S. (1991) 'Integrating positivist and interpretive approaches to organizational research', *Organization science*, 2(4), pp. 342-365.
- Lee, E.J. and Shin, S.Y. (2014) 'When do consumers buy online product reviews? Effects of review quality, product type, and reviewer's photo', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 31(1), pp. 356–366.
- Lee, H., Kim, J. W. and Hackney, R. (2011a) 'Knowledge hoarding and user acceptance of online discussion board systems in eLearning: a case study', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(4), pp. 1431-1437.
- Lee, J. and Lee, J. (2009) 'Understanding the product information inference process in electronic word-of-mouth: An objectivity–subjectivity dichotomy perspective', *Information and Management*, 46(5), pp. 302-311.
- Lee, J., Park, D. and Han, I. (2008) 'The effect of negative online consumer reviews on product attitude: An information processing view', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 7(3), pp. 341-352.
- Lee, J., Park, D., and Han, I. (2011b) 'The different effects of online consumer reviews on consumers' purchase intentions depending on trust in online shopping malls: An advertising perspective', *Internet Research*, 21(2), pp. 187-206.
- Lee, K. T., Koo, D. M. (2012) 'Effects of attribute and valence of E-WOM on message adoption: moderating roles of subjective knowledge and regulatory focus', *Computer Human Behavior*, 28(5), pp.1974–1984.
- Lee, M. and Youn, S. (2009) 'Electronic word of mouth (eWOM): How eWOM platforms influence consumer product judgement', *International Journal of Advertising*, 28(3), pp. 473–499.
- Lee, M., Rodgers, S. and Kim, M. (2009) 'Effects of valence and extremity of eWOM on attitude toward the brand and website', *Journal of Current Issues and Research in Advertising*, 31(2), pp. 1-11.

- Lee, M.K.O., Cheung, C.M.K., Lim, K.H. and Sia, C.L. (2006) 'Understanding customer knowledge sharing in web-based discussion boards:an exploratory study', *Internet Research*, 16(3), pp.289-303.
- Lee, Y. and Kozar, K. A. (2006) 'Investigating the effect of website quality on ebusiness success: An analytic hierarchy process (AHP) approach', *Decision support systems*, 42(3), pp. 1383-1401.
- Lehto, X. Y., O'Leary, J. T. and Morrison, A. M. (2004) 'The effect of prior experience on vacation behavior', *Annals of Tourism Research*, 31(4), pp. 801-818.
- Lerrthaitrakul,W. and Panjakajornsak,V. (2014) 'The Impact of Electronic Word-of-Mouth Factors on Consumers' Buying Decision-Making Processes in the Low Cost Carriers: A Conceptual Framework', *International Journal of Trade*, *Economics and Finance*, 5(2), pp. 142-146
- Leung, D., Law, R., van Hoof, H. and Buhalis, D. (2013) 'Social media in tourism and hospitality: A literature review', *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 30, (1-2), pp. 3-22.
- Leung, W. C. (2001) 'How to design a questionnaire', student BMJ, 9(11), pp. 187-189.
- Leung, X. Y., Bai, B. and Stahura, K. A. (2015) 'The marketing effectiveness of social media in the hotel industry a comparison of Facebook and Twitter', *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 39(2), pp. 147-169.
- Li, H. and Liu, Y. (2014). Understanding post-adoption behaviors of e-service users in the context of online travel services. *Information & Management*, 51(8), pp. 1043-1052.
- Li, J. and Zhan, L. J. (2011) 'Online persuasion: How the written word drives WOM evidence from consumer-generated product reviews', *Journal of Advertising Research*, 51(1), pp. 239-257.

- Li, M., Huang, L., Tan, C.H. and Wei, K.K. (2013) 'Helpfulness od online product reviews as seen by consumers: source and content features', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 17(4), pp. 101-136.
- Li, X. and Hitt, L. (2008) 'Self-Selection and Information Role of Online Product Reviews', *Information Systems Research*, 19(4), pp.456.
- Liang, S.W., Ekinci, Y., Occhiocupo, N. and Whyatt, G. (2013) 'Antecedents of consumers' electronic word-of-mouth communication', *Journal of Marketing Management*, 29(5-6), pp. 584-606.
- Liang, Y., DeAngelis, B. N., Clare, D. D., Dorros, S. M. and Levine, T. R. (2014) 'Message characteristics in online product reviews and consumer ratings of helpfulness', *Southern Communication Journal*, 79(5), pp. 468-483.
- Libai, B., Bolton, R., Bügel, M.S., de Ruyter, K., Götz, O., Risselada, H. and Stephen, A.T. (2010) 'Customer-to-customer interactions: broadening the scope of word of mouth research', *Journal of Service Research*, 13 (3), pp.267–282.
- Lim, Y. S. and Yoo, E. E. (2012) 'TripAdvisor. com vs. NYCGO. com: Evaluation of Functional Components of Generalist and Specialist Tourism Websites', *Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism*, pp. 120-131.
- Lin, T.M., Lu, K.Y. and Wu, J.J. (2012) 'The effects of visual information in eWOM communication', *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 6(1), pp. 7–26.
- Lis, B. (2013) 'In eWOM we trust: A framework of factors that determine the eWOM Credibility', *Business and Information Systems Engineering*, 5(3), pp. 129-140.
- Litvin, S.W., Goldsmith, R.E. and Pan, B. (2008) 'Electronic word-of-mouth in hospitality and tourism management', *Tourism Management*, 29(3), pp. 458-468.
- Liu, C. and Arnett, K.P. (2000) 'Exploring the factors associated with web site success in the contexts of electronic commerce', *Information & Management*, 38, pp. 23-33.
- Liu, Y. (2006) 'Word of mouth for movies: Its dynamics and impact on box office revenue', *Journal of Marketing*, 70(3), pp. 74-89.

- Liu, Z. and Park, S. (2015) 'What makes a useful online review? Implication for travel product websites', *Tourism Management*, 47, pp. 140-151.
- Lu, X., Ba, S. ,Huang, L. , Fang, Y. (2009) 'Impact of informational factors on online recommendation credibility: The moderating role of source credibility', *International Electronic Commerce*, 13 (4), pp. 9.38.
- Luck, D. J. and Rubin, R. S. (1987) *Marketing Research*. 7th edn. London: Prentice-Hall International.
- Luo, C., Luo, X. R., Schatzberg, L. and Sia, C. L. (2013) 'Impact of informational factors on online recommendation credibility: The moderating role of source credibility', *Decision Support Systems*, 56, pp. 92-102.
- Luo, C., Wang, Y., Wu, N., Liang, X. and Guo, Y. (2014a) 'The Influence of eWOM and Editor Information on Information Usefulness in Virtual Community', *PACIS*. Paper 82.
- Luo, C., Wentian, L., Fu, X., Zeng, T. and Lan, Y. (2014b) 'Managing Uncertainty on eWOM: a Comparison Study between Commercial and Third Party Websites', *PACIS*. Paper 27.
- Luo, C., Wu, J., Shi, Y. and Xu, Y. (2014c) 'The effects of individualism–collectivism cultural orientation on eWOM information', *International Journal of Information Management*, 34(4), pp. 446-456.
- Mackiewicz, J. (2008) 'Reviewer motivations, bias, and credibility in online reviews', In *Handbook of research on computer mediated communication*. IGI Global. pp. 252.266.
- Madu, C.N. and Madu, A.A. (2002) 'Dimensions of e-quality', *International Journal of Quality and Reliability Management*, 19 (3), pp. 246-58.

- Maitland, L. L. and Hannah, P. (2008) 5 Steps to a 5 AP Psychology. McGraw Hill Professional.
- Malhotra, N. K., Birks, D. F., and Wills, P. (2013) *Essentials of marketing research*. Pearson.
- Malone, T.W. and K.G. Crowston (1994) 'The Interdisciplinary Study of Coordination', *ACM Computing Surveys*, 26(1), pp. 87–119.
- Malthouse, E. C. and Calder, B. J. (2011) 'Comment: engagement and experiences: comment on Brodie, Hollenbeek, Juric, and Ilic (2011)', *Journal of Service Research*, 14(3), pp. 277-279.
- Manthiou, A. and Schrier, T. (2014) 'A comparison of traditional vs electronic word of mouth in the Greek hotel market: An exploratory study', *Journal of Tourism Research*, 8,pp.125-134.
- Mathwick, C. (2001) 'Understanding the online consumer: A typology of online relational norms and behavior', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 16(1), pp. 40– 55.
- Mathwick, C. (2002) 'Understanding the online consumer: A typology of online relational norms and behavior', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 16(1), pp. 40-55.
- Matook, S., Brown, S. A. and Rolf, J. (2015) 'Forming an intention to act on recommendations given via online social networks', *European Journal of Information Systems*, pp.1-7
- Mauri, A. G. and Minazzi, R. (2013) 'Web reviews influence on expectations and purchasing intentions of hotel potential customers', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 34, pp. 99-107.

- Mauri, A. G. and Minazzi, R. (2015) 'The Impact of Hotel Reviews Posted by Guests on Customers' Purchase Process and Expectations', *Toulon-Verona Conference, Organizational Excellence in services Proceedings*, Spain, pp. 799-814.
- Maxham III, J. G. and Netemeyer, R. G. (2002) 'A longitudinal study of complaining customers' evaluations of multiple service failures and recovery efforts', *Journal* of marketing, 66(4), pp. 57-71.
- Mayer, R. E. (1997). Multimedia learning: Are we asking the right questions?. *Educational psychologist*, 32(1), pp. 1-19.
- Mayzlin, D. (2006) 'Promotional chat on the Internet', *Marketing Science*, 25(2), pp. 155-163.
- Mazzarol, T., Sweeney, J.C. and Soutar, G.N. (2007) 'Conceptualizing word-of-mouth activity, triggers and conditions: an exploratory study', *European Journal of Marketing*, 41(11), pp. 1475–1494.
- McCracken, G. (1989) 'Who is the celebrity endorser? Cultural foundations of the endorsement process', *Journal of consumer research*, 16(3), pp. 310-321.
- McCroskey, L. L., McCroskey, J. C. and Richmond, V. P. (2006) 'Analysis and improvement of the measurement of interpersonal attraction and homophily', *Communication Quarterly*, 54(1), pp. 1-31.
- McKinney, V., Yoon, K. and Zahedi, F. M. (2002) 'The measurement of web-customer satisfaction: an expectation and disconfirmation approach', *Information systems research*, 13(3), pp. 296-315.
- McKnight, D. H., Choudhury, V. and Kacmar, C. (2002) 'Developing and Validating Trust Measures for e-Commerce: An Integrative Typology', *Information Systems Research*, 13(3), pp. 334-359.
- McKnight, H. and Kacmar, C. (2006) 'Factors of information credibility for an Internet advice site', the 39th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 6,

IEEE Proceedings, Los Alamitos, CA, pp. 1–10.

- Middleton, V. T., Fyall, A., Morgan, M. and Ranchhod, A. (2009) *Marketing in travel and tourism*. Routledge.
- Milliken, J. (2001) 'Qualitative research and marketing management', *Management Decision*, 39(1), pp. 71- 78.

Ministry of Tourism and Sports (2014) Summary of Tourism Statistics. Bangkok.

- Mizerski, R.W. (1978) 'Causal Complexity: A measure of consumer casual attribution', Journal of Marketing Research, 15, pp. 220-228.
- Moe, W. W. and Trusov, M. (2011) 'The value of social dynamics in online product ratings forums', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 48(3), pp. 444 456.
- Moe, W.W. and Schweidel, D. A. (2012) 'Online product opinions: Incidence, evaluation, and evolution', *Market Science*, 31(3), pp. 372-386.
- Mollen, A. and Wilson, H. (2010) 'Engagement, telepresence and interactivity in online consumer experience: Reconciling scholastic and managerial perspectives', *Journal of business research*, 63(9), pp. 919-925.
- Money, R. B. and Crotts, J. C. (2003) 'The effect of uncertainty avoidance on information search, planning, and purchases of international travel vacations', *TourismManagement*,24,pp.191-202.
- Mooi, E. and Sarstedt, M. (2010) Cluster analysis. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Moon, S., Park, Y. and Kim, Y. S. (2014) 'The impact of text product reviews on sales', European *Journal of Marketing*, 48(11/12), pp. 2176-2197.

- Morgan, N. J., Pritchard, A. and Piggott, R. (2003) 'Destination branding and the role of the stakeholders: The case of New Zealand', *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 9(3), pp. 285-299.
- Morosan, C. and Jeong, M. (2008) 'Users' perceptions of two types of hotel reservation Web sites', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 27(2), pp. 284-292.
- Morrison, E. W. (1995) 'Information usefulness and acquisition during organizational encounter' *Management Communication Quarterly*, 9(2), pp. 131-155.
- Mudambi, S.M. and Schuff, D. (2010) 'What makes a helpful online review? A study of customer reviews on Amazon. com', *MIS Quarterly*, 34(1), pp. 185-200.
- Mujis, D. (2004) *Doing Quantitative Research in Education with SPSS.* Sage Publications.
- Munnukka, J., Karjaluoto, H. and Tikkanen, A. (2015) 'Are Facebook brand community members truly loyal to the brand?', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 51, pp. 429-439.
- Murray, K. B. (1991) 'A test of service marketing theory: consumer information acquisition activities', *Journal of Marketing*, 55, pp. 10–25.
- Muthen, L.K. and Muthen, B.O. (2009) 'Exploratory Factor Analysis and Structure Equation Modeling for Continuous outcome. Available at: www.statmodel.com
- Nachmias, C. and Nachmias, D. (2008) *Research methods in the social sciences*, 7th edn. New York: Worth Publishers.
- Nahapiet, J. and Ghoshal, S. (1998) 'Social capital, intellectual capital, and the organizational advantage', *Academy of Management Review*, 23, pp. 242–266.

- Nelson, P. (1974) 'Advertising as information', *Journal of political economy*, 82(4), pp. 729-754.
- Nelson, R. R., Todd, P. A. and Wixom, B. H. (2005) 'Antecedents of information and system quality: an empirical examination within the context of data warehousing', *Journal of management information systems*, 21(4), pp.199-235.
- Newman, D. A. and Harrison, D. A. (2008) 'Been there, bottled that: Are state and behavioral work engagement new and useful construct "wines"?', *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 1(1), pp. 31-35.
- Nielsen, J. and Molich, R. (1990) 'Heuristic evaluation of user interfaces', *SIGCHI* conference on Human factors in computing systems Proceedings, pp. 249-256.
- Nonaka, I. (1994) 'A Dynamic Theory Knowledge of Organizational Creation', *Organization Science*, 5(1), pp. 14–37.
- Noone, B. M., McGuire, K. A. and Rohlfs, K. V. (2011) 'Social media meets hotel revenue management: Opportunities, issues and unanswered questions', *Journal* of Revenue & Pricing Management, 10(4), pp. 293–305.
- Nunnally, J. C. and Bernstein, I. H. (1994) *Psychometric theory*. 3rd Edn. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Nyaga, G. N., Whipple, J. M. and Lynch, D. F. (2010) 'Examining supply chain relationships: do buyer and supplier perspectives on collaborative relationships differ?', *Journal of Operations Management*, 28(2), pp. 101-114.
- O'Leary, M. (2002) 'Epinions Creates top Product Community', *Information Today*, 19 (July/August), pp. 14-16.
- O'Neill, M., Palmer, A. and Charters, S. (2002) 'Wine production as a service experience-the effects of service quality on wine sales', *Journal of Services Marketing*, 16(4), pp. 342-362.

- O'Brien, H. L. (2010) 'The influence of hedonic and utilitarian motivations on user engagement: The case of online shopping experiences', *Interacting with Computers*, 22(5), pp. 344-352.
- O'Brien, H.L. and Toms, E.G. (2010) 'The development and evaluation of a survey to measure user engagement', *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 61 (1), pp. 50–69.
- O'Connor, P. (2008) 'User-generated content and travel: a case study on Tripadvisor.Com', in O'Connor, D.P., Ho'pken, D.W. and Gretzel, D.U. (Eds), *Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism 2008*, Springer, Vienna, pp. 47-58.
- O'Keefe, D. J. (2002) *Persuasion: Theory & research*. Thousand Oaks : Sage Publications.
- Ohanian, R. (1990) 'Construction and Validation of a Scale to Measure Celebrity Endorsers' Perceived Expertise, Trustworthiness, and Attractiveness', *Journal of Advertising*, 19(3), pp. 39-52.
- Oppenheim, A. N. (1996) *Questionnaire Design, Interviewing and Attitude Measurement*. London: Printer Publishers.
- Orlikowski, W. J. and Baroudi, J. J. (2002) 'Studying Information Technology in Organizations: Research Approaches and Assumptions', in Myers, M. D. and Avison, D. E. (Eds.) *Qualitative Research in Information Systems*, Sage Publications
- Oz, M. (2015) 'Social media utilization of tourists for travel-related purposes', International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 27(5), pp. 1003-1023.

Ozkan, S., Bindusara, G. and Hackney, R. (2010) 'Facilitating the adoption of e-

payment systems: theoretical constructs and empirical analysis', *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 23(3), pp. 305–325.

- Pai, M. Y., Chu, H. C., Wang, S. C., and Chen, Y. M. (2013) 'Electronic word of mouth analysis for service experience', *Expert Systems with Applications*, 40(6), pp.1993-2006.
- Palmer, J. W. (2002) 'Web site usability, design, and performance metrics', *Information systems research*, 13(2), pp.151-167.
- Pan, B., MacLaurin, T. and Crotts, J. C. (2007) 'Travel blogs and the implications for destination marketing', *Journal of Travel Research*, 46(1), pp. 35-45.
- Pan, Y. and Zhang, J. Q. (2011) 'Born unequal: a study of the helpfulness of usergenerated product reviews', *Journal of Retailing*, 87(4), pp. 598-612.
- Pantelidis, I. S. (2010) Electronic meal experience: A content analysis of online restaurant comments. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*. 51(4), pp. 483-491.
- Papathanassis, A. and Knolle, F. (2011) 'Exploring the adoption and processing of online holiday reviews: A grounded theory approach', *Tourism Management*, 32(2), pp. 215-224.
- Parent, M., Plangger, K. and Bal, A. (2011) 'The new WTP: Willingness to participate', *Business Horizons*, 54(3), pp. 219-229.
- Park, C. and Lee, T. M. (2009) 'Information direction, website reputation and eWOM effect: A moderating role of product type', *Journal of Business research*, 62(1), pp. 61-67.
- Park, D. and Kim, S. (2008) 'The effects of consumer knowledge on message processing of electronic word-of-mouth via online consumer reviews', *Electronic Commerce research and Applications*, 7(4), pp. 399–410.

Park, D. and Lee, J. (2008) 'eWOM overload and its effect on consumer behavioral

intention depending on consumer involvement', *Electronic Commerce Research* and Applications, 7(4), pp. 386-398.

- Park, D., Lee, J. and Han, I. (2007) 'The effect of on-line consumer reviews on consumer purchasing intention: The moderating role of involvement', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 11(4), pp. 125-148.
- Park, J. H., Gu, B., Leung, A. C. M. and Konana, P. (2014) 'An investigation of information sharing and seeking behaviors in online investment communities', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 31,pp. 1-12.
- Park, J., Gu, B. and Lee, H. (2012) 'The relationship between retailer-hosted and thirdparty hosted WOM sources and their influence on retailer sales', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 11(3), pp. 253-261.
- Parra, L. E., Bulchand G. J., Gutiérrez, T. D. and Díaz, A. R. (2011) 'Intentions to use social media in organizing and taking vacation trips', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(2), pp. 640-654.
- Patterson, P., Yu, T. and De Ruyter, K. (2006) 'Understanding customer engagement in services', Advancing theory, maintaining relevance, ANZMAC 2006 conference proceedings, Brisbane, pp. 4-6.
- Perloff, R. M. (2003) The dynamics of persuasion: Communication and attitudes in the 21st century. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Perry, J. (2000) 'Online reviews are giving consumers a bigger voice', US News and World Report, p.61.
- Peterson, R.A., and William R.W. (1987) 'Perceived risk and price-reliance schema and price-perceived-quality mediators', in Jacoby, J. and Olson, J. (eds.) *Perceived Quality*. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books, pp. 247–268.

Petty, R. E. and Wegener, D. T. (1999) 'The elaboration likelihood model: Current

status and controversies', in Chaiken S. and Trope, Y. (eds) *Dual process theories in social psychology*. NY: Guilford Press. pp.41-72.

- Petty, R. E., Cacioppo, J. T. and Schumann, D. (1983) 'Central and peripheral routes to advertising effective- ness: The moderating role of involvement', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 10, pp.135–146.
- Petty, R.E. and Cacioppo, J.T. (1986) Communication and Persuasion: Central and Peripheral Routes to Attitude Change. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Petty, R.E., Cacioppo, J.T. and Goldman, R. (1981) 'Personal involvement as a determinant of argument-based persuasion', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 41(5), pp. 847–855.
- Phillips, L. W. and Sternthal, B. (1977) 'Age differences in information processing: a perspective on the aged consumer', *Journal of Marketing Research*, p. 444-457.
- Phillips, E. and Pugh, D. (2010) *How to get a PhD: A handbook for students and their supervisors*. 4th edn. UK: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Phillips, P., Zigan, K., Santos Silva, M.M. and Schegg, R. (2015) 'The interactive effects of online reviews on the determinants of Swiss hotel performance: a neural network analysis', *Tourism Management*, 50, pp. 130-141.
- Pickton, D. and Broderick, A. (2005) Chapter 17: Identifying target audiences and profiling target markets. Pickton, David and Broderick, Amanda: Integrated marketing communications, 2edn. pp. 371-398.
- Pietro, L. D., Virgilio, F. D. and Pantano, E. (2012) 'Social network for the choice of tourist destination: Attitude and behavioural intention', *Journal of Hospitality* and Tourism Technology, 3(1), pp. 60-76.
- Podsakoff, P. M. and Organ, D. W. (1986) 'Self-reports in organizational research: Problems and prospects', *Journal of management*, 12(4), pp. 531-544.

- Polit, D.F., Beck, C.T. and Hungler, B.P. (2001) Essentials of Nursing Research: Methods, Appraisal and Utilization. 5th Edn. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2005) 'Qualitative research in counseling psychology: A primer on research paradigms and philosophy of science', *Journal of counseling psychology*, 52(2), pp. 126.
- Pornpitakpan, C. (2004) 'The persuasiveness of source credibility: A critical review of five decades' evidence', *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 34(2), pp. 243-281.
- Prasongsukarn, K. and Patterson, P. G. (2012) 'An extended service recovery model: the moderating impact of temporal sequence of events', *Journal of Services Marketing*, 26(7), pp. 510-520.
- Purnawirawan, N., Dens, N. and De Pelsmacker, P. (2012) 'Balance and sequence in online reviews: the wrap effect', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 17(2), pp. 71-98.
- Qiu, L. and Li, D. (2010) 'Effects of Aggregate Rating on eWOM Acceptance: An Attribution Theory Perspective', *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems* (PACIS) 2010 Proceedings, pp. 147-155.
- Qiu, L., Pang, J. and Lim, K. H. (2012) 'Effects of conflicting aggregated rating on eWOM review credibility and diagnosticity: The moderating role of review valence', *Decision Support Systems*, 54(1), pp. 631-643.
- Qu, H. and Lee, H. (2011) 'Travelers' social identification and membership behaviors in online travel community, *Tourism Management*, 32(6), pp. 1262-1270.
- Rabanser, U. and Ricci, F. (2005) 'Recommender systems: do they have a viable business model in e-tourism?', in Frew, A. (Eds.) *Information and*

Communication Technologies in Tourism 2005, Enter 2005 Proceedings, Innsbruck, Austria, Springer Wien, New York.

- Racherla, P. and Friske, W. (2012) 'Perceived 'usefulness' of online consumer reviews: An exploratory investigation across three services categories', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 11(6), pp. 548-559.
- Rainer Jr, R. K. and Watson, H. J. (1995) 'The keys to executive information system success', *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 12(2), pp. 83-98.
- Rains, S. A. and Scott, C. R. (2007) 'To identify or not to identify: A theoretical model of receiver responses to anonymous communication', *Communication Theory*, 17(1), pp. 61-91.
- Rauniar, R., Rawski, G., Yang, J. and Johnson, B. (2014) 'Technology acceptance model (TAM) and social media usage: an empirical study on Facebook', *Journal* of Enterprise Information Management, 27(1), pp. 6–30.
- Raykov, T., and Widaman, K.F. (1995) 'Issues in applied structural equation modeling research', *Structural Equation Modeling*, 2(4), pp. 289–318.
- Reichelt, J., Sievert, J. and Jacob, F. (2014) 'How credibility affects eWOM reading: The influences of expertise, trustworthiness, and similarity on utilitarian and social functions', *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 20(1-2), pp. 65-81.
- Rhein, D. (2013) The workplace challenge: Cross-cultural leadership in Thailand. *International studies in educational administration*, 41(1), pp. 41-55.
- Riegner, C. (2007) 'Word of Mouth on the Web: The Impact of Web 2.0 on Consumer Purchase Decisions', *Journal of Advertising Research*, 47(4), 436-447.
- Riffai, M. M. M. A., Grant, K. and Edgar, D. (2012) 'Big TAM in Oman: Exploring the promise of on-line banking, its adoption by customers and the challenges of

banking in Oman', *International journal of information management*, 32(3), pp. 239-250.

- Robinson, R., Goh, T. and Zhang, R. (2012) 'Textual factors in online product reviews: a foundation for a more influential approach to opinion mining', *Electronic Commerce Research*, 12(3), pp. 301-330.
- Rodriguez Diaz, M., Espino Rodriguez, T.F. and Rodríguez Diaz, R. (2015) 'A model of market positioning based on value creation and service quality in the lodging industry: an empirical application of online customer reviews', *Tourism Economics*, 21(5), pp. 1273-1294.
- Rogers, E. M. and Bhowmik, D. K. (1970) 'Homophily-heterophily: Relational concepts for communication research', *Public opinion quarterly*, 34(4), pp. 523-538.
- Rossmann, A., Rossmann, A., Ranjan, K. R., Ranjan, K. R., Sugathan, P. and Sugathan, P. (2016) 'Drivers of user engagement in eWOM communication', *Journal of Services Marketing*, 30(5), pp. 541-553.
- Rui, H., Liu, Y. and Whinston, A. B. (2011) 'Whose and what chatter matters? The impact of tweets on movie sales', Working Papers. University of Texas at Austin, pp. 1–29.
- Saha, G.C. and Theingi, A. (2009) 'Service quality, satisfaction, and behavioural intentions: a study of low-cost airline carriers in Thailand', *Managing Service Quality*, 19(2), pp. 350-372.
- Salganik, M. J., and Heckathorn, D. D. (2004) 'Sampling and estimation in hidden populations using respondent-driven sampling', *Sociological methodology*, 34(1), pp.193-240.
- Salehi-Esfahani, S., Ravichandran, S., Israeli, A. and Bolden III, E. (2016) 'Investigating Information Adoption Tendencies Based on Restaurants' User-

generated Content Utilizing a Modified Information Adoption Model', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, pp. 1-29.

- Sarantakos, S. (1998) Sampling procedures In Social Research . Macmillan Education UK.
- Sashi, C. M. (2012) 'Customer engagement, buyer-seller relationships, and social media', *Management decision*, 50(2), pp. 253-272.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2012) *Research Methods for Business Students*. 6th edn. Essex: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2016) *Research Methods for Business Students.* 7th edn. Essex: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Schamari, J., and Schaefers, T. (2015) 'Leaving the home turf: How brands can use webcare on consumer-generated platforms to increase positive consumer engagement', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 30, pp. 20-33.
- Schamel, G. (2012) 'Weekend vs. midweek stays: Modelling hotel room rates in a small market', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 31(4), pp. 1113-1118.
- Schiffman, L.G. and Kanuk, L.L. (2000) *Consumer Behavior*. 7th edn. Prentice-Hall, NJ: Upper Saddle River.
- Schmitt, B. (2012) 'The consumer psychology of brands', *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 22, pp. 7–17.
- Schuckert, M., Liu, X. and Law, R. (2014) 'Hospitality and tourism online reviews: Recent trends and future directions', *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 32(5), pp. 608-621.
- Schuckert, M., Liu, X. and Law, R. (2015) 'Insights into suspicious online ratings: direct evidence from TripAdvisor', Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 21(3), pp. 259-272.

Schultz, D.E. (2002) 'Behavior change; do your segments?', Marketing News, July 22

- See-To, E.W.K. and Ho, K.K.W. (2014) 'Value co-creation and purchase intention in social network sites: The role of electronic Word-of-Mouth and trust - A theoretical analysis', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 31, pp. 182–189.
- Self, C.S. (1996) 'Credibility', in Salwen, M.M. and Stacks, D. (Eds) An Integrated Approach To Communication Theory And Research. NJ : Lawrence Erlbaum
- Sen, S. (2008) 'Determinants of Consumer Trust of Virtual Word-of-Mouth: An Observation Study from a Retail Website', *Journal of American Academy of Business*, Cambridge, 14(1), pp.30.
- Sen, S. and Lerman, D. (2007) 'Why are you telling me this? An examination into negative consumer reviews on the web', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 21(4), pp. 76–94.
- Senecal, S. and Nantel, J. (2004) 'The influence of online product recommendations on consumers' online choices', *Journal of Retailing*, 80(2), pp. 159-169.
- Shan, Y. (2016) 'How credible are online product reviews? The effects of selfgenerated and system-generated cues on source credibility evaluation', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 55, pp. 633-641.
- Shao, G. (2009) 'Understanding the appeal of user-generated media: a uses and gratification perspective', *Internet Research*, 19(1), pp. 7-25.
- Sharma, R.S., Morales-Arroyo, M. and Pandey, T. (2012) 'The emergence of electronic Word-of-Mouth as a marketing channel for the digital marketplace', *Journal of Information, Information Technology, and Organizations,* 6, pp. 2011-2012.
- Shen, X. L., Cheung, C. M. and Lee, M. K. (2013) 'What leads students to adopt information from Wikipedia? An empirical investigation into the role of trust and

information usefulness', *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44(3), pp. 502-517.

- Sher, P. and Lee, S. (2009) 'Consumer skepticism and online reviews: an elaboration likelihood model perspective', *Social Behavior and Personality*, 37 (1), pp. 137-144.
- Shu, M. and Scott, N. (2014) 'Influence of Social Media on Chinese Students' Choice of an Overseas Study Destination: An Information Adoption Model Perspective', *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 31(2), pp. 286–302.
- Sin, L. and Tse, A. (2002) 'Profiling Internet shoppers in Hong Kong: demographic, psychographic, attitudinal and experiential factors', *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 15(1), pp. 7–29.
- Singh, J. (1990) 'A typology of consumer dissatisfaction response styles', *Journal of retailing*, 66(1), pp. 57-100.
- Smith, O. (2013) TripAdvisor reviewer exposed as hotel executive. *The Telegraph*. etrieved available at http:// www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/news/TripAdvisorreviewer -exposed-as-hotel-executive/

Smithson, M. (2005) Statistics with confidence. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

- So, K. K. F., King, C. and Sparks, B. (2014) 'Customer engagement with tourism brands: Scale development and validation', *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 38(3), pp. 304-329.
- Song, I. (2008). Interactivity and political attitude formation: The elaboration likelihood model of interactive media (Doctorate of Philosophy), Indiana University, Indiana, USA.
- Sorce, P., Perotti, V. and Widrick, S. (2005) 'Attitude and age difference in online buying', *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 33(2), pp. 122–133.

- Sotiriadis, M. D. (2017) 'Sharing tourism experiences in social media: A literature review and a set of suggested business strategies', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(1), pp. 179-225.
- Spark, B.A., Perkins, H.E. and Buckley, R. (2013) 'Online travel reviews as persuasive communication: The effects of content type, source, and certification logos on consumer behavior', *Tourism Management*, 39, pp.1-9.
- Sparks, B. A. and Browning, V. (2010) 'Complaining in cyberspace: The motives and forms of hotel guests' complaints online', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 19(7), pp. 797-818.
- Sprott, D., Czellar, S.and Spangenberg, E. (2009) 'The importance of a general measure of brand engagement on market behavior: Development and validation of a scale', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 46(1), pp. 92-104.
- Staller, K. M., Block, E. and Horner, P. S. (2008) 'History of Methods in Social Science Research', in Hesse-Biber, S. N. and Leavy, P. (Eds.) Handbook of Emergent Methods. New York: Guilford.
- Stauss,B. (2000) 'Using new media for customer interaction: A challenge for relationship marketing', in Hennig- Thurau T. and Hansen U. (eds) *Relationship Marketing*. Berlin: Springer.
- Steffes, E. M. and Burgee, L. E. (2009) 'Social ties and online word of mouth', *Internet Research*, 19(1), pp. 42-59.
- Stringam, B. B. and Gerdes Jr, J. (2010) 'An analysis of Word-of-Mouse Ratings and Guests Comments of Online Hotel Distribution Sites', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 19(7), pp. 773-790.
- Strizhakova, Y., Coulter, R. A. and Price, L. L. (2012) 'The young adult cohort in emerging markets: Assessing their glocal cultural identity in a global marketplace', *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 29(1), pp. 43-54.

Sullivan, C. (1999) 'Marketing the web in other media', Editor and Publisher, 132 (9),
pp. 30.

- Sun, M. (2012) 'How does the variance of product ratings matter?', Management Science, 58(4), pp. 696-707.
- Sun, T., Youn, S., Wu, G. and Kuntaraporn, M. (2006) 'Online word-of-mouth (or mouse): an exploration of its antecedents and consequences', *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 11(4), pp.1104-1127.
- Sung, Y., Kim, Y., Kwon, O. and Moon, J. (2010) 'An explorative study of Korean consumer participation in virtual brand communities in social network sites', *Journal of Global Marketing*, 23(5), pp. 430-445.
- Susskind, A. M., Bonn, M. A. and Dev, C. S. (2003) 'To look or book: An examination of consumers' apprehensiveness toward Internet use', *Journal of Travel Research*, 41(3), pp. 256-264.
- Sussman, S.W. and Siegal, W.S. (2003) 'Informational influence in organizations: An integrated approach to knowledge adoption', *Information Systems Research*, 14(1), pp. 47–65.
- Swanson, E. B., and Ramiller, N. C. (2004) 'Innovating mindfully with information technology', *MIS quarterly*, pp.553-583.
- Swedowsky, Maya. (2009) 'A social media "how-to" for retailers', *The Gourmet Retailer*.Availableat: http://blog.nielsen.com/nielsenwire/online_mobile/a-social-media-%E2%80%9Chow-to%E2%80%9D-for-retailers/.
- Sweeney, J.C., Soutar, G.N. and Mazzarol, T. (2012) "Word of mouth: measuring the power of individual messages", *European Journal of Marketing*, 46(1-2), pp. 237-257.
- Tabachnick, B. G. and Fidell, L. S. (2001) Using multivariate statistics. 4th edn. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. S. and Osterlind, S. J. (2007) Using multivariate statistics.5th edn. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Tabachnick, B.G. and Fidell, L.S. (2014) *Using Multivariate Statistics*. 6th edn. Pearson Education.
- Tam, K. Y. and Ho, S. Y. (2005) 'Web personalization as a persuasion strategy: An elaboration likelihood model perspective', *Information Systems Research*, 16(3), pp. 271-291.
- Tang, L., Jang, S. and Morrison, A. (2012) 'Dual-route communication of destination websites', *Tourism Management*, 33(1), pp. 38-49.
- Tax, S. S., Brown, S. W. and Chandrashekaran, M. (1998) 'Customer evaluations of service complaint experiences: implications for relationship marketing', *Journal* of Marketing, pp. 60-76.
- Tham, A.,Croy,G. and Mair,J. (2013) 'Social Media in Destination Choice: Distinctive Electronic Word of Mouth Dimentions ', *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 30, pp. 144-155.
- Tharenou, P., Donohue, R. and Cooper, B. (2007) *Management research methods*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- The World Bank (2011) *Thailand Now an Upper Middle Income Economy*. Avaiable at http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2011/08/02/ thailand-now-upper-middle-income-economy (Accessed: 12 March 2015).
- The world Bank (2016) *International tourism, number of departures*. Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ST.INT.DPRT (Accessed: 24 January 2016)
- Thelwall, M. (2009) 'Homophily in myspace', *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 60(2), pp. 219-231.

- Tidwell, L. C. and Walther, J. B. (2002) 'Computer-mediated communication effects on disclosure, impressions, and interpersonal evaluations: Getting to know one another a bit at a time', *Human communication research*, 28(3), pp. 317-348.
- Tormala, Z. L., Briñol, P. and Petty, R. E. (2007) 'Multiple roles for source credibility under high elaboration: It's all in the timing', *Social Cognition*, *25*(4), pp. 536.
- Torres, E.N., Adler, H. and Behnke, C. (2014) 'Stars, diamonds, and other shiny things: the use of expert and consumer feedback in the hotel industry', *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 21(1), pp. 34-43.
- Torres, E.N., Singh, D. and Robertson-Ring, A. (2015) 'Consumer reviews and the creation of booking transaction value: lessons from the hotel industry', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 50 (1), pp. 77-83.
- Tranter, K, A., Trevor S., and Juston P. (2009) An Introduction to Revenue Management for the Hospitality Industry: Principles and Practices for the Real World. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Triandis, H. C. (1995) Individualism & collectivism. Westview press.
- Truong, Y. and Simmons, G. (2010) Perceived intrusiveness in digital advertising: strategic marketing implications. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 18(3), pp. 239-256.
- Trusov, M., Bucklin, R.E. and Pauwels, K. (2009) 'Effects of word-of-mouth versus traditional marketing: findings from an Internet social networking site', *Journal* of Marketing, 73, pp.1547–7185.
- Trusov, M., Bodapati, A.V. and Bucklin, R.E. (2010) 'Determining influential users in internet social networks', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 47(4) ,pp. 643–658.
- Tsai, W. H. S. and Men, L. R. (2013) 'Motivations and antecedents of consumer engagement with brand pages on social networking sites', *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 13(2), pp. 76-87.

- Tsao, W. C. and Hsieh, M. T. (2015) 'eWOM persuasiveness: do eWOM platforms and product type matter?', *Electronic Commerce Research*, 15(4), pp. 509-541.
- Tseng, F. C. and Kuo, F. Y. (2014) 'A study of social participation and knowledge sharing in the teachers' online professional community of practice', *Computers* and Education, 72, pp. 37-47.
- Tseng, S. and Fogg, B. J. (1999) 'Credibility and computing technology', *Communications of the ACM*, 42(5), pp. 39- 44.
- Tseng, S. Y. and Wang, C. N. (2016) 'Perceived risk influence on dual-route information adoption processes on travel websites', *Journal of Business Research*, 69(6), pp. 2289-2296.
- Tso, A. and Law, R. (2005) 'Analysing the online pricing practices of hotels in Hong Kong', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 24(2), pp. 301-307.
- Tubb, K. N. (2003) 'An evaluation of the effectiveness of interpretation within Dartmoor National Park in reaching the goals of sustainable tourism development', *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 11(6), pp. 476-498.
- Underwood, J. D., Kerlin, L. and Farrington-Flint, L. (2011) 'The lies we tell and what they say about us: Using behavioural characteristics to explain Facebook activity', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(5), pp. 1621-1626.
- Valle, A. D. (2007) 'A Test for the Hypothesis of Skew-Normality in a Population', Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation, 77(1), pp. 63 – 77.
- Van Doorn, J., Lemon, K. N., Mittal, V., Nass, S., Pick, D., Pirner, P. and Verhoef, P. C. (2010) 'Customer engagement behavior: Theoretical foundations and research directions', *Journal of Service Research*, 13(3), pp. 253-266.

Van Doorn, Jenny (2011) 'Customer Engagement: Essence, Dimensionality, and

Boundaries,' Journal of Service Research, 14 (3), pp. 280–382.

- Van Teijlingen, E. and Hundley, V. (2002) 'The importance of pilot studies', Nursing Standard, 16(40), pp. 33-36.
- Vandenbosch, B. and Higgins, C. (1996) 'Information acquisition and mental models: An investigation into the relationship between behaviour and learning', *Information Systems Research*, 7(2), pp. 198-214.
- Verain, M. C., Bartels, J., Dagevos, H., Sijtsema, S. J., Onwezen, M. C. and Antonides,
 G. (2012) 'Segments of sustainable food consumers: a literature review', *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 36(2), pp. 123-132.
- Verhoef, P. C., Reinartz, W. J. and Krafft, M. (2010) 'Customer engagement as a new perspective in customer management', *Journal of Service Research*, 13(3), pp. 247-252.
- Vermeulen, I. E. and Seegers, D. (2009) 'Tried and tested: the impact of online hotel reviews on consumer consideration', *Tourism Management*, 30(1), pp.123-127.
- Vilnai-Yavetz, I. and Tifferet, S. (2015) 'A picture is worth a thousand words: segmenting consumers by facebook profile images', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 32, pp. 53-69.
- Vivek, S. D., Beatty, S. E. and Morgan, R. M. (2010) 'A generalized multidimensional scale for measuring customer engagement', *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 22 (4), pp. 401-420.
- Vivek, S.D., Beatty, S.E. and Morgan, R.M. (2012) 'Customer engagement: exploring customer relationships beyond purchase', *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 20 (2), pp. 122–146.
- Wakayama, T., Kannapan, S., Khoong, C.M., Navathe, S. and Yates, J. (1998) 'Documents, processes, and metaprocesses', in Wakayama, T. et al. (Eds)

Information and Process Integration in Enterprises – Rethinking Documents. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Norwell, MA, pp. 15-29.

- Wallace, E., Buil, I. and de Chernatony, L. (2014) 'Consumer engagement with selfexpressive brands: brand love and WOM outcomes', *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 23(1), pp. 33-42.
- Walther, J. B., DeAndrea, D., Kim, J. and Anthony, J. C. (2010) 'The influence of online comments on perceptions of antimarijuana public service announcements on YouTube', *Human Communication Research*, 36(4), pp. 469-492.
- Wang, C. (2016) 'The Influence of Electronic Word-of-Mouth on the Decision-Making of Online Travel Booking', *Computer, Consumer and Control 2016 International Symposium.* pp. 934-937.
- Wang, R. Y. and Strong, D. M. (1996) 'Beyond accuracy: What data quality means to data consumers', *Journal of management information systems*, 12(4), pp. 5-33.
- Wang, X., Yu, C. and Wei, Y. (2012) 'Social media peer communication and impacts on purchase intentions: A consumer socialization framework', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 26(4), pp. 198-208.
- Wangpipatwong, S., Chutimaskul, W. and Papasratorn, B. (2005) 'Factors influencing the adoption of Thai eGovernment websites: information quality and system quality approach', *The Fourth International Conference on eBusiness Proceedings*.
- Wathen, C. N. and Burkell, J. (2002) 'Believe it or not: Factors influencing credibility on the Web', *Journal of the American society for information science and technology*, 53(2), pp. 134-144.
- Watts, S. and Wyner, G. (2011) 'Designing and theorizing the adoption of mobile technology-mediated ethical consumption tools', *Information Technology and People*, 24(3), pp. 257-280.

- Weathers, D., Sharma, S. and Wood, S. (2007) 'Effects of online communication practices on consumer perceptions of performance uncertainty for search and experience goods', *Journal of Retailing*, 83, pp. 393-401.
- Weber, K., Johnson, A., and Corrigan, M. (2004) 'Communcating emotional support and its relationship to feelings of being understood, trust, and self-disclosure', *Communication Research Reports*, 21(3), pp. 316-323.
- Webster, J. and Ahuja, J.S. (2006) 'Enhancing the design of web navigation systems: the influence of user disorientation on engagement and performance', *MIS Quarterly*, 30 (3), pp. 661–678.
- Wedel, M. and Kamakura, W. (2002) 'Introduction to the special issue on market segmentation', *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 19, pp. 181–183.
- Wei, W., Miao, L. and Huang, Z. J. (2013) 'Customer engagement behaviors and hotel responses', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 33, pp. 316-330.
- Wei,C.P., Chen,Y.M., Yang,C.S. and Yang,C. (2010) 'Understanding what concerns consumers: a semantic approach to product feature extraction from consumer reviews', *Journal of Information Systems and E-Business Management*,8(2), pp.149–167.

Weimann, G. (1994) The Influentials. Albany: State University of New York Press.

- Werbler, C. and Harris, C. (2008) 'Online consumer reviews significantly impact consumer purchasing decisions', *New Opinion Research Corporation Survey Finds*,available at http://www.opinionresearch.com/fileSave/Online_Feedback_PR_Final_6202008. pdf(Accessed on 01 May 2014).
- Werner, C. and Schermelleh-Engel, K. (2009) Introduction to Structural Equation Modelling. Frankfurt: Goethe University.

- Willemsen, L.M., Neijens, P.C., Bronner, F. and de Ridder, J.A. (2011) 'Highly recommended!' The content characteristics and perceived usefulness of online consumer reviews', *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 17(1), pp. 19-38.
- Wirtz, J., den Ambtman, A., Bloemer, J., Horvath, C., Ramaseshan, B., van de Klundert, J. and Kandampully, J. (2013) 'Managing brands and customer engagement in online brand communities', *Journal of Service Management*, 24(3), pp. 223-244.
- Wixom, B. H., and Todd, P. A. (2005) 'A theoretical integration of user satisfaction and technology acceptance', *Information systems research*, *16*(1), 85-102.
- Wong, E. (2009) 'Starbucks' social outreach stirs the pot: The marketer has been racking up accolades in the digital and social media space', Adweek.com, Available at: http://www.adweek.com/aw/content_display/news/digital/e3ia9983423088724a60aaefc066bcebe59 (Accessed: 16 January 2016)

World Travel and Tourism Council (2011) Travel and Tourism 2011. London: WTTC.

- Wu, P. and Wang, C. (2011) 'The influences of electronic word-of-mouth message appeal and message source credibility on brand attitude', *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 23(4), pp. 448-472.
- Wu, R. S. and Chou, P. H. (2011) 'Customer segmentation of multiple category data in e-commerce using a soft-clustering approach', *Electronic Commerce Research* and Applications, 10(3), pp. 331-341.
- Wu, T. Y. and Lin, C. A. (2017) 'Predicting the effects of eWOM and online brand messaging: Source trust, bandwagon effect and innovation adoption factors', *Telematics and Informatics*, 34(2), pp. 470-480.
- Wu, T.Y. and Lin, C.A. (2015) 'The effects of online consumer reviews on brand evaluation, attitude and purchase intent', Poster Presented at the Association for Education in Journalism and Mass Communication Conference. San Francisco

Xiang, Z. and Gretzel, U. (2010) 'Role of social media in online travel information

search', Tourism Management, 31(2), pp. 179-188.

- Xiang, Z., Schwartz, Z., Gerdes, J. H. and Uysal, M. (2015a) 'What can big data and text analytics tell us about hotel guest experience and satisfaction?', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 44, pp. 120-130.
- Xiang, Z., Wang, D., O'Leary, J. T. and Fesenmaier, D. R. (2015b) 'Adapting to the internet: trends in travelers' use of the web for trip planning', *Journal of Travel Research*, 54(4), pp. 511-527.
- Xiaoping, Z. (2008) An Empirical Study of the Impact of Online Review on Internet Consumer Purchasin Decision China People's University.
- Xie, H. J., Miao, L., Kuo, P. J. and Lee, B. Y. (2011) 'Consumers' responses to ambivalent online hotel reviews: The role of perceived source credibility and predecisional disposition', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 30(1), pp.178-183.
- Xie, K. L., Zhang, Z., and Zhang, Z. (2014) 'The business value of online consumer reviews and management response to hotel performance', *International Journal* of Hospitality Management, 43, pp. 1-12.
- Xie, L.K. and Zhang, Z. (2014) 'The business value of online consumer reviews and management response to hotel performance', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 43(1), pp. 1-12.
- Xu, Y. and Chen, Z. (2006) 'Relevance Judgment: What Do Information Users Consider Beyond Topicality?', *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* (57) 7, pp. 961-973.
- Xue, F. and Phelps, J. E. (2004) 'Internet-facilitated consumer-to-consumer communication: The moderating role of receiver characteristics', *International Journal of Internet marketing and advertising*, 1(2), pp. 121-136.

- Xue, F. and Zhou, P. (2010) 'The effects of product involvement and prior experience on Chinese consumers' responses to online word of mouth', *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 23(1), pp. 45-58.
- Yacouel, N. and Fleischer, A. (2011) 'The Role of Cybermediaries in Reputation Building and Price Premiums in the Online Hotel Market', *Journal of Travel Research*, 51(2), pp.219-226.
- Yan, Q., Wu, S., Wang, L., Wu, P., Chen, H. and Wei, G. (2016) 'E-WOM from ecommerce websites and social media: Which will consumers adopt?', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 17, pp. 62-73.
- Yang, J., and Mai, E. S. (2010) 'Experiential goods with network externalities effects: An empirical study of online rating system', *Journal of Business Research*, 63(9), pp.1050-1057.
- Yang, K., Li, X., Kim, H., and Kim, Y. H. (2015) 'Social shopping website quality attributes increasing consumer participation, positive eWOM, and co-shopping: The reciprocating role of participation', *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 24, pp.1-9.
- Yankelovich, D. and Meer, D. (2006) 'Rediscovering market segmentation', *Harvard business review*, 84(2), pp. 122.
- Ye, Q., Law, R. and Gu, B. (2009) 'The impact of online user reviews on hotel room sales', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 28(1), pp. 180-182.
- Ye, Q., Law, R., Gu, B. and Chen, W. (2011a) 'The influence of user-generated content on traveler behavior: An empirical investigation on the effects of e-word-ofmouth to hotel online bookings', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(2), pp. 634-639.

- Ye, Q., Li, G. and Gu, B. (2011b) 'A cross-cultural validation of the web usage-related lifestyle scale: An empirical investigation in China', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 10(3), pp. 304-312.
- Yeap, J. A., Ignatius, J. and Ramayah, T. (2014) 'Determining consumers' most preferred eWOM platform for movie reviews: A fuzzy analytic hierarchy process approach', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 31, pp.250-258.
- Yeh, Y.H. and Choi, S.M. (2011) 'MINI-lovers, maxi-mouths: An investigation of antecedents to eWOM intention among brand community members', *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 17(3), pp. 145-162.
- Yildirim, D. (2011) The Effect of Social Capital and Outcome Expectations on Product Recommendations in Social Networks: An Empirical Comparison of Facebook and ASmallWorld. Diplom. de.
- Yiu, C.S., Grant, K. and Edgar, D. (2007) 'Factors affecting the adoption of Internet Banking in Hong Kong-implications for the banking sector', *International Journal of Information Management*, 27(5), pp. 336–351.
- Yoo, C. W., Kim, Y. J. and Sanders, G. L. (2015) 'The impact of interactivity of electronic word of mouth systems and E-Quality on decision support in the context of the e-marketplace', *Information & Management*, 52(4), pp. 496-505.
- Yoo, K. H. and Gretzel, U. (2008) 'Use and Impact of Online Travel Reviews', in O'Connor, P., Höpken, W. and Gretzel, U. (Eds) *Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism*. Vienna, Austria: Springer. pp. 35-46.
- Yoo, K. H. and Gretzel, U. (2009) 'Comparison of deceptive and truthful travel reviews', *Information and communication technologies in tourism, pp.* 37-47.
- Yoo, K. H. and Gretzel, U. (2011) 'Influence of personality on travel-related consumergenerated media creation', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(2), pp. 609-621.

- Yun, Z. S. and Good, L. K. (2007) 'Developing customer loyalty from e-tail store image attributes', *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 17(1), pp. 4-22.
- Zaichkowsky, J. L. (1985) 'Measuring the involvement construct', *Journal of consumer* research, 12(3), pp. 341-352.
- Zeithaml, V. A. (1988) 'Consumer perceptions of price, quality, and value: a means-end model and synthesis of evidence', *Journal of marketing*, 52, pp. 2-22.
- Zhang, J.Q., Craciun, G. and Shin, D. (2010a) 'When does electronic word-of-mouth matter? A study of consumer product reviews', *Journal of Business Research*, 63(12), pp. 1336-1341.
- Zhang, K. Z., Lee, M. K. and Zhao, S. J. (2010b) 'Understanding the informational social influence of online review platforms', *International Conference on Information Systems*
- Zhang, K.Z.K., Cheung, C.M.K. and Lee, M.K.O. (2014) 'Examining the moderating effect of inconsistent reviews and its gender differences on consumers' online shopping decision', *International Journal of Information Management*, 34(2), pp. 89-98.
- Zhang, W. and Watts, S. (2003) 'Knowledge adoption in online communities of practice', the 24th Annual International Conference on Information Systems Proceedings. Seattle, Washington, DC, pp. 96-109.
- Zhang, W. and Watts, S. (2008) 'Capitalizing on Content: Information Adoption in Two Online Communities', *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* 9(2), pp 73-94.
- Zhang, Z., Zhang, Z., Wang, F., Law, R. and Li, D. (2013) 'Factors influencing the effectiveness of online group buying in the restaurant industry', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 35, pp. 237-245.

- Zhang,Z. Ye,Q.,Law,R. and Li, Y. (2010c) 'The impact of e-word of mouth on the online popularity of restaurants : A comparison of consumer reviews and editor reviews', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29, pp. 694-700.
- Zhong, L., Leung, D., Law, R. and Wu, B. (2013) 'eTourism in China: A review of the Chinese- language literature', Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 18(5), pp. 464–482.
- Zhu, D. H., Chang, Y. P. and Luo, J. J. (2016) 'Understanding the influence of C2C communication on purchase decision in online communities from a perspective of information adoption model', *Telematics and Informatics*, 33(1), pp. 8-16.
- Zhu, F. and Zhang, X. (2010) 'Impact of online consumer reviews on sales: The moderating role of product and consumer characteristics', *Journal of marketing*, 74(2), pp. 133-148.
- Zikmund, W. G., Babin, B. J., Carr, J. C. and Griffin, M. (2010) *Business research methods.* 8th edn. Mason, OH: South-Western Cengage Learning.

Zikmund, W.G. (1997) Business research methods. The Dryden Press.

Zimmer, J.C., Arsal, R., Al- Marzouq, M., Moore, D. and Grover, V. (2010) ' Knowing your customers: using a reciprocal relationship to enhance voluntary information disclosure', *Decision Support Systems*, 48, pp. 395-406. APPENDICES



Dear Participants,

My name is Jutarat Sirithanaphonchai and I am a PhD student at Brunel University London, United Kingdom. I am conducting a research project to investigate the factors that influence consumers' adoption of information from online reviews on different platforms.

This is an anonymous survey whereby all responses will remain confidential and analysed at an aggregate, not individual level. The data collected will be used for academic purposes only and has been approved by the Brunel Business School Ethics Committee. "The results of this study will help the hotelier to better understand consumer needs, identify what kind of information can be influenced travelers' likelihood to adopt information from online reviews".

Your participation is on voluntary basis, and if you do not want to participate, please discard the questionnaire. However, I really appreciate your help in filling in this questionnaire. It will take approximately only 10 minutes to complete.

P.S. There is no right or wrong answer for the questionnaire questions.

Your Sincerely,

Jutarat Sirithanaphonchai PhD candidate – Business and Management (Marketing) Brunel Business School Brunel University, Uxbridge, UB8 3PH United Kingdom Tel: +44 (0) 7547822496 Email: jutarat.sirithanaphonchai@brunel.ac.uk

Part I Section 1: The Use of Online Review Websites

INSTRUCTION: Please select your answer for the following questions

1.1 Have you ever used online review websites when making your hotel reservation plan? YES NO

If your answer is "Yes", please continue. If your answer is "No", Please discard this questionnaire. Thank you!

- 1.2 How often do you read online reviews when making your hotel reservation plans? Rarely Sometimes Often Very often Every time I plan a trip
- 1.3 For each trip on average, how much time do you spend to read online reviews when making your hotel reservation plans?

Less than ¹ / ₂ hour	From $\frac{1}{2}$ to 1 hour	From 1 to 2 hours
From 2 to 3 hours	More than 3 hours	

1.4 What is your favorite travel website that you use to read online reviews for hotel reservation plan: (Please choose <u>ONE</u> from the list below)

TripAdvisor
Booking.com
Hotel.com
Expedia
Yelp
Others (Please specify)

Part II

Section 2: Online Customer Reviews

INSTRUCTION: This section asks questions which use rating scales. Please select the number that best describes your opinion from this following scale:

NOTED: Please describe your opinion according to your favorite travel website that you selected above.

Strongly		Slightly		Slightly		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree	Agree
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Timeliness							
2.1 I always adopt current comments in online reviews	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.2 I am concerned about the timeliness of post in online reviews	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.3 Up to date online reviews make me confident to adopt the							
information	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Accuracy							
2.5 I think the information I obtain from online reviews is correct	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.6 I think the information I obtain from online reviews is accurate	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.01 timik tie information 1 obtain from online fevrews is <u>accurate</u>		2	5		5	0	,
2.7 I think the information I obtain from online reviews is reliable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Strongly		Slightly		Slightly		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree	Agree
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Relevance 2.8 I think the information I obtain from online reviews is relevant to what I am looking for. 2.9 I think the information I obtain from online reviews is relevant as it matches my needs 2.10 I think the information I obtain from online reviews is appropriate for satisfying my needs 2.11 I think the information from online reviews in website is applicable Completeness 2.12 I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is of sufficient depth 2.13 I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is of sufficient breadth 2.14 I think online reviews in website sufficiently completes my needs 2.15 I think online reviews in website include all necessary value Understandability 2.16 I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is easy to read 2.17 I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is easy to understand 2.18 I think the information that I obtain from online reviews is easy to interpret Value add information 2.19 I think the information that I obtain from online reviews enable me to understand both positive and negative aspects of destination. 2.20 I think the information that I obtain from online reviews enable me to detect unknown aspects of destination. **Ouantity** 2.21 I adopt online reviews when the number of reviews per accommodation is large 2.22 I adopt online reviews when the quantity of reviews per accommodation information is large Ranking 2.23 The ranking of different accommodations facilitate the evaluation of the alternatives available. 2.24 Overall ranking is a useful information to help me select the best accommodation among several alternatives

Strongly		Slightly		Slightly		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	agree	Agree	Agree
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Sidedness							
2.25 I think information that includes <u>only one sided opinion</u> is		•			-	6	_
usefulness	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.26 I think information that includes <u>both positive and negative sided</u>							
opinions are usefulness	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.27 I think information that only one side opinion of reviews is							
biased	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Consistency							
2.28 I adopt the information when the online reviews are consistent							
with other reviews	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.29 I adopt the information when the online reviews are similar to							
other reviews	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Source Expertise							
2.30 I think people who provide online reviews are knowledgeable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.31 I think people who provide online reviews are experts	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.32 I think people who provide online reviews are reputable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Source trustworthiness							
2.33 I think people who provide online reviews are highly rated by							
other site participants	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.34 I think people who provide online reviews are trustworthy	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.35 I think people who provide online reviews are reliable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Section 3: Information Usefulness

INSTRUCTION: This section asks questions which use rating scales. Please select the number that best describes your opinion from this following scale:

 U	se	efu	lness
•		0	

U serumess							
3.1 Online reviews are valuable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.2 Online reviews are informative	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.3 Online reviews are helpful	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Strongly		Slightly		Slightly		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	agree	Agree	Agree
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Section 4: Information Adoption

INSTRUCTION: This section asks questions which use rating scales. Please select the number that best describes your opinion from this following scale:

Adoption

4.1 I agree with the opinion suggested in the reviews	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.2 I closely followed the suggestions in online reviews if I feel							
it is useful	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.3 I closely followed the suggestions in online reviews and it							
effects my purchase intention	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Part III

Section5: Information About Yourself

INSTRUCTION: Please place a mark in the category that best describes you – or fill in the blank. Your responses are for research purposes only. They will be kept confidential and reported as aggregate data only.

5.1 Your Nationality.....

5.2 Your gender Male	Female			
5.3 Your age (years) 18-24	25-34	35-54	55-64	65 or above
5.4 Your latest level of	of education is			
Up to high scho	ool	Bachelor's de	gree	
Master's degre	e or higher	Other		
5.5 What is your curre	ent occupation?			
Student		Self employed	l	
Employed		Unemployed		Other

*Thank you for taking the time to complete the questionnaire. Your information is very valuable and greatly appreciated * ©